
Shadow 
Council
Title: Agenda
Date: Tuesday 19 February 2019

Time: 6.30 pm 

(or at the conclusion of the immediately preceding St 
Edmundsbury Borough Council meeting, whichever is the 
later.)

Venue: Conference Chamber
West Suffolk House
Western Way
Bury St Edmunds IP33 3YU

Membership: All Councillors

You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Shadow 
Council to transact the business on the agenda set out below.

Ian Gallin
Chief Executive
11 February 2019

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Quorum Twenty four Members

Committee 
administrator:

Claire Skoyles
Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 01284 757176
Email: claire.skoyles@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Public Document Pack

mailto:fiona.osman@westsuffolk.gov.uk


Public Information
Venue: West Suffolk House

Western Way
Bury St Edmunds
Suffolk IP33 3YU 

Tel: 01284 757176
Email: 
democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Web: www.westsuffolk.gov.uk

Access to agenda 
and reports 
before the 
meeting:

Copies of the agenda and reports are open for public inspection at the above 
and following address:
District Offices
College Heath Road
Mildenhall
Bury St Edmunds
Suffolk IP28 7EY

at least five clear days before the meeting. They are also available to view on 
our website.

Attendance at 
meetings:

The West Suffolk Shadow Council actively welcomes members of the public 
and the press to attend its meetings and holds as many of its meetings as 
possible in public.

Public 
participation:

Members of the public may ask questions of Members of the Shadow 
Executive (Cabinet) at ordinary meetings of the Shadow Council. 30 minutes 
will be set aside for persons in the public gallery who live or work in the West 
Suffolk area to ask questions about the work of the Shadow Council. 30 
minutes will also be set aside for questions at extraordinary meetings of the 
Council, but must be limited to the business to be transacted at that meeting.

A person who wishes to speak must register at least fifteen minutes before 
the time the meeting is scheduled to start.  This can be done online by 
sending the request to democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk or telephoning 
01284 757176 or in person by telling the committee administrator present at 
the meeting.

Written questions, detailing the full question to be asked, may be submitted 
by members of the public to the Interim Monitoring Officer no later than 10.00 
am on the previous working day to the meeting of the Council. 
Email: democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk Phone: 01284 757162

Disabled access: West Suffolk House has facilities for people with mobility impairments 
including a lift and wheelchair accessible WCs. However in the event of an 
emergency use of the lift is restricted for health and safety reasons. 

Visitor parking is at the car park at the front of the building and there are a 
number of accessible spaces.

Induction loop: An Induction loop is available for meetings held in the Conference Chamber.  
Recording of 
meetings:

The Shadow Council may record this meeting and permits members of the 
public and media to record or broadcast it as well (when the media and public 
are not lawfully excluded).

Any member of the public who attends a meeting and objects to being filmed 
should advise the Committee Administrator who will instruct that they are not 
included in the filming.

Personal 
Information

Any personal information processed by Forest Heath District Council or St 
Edmundsbury Borough Council arising from a request to speak at a public 
meeting under the Localism Act 2011, will be protected in accordance with the 
Data Protection Act 2018.  For more information on how we do this and your 
rights in regards to your personal information and how to access it, visit our 
website: 
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Data_and_information/howweuseinformation.cf
m or call Customer Services: 01284 763233 and ask to speak to the 
Information Governance Officer.

mailto:democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk
http://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Data_and_information/howweuseinformation.cfm
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Data_and_information/howweuseinformation.cfm


Agenda

Procedural Matters
Page No

1.  Minutes 1 - 6

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 15 January 2019 
(copy attached).

2.  Chairman's Announcements 

3.  Apologies for Absence

To receive announcements (if any) from the officer advising the 
Chairman (including apologies for absence)

4.  Declarations of Interests

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
pecuniary or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda no later than when that item 
is reached and, when appropriate, to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on the item.

Part 1 – Public

5.  Leader's Statement 7 - 10

Paper No: COU/SA/19/004

(Shadow Council Procedure Rules 8.1 – 8.3)  The Leader will 
provide a written statement summarising important 
developments and activities since the preceding meeting of the 
Shadow Council where these have arisen.  These developments 
and activities will solely relate to the development of the Shadow 
Council, and matters related to the future West Suffolk Council.

Members may ask the Leader questions on the content of both 
his introductory remarks and the written statement itself. 

A total of 30 minutes will be allowed for questions and responses. 
There will be a limit of five minutes for each question to be asked 
and answered. A supplementary question arising from the reply 
may be asked so long as the five minute limit is not exceeded.

6.  Public Participation

(Shadow Council Procedure Rules Section 6) Members of the 
public who live or work in the West Suffolk area are invited to put 
one question  of not more than five minutes duration about the 
work of the Shadow Council to members of the Shadow 
Executive.  A person who wishes to speak must register at least 
fifteen minutes before the time the meeting is scheduled to 
start.*



 
(Note: The maximum time to be set aside for this item is 30 
minutes, but if all questions are dealt with sooner, or if there are 
no questions, the Shadow Council will proceed to the next 
business.

Each person may ask one question only. A total of five minutes 
will be allowed for the question to be put and answered. 
One further question will be allowed arising directly from the 
reply, provided that the original time limit of five minutes 
is not exceeded.

Written questions may be submitted by members of the public 
to the Interim Monitoring Officer no later than 10.00 am on 
Monday 18 February 2019. The written notification should 
detail the full question to be asked at the meeting of the 
Council.)*

*For further information, see Public Information Sheet attached 
to this agenda.

7.  Referrals Report of Recommendations from the Shadow 
Executive (Cabinet)

11 - 16

Report No: COU/SA/19/005

(A) Referral from Extraordinary Shadow 
Executive (Cabinet): 8 January 2019

1. West Suffolk Statement of Licensing Policy 2019 – 
2022 

Shadow Executive (Cabinet) Members: 
Cllrs Susan Glossop and Lance Stanbury

(B) Referral from Shadow Executive (Cabinet): 
5 February 2019

1. Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019-
2020 and Treasury Management Code of Practice

Shadow Executive (Cabinet) Members: 
Cllrs Stephen Edwards and Ian Houlder

2. Budget and Council Tax Setting 2019/2020  and 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Shadow Executive (Cabinet) Members: 
Cllrs Stephen Edwards and Ian Houlder



This item will be considered separately as part of 
Agenda Item 9 below.

8.  The Report of the West Suffolk Independent Remuneration 
Panel

17 - 58

Report No: COU/SA/19/006

9.  Budget and Council Tax Setting 2019/2020 and Medium 
Term Financial Strategy 2021-2023

59 - 136

Report No: COU/SA/19/007

10.  The West Suffolk Council Constitution 137 - 418

Report No: COU/SA/19/008

11.  Council Arrangements for 1 April to 6 May 2019 419 - 426

Report No: COU/SA/19/009

12.  West Suffolk Council Calendar of Meetings 2019/2020 427 - 432

Report No: COU/SA/19/010

13.  Urgent Questions on Notice

The Shadow Council will consider any urgent questions on notice 
that were notified to the Interim Monitoring Officer by 11am on 
the day of the meeting.

14.  Report on Special Urgency

Part 4, Access to Information Procedural Rules, of the 
Shadow Constitution (paragraph 18.3) requires the Leader of 
the Shadow Council to submit quarterly reports to the Shadow 
Council on the Shadow Executive decisions taken (if any) in the 
circumstances set out in Rule 17, (Special urgency) in the 
preceding three months.

Accordingly, the Leader of the Shadow Council reports that no 
shadow executive decisions have been taken under the Special 
Urgency provisions of the Shadow Constitution.

Part 2 – Exempt

NONE



This page is intentionally left blank



COU.SA.15.01.2019

Shadow 
Council

Minutes of a meeting of the Shadow Council held on
Tuesday 15 January 2019 at 6.30pm at the Conference Chamber, West 

Suffolk House, Western Way, Bury St Edmunds IP33 3YU

Present: Councillors

Chair Sarah Stamp
Vice Chair Brian Harvey

Ruth Allen
Andrew Appleby
Trevor Beckwith
John Bloodworth
David Bowman
Ruth Bowman J.P.
Sarah Broughton
Simon Brown
Carol Bull
Louis Busuttil
Mike Chester
Patrick Chung
Terry Clements
Simon Cole
Andy Drummond
Stephen Edwards

Robert Everitt
Susan Glossop
Wayne Hailstone
Beccy Hopfensperger
Paul Hopfensperger
Ian Houlder
Victor Lukaniuk
Carol Lynch
Margaret Marks
Elaine McManus
Sara Mildmay-White
Robin Millar
David Nettleton
Robert Nobbs
David Palmer
Robin Pilley

Clive Pollington
Alaric Pugh
Karen Richardson
Peter Ridgwell
David Roach
Nigel Roman
Richard Rout
Reg Silvester
Andrew Smith
Lance Stanbury
Peter Stevens
Jim Thorndyke
Julia Wakelam
Patricia Warby
James Waters

58. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 18 December 2018 were confirmed as a 
correct record and were signed by the Chair.  

59. Chair's Announcements 

No announcements were made by the Chair on this occasion.

60. Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Michael Anderson, Tony 
Brown, John Burns, Rona Burt, Max Clarke, Jason Crooks, Roger Dicker, Mary 
Evans, Paula Fox, John Griffiths, Diane Hind, Jane Midwood, Colin Noble, Jo 
Rayner, Barry Robbins, Andrew Speed, Clive Springett, Peter Thompson and 
Frank Warby.

Councillors Chris Barker, Louise Marston and Christine Mason were also 
unable to attend the meeting.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



COU.SA.15.01.2019

61. Declarations of Interests 

Members’ declarations of interest are recorded under the item to which the 
declaration relates.

62. Leader's Statement (Report No: COU/SA/19/001) 

Councillor James Waters, Leader of the Shadow Council, presented his 
Statement, as contained in Paper No: COU/SA/19/001.

Councillor Waters stated that, irrespective of the outcome of Central 
Government’s vote on Brexit that evening, there was a huge opportunity 
ahead for West Suffolk and he looked forward to working with everyone on 
this.

63. Public Participation 

No members of the public in attendance had registered to speak.  

64. Polling District Review (Report No: COU/SA/19/002) 

(Councillor Sarah Broughton declared a non-pecuniary interest in this item in 
light of her husband owning land at Great Barton (Severalls) which had been 
identified as a Polling District within the report.  She would remain in the 
meeting and would take part in the debate and voting thereon.
Councillor Jim Thorndyke declared a non-pecuniary interest in this item as he 
currently held the position of Chairman of the Stanton Village Hall Committee 
and was quoted in this capacity within the report. He would remain in the 
meeting and would take part in the debate and voting thereon.)

The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) reviewed 
the Council’s electoral arrangements and the final recommendations for the 
West Suffolk Council ward boundaries were published on 12 October 2018.

The Council was required to review polling districts and places and to approve 
a new schedule of polling districts to take account of the new ward 
boundaries; particularly in Brandon, Bury St Edmunds, Haverhill, Mildenhall 
and Newmarket where the majority of ward boundaries had changed.

Councillor Ruth Bowman, one of the Cabinet Members for Future Governance, 
explained that as part of the review comments were sought from members of 
the public, local political groups, Parish Councils, Borough and District 
Councillors, County Councillors and the (Acting) Returning Officer for the 
South Suffolk constituency.  Comments were invited via an online survey or 
by sending an email or letter to the Electoral Services team.

Councillor Bowman moved that the schedules of Polling Districts and Polling 
Places, attached as Appendices 3 and 4 of Report No COU/SA/19/002, be 
approved and this was duly seconded by Councillor Carol Bull.

Page 2



COU.SA.15.01.2019

Councillor David Nettleton spoke on the item and made reference to pages 
26, 27 and 33 of the report and the reference therein to a “Bury St Edmunds 
Councillor” in relation to comments made about polling stations in Abbeygate, 
Eastgate and Westgate wards.  

Councillor Nettleton confirmed that he was the Councillor in question and 
explained that his comments in relation to the wards concerned were:

 A suggestion that the 422 Westgate Ward electors transferred from 
Abbeygate Ward should continue to vote at the Hyndman Centre on the 
northern side of Hospital Road;

 If Bury Town Football Club was found to be unavailable then electors 
from the Eastgate 2 polling district should be found another easily 
accessible polling station rather than be asked to travel to Garland 
Street; and

 The unsuitability of Whiting Street for electors living south of the river 
Linnet in Abbeygate 1 due to being an uphill walk and the nearest car 
parking being some distance away. 

For these reasons, Councillor Nettleton explained that he would not be 
supporting the report unless Recommendation 2 was amended to state that 
the issue he highlighted with Abbeygate 1, principally, was “investigated 
further”.

During the debate questions on other elements of the report were posed and 
the following responses were provided:

 Confirmation that the letters to be sent to residents advising of a 
change to their polling district would also include what ward they came 
under;

 Assurance that the option to register to postal vote was offered to all 
residents in West Suffolk;

 Explanation on the mobile elections app which all polling station 
contacts had been asked to register with; and

 Acknowledgement that the polling station listed in Appendix 3 as 
‘Parkway Middle School’ was not accurate, as the building in question 
was now occupied by West Suffolk College following closure of the 
Middle School.

Councillor Reg Silvester raised a query with regard to Santon Downham 
Village Hall which had been omitted from the table in Appendix 4.  In 
response, attention was drawn to the paragraph within Appendix 3 (in 
relation to the Brandon East ward) which stated:
“Electors in Santon Downham have their own polling station within their 
parish and therefore do not have to travel to Brandon to vote”.
(*Following the meeting the Electoral Services Manager contacted all Brandon 
District Councillors and provided them with a corrected version of Appendix 4 
which included Santon Downham Village Hall.)

In response to the comments made by Councillor Nettleton, Councillor Carol 
Bull explained that approximately 1,700 electors from Abbeygate 1 had been 
assigned Whiting Street as their polling station for the past 9 years, and 
during that time the Council had received no complaints in relation to 
access/suitability.

Page 3



COU.SA.15.01.2019

Accordingly, Councillor Bowman stated that the Cabinet Members continued 
to support the original motion as proposed.

Upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED:

That:-

1. The Schedule of Polling Districts attached as Appendix 4 to Report No 
COU/SA/19/002 (*as amended) be approved; and

2. The Schedule of Polling Places attached as Appendix 5 to Report No 
COU/SA/19/002 be approved.

65. Adoption of a Coat of Arms (Report No: COU/SA/19/003) 

This report sought Shadow Council’s approval to adopt a Coat of Arms for the 
West Suffolk Council by way of requesting the College of Arms to transfer the 
West Suffolk County Council Coat of Arms to West Suffolk Council.

Councillor Carol Bull, one of the Cabinet Members for Future Governance, 
explained that the proposal to transfer the existing West Suffolk Coat of Arms 
was because it closely related to the West Suffolk District and had links to the 
current Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury Coat of Arms.  The Future 
Governance Steering Group had considered the matter and had made this 
recommendation to Council. 

Furthermore, Shadow Council were advised that the transfer of an existing 
Coat of Arms would cost £1,400; in comparison the adoption of a new Coat of 
Arms could amount to £17,000.

Councillor Ruth Bowman, the other Cabinet Member for Future Governance, 
made reference to the discussions which had also been held with regard to 
the adoption of a Motto, alongside the Coat of Arms.

As explained within the report, the Future Governance Steering Group had 
recommended that further research and consideration was given to this 
matter prior to any decision being made on whether to adopt a Motto.

Councillor Carol Bull moved that the College of Arms be requested to transfer 
the West Suffolk County Council Arms to West Suffolk Council and this was 
duly seconded by Councillor Ruth Bowman.

This item prompted considerable debate by Members.  A number voiced 
support for a Coat of Arms and the need to represent the history of the West 
Suffolk District.

The recommendation to transfer the West Suffolk County Council Coat of 
Arms was generally supported and was considered both appropriate and 
financially sensible.  

Page 4



COU.SA.15.01.2019

Members recognised that a decision was not yet being made in respect of a 
Motto, but a number expressed their thoughts on what a Motto should be.

Councillor David Nettleton stated that he did not support the adoption of a 
Coat of Arms for the West Suffolk Council, which he considered unnecessary 
and not fitting in modern times, and would be voting against the 
recommendation.

Councillors Victor Lukaniuk and Peter Ridgwell both raised concern that the 
Coat of Arms proposed did not reflect the entire West Suffolk District; in 
particular the Forest Heath area, and felt it would be more appropriate to 
design a new one.

Councillors Ruth Allen and Terry Clements both suggested West Suffolk 
schools be included in the process in some way in order to raise awareness of 
local heritage amongst young people.

Upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED:

That the College of Arms be requested to transfer the West Suffolk County 
Council Arms, as outlined in Paragraph 4.1 of Report No COU/SA/19/003, to 
West Suffolk Council. 

66. Urgent Questions on Notice 

No urgent questions on notice had been received.  

The meeting concluded at 7.13pm

Signed by:

Chairman

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



COU/SA/19/004

Shadow
Council
Title: Leader’s Statement
Paper No: COU/SA/19/004
Paper to and date: Shadow Council 19 February 2019

Documents attached: None

Leader’s Statement

1. It is less than 50 days before the new West Suffolk Council is created. The 
work that has gone into this has been tremendous and at pace. 
Something I know in our talks with Government we have been praised for 
as well as the thorough detail that we have been supplying. But a Council 
is much more than committees, policies and debates. It is a power for 
good that is part of our communities helping our residents and businesses 
thrive. Tonight we will be discussing several important items that breathes 
life into the ambitions we have for West Suffolk Council. A strong balanced 
budget means we can push on with not only delivering high quality 
services but carry on investing in our businesses and communities. I also 
look forward to hearing the debate on the independent panel’s proposals 
for remuneration which will cost the tax payer less than before but help 
attract more people to become councillors.

Budget

2. For the first time we are creating a budget for the new West Suffolk 
Council. This not only gives us the funds to deliver the high quality and 
award winning services we already do but is an investment in the future of 
West Suffolk. It also gives us an opportunity to help young people leaving 
care by reducing their Council Tax. I believe this is a strong budget that 
builds on the great work our councils have been delivering. That is not to 
say there are not challenges ahead that all councils and public bodies are 
facing. But this budget puts us in a good position to face those challenges 
going forward. Indeed the new West Suffolk Council also puts us in a 
better position to then champion our area nationally in asking for fairer 
funding. Thank you to our finance team and Cllrs Ian Houlder and Stephen 
Edwards, Cabinet Members for Resources and Performance, for your hard 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



COU/SA/19/004

work on this and helping provide such a strong foundation for our new 
Council.

Independent Remuneration Panel

3. Our residents and tax payers rightly expect us to be prudent with their 
money in running a lean and effective council. At the same time they want 
us to reduce barriers for people to take part in the democratic process and 
stand themselves to be councillors. Our make your mark campaign is part 
of that work to encourage people to stand and vote in the forthcoming 
election. Like every council across the UK the new council has to have 
remuneration policies for councillors. We have before us a report rightly 
carried out by an independent panel that has looked at the current and 
future demands on councillors, the national picture and value for the tax 
payer. I look forward to hearing the debate on this but welcome the 
principles that the suggestions being made are based upon. That is a 
saving on our current budget of nearly 6% while also addressing the need 
to make sure we attract a range of councillors who previously might not 
been able to afford to stand will get the chance. Councils need to not only 
represent their communities but reflect them too. This is part of a wider 
picture of policies and changes that we have had to make, think through 
and harmonise ready for the new Council. This has been made much 
easier by the cross party and council working we have seen and the 
advice of the Future Governance Steering Group led by Cabinet Members 
Cllrs Ruth Bowman and Carol Bull.

Fairer Funding 

4. Currently there is a consultation on how councils are funded in the future. 
We are taking part in this consultation and making sure West Suffolk’s 
voice is heard. As ever the devil is in the detail and that is still to come 
forward as well as any figures. That said we believe we are being listened 
to in our campaign to recognise the extra need in rural areas or where 
services are being delivered in places with high numbers of service 
personnel such as here in West Suffolk where we host 11,000 US visiting 
forces and dependents. As this moves forward we will keep you all 
informed. The Government is also looking at business rates reform and 
whether to reset the baseline for this. We are a high growth area and 
worked hard together to encourage investment and businesses in West 
Suffolk. Therefore, we are lobbying with other councils not to have a 
complete reset which would reduce funding.

Rough Sleeping

5. Reducing homelessness and helping the most vulnerable is at the core of 
what we do. I am sure many of you know the hard work that is going on 
to reduce rough sleeping in West Suffolk and even saw the latest photo of 
our staff going out at 4am to carry out a count. We are a pilot area with 
the Government and our latest figures show that we are making a 
difference. In our latest count we have seen a 44% drop in numbers from 
25 to 14 since September. This is a complex area and I know from the 
dedication of our staff and Cabinet Member for Housing Cllr Sara Mildmay-
White something we are tackling in an innovative way. For example the 
successful ‘Looking For Change’ initiative has seen a range of charitable, 

Page 8



COU/SA/19/004

commercial and public sector partners join together to encourage people 
to give in a different way. This helps those on the streets not just find a 
bed but get support as well. However, we know this is a complex area of 
work and those numbers can be affected by a whole range of issues but it 
is heartening to see with our partners we are making a difference.

Social Prescription

6. Both I and Cllr John Griffiths have in previous Leader’s Statements talked 
about the success of social prescribing in West Suffolk and indeed the 
recent investment of £660,000 in strengthening and extending our 
existing scheme. Which is why I am pleased to hear in recent weeks the 
national recognition and need for more of this initiative in the UK. Social 
Prescribing is a complicated title to explain an initiative that changes and 
saves lives. It means that people who may have a range of issues from 
loneliness, obesity and mental health problems can find help and support 
in the community when traditional medical services may find it difficult to 
help. This is supported by GPs, health partners and a range of community 
groups and stakeholders. One again West Suffolk is taking a lead. Our 
Families and Community work is pioneering and I would like to thank 
Cabinet Members Cllrs Robin Millar and Robert Everitt with our staff on 
this truly transformational work.

Transport future

7. West Suffolk is at the hub of trade routes and successful economic areas 
that are key to the UK economy. One of our priorities is ensuring we keep 
people, goods and data flowing to benefit our current and future 
communities and businesses. Our work around that is ongoing and 
starting to bear fruit. We have been working closely with partners in 
Cambridgeshire, as part of the Cambridge sub-region, and I am pleased to 
see works are now beginning on the A1307, a vital link with Haverhill. It 
marks the beginning of a £14m package of works by the Greater 
Cambridge Partnership to improve road safety, bus priority and to 
upgrade walking and cycling routes along the A1307. But we will continue 
to keep pressure on for further improvements.

8. Equally we, with other Suffolk colleagues, have taken the fight for an 
upgrade to the A14 to Westminster. This is the premier route from 
Felixstowe for trade in the UK. The £150 million investment required from 
Government would generate a massive £1.5 billion uplift in GVA, reducing 
congestion and further cementing West Suffolk as the place to do 
business. Cabinet Members, Cllrs Susan Glossop and Lance Stanbury, with 
colleagues from business, including Claas based here in West Suffolk, took 
the campaign to ministers to highlight the need for this investment. 

9. In addition West Suffolk is campaigning for rail improvements with the 
new East West Rail Eastern Section Rail Prospectus. The Prospectus sets 
out the economic and growth opportunities that can be realised by 
providing better rail connectivity between Suffolk, Norfolk and Cambridge 
with Milton Keynes, Oxford and beyond. It has been developed by local 
authorities in Suffolk, Norfolk and Cambridgeshire in conjunction with New 
Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership and the East West Rail Consortium. 
Through better rail connectivity, the three counties have the potential to 

Page 9



COU/SA/19/004

improve economic performance, grow industries, create new jobs, and 
enable housing growth, as well as reduce road congestion and long 
journey times. 

West Suffolk Advanced Manufacturing and Engineering Group 

10. I was pleased to see the first meeting of a business group designed to 
further advance manufacturing and engineering in West Suffolk, has taken 
place. The newly formed West Suffolk Advanced Manufacturing and 
Engineering Group will help drive forward innovation and skills 
development within the sector. Close to two dozen businesses from across 
the area came together for the meeting organised by West Suffolk 
Councils and the New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership. We have a 
strong and diverse mix of manufacturing and engineering businesses in 
West Suffolk and this new group offers the chance for local businesses to 
collaborate, to speak with one voice, to network and to further develop 
their own local supply chain. It will ensure that the region goes on to 
become even more globally competitive.

Page 10



COU/SA/19/005

Shadow 
Council
Title of Report: Referrals Report of 

Recommendations from the 
Shadow Executive (Cabinet)  

Report No: COU/SA/19/005
Report to and date: Shadow Council 19 February 2019 

Documents attached: None

(A) Referral from Extraordinary Shadow Executive (Cabinet): 
8 January 2019 

1. West Suffolk Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2022 

Shadow Executive (Cabinet) 
Members: 
Cllrs Susan Glossop and Lance Stanbury

Report No: 
EXC/SA/19/002

Appendix A 

RECOMMENDED: That

 (1) the West Suffolk Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-
2022, attached at Appendix A to Report No: 
EXC/SA/19/002, be adopted; and

(2) the Cumulative Impact Assessments for Newmarket 
and Bury St Edmunds as contained within the West 
Suffolk Statement of Licensing Policy, be adopted.

1.1 All councils are required to have a Statement of Licensing Policy and 
update it at least every five years. Forest Heath’s Statement of Licensing 
Policy was last renewed in December 2018; St Edmundsbury’s was last 
updated in December 2017. The policy content of both documents is 
identical. 

1.2 The Shadow Council needs to adopt a Statement of Licensing Policy for 
West Suffolk Council before 1 April 2019. The document attached to the 
Shadow Executive (Cabinet) report at Appendix A contains the same 
wording as the Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury Council documents, but 
with the following changes:

Page 11

Agenda Item 7

https://democracy.westsuffolk.gov.uk/documents/s31413/EXC.SA.19.002%20West%20Suffolk%20Statement%20of%20Licensing%20Policy%202019-2022.pdf
https://democracy.westsuffolk.gov.uk/documents/s31414/EXC.SA.19.002%20Appendix%20A%20-%20West%20Suffolk%20Statement%20of%20Licensing%20Policy%202019-2022%20and%20CIA.pdf
https://democracy.westsuffolk.gov.uk/documents/s31414/EXC.SA.19.002%20Appendix%20A%20-%20West%20Suffolk%20Statement%20of%20Licensing%20Policy%202019-2022%20and%20CIA.pdf


COU/SA/19/005

- name of council
- maps showing the area
- statistics about the district
- updated references to legislation and statutory guidance that has 

changed since the documents were adopted

1.3 In order to abide by the requirement for Statements of Licensing Policy to 
be renewed every five years, West Suffolk Council will need to adopt a 
new policy by December 2022. This will be preceded by consultation, 
allowing consultees in St Edmundsbury the opportunity to give comments 
and feedback within five years of the previous policy covering the area 
being adopted.

1.4 Under the revised guidance issued under s182 Licensing Act 2003, 
Cumulative Impact Assessments can only be published for 3 years. Para 
14.38 on p113 of the guidance document states:

“As Cumulative Impact Policies were not part of the 2003 Act, there are no 
transitional provisions that apply to CIPs that were in place before 6 April 
2018. However, any existing CIPs should be reviewed at the earliest 
practical opportunity to ensure they comply with the legislation. It is 
recommended that the review should take place within three years of the 
commencement of the legislation on CIAs or when the licensing policy 
statement is next due for review, whichever is sooner. This will ensure that 
any CIPs in place before the commencement of the provisions on CIAs 
adhere to the principles in the legislation (in particular concerning relevant 
evidence and consultation).” 

1.5 The Bury St Edmunds Cumulative Impact Assessment was adopted in 
December 2017, and will therefore require renewal in December 2020. 

1.6 Members may view the full report and Appendix A on the Councils’ website 
via the above links. 

Continued overleaf…..

Page 12



COU/SA/19/005

(B) Referrals from Shadow Executive (Cabinet): 5 February 2019 

1. Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019-2020 and 
Treasury Management Code of Practice 

Shadow Executive (Cabinet) 
Members: 
Cllrs Stephen Edwards and Ian Houlder 

Report No: 
EXC/SA/19/006

SEBC Treasury 
Management Sub-
Committee 
Report No:
TMS/SE/19/002

FHDC Performance and 
Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee 
Report No: 
PAS/FH/19/007

Appendix 1
Appendix 2

RECOMMENDED: That

(1) the Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019-
2020, as set out in Appendix 1 to Report Nos: 
TMS/SE/19/002  / PAS/FH/19/007, be approved;  and

(2) the Treasury Management Code of Practice, as set out 
in Appendix 2 to Report Nos: TMS/SE/19/002  / 
PAS/FH/19/007, be approved.

1.1 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code 
of Practice on Treasury Management requires that, prior to the start of the 
financial year that Council formally approves an Annual Treasury 
Management and Investment Strategy, setting out the Council’s treasury 
management policy and strategy statements for the forthcoming year.

1.2 The proposed Treasury Management Policy Statement and Investment 
Strategy 2019-2020, was attached as Appendix 1 to Report No: 
TMS/SE/19/002 and PAS/FH/19/007.  

1.3 Treasury Advisors

1.3.1 Following a procurement exercise, Arlingclose Ltd, have been appointed as 
treasury advisors to West Suffolk Council. The Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement and Code of Practice have been compiled in line with 
advice from Arlingclose.

Page 13

https://democracy.westsuffolk.gov.uk/documents/s31896/EXC.SA.19.006%20Recs%20of%20FHDC_SEBC%20PASC%2031%20Jan%202019%20-%20Try%20Mgt%20Statement%20and%20Code%20of%20Practice.pdf
https://democracy.westsuffolk.gov.uk/documents/s31897/EXC.SA.19.006_Appendix%20A%20TMS.SE.19.002%20TM%20Stgy%20Statement%202019-20%20and%20Code%20of%20Practice%20Report.pdf
https://democracy.westsuffolk.gov.uk/documents/s31898/EXC.SA.19.006_Appendix%20A%20PAS.FH.19.007%20-%20TM%20Stgy%20Statement%202019-20%20and%20Code%20of%20Practice%20Report.pdf
https://democracy.westsuffolk.gov.uk/documents/s31899/EXC.SA.19.006_%20Appendix%20A%20-%20App1%20-%20TM%20Strategy%20Statement%202019-2020.pdf
https://democracy.westsuffolk.gov.uk/documents/s31900/EXC.SA.19.006_Appendix%20A%20-%20App2%20-%20Code%20of%20Practice.pdf


COU/SA/19/005

1.4 Counterparty Ratings 

1.4.1 The Council uses the Arlingclose credit rating method in conjunction with 
information available from other industry sources to identify suitable 
counterparties for investments.

1.5 Approved investment counterparties and limits

1.5.1
Credit Rating Banks Unsecured Banks Secured Pooled Funds

AAA £6m
 5 years

£12m
20 years

£12m
20 years

AA+ £6m
5 years

£12m
10 years

£12m
15 years

AA £6m
4 years

£10m
5 years

£10m
15 years

AA- £6m
3 years

£10m
4 years

£10m
10 years

A+ £6m
2 years

£8m
3 years

£8m
5 years

A £6m
13 months

£8m
2 years

£8m
5 years

A- £6m
 6 months

£6m
13 months

£6m
 5 years

None £1m
6 months n/a £1m

5 years
UK Government £Unlimited, 50 Years

Other UK Local 
Authorities

Using Arlingclose Rating Formula (Per iDeal trade platform)
Gold - £12m, 5 years
Silver - £10m, 5 years
Bronze - £8m, 5 years

1.6 Interest Rate Projections

1.6.1 The following table shows the revised interest rate based on the current 
economic climate.

Previous 
Strategy New Strategy

2019/20 0.90% 0.90%
2020/21 1.25% 1.00%
2021/22 1.50% 1.10%

1.25%

1.7 Full Report

1.7.1 Members may view the full report and its appendices (which contain the 
full Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Code of Practice) on 
the Council’s website via the above links or may request a paper copy 
from Democratic Services.

Continued overleaf…..

Page 14



COU/SA/19/005

2. Budget and Council Tax Setting: 2019/2020 and Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 2019-2023

Shadow Executive (Cabinet) 
Members: 
Cllrs Stephen Edwards and Ian Houlder 

Report No:
EXC/SA/19/007
(Given number of 
appendices attached 
to this report, the 
above link applies to 
the full agenda pack)

2.1 The recommendations emanating from Shadow Executive (Cabinet)’s 
consideration of this report are contained within Report No: 
COU/SA/19/007, ‘Budget and Council Tax Setting: 2019/2020 and Medium 
Term Financial Strategy 2019-2023’, for consideration as Agenda Item 9 
on this Council agenda.

Page 15

https://democracy.westsuffolk.gov.uk/documents/g4148/Public%20reports%20pack%20Tuesday%2005-Feb-2019%2018.00%20Shadow%20Executive%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10


This page is intentionally left blank



COU/SA/19/006

Shadow 
Council
Title of Report: The Report of the West 

Suffolk Independent 
Remuneration Panel

Report No: COU/SA/19/006
Report to and date: Shadow Council 19 February 2019
Shadow Executive  
(Cabinet) 
Members:

Ruth Bowman
FHDC: Future Governance
Tel: 01638 510896
Email: ruth.bowman@forest-
heath.gov.uk

Carol Bull
SEBC: Future Governance
Tel: 01953 681513
Email: 
carol.bull@stedsbc.gov.uk

Lead officer: Leah Mickleborough
Service Manager (Democratic Services) and Monitoring 
Officer 
Tel: 01284 757162
Email: leah.mickleborough@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Purpose of report: The West Suffolk Independent Remuneration Panel has 
prepared a report to Shadow Council, recommending a 
Scheme of Allowances for West Suffolk Council.  The 
Remuneration Panel itself cannot set the scheme of 
allowances – this is a decision that must be made by 
Council.  

Recommendations: It is RECOMMENDED that Shadow Council:

(1) agrees to recommend the Scheme of 
Allowances, as stated in Appendix 1 to the 
West Suffolk Independent Remuneration 
Panel’s Report (Annex A to Report No: 
COU/SA/19/006), to West Suffolk Council;

(2)    agrees to the proposal by the West Suffolk 
Independent Remuneration Panel to 
implement the new Scheme of Allowances 
at 6 May 2019, and until that point, 
continue to pay Forest Heath District 
Councillors and St Edmundsbury Borough 
Councillors at the rates they currently 
receive from Forest Heath and St 
Edmundsbury respectively.

Page 17

Agenda Item 8



COU/SA/19/006

Key Decision:

(Check the appropriate 
box and delete all those 
that do not apply.)

Is this a Key Decision and, if so, under which 
definition?
Yes, it is a Key Decision - ☐
No, it is not a Key Decision - ☒

Consultation:  As stated within the report and as below 
Alternative option(s):  The Council must take the 

recommendations of the Independent 
Remuneration Panel (IRP) into account 
when setting its Scheme of Allowances, 
but is ultimately entitled to adopt an 
alternative scheme if it wishes.

Implications: 
Are there any financial implications? 
If yes, please give details

Yes ☒    No ☐
 The total costs of the proposed 

remuneration scheme are set out 
in paragraph 7.22 of the IRP’s 
report.  The proposal would mean 
a £30,000 reduction in cost 
compared to the combined costs of 
both current schemes

Are there any staffing implications? 
If yes, please give details

Yes ☐    No ☒


Are there any ICT implications? If 
yes, please give details

Yes ☐    No ☒


Are there any legal and/or policy 
implications? If yes, please give 
details

Yes ☒    No ☐
 The Council must agree a scheme 

of allowances in line with both the 
Local Authorities (Members 
Allowances)(England) Regluations 
2003 and the West Suffolk (Local 
Government Changes) Order 2018

Are there any equality implications? 
If yes, please give details

Yes ☐    No ☒
 The scheme specifically allows the 

Council to grant additional 
expenses / allowances where 
required where the Councillor has 
needs arising from a protected 
characteristic

Risk/opportunity assessment: (potential hazards or opportunities affecting 
corporate, service or project objectives)

Risk area Inherent level of 
risk (before 
controls)

Controls Residual risk (after 
controls)

Failure to agree a 
scheme of allowances 
means that 
Councillors cannot be 
paid allowances for 
their work

Medium The Remuneration 
Panel sought the 
views of Councillors 
in undertaking their 
work and understand 
their concerns, and 
have sought to 
respond to such 
concerns within the 
report

Low

Page 18



COU/SA/19/006

West Suffolk Council 
amends the scheme 
of allowances as 
recommended by the 
Shadow Council

Low This is specifically 
addressed in 
paragraph XX of the 
report below

Low

The Council agrees a 
scheme that is 
unaffordable

Low The proposals of the 
remuneration panel 
would result in 
savings compared to 
current budgetary 
positions

Low

Ward(s) affected: All Wards
Background papers:
(all background papers are to be 
published on the website and a link 
included)

None

Documents attached: Annex A - Report of the West Suffolk 
Independent Remuneration Panel 
(note, this includes four further 
appendices), namely:

Appendix 1: Scheme of Allowances
Appendix 2: Evidence Review
Appendix 3: Questionnaire Summary
Appendix 4: Comparative Charts

Page 19



COU/SA/19/006

1. Key issues and reasons for recommendation(s)

1.1

1.2

On 12 June 2018, the Shadow Council considered a report setting out the 
need to agree a scheme of allowances for West Suffolk Council, the context 
in which the review was undertaken, and the process for undertaking the 
review.  The report highlighted how that the existing Forest Heath District 
and St Edmundsbury Borough Councils’ schemes have a number of 
differences between them, and a new scheme could be developed to take 
account the different scale and nature of West Suffolk Council.

Following a robust recruitment process, in September 2018, Shadow Council 
agreed to appoint five individuals to an Independent Remuneration Panel 
(IRP), whose responsibility it is to recommend a Scheme of Allowances to the 
Council. As set out at the time, all members of the Panel must be truly 
independent from the Council.  The Chair of the Remuneration Panel, Richard 
Cooper, will be in attendance at the Council meeting to present the findings 
of the Panel to Councillors.  The Panel’s report is included at Annex A.

2.

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

3.

3.1

Independent Remuneration Panel Process

Following an initial briefing, the Panel has met on six occasions to consider a 
wide range of evidence (as set out in Appendix 2 to their report) and draw 
together a proposed scheme.  This included review of comparative councils, 
being those who were geographically close to West Suffolk and those who 
would have a similar population size in future, and review of relevant 
guidance and legislation.

In October 2018, the Panel wrote to all West Suffolk Councillors to ask for 
their views on the scheme of remuneration; a questionnaire was provided to 
aid understanding on what Members thought of the current schemes, and 
how Councillors may be expected to work differently within a West Suffolk 
Council.  At the same time, all Councillors were offered the opportunity to 
meet with the Panel to put forward their thoughts in person.  All feedback 
received from Councillors, whether via the survey or those who met with the 
Panel in person, was considered and taken into account in producing the 
draft scheme.

The Panel subsequently agreed their draft report, which was circulated to 
group leaders in January 2019, to raise any areas of factual inaccuracy, prior 
to the publication of the final report which is before members for 
consideration.  

Throughout the process, the Panel has been grateful to Members for 
engaging with the work they have undertaken, and putting forward a wide 
range of proposals to them.  

Scheme of Allowances

The Scheme of Allowances, as proposed by the West Suffolk Independent 
Remuneration Panel, is included at Appendix 1 to their report (Annex A) and 
it is recommended that the Council agrees this proposal.

Page 20



COU/SA/19/006

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

The West Suffolk (Local Government Changes) Order 2018 makes clear that 
it is the responsibility of the Shadow Council to formulate a Scheme of 
Allowances for West Suffolk Council to consider.  Subsequently, the Local 
Government (Boundary Changes) Regulations 2018 also make clear that any 
decisions of the Shadow Council may be continued by West Suffolk Council.

As such, the Shadow Council can agree a Scheme of Allowances to ensure 
that Councillors continue to receive remuneration for the work they 
undertake after 1 April 2019; however, West Suffolk Council must still 
formally agree a scheme which could be the same, or different, from that 
recommended by the Shadow Council. 

It is therefore proposed that the following transition arrangements operate:

 To ensure minimal disruption and confusion between 1 April and 6 May 
2019 (the day of retirement of Councillors following the election), 
Councillors continue to receive the same levels of remuneration as they 
currently receive from Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury respectively.

 The new Scheme of Allowances will then come into effect for the newly 
elected West Suffolk Councillors on 6 May 2019.  

 West Suffolk Council will then formally agree the Scheme of Allowances, 
as recommended by the Shadow Council, potentially at their Annual 
General Meeting on 22 May 2019.

As there is still some uncertainty as to how Councillors will work differently 
within the new Council, and the potential roles within the Council, the IRP 
has recommended that they undertake a further review within the next civic 
year to ensure the scheme proposed is working effectively.

Councillors are requested to agree the Scheme of Allowances, as put forward 
by the IRP, and the arrangements for the transition to the new Scheme as 
set out above.

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX A

Report of the West Suffolk 
Independent Remuneration Panel

February 2019

Page 23



1. Background

1.1. In September 2018, an Independent Remuneration Panel (“the Panel”) 
was appointed by the Shadow West Suffolk Council in order to advise on 
the levels of remuneration that should be paid to Councillors serving the 
new West Suffolk Council.  

1.2. This report has been prepared by the Panel to enable the Council to 
consider their recommendations, and provide details on the rationale that 
supports these recommendations.  The report is supplemented by a 
proposed scheme of allowances for the Council.

2. The Panel

2.1. The Panel is comprised of 5 members, as follows:
 Richard Cooper (Chair)
 Laura Austin
 Derek Blake MBE
 Sandra Cox
 Chris Mattinson

2.2. All panel members, by law, must be fully independent of the Council; 
they cannot be, or have recently been a serving member of the Council, 
or have any close affiliations with members of the Council. 

3. Acknowledgements

3.1. The Panel were supported in the course of their work by the Service 
Manager (Democratic Services); the Democratic Services Officer 
(Scrutiny); the Democratic Services Officer (Cabinet), and the Policy 
Officer.

3.2. In addition, the Panel also received a range of representations, both in 
writing and orally, from many members of the Council to help inform 
their thinking.

3.3. The Panel would like to take the opportunity to thank all those who have 
helped to inform, support and advise them in the undertaking of their 
work.

Page 24



4. Introduction

4.1. On 1 April 2019, a new Council, West Suffolk Council, will come into 
being, replacing Forest Heath and West Suffolk Council.  

4.2. In February 2017, Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury Councils renewed 
their remuneration schemes.  The two schemes have differences – there 
is no present, harmonised remuneration scheme.

4.3. As a result, the Panel has been required to develop a new scheme, to 
reflect the expected roles and relative responsibilities that will exist within 
the new Council.  

4.4. In undertaking their work, the Panel has considered a range of supporting 
material, details of which are attached at Appendix 2.  The Panel have 
been particularly mindful of the following factors:

 The proposed committee structures and role descriptions for 
Councillors, and how these will be reflected in the relative level of 
responsibilities for special responsibility allowances;

 The outcomes of benchmarking activities to review levels of 
remuneration at other Councils;

 The legislative framework and associated national guidance
 Feedback received from Councillors on the current schemes and their 

thoughts on what the role of Councillors will be within West Suffolk
 Value for money and cost of the proposals to the public purse

4.5. The proposed scheme is attached at Appendix 1 to this report.  This 
report provides detail on how the levels of remuneration and expenses 
proposed within this scheme has been calculated.

5. Legislative Framework

5.1. The West Suffolk (Local Government Changes) Order 2018 requires that 
the “shadow authority must formulate proposals for the scheme of 
members’ allowances to be adopted by West Suffolk Council”  

5.2. Any scheme of allowances that is adopted by West Suffolk Council must 
comply with the requirements of the Local Authorities (Members 
Allowances)(England) Regulations 2003 (“The Regulations”).  These 
require that the Council must have regard to the recommendations of the 
Independent Remuneration Panel.

5.3. The Regulations stipulate what form of allowances and expenses may be 
made to Councillors.  In particular, the Council:

Page 25



 Must set a rate of Basic Allowance, that shall be payable to all 
Councillors at the same rate;

 May pay a Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA) to Councillors 
who have special responsibilities (the form of special responsibility 
is detailed in the legislation);

 May make arrangements to pay the expenses of Councillors who 
have caring responsibilities when they are undertaking official 
Council duties;

 May make arrangements to pay travelling and subsistence expenses 
of Councillors incurred in undertaking official Council duties.

 May make arrangements for the provision of payments to co-opted 
members when undertaking their duties.

6. The Basic Allowance

6.1. The rate of basic allowances payable to West Suffolk Councillors has been 
one of the most important, but also one of the most difficult 
recommendations for the Panel.   

 
6.2. By law, the basic allowance is payable to all Councillors, regardless of the 

level of activity they undertake – unless the Councillor elects to forego 
their allowance.  

6.3. Councillors have a variety of roles; but the basic allowance is primarily 
there to recognise the work they undertake within the Council – making 
decisions on behalf of their communities, and the work they do to support 
their communities and residents.

6.4. The panel recognise the aims and ambitions set out in the business case 
to become West Suffolk Council; enabling greater financial resiliency; 
being better placed to capitalise on opportunities, and having strong 
leadership to encourage growth.  However, it is not clear at this stage 
how this will directly impact on the work of Councillors when undertaking 
their ward work.

6.5. To counter this, the existing Councils place a strong emphasis of the role 
of the Councillor in the community, as embodied in the Families and 
Communities Strategy, and this is fully expected to continue within the 
new Council.  The Council will have 64 Councillors, which represents an 
11% reduction on the current 72 Councillors across the two Councils.  
The Panel recognise that this will result in some Councillors representing 
more communities and residents, which is likely to entail an increase in 
workload.  This can be reflected both in terms of the basic allowance, but 
also in terms of the expenses scheme (see below). 

6.6. Whilst it is recognised that Councillors will be making decisions across a 
broader area in the new Council, again, it is not clear that the workloads 
or nature of decisions being made by Councillors would significantly 

Page 26



change.  As set out in the “council size” case (agreed by the Shadow 
Council in October 2017), it is expected that on average Councillors 
would have 2 or 3 Committee / working party appointments each, which 
is not dissimilar to current volumes.  It is acknowledged that some 
committees, such as Development Control, may need to meet for slightly 
longer than at present.  

   
6.7. During the course of the Panel’s work, several Councillors have put 

forward representations regarding the “voluntary” nature of the role and 
whether it is appropriate to make deductions to the basic allowance 
accordingly.  The Panel recognise that being a Councillor is something 
that people may choose to do, and there is a degree to which people may 
take into account the wider public good in doing so.  However, they have 
not sought to make this a factor in calculating the level of allowance.

6.8. All Councillors were provided with a survey (the outcomes of which are 
summarised at Appendix 3), seeking their views on remuneration.  Within 
the survey, the Panel directly asked Councillors what they considered the 
level of remuneration should be.  22% of Councillors responded. Although 
answers varied, the most common response was for an allowance 
somewhere in the region of £6,000, and the majority of Councillors 
favoured a modest increase in the allowance.

6.9. Some Councillors felt that there should be substantial increases in the 
value of allowances payable to Councillors.  Being a Councillor can often 
be a 24/7 role; residents may contact their Councillors at any time of 
day, and many Councillors put forward the high volume of 
correspondence they have to deal with on a day-to-day basis in addition 
to taking part in meetings.  Many equated the role to a full time 
occupation and raised concern that unless there was a substantial 
increase in allowances, it would deter people, particularly those who 
required a regular income from undertaking the role.

6.10. The Panel were sympathetic to this argument, but were concerned that 
the current national framework and approach to allowance payments 
prevents them from making such a radical recommendation.

6.11. The Panel have taken into account the outcomes of research undertaken 
to compare allowances from other Councils.  Research was based on 
those that are geographically close to the Council, and those Councils 
that will have a similar number of residents to the new Council. 

6.12. This research is attached at Appendix 4, charts 1 and 2.  It should be 
noted that the rates of allowances were taken as at 1 April 2018, prior to 
annual uplifts in rates; in the meantime, some Councils have also 
undertaken remuneration reviews and therefore their rates may now be 
different.

Page 27



6.13. The panel received representations about what costs the basic allowance 
should cover.  Most schemes, including both the current Forest Heath and 
St Edmundsbury schemes, expect the basic allowance to cover incidental 
costs such as telephone calls, stationery and postage.  Councillors also 
highlighted that they are expected to cover the costs of mobile phone 
contracts and calls, and printer inks and paper, whilst the Forest Heath 
Council scheme provides a specific annual allowance towards broadband 
costs.

6.14. During the review, it was drawn to the Panel’s attention that most St 
Edmundsbury Councillors have been historically receiving a £180 
broadband allowance in addition to their members’ allowance scheme.  
After extensive deliberation, the panel concluded that the cost of 
broadband in future should be incorporated into the basic allowance, and 
reflected in the percentage increase.

6.15. The Panel heard conflicting representations from Councillors regarding 
mobile phone costs, and after discussion felt it was more appropriate for 
the Council to decide whether mobile phones should be given to 
Councillors, rather than the panel.

6.16. Taking all the above into account, the Panel consider it appropriate to 
propose a basic allowance rate of £5,900 for West Suffolk Council.  This 
will equate to £2.10 per resident, and will place the Council towards the 
middle of its future peer group, in terms of Councils of a similar size.  The 
current schemes, when combined, cost £2.14 per resident.

6.17. The total costs of basic allowances proposed will be £377,600, compared 
to the total current costs for Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury combined 
of £398,907 (based on schemes at 1st April 2018, including costs for 
broadband allowances payable).  This represents an overall cost saving of 
5.3%.

6.18. Whilst the purpose of this review is to set a new rate of allowance for the 
new Council, the Panel noted that this would represent a modest increase 
compared to both existing Council schemes, whilst the cost per resident 
is reduced overall, representing better value for money for the taxpayer.

6.19. Members may note that the proposed rate would be a comparatively 
higher increase for Forest Heath Councillors; this reflects the fact that at 
present, the average “ward size” (number of electors each Councillor 
represents) is some 25% higher in St Edmundsbury than in Forest Heath, 
and the St Edmundsbury rates were, accordingly, proportionately higher 
in the past. 

6.20. By law, the basic allowance must be paid to all Councillors at the same 
rate (unless the Councillor chooses to forego their allowance).  The Panel 

Page 28



noted during the review that some Councillors expressed concerns about 
this, and whether a per-meeting form of allowance should be introduced.  
The Panel were aware that a payment per meeting approach would be 
inconsistent with the national framework and therefore inappropriate for 
the panel to recommend this form of scheme.

7. Special Responsibility Allowances

7.1. As set out above, the Panel have reviewed a range of factors in 
calculating proposed levels of allowances.  In particular, in Appendix 4, 
the Panel have considered comparative rates at other Councils as well as 
understanding from Councillors in receipt of SRA’s the level of 
responsibility this entails.

7.2. The Panel have sought to carefully understand the relative nature of 
responsibilities and determine levels of allowances in a systematic way, 
evaluating roles in a similar way to how an organisation may evaluate 
different job roles.  The Panel considered the outcome of the Councillor 
survey, and received representations from Councillors, following which a 
formal analysis of each role was undertaken to validate the rates being 
proposed.

7.3.   In particular, the panel have adopted the approach taken by a number 
of Councils, and advocated in the South West Councils guidance to 
Remuneration Panels, of suggesting tiers of allowances, where the levels 
of allowance is varied according to the relative responsibilities.  The 
South West Councils guidance is one of the few documents nationally 
produced to provide assistance to Remuneration Panels in undertaking 
their work.

7.4. Within this approach, each tier represents a different multiplier of the 
basic allowance, and so those with the least responsibility will receive a 
proportion of the basic allowance as their SRA, whilst those with the most 
responsibility will receive a multiplier of the basic allowance.  Whilst the 
Panel does not consider the model adopted by South West Councils is 
appropriate in full for West Suffolk Councils, it has provided a helpful 
basis on which to formulate the proposals.

Leader, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Members

Submissions received indicated that the role of a cabinet member, deputy 
leader or leader can not only mean being on call to residents at all times, 
but will often mean delivering the role on a near full-time basis.  The 
Panel also recognised that these roles have an important function in 
putting forward the Council’s position and lobbying on behalf of the 
Council and its area on both a regional and a national stage.  With this in 

Page 29



mind, the Panel felt that there is a strong case to substantially increase 
allowances for senior executive members.  

7.5. The business case to become a single council makes clear the need for 
strong leadership within West Suffolk, to enable the Council to achieve its 
ambitions.  Members with executive responsibility are expected to be the 
driving force of Council strategies, and have strong insight to a range of 
services.  They will lead and champion initiatives, make decisions within 
their areas of responsibility, and are expected to lead where there is 
challenge and scrutiny to the work they and the Council do. 

7.6. The panel recognised that it is for the future Council Leader to determine 
their cabinet, but inevitably there is likely to be an increase in 
responsibility following the reduction in the overall size of Cabinet from 
the current fifteen members to a future maximum of ten.  

7.7. As with the basic allowance, it is challenging to give full value to the roles 
of the leader, deputy leader and cabinet members given the current 
national framework.  However, it was recognised by the Panel that the 
levels of remuneration that the current roles attract at St Edmundsbury 
and Forest Heath are very low in comparison to peer Councils at present, 
as the schemes have not been subject to substantive increase for some 
time.

7.8. Given this direct increase in responsibility anticipated within the new 
Council, and having reviewed peer Council, it is proposed that the rates 
are established as follows:

 Tier 1 - Leader: £14,750pa (2.5x basic allowance)
 Tier 2 - Deputy Leader: £8,850pa (1.5x basic allowance)
 Tier 3 - Cabinet Members: £7,375pa (1.25x basic allowance)

Chair and Deputy Chair

7.9. Review of peer Councils and local Councils indicates that the practices 
towards paying Chair / Deputy Chair (and equivalent Mayor roles) varies 
widely.  In many Councils, it appears that there are significant deductions 
made to reflect that this role has a certain degree of honour associated 
with it.

7.10. The Panel considers that being Chair can be a very demanding role.  The 
Chair is expected to Chair Council meetings, facilitating difficult 
discussions, in a balanced, intelligent way, whilst also acting as the civic 
leader of the Council, representing the Council at numerous events.  This 
requires someone with a wide skillset to perform the role effectively.

Page 30



7.11. Whilst the Civic Leadership Review indicated that the time commitment 
involved may not be as significant as the current St Edmundsbury Mayor, 
the review also confirmed the important role the civic leader can play in 
supporting the Council’s priorities and acting as a key figurehead in the 
community.  Even with a reduced commitment, the postholder would 
regularly be required to give up evening and weekend time, and very 
much put personal commitments aside, to fulfil the role effectively.

7.12. The Panel recognised that the skillsets required to fulfil the role also apply 
to the Deputy Chair.  The Deputy Chair may be called upon at little 
notice, and needs to be prepared to have to step into the Chair’s role at 
frequent intervals.  

7.13. The Panel were also concerned that the demands on the personal time of 
the post holder – including travelling to many events – was not being 
reflected in the level of allowance received.  With this in mind, they 
consider it appropriate to propose an allowance level of £7,375pa for the 
Chair (Tier 3), and £3,894pa for the Vice-Chair (Tier 5 – see below).

Committee Chairs and Vice-Chairs

7.14. The Panel recognise that the impact of becoming a single West Suffolk 
Council will vary on the Committee Chair and Vice-Chair roles.  As such, 
the Panel have decided to revisit the relative responsibilities associated 
with being a committee chair, and the time commitments involved, to 
determine relative levels of allowances.  The Panel’s evaluation has been 
undertaken with regard to the emerging constitution, which establishes 
the relative responsibilities of each Committee, and specific 
responsibilities given to the Committee Chair and Vice-Chair, as well as 
feedback from members.   It should be recognised that this is not an 
exact science and there is a degree of judgement when placing roles 
within each band.

7.15.  This has resulted in committees being categorised into five tiers, as per 
the table below:

Page 31



Tiers of Allowances

Tier 4 (SRA = 0.9 x 
basic)

Tier 5 (0.66 x basic) Tier 6 (0.4 x basic) Tier 7 (0.35 x basic) Tier 8 (no SRA)

May be expected to 
chair meetings 8-12 
times per year

May be regularly 
required to defend 
Council decisions to 
public / press 

May be required to 
represent the Council / 
Committee

Specific personal 
responsibilities in 
relation to decision 
making for which they 
could be held to account

Expected to undertake 
regular (at least 
weekly) meetings with 
officers

May be expected to 
chair meetings 4-8 
times per year

May have some 
requirement to defend 
Council decisions to 
public / press

May be required to 
represent the Council / 
Committee

May have some liaison 
with officers / be 
consulted in relation to 
decision making (more 
than monthly monthly)

May be called upon to 
act in Tier 4 / Tier 5 
roles (as a Vice-Chair)

May have some liaison 
with officers / be 
consulted in relation to 
decision making 
(monthly)

May have some 
representative role  / 
be required to 
represent the 
committee on 
occasions

May be called upon to 
act in Tier 4-6 roles 
(as a Vice-Chair)

May have some liaison 
with officers / be 
consulted in relation to 
decision making (less 
than monthly)

May have some 
representative role / 
be required to 
represent the 
committee on 
occasions

May be expected to chair / 
vice-chair a committee 
less than 4 times a year

Unlikely to have further 
commitments beyond 
chairing the meeting

Roles within this 
band:

Chair of Overview and 
Scrutiny

Roles within this 
band:

Roles within this 
band:

Vice-Chair of Overview 
and Scrutiny

Roles within this 
band:

Roles within this band:

Standards Committee 
Chair / Vice-Chair

P
age 32



Chair of Development 
Control

Chair of Performance 
and Audit Scrutiny 
Committee 

Chair of Licensing 
Committee

Vice-Chair of Council

Vice-Chair of 
Development Control

Vice-Chair of 
Performance and Audit 
Scrutiny Committee

Vice-Chair of Licensing 

P
age 33



7.16. The Panel have also taken a similar approach to the evaluation of Vice-
Chairs, on the basis that the Vice-Chair would be expected to be able to 
fulfil all the responsibilities of the respective Chair.  The Panel has also 
taken into account current expectations on the Vice-Chairs role.

The Panel received specific representations from a number of Councillors 
in relation to the Vice-Chairs’ role for Development Control, including the 
need to have two vice-chairs of Development Control, and the need for 
the Vice-Chairs’ to attend many of the same meetings as the Chair.  The 
Panel consider it is a matter for the Council to decide whether to appoint 
one vice-chair or two, but have taken the feedback relating to the 
demands of the role into account when setting the level of remuneration.

7.17. The Panel, as with other roles, have also assessed comparative 
information in relation to other Councils.  This indicates that practices for 
payment of Committee Chairs varies significantly and, whilst regard has 
been given to this in establishing levels of remuneration, have focussed 
on what they consider to be suitable remuneration for West Suffolk 
Council.

7.18. This has resulted in the Committee recommending the following levels of 
allowances:

 Tier 4 roles £5,310pa
 Tier 5 roles Vice-Chairs £3,894pa
 Tier 6 roles Chairs £2,360pa
 Tier 7 roles Vice-Chairs £2,065pa
 Tier 8 roles: No allowance

Minority Group Leaders

7.19. The Panel considered whether minority group leaders should be given a 
specific allowance for their role.  At present, the Panel considered that 
there was insufficient evidence to demonstrate that the nature of the role 
was of sufficient responsibility to warrant an allowance.  However, the 
Panel recognised that the forthcoming election may mean that there are 
changes to the political groups, and in future being leader of a minority 
group may warrant an allowance.  As a result, the Panel consider it more 
appropriate to revisit this allowance when they undertake their next 
review (see below), and if an allowance is recommended, this could be 
backdated accordingly.

Foregoing of Allowances

7.20. Some members have indicated that they wish to be able to forego 
allowances and expenses that they receive.  The panel have some 
concerns that this does create a distorted picture of Councillor workload, 

Page 34



however the law clearly requires the scheme to allow Councillors to 
forego their allowance and this has been included in the scheme.

Payment of Multiple Special Responsibility Allowances

7.21. This is an area of current inconsistency, whereby St Edmundsbry 
Councillors can only claim for one special responsibility allowance, whilst 
Forest Heath members can claim for part of a second allowance if they 
hold two special responsibility posts.  The Panel recognised that with a 
larger Council, it should not be necessary for Councillors to be appointed 
to more than one special responsibility post and are recommending that 
only one allowance can be claimed.  

Overall costs of Special Responsibility Allowances and the proposed 
scheme of allowances

7.22. The total cost of Special Responsibility Allowances across both St 
Edmundsbury and Forest Heath, based on posts held at 1 April 2018, is 
£135,814.60.  The proposed scheme, assuming the Council appoints a 
full Cabinet of 10 members, and there are two Vice-Chairs of the 
Development Control Committee, would be £126,555, which represents a 
6.8% saving.

7.23. Overall, the proposed total costs of basic (paragraph 6.16) and special 
responsibility (paragraph 7.22) allowances will be £504,155.  This 
represents a total saving of £30,566 or 5.7% to the Council compared to 
existing costs.  

8. Uplifts and Review of Allowances

8.1. The Panel consider it appropriate to recommend that allowances are 
periodically increased.  This has the advantage of ensuring that 
allowances keep pace with increases in the costs of living that Councillors 
will incur, and as such remain fair and consistent.  It also avoids the need 
for substantial increases in allowances simply to “catch-up” as opposed to 
changes in responsibilities.

8.2. The Panel have considered a range of indices that could be used for such 
increases, including RPI, CPI, and ONS measures of increases in median 
salaries.  Each measure has its advantages and disadvantages, and in 
consequence the Panel felt that the fairest measure would be the same 
increase that the majority of Council staff receive annually, following the 
national local government salary settlement.  The Panel are keen to 
emphasise that this is being suggested to ensure parity of treatment 
between staff and Councillors, and not because they consider that staff 
pay and Councillor remuneration should be more directly linked.  

Page 35



8.3. The Panel have also considered how long it should be before the 
allowances are reviewed again.  Whilst there are merits in setting rates 
for a four year term, to give certainty to Councillors at the time of 
election, the Panel have some concern that the rates are being 
established based on expectations of the relative workloads and 
responsibilities for Councillors.  They therefore suggest that a further 
review is undertaken with the aim of reporting findings within 12 months  
of the new Council being formed.

8.4. This will allow the Panel to assess whether the scheme is operating 
effectively, and that the levels of remuneration are consistent with the 
realities of the role, and for the Panel to consider any new posts or 
changes in responsibilities that the new Council recommends.

9. Scheme of Expenses

Travelling Rates

9.1. Whilst the panel were appreciative that costs of fuel have increased, 
HMRC set standard rates to allow for the reclaiming of fuel and the Panel 
consider that these provide a sensible benchmark for Councillors to 
reclaim expenditure for travelling; however they have made provision 
that if the HMRC rate is amended then the scheme may also be amended.  
The panel also agreed that Councillors may claim a supplemental rate if 
they are taking passengers with them.  As explained in 9.11 below, the 
Panel are recommending changes to what events Councillors can claim 
for.

9.2. The Panel also agreed that car parking costs may be reclaimed by 
Councillors at the rate at which they were incurred in the course of official 
duties.

9.3. In terms of public transport, the panel considered that Councillors should 
be able to claim at the standard fare rate.  The Panel have also suggested 
that Councillors who are entitled to use discounted / concessionary public 
transport fares should be expected do so.

9.4. The Panel recognised that other forms of transport tended to be 
exceptional, and usually booked on behalf of the Councillor, e.g. flights to 
attend training in other parts of the country.  The Panel considered it 
sensible that this practice should continue, and only in exceptional 
circumstances (and wherever possible agreed with the Chief Executive or 
Monitoring Officer in advance) should Councillors seek to claim for other 
forms of transport.

Carers and Dependents Allowances

Page 36



9.5. As above, a number of Councillors raised concern with the Panel that it is 
difficult for those with family / caring commitments to become a 
Councillor.  As per 6.9 and 6.10 above, the Panel did not feel able to 
reflect this fully within the basic allowance, however did feel it important 
to ensure there is appropriate provision to enable Councillors to be able 
to claim for the costs for professional care they would have to incur in 
order to undertake their Councillor work.

9.6. Research was undertaken on relative costs of childcare and more 
specialist support care for those with needs.  This latter cost is extremely 
difficult to determine as it will depend on the complexity of the care 
required and therefore a rate of £20 per hour was considered 
appropriate. The ukcareguide.co.uk suggests home care in West Suffolk, 
for 10 hours per week for 4 years would equate to £18 per hour; by 
comparison, childcare, according to care.com, would equate to £8 per 
hour. Councillors would be required to provide supporting evidence of 
costs incurred.

Subsistence Rates

9.7. The current schemes set an amount per meal that Councillors may claim 
for in the course of their work.  In practice, the Panel heard that 
subsistence allowances are rarely claimed; it tends to be mainly when 
Councillors are staying overnight for training / conference purposes and 
in such situations the current meal allowances did not cover the costs of 
the meal.  

9.8. The Panel also heard that where a meeting of the Council or its 
Committees was scheduled to take place across a mealtime, then the 
practice was for Councillors to be provided with lunch.  The Panel 
considered this should be continued.

9.9. Given this, the Panel considered that the current subsistence rates should 
be removed and replaced with an allowance of up to £20 for a meal 
where a Councillor was required to stay overnight on official duties.  The 
Panel also agreed that an “exceptional circumstance” clause be included 
to cover items such as meals on trains or in London.

When Councillors are allowed to make claims

9.10. The circumstances under which Councillors are allowed to make claims 
for costs incurred (in line with the rates set above) are generally 
stipulated in law; for example, claims can be made for Council and 
Committee meetings and attending outside body meetings (where 
appointed by the Council). However, the law also allows Councillors to be 
able to claim expenses to “carry out any other duty… for the purpose of, 
or in connection with, the discharge of the functions of the authority…”

Page 37



9.11. The Panel have received a number of representations from Councillors 
that undertaking their local community work is a core part of their role.  
The Panel agree with Councillors on this point, and consider this work to 
be discharging functions of the authority; this is further reinforced by the 
role description for Councillors in the Council’s Constitution.  They have 
therefore proposed that in future, Councillors will be able to claim 
expenses for attending community meetings where invited to do so 
(including Parish / Town Council meetings); attending community events; 
work in their community to resolve issues raised and attending meetings 
to aid expenditure on their locality ward budget.

9.12. The Panel have also received representations that Councillors be 
permitted to claim for attending political group meetings.  The Panel have 
considered this point and assessed this request against the current legal 
framework; the Panel do not consider the legislation gives scope to allow 
for such expenses claims.

Submission of Claims

9.13. The Panel have considered how long Councillors should have in which to 
submit expense claims.  The Panel consider that the current 2 month 
window provides sufficient scope for Councillors to submit expense 
claims, whilst recognising that there may exist exceptional circumstances 
where a Councillor may be permitted to submit a claim following a longer 
period of time.

10. Implementation of Scheme

10.1. The panel have considered when the new remuneration scheme should 
come into effect.  The Panel recognise that introducing the new scheme 
on 1 April has merits, and reflects the fact that on that date all 
Councillors will become West Suffolk Councillors.  However, there are 
some practical implications in doing so, most notably the changes 
required to the payroll system on both 1 April (to bring the new scheme 
into effect), and 6 May (when the normal term of Councillors will end) at 
a time when the Council is undertaking a TUPE transfer of its staff to 
West Suffolk. Further, Councillors will have to operate on the basis of a 
new scheme for a 5 week period before the election which may increase 
the risk of errors in claims.

10.2. The Panel noted that there is very little financial implications overall to 
the Council whether Councillors receive the new rates on 1 April or 6 
May.  The Panel therefore consider it sensible for Councillors to continue 
to receive allowances and claim expenses on the basis of their existing 
Council allowances scheme until 6 May, after which all Councillors should 
be paid at the new rate for West Suffolk.  

Page 38



APPENDIX 1

Members’ Allowances Scheme

Page 39



1. The West Suffolk Council Remuneration Scheme

1.1. All Councils are required to form a scheme of allowances that:
 Determines how much individual Councillors receive for being a 

Councillor; (the basic allowance)
 Determines how much those Councillors who have additional 

responsibilities should receive (special responsibilities allowances)
 Determines the circumstances under which Councillors may claim 

expenses for costs they have incurred because they are a Councillor

1.2. The Council must set the scheme in accordance with the requirements of 
the Local Authorities (Members Allowances)(England) Regulations 2003.  
The Scheme has been produced on the recommendation of an 
Independent Remuneration Panel, a group of individuals who are entirely 
separate from the Council who have considered how much Councillors 
should receive.

1.3. This is the first scheme for West Suffolk Council, and was recommended 
by West Suffolk Shadow Authority to the Council in February 2019.

2. Basic Allowance

2.1. Each Councillor shall receive a payment of £5,900 per year for 
undertaking their work as a Councillor.  This payment is intended to 
include all expenses and costs they incur that fall outside the scope of the 
expenses scheme (see below), including costs of stationery, phone calls 
and internet costs, unless they are supplied to Councillors by the Council 
itself.  

2.2. The sum of £5,900 shall be uplifted each year (including the year 
2019/20) by the same rate as the Annual Pay Award provided to the 
majority of Council staff.  Should this be 3% or higher, then the 
Remuneration Panel should consider the level of increase and make 
recommendations to the Council accordingly.

3. Special Responsibility Allowances

3.1. Councillors shall receive a payment in line with Schedule 1 for any special 
responsibilities posts that they are appointed to by the Council.

3.2. A councillor may hold more than one special responsibility post, but may 
only be paid one special responsibility allowance.  

4. Payment and Foregoing of Allowances

Page 40



4.1. Allowances shall be paid in 12 monthly instalments on the 23rd of each 
month unless that day is a weekend or bank holiday, in which case it 
shall be paid the previous Friday.

4.2. A Councillor shall be paid any allowances from their date of appointment, 
so that:
4.2.1. In an ordinary election year, basic allowances are payable from 

4 days after the date of election;
4.2.2. In the event of a by-election, basic allowances are payable from 

the date of the by-election;
4.2.3. In the event appointment to a special responsibility post, from 

the date the appointment was made

4.3. Where a Councillor’s entitlement to an allowance begins or ends part of 
the way through the year, their entitlement shall be the same proportion 
as the number of days during the term of office to the number of days in 
that year.

4.4. A Councillor may write to the Monitoring Officer to notify of their intention 
to forego any allowance, or part of any allowance, payable to them under 
this scheme.  

4.5. In the event that the Council agrees that a Councillor may be granted a 
leave of absence of more than 6 months, then the Councillor will not be 
entitled to receive a basic allowance after they have been absent for 
more than 6 months.  Their allowance payment will be resumed after 
they have attended a Council meeting.

5. Travel, Subsistence and Dependents / Caring Allowances

5.1. Members are allowed to claim travel, subsistence and dependents / 
caring allowances when carrying out official duties as listed within 
Schedule 2.  

5.2. Members must submit claims within 2 months using any approved forms 
/ IT systems.  For claims to be processed within the month submitted, 
they must be submitted in accordance with stated deadlines provided to 
members.

5.3. Where a Councillor lives outside the District, the nearest border should be 
agreed with them by the Monitoring Officer or Chief Executive, which 
would then become their notional base for travel purposes from which 
claims from their “home” may be made.  

Transport Allowances

5.4. Where Councillors are undertaking official duties, claims for transport 
allowances will be paid at the following rates:

Page 41



Travelling by Car:
First 10,000 miles claimed
Claims above 10,000 miles

Where also carrying Councillors / 
Council employees also required 
to attend the event

45p per mile
25p per mile

Additional 5p per mile

Travelling by Motorbike 24p per mile
Travelling by Bicycle 20p per mile
Public Transport Standard Fare incurred; 

Councillors are expected to use 
any discount / concessionary fare 
entitlements

Taxis Actual Fare, as evidenced by 
receipt; this should normally be 
pre-approved by the Chief 
Executive or Monitoring Officer and 
only in exceptional circumstances.

Car Parking and Toll Fares Actual Fare incurred, as evidenced 
by ticket / receipt / statement

5.5. Any other forms of transport or arrangements that do not fall within the 
scope above should be notified to the Chief Executive or Monitoring 
Officer to agree. Wherever possible, where public transport or alternative 
transport is being used, then the Councillor or Council (on their behalf) 
should seek to pre-purchase tickets to ensure best value.  

5.6. Should HMRC adjust the standard rates for car, motorbike or bicycle 
travel, then the Council may adjust the rates in 5.4 accordingly, or the 
council could reconvene the West Suffolk Independent Remuneration to 
review the rate changes

Subsistence Allowances

5.7. Any overnight accommodation should be booked and paid by the Council 
on behalf of the Councillor in advance.  

5.8. An evening meal allowance will be paid for meals after 7pm where an 
overnight stay is required outside of the District, for the actual cost of the 
meal, up to a maximum of £20.  In exceptional circumstances for 
conferences in London, this should be agreed with the Monitoring Officer 
or Chief Executive.

5.9. Any other exceptional circumstances, such as a meal on a train, may be 
agreed by the Monitoring Officer or Chief Executive

Dependents / Caring Allowances

Page 42



5.10. Councillors who have caring responsibilities are allowed to claim for the 
costs they actually incurred, up to a maximum of £8 per hour for 
childcare, and £20 per hour for professional support care for dependents, 
from the time they leave home to the time that they return home on 
duties within schedule 2.

5.11. These payments will not be made to an immediate family member and 
may only be reimbursed on production of receipts or invoices for costs 
incurred.  They should be claimed in respect of those who live with the 
Councillor, or are dependent on the Councillor for support, and cannot be 
left unsupervised during the Councillor’s absence.

5.12. Costs in respect of childcare may only be claimed outside of normal child 
care provision times – for example, claims may not be made when the 
child is in school or using entitlement to free childcare hours.

6. Councillors with Additional Needs

6.1. If any Councillors have particular needs arising due to a protected 
characteristic under the equalities act – for example, they have a 
disability that prevents them using some forms of transport, then the 
Chief Executive or Monitoring Officer may agree to the payment of any 
additional claims or support arrangements that fall outside the scope of 
the scheme, to support their needs.  

Page 43



Schedule 1

Rates of Allowances

Tier Responsibility Value Value in 
relation 
to basic

Basic Allowance £5,900 1
1 Leader of the Council £14,750 2.5
2 Deputy Leader of the Council £8,850 1.5
3 Cabinet Members

Chair of Council
£7,375 1.25

4 Chair of Development Control
Chair of Overview and Scrutiny

£5,310 0.9

5 Chair of Performance and Audit Scrutiny
Licensing
Vice-Chair of Council
Vice-Chair of Development Control

£3,894 0.66

6 Vice-Chair of Overview and Scrutiny £2,360 0.4
7 Vice-Chair of Performance and Audit 

Scrutiny
Vice-Chair of Licensing

£2,065 0.35

Page 44



Schedule 2

Approved duties for the purpose of payment of transport, subsistence 
and carers / dependents allowances

Councillors may claim transport, subsistence and carers / dependents allowances 
when undertaking the following duties:

1. Attendance at a meeting of the authority or of any committee or sub-
committee of the authority, or of any other body to which the authority 
makes appointments or nominations, or of any committee or sub-committee 
of such a body Attendance at any other meeting, the holding of which is 
authorised by the authority, or a committee or sub-committee of the 
authority, or a joint committee of the authority and at least one other local 
authority provided that where the authority is divided into two or more 
political groups it is a meeting to which members of at least two such groups 
have been invited; or if the authority is not so divided, it is a meeting to 
which at least two members of the authority have been invited; The 
attendance at a meeting of any association of authorities of which the 
authority is a member

4. The attendance at a meeting of the executive or a meeting of any of its 
committees, where the authority is operating executive arrangements The 
performance of any duty in pursuance of any standing order made under 
section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972 requiring a member or 
members to be present while tender documents are opened the performance 
of any duty in connection with the discharge of any function of the authority 
conferred by or under any enactment and empowering or requiring the 
authority to inspect or authorise the inspection of premises 

7. Meetings arranged by, or on behalf of, or approved by any of the Chief 
Executive, Directors Assistant Directors or Service Managers to which 
Councillors have been invited

In addition, Councillors are entitled to claim travelling expenses when acting as a 
local ward Councillor.  Councillors should use their judgement (or seek advice 
from the Monitoring Officer) to determine whether the meeting or event they are 
travelling to is genuinely in their local ward work and therefore eligible to be 
claimed.  The following is not exclusive, but acts as guidance on the type of 
matters that Councillors can, and cannot claim for:

Items Councillors can claim for: Items Councillors cannot claim 
for:

Attending meetings of a local Parish / 
Town Council, or resident / 
community association

Attending meetings when they are a 
part of the group who have convened 
the meeting 

Attending meetings of community 
groups when requested to do so by 
the group 

Attending meetings / making visits 
which have no relation to Council 
business

Page 45



Representing the community as a 
local ward member at events such as 
parish forums and meetings / events 
that are making decisions about the 
community

Attending meetings / making visits 
which are primarily to deal with 
personal or political business

Visiting residents or local businesses 
to respond to enquiries 
Attending meetings where proposals 
relating to the local ward are being 
presented
Attending meetings relevant to 
expenditure on the Council’s locality 
ward budget scheme

It is expected that ordinarily claims should be within the local member’s ward, 
except where the Councillor is acting at a community representative.  Councillors 
may also claim where another Councillor has asked them to act as the local ward 
member on their behalf.  

Page 46



APPENDIX 2

Supporting Material Considered by the Independent Remuneration Panel 
to aid their work

 The Business Case to support the creation of West Suffolk Council (agreed 
by Forest Heath Council and St Edmundsbury Borough Council in 
September 2017)

 The Council Size case to support the future number of Councillors and how 
Councillors are expected to operate in West Suffolk (agreed by Forest 
Heath Council and St Edmundsbury Borough Council in October 2017)

 The Local Authorities (Members Allowances)(England) Regulations 2003
 Guidance on members allowances produced by HMRC and HMRC guidance 

on allowable expenses
 South West Councils publication, “A practical Guide for those involved in 

the work of Independent Remuneration Panels” (January 2015)
 The current Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury Schemes of Members 

Allowances (agreed February 2017)
 Comparisons of rates of allowances paid on 1 April 2018 at neighbouring 

authorities; other Suffolk authorities, and authorities that will be of a 
similar size (in terms of population) to West Suffolk 

 Guidance on the expected roles of Committees and particular roles within 
the Council, produced by officers based on the emerging West Suffolk 
Constitution

 Scoring Matrix to assess respective responsibilities of those in receipt of 
Special Responsibility Allowances

 General briefings from Council officers on the work to become a single 
Council, and the work required from the Independent Remuneration Panel

 The outcomes of a questionnaire sent to all West Suffolk Shadow 
Councillors in November 2018

 Discussions held with West Suffolk Shadow Councillors in December 2018

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3

Councillor Remuneration Questionnaire – key findings

Background

In November 2018, all West Suffolk Shadow Councillors were asked to complete 
a questionnaire providing their thoughts on the current and future remuneration 
of West Suffolk Councillors.  Councillors were also provided the opportunity to 
meet the Remuneration Panel 1:1 if they wished.

In addition to the summary below, the Remuneration Panel have received and 
considered the responses submitted by all Councillors.

Q1 - What do you think the rate of basic allowance (that all Councillors 
receive) should be for the new Council – and why?

Of the 5 Councillors that answered this question directly, the answers were 
£5,800 to £7,000 per annum.

The answers have been analysed to show those that supported a substantial 
increase (>20%), a modest increase, a similar level to present or didn’t provide 
a clear answer.  A modest increase (orange) was the most favoured answer.

Large increase Modest increase Similar levels No clear answer
  

Page 49



Q2 How do you believe the role of a Councillor will change in the new 
Council? Please comment on both your ward role and SRA role, if you hold 
one.

Themes from the answers were as follows:

 A minority of Councillors didn’t believe there would be a significant 
impact; the new Council was a transition and not a radical change

 On the other hand, some Councillors felt that the workload would 
significantly increase, with one suggesting the work for some SRA 
recipients would double.

 In general, there was a feeling that there would be an increase in work 
due to having fewer councillors overall and more parishes to cover in rural 
areas; the impact of the growth agenda meaning that the communities 
were increasing in size; 

 Comments were also made relating to the general role of the councillor – 
their role in delivering services with reduced funding or managing 
community expectations given government policies in areas such as 
planning.

Q3. What do you think of the current members allowance scheme?  Do 
you believe there are improvements or areas of clarity that could be 
provided to help Councillors?

 Responses mostly focussed on expense claims – a desire for Councillors to 
be able to claim for undertaking their ward work, and also some desire for 
being able to claim for political group meetings.

 There was also some misunderstanding with Councillors wanting to be 
paid based on attendance (which is not allowed under regulations)

 There was also some commentary on Special responsibility allowances and 
ensuring these are meaningful and reflect work done in future

Q4. How does the role of Councillor impact on your day-to-day life?  We 
would particularly welcome thoughts on:

a) For Councillors who work or have other regular commitments, can 
your role as Councillor be readily accomodated?

b) In what ways does it impact on your general lifestyle – do you have 
to make compromises as a result of your role?  Or does the role of 
Councillor complement / add fulfilment to your life? 

 The responses to this question had a theme that as a Councillor, your 
private life often has to come second to your Council commitments.  Many 
Councillors reported instances of this.  

Page 50



 There were also some comments that being a Councillor can be a 24/7 
exercise – residents approaching in the supermarket or contacting you at 
any time of day.  

 There were some concerns that the levels of pay do deter working people 
from being a Councillor

Q5 What do you believe are the most challenging aspects of being a 
Councillor?  What responsibilities do you feel being a Councillor places on 
you?

 Some Councillors felt the most rewarding, and frustrating part of the role 
was dealing with ward work – good when you can help people, frustrating 
when you can’t.

 Councillors also noted the degree of hostility they can face from members 
of the public who don’t understand the role, and in particular the need to 
do the right thing, rather than popular things.  

 Some Councillors also noted that the role could be unpredictable, and the 
scale and responsibility can be significant – there is almost too much 
involved.

Q6 Do you strongly feel there are any particular things must be in the 
scheme or should be excluded from the scheme?

 Several Councillors didn’t answer or were not clear about the question.
 Some particular things mentioned were ensuring that the scheme helps 

working councillors – covering their mileage and childcare costs
 A couple of councillors mentioned the payment of multiple SRA’s and 

whether it was fair that those taking up more than one role had to forego 
some of the payment they may have received otherwise;

 There was also some comments linked to the respective SRA rates and 
whether some of the smaller working groups should be remunerated when 
there wasn’t as much work as some other roles such as Vice-Chair of 
Development Control

Q7 – hours involved in being a Councillor 

[Councillors were asked to give an indication of how long they felt they spent on 
various aspects of their Councillor role per month.  There was no requirement for 
Councillors to formally record their time]

The rates varied from 37 hours per month to 197 hours per month.  The mean 
average hours spent was 108 and the median average 94 hours.

It may be worth noting that of the 13 Councillors that recorded their typical time 
spent, only one councillor was not in receipt of an SRA – therefore this was 
mostly compiled from Councillors who might be expected to devote more time to 
the role.  

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 4

Comparative Rates of Allowances

Please note that in Charts 1 and 2, Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury are highlighted in orange; geographic neighbours / 
Suffolk authorities in green, and future similar authorities by population in blue (Waveney and Suffolk Coastal are included in 
this category).  Please also note that St Helens Metropolitan, whilst similar in terms of population, is a unitary authority.

Chart 1: Comparative Rates of Basic Allowances

£4,000 £4,007 £4,235
£4,787 £4,807 £4,883 £5,075 £5,136 £5,300 £5,459 £5,460 £5,580

£6,115 £6,299 £6,545 £6,555
£7,014

£7,935

Ba
be

rg
h 

an
d 

M
id

 S
uf

fo
lk

 
Di

st
ric

t C
ou

nc
il

Ip
sw

ic
h 

Bo
ro

ug
h 

Co
un

ci
l

Hu
nt

in
gd

on
sh

ire
 D

ist
ric

t 
Co

un
ci

l

W
av

en
ey

 D
ist

ric
t C

ou
nc

il

M
ai

ds
to

ne
 B

or
ou

gh
 C

ou
nc

il

Su
ffo

lk
 C

oa
st

al
 D

ist
ric

t 
Co

un
ci

l

Ch
ar

nw
oo

d 
Bo

ro
ug

h 
Co

un
ci

l

Fo
re

st
 H

ea
th

 D
ist

ric
t C

ou
nc

il

Ea
st

 C
am

br
id

ge
sh

ire
 D

ist
ric

t 
Co

un
ci

l

St
 E

dm
un

ds
bu

ry
 B

or
ou

gh
 

Co
un

ci
l

Br
ec

kl
an

d 
 C

ou
nc

il

Ay
le

sb
ur

y 
Va

le
 D

ist
ric

t 
Co

un
ci

l

Ba
sil

do
n 

Co
un

ci
l

N
ew

 F
or

es
t D

ist
ric

t C
ou

nc
il

W
yc

om
be

 D
ist

ric
t C

ou
nc

il

So
ut

h 
So

m
er

se
t D

ist
ric

t 
Co

un
ci

l

Ba
sin

gs
to

ke
 a

nd
 D

ea
ne

 
Bo

ro
ug

h 
Co

un
ci

l

St
 H

el
en

s M
et

ro
po

lit
an

 
Bo

ro
ug

h 
Co

un
ci

l 

£0

£1,000

£2,000

£3,000

£4,000

£5,000

£6,000

£7,000

£8,000

£9,000

Basic allowance

P
age 53



Chart 2: Comparative rates of basic allowance – cost per resident

This is calculated as (Basic Allowance x Number of Councillors) / Population

£1.24
£1.39 £1.39 £1.46 £1.58 £1.58 £1.59 £1.68

£1.89 £1.93 £1.95
£2.09 £2.10 £2.12 £2.18 £2.25 £2.33 £2.35 £2.40

Hu
nt

in
gd

on
sh

ire
 D

ist
ric

t 
Co

un
ci

l

Ip
sw

ic
h 

Bo
ro

ug
h 

Co
un

ci
l

Ba
sil

do
n 

Co
un

ci
l

Ch
ar

nw
oo

d 
Bo

ro
ug

h 
Co

un
ci

l

M
ai

ds
to

ne
 B

or
ou

gh
 C

ou
nc

il

M
id

 S
uf

fo
lk

 D
ist

ric
t C

ou
nc

il 

Su
ffo

lk
 C

oa
st

al
 D

ist
ric

t 
Co

un
ci

l

Ay
le

sb
ur

y 
Va

le
 D

ist
ric

t 
Co

un
ci

l

Ba
be

rg
h 

Di
st

ric
t C

ou
nc

il

Br
ec

kl
an

d 
 C

ou
nc

il

W
av

en
ey

 D
ist

ric
t C

ou
nc

il

Fo
re

st
 H

ea
th

 D
ist

ric
t C

ou
nc

il

N
ew

 F
or

es
t D

ist
ric

t C
ou

nc
il

St
 H

el
en

s M
et

ro
po

lit
an

 
Bo

ro
ug

h 
Co

un
ci

l 

St
 E

dm
un

ds
bu

ry
 B

or
ou

gh
 

Co
un

ci
l

W
yc

om
be

 D
ist

ric
t C

ou
nc

il

Ea
st

 C
am

br
id

ge
sh

ire
 D

ist
ric

t 
Co

un
ci

l

So
ut

h 
So

m
er

se
t D

ist
ric

t 
Co

un
ci

l

Ba
sin

gs
to

ke
 a

nd
 D

ea
ne

 
Bo

ro
ug

h 
Co

un
ci

l

£-

£0.50

£1.00

£1.50

£2.00

£2.50

£3.00

Cost per resident

P
age 54



Chart 3: Comparative Rates of Executive Allowances

This Chart excludes authorities operating alternative governance models (such as a Committee system)

St 
Edmundsb

ury 
Borough

 

Council

Fo
rest 

Heath
 Dist

ric
t 

Council

Bab
ergh

 an
d M

id Su
ffo

lk

Su
ffo

lk 
Coast

al 
Dist

ric
t 

Council

Ipsw
ich

 Borough
 Council

Wav
eney D

ist
ric

t C
ouncil

Breckl
an

d Council

Ayle
sb

ury 
Vale

 Dist
ric

t 

Council

Basi
ngst

oke
 an

d Dean
e 

Borough
 Council

Charn
wood Borough

 

Council

Huntin
gd

onsh
ire

 Dist
ric

t 

Council

New Fo
rest 

Dist
ric

t C
ouncil

So
uth So

merse
t D

ist
ric

t 

Council

St 
Helens M

etro
polita

n 

Borough
 Council 

Wyco
mbe Dist

ric
t C

ouncil
0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

Leader Deputy Leader Other Cabinet Members

SRAs - Executive £ 

P
age 55



Chart 4: Comparative Rates of Committee Chairs 

St 
Edmundsb

ury

Fo
rest 

Heath

Bab
ergh

 an
d M

id Su
ffo

lk

Su
ffo

lk 
Coast

al

Ipsw
ich

 Borough

Wav
eney D

ist
ric

t C
ouncil

Breckl
an

d Council

Ayle
sb

ury 
Vale

 Dist
ric

t 

Council

Basi
ngst

oke
 an

d Dean
e 

Borough
 Council

Charn
wood Borough

 

Council

Huntin
gd

onsh
ire

 Dist
ric

t 

Council

New Fo
rest 

Dist
ric

t C
ouncil

So
uth So

merse
t D

ist
ric

t 

Council

St 
Helens M

etro
polita

n 

Borough
 Council 

Wyco
mbe Dist

ric
t C

ouncil
0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

Council Scrutiny Committees Audit Committees Planning/Dev Control Committees Licensing Committees

SRA - Chairs £

£

P
age 56



Chart 5: Comparative Rates of Committee Vice-Chairs

St 
Edmundsb

ury 
Borough

 

Council

Fo
rest 

Heath
 Dist

ric
t 

Council

Bab
ergh

 an
d M

id Su
ffo

lk

Su
ffo

lk 
Coast

al 
Dist

ric
t 

Council

Ipsw
ich

 Borough
 Council

Wav
eney D

ist
ric

t C
ouncil

Ayle
sb

ury 
Vale

 Dist
ric

t 

Council

Basi
ngst

oke
 an

d Dean
e 

Borough
 Council

Charn
wood Borough

 

Council

Huntin
gd

onsh
ire

 Dist
ric

t 

Council

New Fo
rest 

Dist
ric

t C
ouncil

So
uth So

merse
t D

ist
ric

t 

Council

St 
Helens M

etro
polita

n 

Borough
 Council 

Wyco
mbe Dist

ric
t C

ouncil
0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

5,000

5,500

Council Scrutiny Committees Audit Committees Planning/Dev Control Committees Licensing Committees

SRA - Vice Chairs £

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



COU/SA/19/007 

 

Shadow 

Council 
 

 

 
 

Title of Report: Budget and Council Tax 
Setting: 2019/20 and Medium 
Term Financial Strategy 2019-

2023 
Report No: COU/SA/19/007 

Report to and date: Shadow Council 19 February 2019 

Shadow Executive  
(Cabinet) 
Members/Portfolio 

Holders: 

Stephen Edwards 
FHDC: Resources and 
Performance 

Tel: 01799 530325 
Email: 
stephen.edwards@forest-
heath.gov.uk 

Ian Houlder 
SEBC: Resources and 
Performance 

Tel: 07970 729435 
Email: 
ian.houlder@stedsbc.gov.uk 
 

Lead officer: Gregory Stevenson 

Service Manager (Finance and Performance) 
Tel: 01284 757264 

Email: gregory.stevenson@westsuffolk.gov.uk  
 

Purpose of report: This report sets out details of the Council’s proposed 
revenue and capital budgets for 2019-2023. The 
Council is required to consider the 2019/20 budget for 

the authority and to set the level of Council Tax 
required to fund this budget. 

 

Recommendations: It is RECOMMENDED that: 

 
(1) Having taken into account the information 

received by Shadow Executive (Cabinet) on 

5 February 2019 (Report No: 
EXC/SA/19/007 refers) including the 

Report by the Assistant Director 
(Resources and Performance) (S151 
Officer) set out in Attachment C, together 

with the up to date information and advice 
contained in this report (Report No: 

COU/SA/19/007) , the level of Band D 
Council Tax for 2019/20 be set at £152.28 
for the predecessor area of Forest Heath, 

and £182.16 for the predecessor area of St 

Page 59

Agenda Item 9

mailto:ian.houlder@stedsbc.gov.uk
mailto:gregory.stevenson@westsuffolk.gov.uk


COU/SA/19/007 

Edmundsbury. (Note: the level of council 

tax beyond 2019/20 will be set in 
accordance with the annual budget process 
for the relevant financial year.) 

 
(2) Subject to (1) above, the following formal 

Council Tax resolution be adopted: 
 
(i) the revenue and capital budget for 

2019-2023 attached at Attachment A 
to Report No: COU/SA/19/007, and 

as detailed in Attachment D, 
Appendices 1-5, Attachment E and 
Attachment F, be approved; 

 
(ii) a general fund balance of £5 million 

be agreed to be maintained, as 
detailed in paragraph 1.8.2; 

 

(iii) the statutory calculations under 
Section 30 to 36 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1992, 
attached as Attachment J, be noted; 

 

(iv) the Suffolk County Council and 
Suffolk Police Authority precepts 

issued to West Suffolk Council, in 
accordance with Section 40 of the 

Local Government Finance Act 1992 
and outlined at paragraphs 2.5 and 
2.6 below, be noted; and 

 
(v) in accordance with Section 30(2) of 

the Local Government Finance Act 
1992, the amounts shown in Schedule 
D of Attachment I, be agreed as the 

amount of Council Tax for the year 
2019/20 for each of the categories of 

dwellings shown.  
 
(3) The Assistant Director (Resources and 

Performance), in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holders for Resources and 

Performance, be authorised to transfer any 
surplus from the 2018/2019 revenue 
budget to the Invest to Save Reserve as 

detailed in paragraph 1.8.4, and to vire 
funds between existing Earmarked 

Reserves (as set out at Attachment D, 
Appendix 3) as deemed appropriate 
throughout the year.  

 

Page 60



COU/SA/19/007 

(4) Approval be given to the Assistant Director 

(HR, Legal and Democratic), in consultation 
with the relevant service Assistant 
Director, to determine the establishment 

and the employment arrangements to 
deliver the Council’s priorities within 

agreed budgets and the principles of the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 

(5) Approval be given to the Flexible Use of 
Capital Receipts Strategy, as set out in 

Attachment G. 
 
(6) Council tax discount be granted to care 

leavers in accordance with the details set 
out in paragraph 1.12 and Attachment H. 

 

Key Decision: 

 

Is this a Key Decision and, if so, under which 

definition? 

Yes, it is a Key Decision - ☒ 

No, it is not a Key Decision - ☐ 

Consultation:  As detailed in the body of this report 

Alternative option(s):  The Council is legally required to set a 
balanced budget. 

Implications:  

Are there any financial implications? 
If yes, please give details 

Yes ☒    No ☐ 

 As detailed in the body of this 
report 

Are there any staffing implications? 
If yes, please give details 

Yes ☒    No ☐ 

 Staffing implications are 
considered as part of any proposed 

structure changes. 
 Additional resources and capacity 

is included within the medium term 

budgets to reflect the council’s 
ambitious strategic projects.  

Are there any ICT implications? If 
yes, please give details 

Yes ☒    No ☐ 

 Additional ICT resource is included 
within the medium term budgets 

to reflect the council’s 
transformation programme 

Are there any legal and/or policy 

implications? If yes, please give 
details 

Yes ☒    No ☐ 

 As detailed in the body of this 

report 

Are there any equality implications? 

If yes, please give details 
Yes ☒    No ☐ 

 To be considered as part of 

implementation of service changes 

Page 61



COU/SA/19/007 

Risk/opportunity assessment: A risk assessment is included at 

Attachment C as part of the report by 
the Assistant Director (Resources and 
Performance) (Chief Finance Officer).  

The conclusion is that overall the 
estimates are robust, taking into 

account known risks and mitigating 
strategies and the reserves are 
adequate for the 2019/20 budget 

plans. Shadow Executive (Cabinet) 
and Shadow Council are advised to 

have regard to this report when 
making their decisions on the 2019/20 
budget. 

Ward(s) affected: All Wards 

Background papers: 
(all background papers are to be 
published on the website and a link 

included) 

EXC/SA/19/007 – Budget and 
Council Tax Setting: 2019/20 and 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 

2019-2023 – 5 February 2019 
West Suffolk Medium Term 

Financial Strategy 
WS-16-17-MTFS-2016-20-Final 
PAS/FH/18/039  & 

PAS/SE/18/035 – Approach to 
Delivering a Sustainable West Suffolk 

Budget 2019-2020 and Medium Term 
Plan – 28 November 2018 
PAS/FH/19/006 & 

PAS/SE/19/006 - Approach to 
Delivering a Sustainable West Suffolk 

Budget 2019-2020 and Medium Term 
Financial Strategy – 31 January 2019 

Documents attached: 
 
 

Attachment A: Revenue Budget 
Summary 
Attachment B:Summary of major 

budget changes 
Attachment C: Report by the 

Assistant Director (Resources and 
Performance) 
Attachment D (not attached): 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) 2016-20 

WS-16-17-MTFS-2016-20-Final  
Appendix 1: 5 Year Revenue Budget 

(MTFS) 
Appendix 2: Capital Programme 
Appendix 2a:2018/19 Capital 

Programme – Potential Carry Forwards 
Appendix 3:Earmarked Revenue 

Reserves 
Appendix 4:Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance 

Page 62

https://democracy.westsuffolk.gov.uk/documents/g4148/Public%20reports%20pack%20Tuesday%2005-Feb-2019%2018.00%20Shadow%20Executive%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
http://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Finance_and_Statistics/upload/WS-16-17-MTFS-2016-20-Final.pdfLink
https://democracy.westsuffolk.gov.uk/documents/s30897/PAS.FH.18.039%20-%20Approach%20Delivering%20a%20Sustainable%20WS%20Budget%2019-20%20and%20MTP.pdf
https://democracy.westsuffolk.gov.uk/documents/s30898/PAS.SE.18.035%20-%20Approach%20Delivering%20a%20Sustainable%20WS%20Budget%20and%20MTP.pdf
https://democracy.westsuffolk.gov.uk/documents/s31775/PAS.FH.19.006%20-%20Approach%20to%20Delivering%20a%20Sustainable%20Budget%20and%20MTFS.pdf
https://democracy.westsuffolk.gov.uk/documents/s31812/PAS.SE.19.006%20-%20Approach%20to%20Delivering%20a%20Sustainable%20Budget%20and%20MTFS.pdf
http://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Finance_and_Statistics/upload/WS-16-17-MTFS-2016-20-Final.pdfLink


COU/SA/19/007 

Appendix 5:Scenario Planning and 

Sensitivity Analysis 
Attachment E:Strategic Priorities and 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 

(MTFS) Reserve 
Attachment F:Capital Strategy  

Attachment G:Flexible Use of Capital 
Receipts Strategy 2019/20 
Attachment H:Proposed Council Tax 

Discount for Care Leavers 
Attachment I:Council Tax Schedules 

Attachment J:Council Tax Resolution 
 

 

  

Page 63



COU/SA/19/007 

 
1. 

 
1.1 

Key issues and reasons for recommendation(s) 

 
Local government funding 

 
1.1.1 
 

 
 

 
1.1.2 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

1.1.3 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

1.1.4 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
1.1.5 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

In the history of local government there have been few times that have seen 
such a transformation in the funding of local services as the current decade. 

The changes are numerous and continuous, and there is little doubt that the 
2020s will bring even more changes. 

 
Changes include reductions in grant funding from the Government, including 
removal of the revenue support grant, more business rates being retained 

locally (and the uncertainty around how that was going to work), plus the 
introduction, and then reduction, of New Homes Bonus. Alongside those 

reductions is the lowest bank base rates for years, so the Council’s income from 
interest is significantly reduced. In addition there is an increased demand for 
some services, such as support and advice relating to housing options and 

homelessness. Council Tax increases have been capped at 3% (previously 2%) 
but this local tax raises just a fifth of our income for local services. National 

policy encourages councils to grow their local, and therefore UK, economy by 
supporting business, investment and housing to bring in income.  Bridging the 

gap between income and demand remains the single biggest challenge facing 
local government across the country. 
 

Even within these financial challenges Councils can no longer traditionally just 
deliver services if they are to meet the financial challenges and be able to 

continue to serve their communities. West Suffolk Council recognise and will 
take a proactive investment role, not only to meet the challenges brought by 
funding for councils, but also importantly to manage growth and ensure 

prosperity for our communities. We must, therefore, maintain the income we 
receive now but also deliver our investment projects, enable the building of 

homes and increase our business base so that we deliver new income streams 
to replace those lost, which will enable us to continue delivering the services 
and wider community support which people value and make West Suffolk an 

attractive place to live, work and invest.  
 

As we move into 2019/20 our financial plans see further reliance on delivery of 
our strategic projects. As we continue to shape those projects, focusing in and 
around our growth agenda, we also see the ongoing development of the 

Investment Strategy, with the following key pieces of further work continuing to 
progress: 

 our property asset strategy including property acquisitions, disposals, 
maximising the value of our existing stock, and  

 place investment plans. 

 
Some of the projects will need considerable investment, both in money - 

including creating new funds where needed through borrowing (supported by 
robust business cases) - resources and time, but that investment will build a 
more financially resilient and self-sufficient council, with less reliance on 

uncertain national or other funding. That focus on income-generating projects, 
which may span several years before they deliver a return, means we no longer 

look simply to balance a budget for one year. Importantly these economic 
growth projects will bring wider long term benefits to our areas than purely 

Page 64



COU/SA/19/007 

 
 

financially robust councils, such as jobs, better health outcomes and investment 
in working with communities and place based initiatives. 

  

1.2 
 

Local Government Finance Settlement 2019/20 
 

1.2.1 
 
 

 
 

1.2.2 
 
 

 
1.2.3 

 
 
 

1.2.4 
 

 
1.2.5 

 
 
 

 
 

1.2.6 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
1.3 

 
1.3.1 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

The Local Government Finance Settlement for 2019/20 was announced on 13 
December 2018. This confirmed our figures for the final year of the four year 
Revenue Support Grant settlement and confirmed details of the New Homes 

Bonus figure and rules. 
 

There is no change to the way New Homes Bonus (NHB) legacy payments (from 
previous years housing growth) will be calculated and the baseline of 0.4% 
increase in the number of dwelling (converted to Band Ds) will remain.  

 
The Council’s total settlement funding assessment for 2019/20 (including 

Revenue Support Grant and Baseline Funding from retained business rates – 
before growth) is £4.647m. 
 

There has been confirmation that there will be no change to the reduction of 
revenue support grant funding down to zero in 2020/21. 

 
The implementation towards the new 75% Business Rates Retention (BRR) 

scheme and the review of the needs based assessment/formula that underpins 
our financial needs settlement from central government are both planned to be 
implemented from April 2020. Both changes create significant uncertainty to 

the Council’s medium term financial planning assumptions. 
 

The worst case scenario for the review of the BRR scheme could be to 
completely re-set the baseline position to our current level of business rate 
income, thus removing the majority of the growth generated since 2013 under 

the current 50% BRR scheme. This would remove a significant amount of 
income (worst case – £1.5m) from the budget in 2020/21. At this stage it is not 

possible to model the outcome of the needs based assessment review, 
however, this could have a further impact on the income assumptions currently 
in the MTFS.  This situation will be monitored and reviewed as information 

becomes available. We will continue to lobby and input into MHCLG 
consultations in order to make our position clear, including the recent ‘A Review 

of Local Authorities’ Relative Needs and Resources’ and ‘Business Rates 
Retention Reform’ consultations, published alongside the provisional finance 
settlement. 

 
Council Tax referendum requirements 2019/20 

 
In December 2018, the Government announced the council tax referendum 
limits, being a 3% or £5 threshold (whichever is the higher) for council tax 

increases for 2019/20 for shire districts.  Any council tax rise above this would 
trigger a local referendum, thus giving the local electorate the opportunity to 

approve or veto the increase.  In addition, regulations have been laid setting 
out the rules for the harmonisation of council tax from the predecessor 
authorities, which provide that a council can choose to apply the referendum 

principles in any year before harmonisation to either the average council tax 

Page 65



COU/SA/19/007 

 
 

 
1.3.2 

 
 
 

 
 

1.4 
 
1.4.1 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
1.4.2 
 

 
 

 
 
1.4.3 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
1.4.4 
 

 
 

 
 

across the new Council’s whole area, or to the council tax in each predecessor 
area.  

 
The current budget figures assume no increase in Band D council tax for 

2019/20 for the predecessor area of St Edmundsbury, and a £4.95 increase for 
the predecessor area of Forest Heath. This assumption is in line with the 
approved business case for a single council for West Suffolk with council tax 

harmonisation planned over seven years. 
 

Setting the budget – 2019/20 and across the medium term to 2022/23 
 
The Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committees scrutinised and recommended 

the approach to our medium term planning 2018/2021 (Report Nos: 
PAS/SE/19/006 and PAS/FH/19/006 refer).   

 
The starting position is from the existing MTFS which is balanced for each year 
from 2018/19 out to 2020/21 (including some cost saving targets). This has 

enabled the methodology for revising this outlook to be focussed on three 
areas: 

 
1 Challenging the pre-existing assumptions and updating these to 

reflect new knowledge and information. 
2 Collating new items that are required to support the delivery of 

West Suffolk Councils Strategic Plan. 

3 Reflect any changes in the wider macro environment which 
require a change in approach from West Suffolk Council. 

 
The process to validate each of these areas has been driven by workshop 
sessions to understand the trends and drivers behind each of the income and 

expenditure lines within each service area and project. The outcome of the 
sessions has then been reviewed at an overall council level by the Leadership 

Team to ensure a collective, corporate view. 
 
The six approved MTFS themes below continue to be at the forefront of West 

Suffolk Council’s financial strategy for delivering a sustainable medium term 
budget: 

 
1. aligning resources to West Suffolk councils’ Strategic Framework 

and essential services; 

2. continuation of the shared service agenda and transformation of 
service delivery; 

3. behaving more commercially; 
4. considering new funding models (e.g. acting as an investor); 
5. encouraging the use of digital forms for customer access; and 

6. taking advantage of new forms of local government finance (e.g. 
business rate retention). 

 
The Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committees have a key role in the scrutiny 
of the budget process and proposals for achieving a balanced budget. The lists 

of proposals were presented to Members of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny 
Committees in November 2018 (Report Nos: PAS/SE/18/035 and 

PAS/FH/18/039, ‘Approach to Delivering a Sustainable Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2019-2020’ refer.) 

Page 66



COU/SA/19/007 

 
1.4.5 

 
 

 
 
1.4.6 

 
 

 
1.5 
 

1.5.1 
 

 
 
1.5.2 

 
 

 
 

 
1.5.3 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

1.5.4 
 

 
 

 
The Committees received a further update and additional proposals at its 

meeting in January 2019 (Report Nos: PAS/FH/19/006 and PAS/SE/19/006, 
‘Approach to Delivering a Sustainable West Suffolk Budget and Medium Term 

Financial Strategy 2019-2020’ refer.)  
 
Attachment A is the revenue budget summary, which provides an overview of 

the proposed income and expenditure for 2019/23. The total proposed revenue 
expenditure in 2019/20 is £48.11 million (excluding Housing Benefits). 

 
Capital programme 2019-2023 

 

The capital expenditure of the Council has an impact on the revenue budget 
and is part of the overall preparation of the revenue proposals for the coming 

year. 
 
It is estimated that £20.223 million will be spent on capital programme 

schemes during 2019/20 which are to be funded by a combination of grants 
and contributions (£0.900 million), earmarked revenue reserves (£2.054 

million), the usable capital receipts reserve (£2.736 million) and external 
borrowing (£14.533 million). 

 
Looking ahead, the total value of the capital programme over the next four 
years is approximately £40.971 million. Attachment D, Appendix 2 shows the 

planned capital expenditure in financial year 2019/20 and future years, 
together with information on the funding of that expenditure (that is, grants 

and contributions, use of earmarked revenue reserves, useable capital receipts 
reserve and external borrowing) and is summarised in Table 2 below. 
 

Table 2: Planned capital expenditure over four years to 2022/23 
 

  2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Total 

  millions millions millions millions millions 

Gross capital 
expenditure 

£20.223 £16.196 £1.829 £2.723 £40.971 

Funded by:           

Grants and 
contributions 

£0.900 £0.900 £0.900 £0.900 £3.600 

Earmarked 

revenue reserves 
£2.054 £2.562 £0.679 £1.573 £6.868 

Capital receipts 
reserve 

£2.736 £2.450 £0.250 £0.250 £5.686 

External borrowing £14.533 £10.284 £0.000 £0.000 £24.817 

Total £20.223 £16.196 £1.829 £2.723 £40.971 

 

The quarter 3 Performance Monitoring as reported to the Performance and Audit 
Scrutiny Committee on 31 January 2019 identified a potential carry forward of 
£63.7m on the 2018/19 capital programme, relating to timing of profiled spend 

on a number of projects.  These are set out in Attachment D, Appendix 2a.  

Page 67



COU/SA/19/007 

 
 

 
1.6 

 
1.6.1 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
1.6.2 
 

 
 

 
 

1.6.3 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
1.7 

 
1.7.1 

 
 
 

 
 

1.8 
 
1.8.1 

 

Subject to the year end outturn position, any carry forwards will be added to 
the 2019/20 capital programme budget at the year end. 

 
Disposal of assets 

 
Part of the funding arrangements for the capital programme has been the 
disposal of surplus assets. The Council has plans to review its programme of 

asset disposals as part of the development of its Asset Management Strategy. 
Table 3 below is a summary estimate of the likely level of income from asset 

disposals over the period 2019/20 to 2022/23. 
 
Table 3: Estimated income from asset disposals 2019-23 

 

 2019/20 

millions 

2020/21 

millions 

2021/22 

millions 

2022/23 

millions 

Council share of 

Right to Buy 
receipts  

£0.70 £0.70 £0.70 £0.70 

Barley Homes Loan 
Repayments 

£0.00 £5.95 £0.00 £0.00 

Total £0.70 £6.65 £0.70 £0.70 

 

The above capital programme and asset disposals programme, along with the 
repayment of the loan given to Barley Homes (£5.95m), will, in the short to 

medium term, move the Council’s usable capital receipts reserves from £2.061 
million to £5.125 million. This assumes that all borrowing included within 
current and future business cases will be drawn down.  

 
The calculation of interest income used in the medium term plans is based on 

the use of existing and anticipated capital expenditure and receipts, and 
external borrowing where the business cases assuming funding would come 
from borrowing. Changes in the level and timing of these cash flows have a 

direct impact on investment returns and revenue funding requirements. 
However, the Interest Equalisation Reserve does allow for some change in the 

budgeted levels of income from interest to be accommodated. The Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance and matters relating to the affordability of the Capital 
Programme are addressed in Attachment D, Appendix 4. The revenue cost of 

the capital programme is achievable across the medium term provided the 
savings and income streams indicated in the MTFS are implemented. 

  
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
 

The Treasury Management and Annual Investment Strategy included as a 
referral from the Shadow Executive (Cabinet) elsewhere on this agenda (Report 

No: EXC/SA/19/006) and the Prudential Indicators (Attachment D Appendix 4), 
provide a framework within which borrowing limits for the Council are 
established and will confirm our MRP policy for 2019/20.  

 
General Fund Balance 

 
The revenue budget, Attachment A, based on current budget projections, shows 

a balanced budget position for 2019/20. However, many of the assumptions 

Page 68



COU/SA/19/007 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

1.8.2 
 
 

 
 

1.8.3 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

1.8.4 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
1.9 

 
1.9.1 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
1.10 

 
1.10.1 
 

 
 

 
 

supporting the budget projections for 2019/20 (and future years) are subject to 
significant uncertainty. This includes assumptions regarding: 

 
(a)  sustainability of income stream estimates (including commercial property  

rental income and planning income); 
(b)  impact of Business Rates Retention scheme and Suffolk pooling   

arrangements; and 

(c)   pay inflation and employer’s pension liabilities. 
 

The Council holds General Fund balances as a contingency to cover the cost of 
unexpected expenditure during the year. As outlined in Attachment C, 
“Adequacy of Reserves and Robustness of Budget Estimates”, the Council’s 

General Fund Balance is set at a minimum of £5m.   
 

The recommended level of general fund balance has been established by taking 
into account the following: 
 

(a)  allowance for a working balance to cushion the impact of any unexpected 
events or emergencies; 

(b)  the new risks placed at a local level under the new business rates retention 
scheme, such as appeals; 

(c)  the addition of greater income targets and project returns linked to being 
more commercial and the selling of councils’ services; and 

(d)  other risks detailed in the Scenario Planning and Sensitivity Analysis 

provided at Attachment D, Appendix 5. 
 

The 2018-2019 Performance Reports (Quarter 3) to the Performance and Audit 
Scrutiny Committee on 31 January 2019 (Report Nos: PAS/SE/19/002 and 
PAS/FH/19/002 refer) included an estimate of the year end budget position as 

a deficit of £27,000. It is proposed to transfer any final year-end surplus in its 
entirety to the Council’s Invest to Save reserve in order to fund future 

efficiencies and initiatives, which will help to mitigate any further risks or 
budget pressures going forward. It is proposed that any year-end deficit is 
supported by a transfer from the Council general fund reserve. 

 
Earmarked reserves 

 
At the beginning of the 2019/20 financial year the Council will have an 
estimated £25.341 million in earmarked reserves. The current level of 

earmarked reserves and contributions during 2019/20 has been reviewed and 
where appropriate annual contributions have been adjusted. Attachment D, 

Appendix 3, provides details of the proposed contributions to, and projected 
expenditure from, earmarked reserves during 2019/20 up to 2022/23. At the 
end of 2022/23 these reserve balances are estimated to fall to £23.903 million. 

 
Strategic Priorities and MTFS Reserve 

 
This reserve acts as a one-off fund to provide the financial capacity, either 
through direct investment (revenue and/or capital) or through servicing 

external borrowing, for the  Council to drive forward the delivery of a 
sustainable Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and the West Suffolk 

Strategic Plan priorities.  
 

Page 69



COU/SA/19/007 

1.10.2 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
1.10.3 

 
 
 

 
1.11 

 
1.11.1 
 

 
 

 
 
 

1.11.2 
 

 
 
1.12 

 
1.12.1 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

1.12.2 
 
 

Table 4 shows the total New Homes Bonus (NHB) grant payments made to the 
predecessor councils since the scheme began in 2011/12, including the 

expected West Suffolk Council receipt in 2019/20. These NHB allocations have 
all been put into this Strategic Priorities and MTFS reserve.  

 
Table 4: New Homes Bonus – Grant Receipts 

 

Year Forest  
Heath 

millions 

St 
Edmundsbury 

millions 

West  
Suffolk 

millions 

2011/12 £0.562 £0.268 £0.830 

2012/13 £1.436 £0.559 £1.995 

2013/14 £1.679 £0.757 £2.436 

2014/15 £2.166 £0.886 £3.052 

2015/16 £2.437 £1.219 £3.656 

2016/17 £2.644 £1.754 £4.398 

2017/18 £1.278 £1.553 £2.831 

2018/19 £0.718 £1.272 £1.990 

2019/20 N/A N/A £1.848 

 
 
The 2019/20 budget and MTFS includes a number of draws on this reserve as 

previously approved or under consideration through the democratic process. 
Attachment E summarises the proposed draws on this reserve as part of the 

2019/20 budget and the medium term budgets. 
 
Adequacy of reserves 

 
Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the Section 151 Officer 

(Assistant Director (Resources and Performance)) to report to Shadow Council, 
as part of the tax setting report, her view of the robustness of estimates and 
the adequacy of reserves. The Shadow Council is required to take these views 

into account when setting the council tax at its meeting on 19 February 2019. 
The full statement is set out in Attachment C. 

 
In summary, the Section 151 Officer’s overall assessment is that the estimates 
are robust (taking into account known risks and mitigating strategies) and 

reserves are adequate for the 2019/20 budget plans. 
 

Proposed Council Tax Discount for Care Leavers 
 
It is proposed that from 1 April 2019, West Suffolk Council adopt a Suffolk-wide 

policy to award 100% council tax discount to West Suffolk residents aged 16-
25 who were previously under the care of Suffolk County Council and who live 

alone; with other care leavers; or others who are disregarded for council tax 
purposes (e.g. full-time students). Care leavers will also be disregarded for 
council tax purposes so that if they live with a single occupier, that person will 

not lose their 25% discount. 
 

The cost to West Suffolk Council is likely to be a maximum of £15,000 each 
year. Full background information on the proposal is included in Attachment H 

to this report. 
 

Page 70



COU/SA/19/007 

2. 
 

2.1 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
2.2 

 
 

 
2.3 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
2.4 

 
 
 

2.5 
 

 
 
 

2.6 
 

 
 
2.7 

 
 

 
2.8 
 

 
2.9 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Calculation of the Council Tax 
 

The Local Government (Structural Boundary Changes)(Finance)(Amendment) 
Regulations 2018 set out the rules for the harmonisation of council tax from the 

predecessor authorities of West Suffolk Council. At its meeting on 5 February 
2019, the Shadow Executive (Cabinet) recommended the following Band D 
council tax levels for 2019/20, for each of its predecessor areas: 

 
 Forest Heath - £152.28 (an increase of £4.95, 3.4%) 

 St Edmundsbury - £182.16 (a freeze) 
 
These figures are in line with the regulations and also reflect the approved 

business case for a single West Suffolk council, with council tax harmonisation 
planned over seven years.   

 
The council tax is set for a Band D property and then adjusted for the other 
council tax valuation bands. The number of Band D equivalent properties (the 

Tax Base) is the national benchmark and for West Suffolk, the number of Band 
D equivalents for 2019/20 is 55,056.11 as set out in the following table: 

 

 2018/2019 2019/2020 Increase 

Forest Heath 17,964.44 18,313.11 348.67 

St Edmundsbury 36,490.95 36,743.00 252.05 

West Suffolk 54,455.39 55,056.11 600.71 

  
Since the meeting of the Shadow Executive (Cabinet) on 5 February 2019, the 
precepts of the other organisations have been received and these are detailed 

below and in the schedules at Attachment I and Attachment J. 
 

The parish councils have set their own council tax requirements for 2019/20. 
These are detailed at Attachment I, Schedule A.  The total Parish and Town 
Council precepts for 2019/2020 amount to £3,951,797 which result in an 

average West Suffolk Band D parish council tax of £71.78.  
 

Suffolk County Council met on 14 February 2019 and set its precept at 
£71,139,651.41 resulting in a Band D council tax of £1,292.13, a 3.99% 
increase (including 1% increase for the Adult Social Care precept). 

 
Suffolk Police Authority set its precept of £11,713,737.96 at the Police and 

Crime Panel (SCC) meeting on 25 January 2019, resulting in a Band D council 
tax of £212.76, a 12.7% increase on the 2018/19 figure of £188.82. 
 

There are a number of statutory calculations that follow from this budgetary 
decision and these are detailed in Attachment J. 

 
If the formal Council Tax Resolution (Attachment J) is approved, the total Band 
D Council Tax will be as follows: 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 71



COU/SA/19/007 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

2.10 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Forest Heath Predecessor Area: 
 

 2018/19 2019/20 Increase 

West Suffolk Council £147.33 £152.28 3.36% 

Suffolk County Council £1,242.54 £1,292.13 3.99% 

Suffolk Police Authority £188.82 £212.76 12.68% 

Sub-Total £1,578.69 £1,657.17 4.97% 

Town and Parish average £89.23 £91.06 2.05% 

Total £1,667.92 £1,748.23 4.81% 

 

 
St Edmundsbury Predecessor Area: 

 

 2018/19 2019/20 Increase 

West Suffolk Council £182.16 £182.16 0.00% 

Suffolk County Council £1,242.54 £1,292.13 3.99% 

Suffolk Police Authority £188.82 £212.76 12.68% 

Sub-Total £1,613.52 £1,687.05 4.56% 

Town and Parish average £60.83 £62.17 2.20% 

Total £1,674.35 £1,749.22 4.47% 

 
 
Based  on the figures above, the proportions of an average 2019/20 council tax 

bill will be: 
 

Forest Heath Predecessor Area: 
 
Suffolk County Council:  74.91%       

West Suffolk Council:  8.71% 
Suffolk Police Authority:  12.17%      

Parish/Town Council:  5.21% 
 
St Edmundsbury Predecessor Area: 

 
Suffolk County Council:  73.87%       

West Suffolk Council:  10.41% 
Suffolk Police Authority:  12.16%      
Parish/Town Council:  3.56% 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 72



COU/SA/19/007 

3. 
 

3.1 

Legal implications 
 

The Local Government Act 2003 imposed duties on local authorities in relation 
to financial management which covers the following areas: 

 
a) A power for the Secretary of State to determine a minimum reserve level 

for local authorities by regulations. The Government has indicated that 

their preference is to keep this power in reserve.  
 

b) Section 25 of the Act places a requirement on the S151 Officer to report 
on the adequacy of reserves and robustness of budget estimates as part 
of the authority's annual budget setting process. The Shadow Council is 

required to take these views into account when setting the Council Tax at 
its meeting on 19 February 2019. This is included as Attachment C of the 

report. 
 
c) Sections 28 and 29 of the Act place a statutory duty on local authorities 

to monitor their budgets and take such action as considered necessary in 
the case of overspends and shortfalls of income. 

 
d) Section 30 of the Act relates to the provisions preventing local authorities 

entering into agreements following a Section 114 Report which a S151 
Officer must produce when it appears that expenditure of the authority in 
a financial year is likely to exceed the resources available to meet the 

expenditure. No such report has been produced for West Suffolk this 
year. 

  

 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



West Suffolk Council Revenue Budget Summary Attachment A

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

(Income) & Expenditure:
Total

Budget

£

Projected

Budget

£

Projected

Budget

£

Projected

Budget

£

Government Grants Outside Aggregate External Funding (AEF) (34,904,220) (34,904,220) (34,904,220) (34,904,220)

Transfer Payments, eg. The cost of payments to individuals for which no 

goods or services are received (primarily Benefits)

35,345,402 35,345,402 35,345,402 35,345,402

Overpayments Recovered (491,182) (441,182) (441,182) (441,182)

Total Benefits: (50,000) 0 0 0

Income from Business Rates (excluding Baseline Funding) (1,476,634) (2,475,567) (2,519,117) (2,563,467)

Council Tax Income (9,481,825) (9,668,200) (9,857,354) (10,049,324)

Grants:

Baseline Funding - Business Rate Retention Scheme (4,451,218) (4,540,218) (4,631,018) (4,723,618)

New Homes Bonus Grant (1,848,172) (1,390,088) (1,390,088) (1,390,088)

Other Grants (1,969,975) (1,169,807) (1,144,846) (1,144,846)

(19,227,824) (19,243,880) (19,542,423) (19,871,343)

Contributions:

Contributions - Suffolk County Council (388,846) (388,846) (388,846) (388,846)

Contributions - Other Organisations (567,981) (604,981) (960,981) (960,981)

(956,827) (993,827) (1,349,827) (1,349,827)

Reimbursements:

Service Level Agreement (SLA) Income (733,835) (748,535) (763,485) (778,735)

Other Reimbursements (1,613,568) (1,613,568) (1,613,568) (1,613,568)

(2,347,403) (2,362,103) (2,377,053) (2,392,303)

Sales:

Sales - Tickets (1,125,687) (1,148,187) (1,171,137) (1,194,537)

Fees - Planning Application (1,725,600) (1,778,800) (1,782,050) (1,785,350)

Fees - Building Regulations (340,000) (346,800) (353,750) (360,850)

Fees - Refuse Collection & Disposal (3,985,155) (4,120,747) (4,205,666) (4,289,766)

Fees - Car Parking (6,339,187) (6,628,187) (6,673,187) (6,673,187)

Growth Income (702,633) (1,938,000) (2,717,000) (2,717,000)

Other Sales (5,385,774) (5,608,816) (5,729,423) (5,810,545)

(19,604,036) (21,569,537) (22,632,213) (22,831,235)

Rental:

Rents - Industrial Units (2,640,065) (2,640,065) (2,640,065) (2,640,065)

Rents - Shops (1,325,220) (1,287,220) (1,332,220) (1,332,220)

Rents - Land (956,428) (964,428) (964,428) (964,428)

Other Rental (664,365) (725,906) (875,406) (875,906)

(5,586,078) (5,617,619) (5,812,119) (5,812,619)

Investment Interest & Dividends received (337,642) (1,220,500) (225,500) (234,500)

Total Income (excluding Benefits): (48,059,810) (51,007,466) (51,939,135) (52,491,827)

Expenditure:

Total Cost of Employment 27,095,683 28,095,429 29,602,585 31,214,992

Premises Costs 5,933,369 5,941,419 6,042,779 6,138,279

Transport Costs 1,238,366 1,150,616 1,188,416 1,228,116

Supplies & Services Costs 8,718,882 7,707,282 7,543,173 7,486,453

Third Party Payments, eg. Provision of services by other organisations 

that could be performed in-house.

1,946,471 1,921,016 1,910,376 1,910,376

Capital Costs, eg. Interest on borrowing, Minimum Revenue Provision 1,668,080 3,461,474 4,760,474 4,759,474

Net Contribution to Reserves (excluding Employee-related contributions 

which are included under the Total Cost of Employment)

1,508,959 2,730,230 3,168,873 3,295,429

Total Expenditure (excluding Benefits): 48,109,810 51,007,466 54,216,676 56,033,119

Total Budget Gap: 0 0 2,277,540 3,541,292

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



Attachment B

19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23

Summary of Major Budget Changes Pressure/

(Saving)

Pressure/

(Saving)

Pressure/

(Saving)

Pressure/

(Saving)

£000 £000 £000 £000

Existing Savings Targets within 2018/19 MTFS 0 300 1,914 2,745

Budget Changes as previously reported to 28 

November 2018 PASC:

Additional Pressures

Salary Revision (impact of 18/19 changes) 508 430 453 477

Payline Alignment 228 233 241 249

LT Salary 40 41 42 42

Members Allowances (inc. Special Responsibility) 88 88 88 88

Blue Bins - Increased Tipping Charges 423 424 425 426

Car Park Income 394 254 209 209

Growth Fund - Revised Outlook 300 150 0 0

Barley Homes - Revised Business Case 197 (96) (37) (35)

Trade Waste Costs 60 60 60 60

Local Plan Costs 70 70 70 70

Information Security Role 60 61 62 64

Rough Sleeper Costs 41 41 41 41

Total Additional Pressure 1,900 1,325 1,200 1,214

Additional Income/Savings

Solar Income (160) 0 0 0

Solar Costs (40) (40) (40) (40)

Professional Fees (100) (100) (100) (100)

Trade Waste Income (160) (84) (42) (42)

Ground Maintenance Income (100) (102) (104) (106)

Housing Options - HB Income (72) (72) (72) (72)

Apex Booking Fee (34) (34) (34) (34)

Shared Legal Service Income (BMS/Babergh) (90) (90) (90) (90)

Other Waste Services Income (46) (47) (48) (48)

Total Additional Income/Savings (802) (569) (530) (532)

Net Impact 1,098 1,056 2,584 3,427

Proposed Solutions Adopted at PASC 28/11/18

Reserve Fund:

- Growth Fund - Revised Outlook (300) (150) 0 0

- WSOH Business Management posts (2 years) (150) (150) 0 0

- Revised reserve contributions (215) (215) 0 0

- Blue Bins - Increased Tipping Charges (142) 0 0 0

Budget for 18/19 Collection Fund surplus (100) 0 0 0

Reduce Corporate Agency Budget (from £200k) (150) (150) (150) (150)

Total Solutions adopted at PASC 28/11/18 (1,057) (665) (150) (150)

Budget Gap as at PASC 28/11/18 41 391 2,434 3,277

Page 77



Attachment B

19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23

Summary of Major Budget Changes Pressure/

(Saving)

Pressure/

(Saving)

Pressure/

(Saving)

Pressure/

(Saving)

£000 £000 £000 £000

Budget Changes as previously reported to 31 

January 2019 PASC:

Revised Interest Payable (revised borrowing date) (274) (369) (326) (327)

Revised Interest Receivable (revised borrowing date) 299 373 379 370

Revised MRP (based on revised project timing) (252) (263) 75 78

Unallocated Project Spend - Capital Costs 227 0 0 0

Extend assumption on Solar Pricing 0 (160) (160) 0

Other minor changes (41) 28 (124) 144

Total Proposed Solutions (41) (391) (156) 265

Final Budget Position 0 0 2,278 3,542

Page 78



Attachment C

Adequacy of Reserves and Robustness of Budget Estimates
Report by the Assistant Director (Resources and Performance) 

(S151 Officer)

1. Introduction

Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the Section 151 
Officer/Chief Financial Officer (Assistant Director (Resources and Performance)) to 
formally report to Council as part of the tax setting report her view of the 
robustness of estimates and the adequacy of reserves.  The Council is required to 
take these views into account when setting the Council Tax at its meeting on 19 
February 2019.

2 Financial Controls

2.1 West Suffolk Council operates a comprehensive and effective range of financial 
management policies.  These are contained in the Financial Procedure Rules, 
which form part of the council’s Constitution.  This Constitution is available on 
the council’s internet and intranet.

2.2 The Council conducts an annual review of the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control and reports on this in the Annual Governance Statement.  

2.3 The Council continues to implement effective risk management policies, 
identifying corporate, operational and budget risks and mitigating strategies.  
Capital projects are subject to a comprehensive work plan which includes 
detailed risk management strategies. The Council operates a bi-monthly projects 
review at Leadership Team reporting by exception on corporate projects (placed 
based and transformational programmes meet monthly), which include capital 
and revenue projects.  We introduced programme management during 2017 to 
further sophisticate the management of the interdependencies between the 
various projects.

2.4 The internal and external audit functions play a key role in ensuring that the 
Council’s financial controls and governance arrangements are operating 
satisfactorily.

2.5 This is backed up by the review processes of Cabinet, with the Performance and 
Audit Scrutiny Committee undertaking the role of the Council’s Audit Committee.

3 Adequacy of Reserves

Unallocated general fund reserve

3.1 This statement focuses upon the unallocated general fund reserve.  The 
minimum prudent level of reserves that the Council should maintain is a matter 
of judgement and cannot be judged merely against the current risks facing the 
Council as these can and will change over time.

Page 79



Attachment C

3.2 The consequences of not keeping a prudent minimum level of reserves can be 
serious.  In the event of a major problem or a series of events, the Council would 
run a serious risk of a deficit or of being forced to cut spending during the year in 
a damaging and arbitrary way.

3.3 CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) have issued a 
notification from the LAAP (Local Authority Accounting Panel) stating that there 
should be no imposed limit on level or nature of balances required to be held by 
an individual Council (except under section 26 where this has been imposed by 
ministers). 

3.4 When setting the minimum level of reserves, the Section 151 Officer has taken 
into account strategic, operational and financial risks when recommending the 
minimum level of unallocated General Fund reserves.  These include:

 Economy measures and service reductions always contain some degree of 
uncertainty as to whether their full effects will be achieved;

 The effect of the macro-economy on West Suffolk Council, and subsequent loss 
of income from Council Tax, Business Rates and from fees and charges;

 The delivery of all savings, projects and income targets;
 The new risks placed at a local level under the new business rates retention 

scheme i.e. appeals;
 The addition of greater income targets linked to ‘behaving more commercially’ 

and the selling of council services; 
 Unforeseeable events such as major inclement weather (floods etc) which may 

require urgent, material spending to be incurred;
 Risks in relation to litigation;
 Risks of grants being introduced or removed mid year, requiring authority 

contributions; 
 The need to retain a general contingency to provide for unforeseen 

circumstances; and
 Other risks detailed in the Scenario Planning and Sensitivity Analysis provided at 

Attachment D, Appendix 5.   

As a consequence, it is recommended that the general fund reserve is 
set at a minimum of £5m.

3.5 If an event occurs that is so serious it depletes the Council reserves to below the 
limit of £5m, then the Council will take appropriate measures to raise the general 
fund reserve to the desired level as soon as possible without undermining service 
provision.

Other Reserves

3.6 The Council has a variety of other reserves which are earmarked for specific 
purposes.  The significant items to be drawn out as part of the 2019-23 budget 
setting process are:

 Reserves expected to be utilised/committed to support the strategic 
objectives and medium term financial strategy (MTFS) of the Council: 

o Strategic Priorities and MTFS Reserve
o Investing in our Growth Agenda Reserve

Page 80



Attachment C

 Business Rates Pilot: Place-based Reserve – to hold the benefit of the 
Suffolk 100% business rates retention pilot in 2018/19. To be utilised 
against projects as agreed by the West Suffolk Leaders (County/Districts)

 Housing Benefits Equalisation Reserve – available to assist with significant 
impacts of Housing Benefit subsidy rates/overpayment income fluctuations

 Business Rates Equalisation Reserve – available to assist with significant 
impacts of the Business Rates Retention scheme and appeals

 Interest Equalisation Reserve – available to assist with significant impacts 
of interest rate fluctuations

 Capital Project Financing Reserve – available to assist with significant 
impacts of borrowing cost fluctuations

 Invest to Save Reserve - to be utilised/committed to support the delivery 
of saving and efficiency requirements of the Council 

 Building Repairs Reserve - utilised to fund the council’s Asset Management 
Plan

 Vehicle, Plant and Equipment Reserve - utilised to fund the council’s 
replacement plan for these assets

With reference to the Investment Framework all Business Cases will be assessed 
on the basis of borrowing as capital receipts are reducing in the medium term. 
Assessment of reserves balances will also be considered as part of any business 
case.

4 Robustness of Estimates

4.1 The treatment of inflation, interest and borrowing rates

A final pay award offer was made by employers on 5 December 2017 covering 
the period from 1st April 2018 to 31st March 2020 (amounting to a 2% a year 
increase with additional “bottom loading” for staff at the lower end of the pay 
scale) and this has been included in the estimates for 2019/20. Non pay related 
budgets have not been inflated unless there is a contractually committed rate of 
inflation where services can demonstrate a requirement to do so to maintain 
service delivery levels.  Increases for fees and charges have been set in line with 
inflation where appropriate.

The average rate of return on Council investments for 2019/20 has been 
assumed at 0.9%. Borrowing rates have been assumed in line with business case 
assumptions.
 

4.2 Budget and Financial management

West Suffolk has a good record of budget and financial management and is 
expecting a balanced position across the first two years of the MTFS from April 
2019 to March 2021.  All relevant reports to Cabinet and Committee have their 
financial effects identified and the Leadership Team keeps any emerging budget 

Page 81



Attachment C

pressures under review during the year.  Monthly reports are received by the 
Leadership Team and quarterly reports to the Performance and Audit Scrutiny 
Committee detail both budgetary and performance indicators.  

The Council has a number of demand led budgets and historically it has been 
able to manage changes in demand to ensure a sound financial standing at the 
end of the financial year.

4.3 Adequacy of insurance and risk management

Strategic risk management is embedded throughout the Council to ensure that all 
risks are identified, mitigated and managed appropriately.  The Council’s insurance 
arrangements are in the form of external insurance premiums and internal funds to 
self insure some items.

Projects will be subject to Business Case challenge on financial and risk matters 
and, to reflect their importance in the achievement of the balanced MTFS, now have 
a dedicated Finance Business Partner.

Income assumptions will be continually subject to review through Project 
monitoring and regular finance reviews and reporting.

5 Risk Assessment

A risk assessment is included at Attachment D, Appendix 5 as part of the 
Scenario and Sensitivity Analysis.  All areas will be monitored by the Chief 
Financial Officer but they are the culmination of individual managers’ 
responsibilities and combine to establish overall corporate responsibility.

6 Conclusion

(1) Overall, the estimates are robust, taking into account known 
risks and mitigating strategies and the reserves are 
adequate for the 2019/20 budget plans.

(2) Shadow Executive and Shadow Council are asked to have 
regard to this report when making their decisions on the 
2019/20 budget.  

Rachael Mann 
Assistant Director (Resources and Performance)
January 2019

Page 82



WEST SUFFOLK COUNCIL

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY

Attachment D

Appendix 1

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Total

Budget

Projected

Budget

Projected

Budget

Projected

Budget

Description Item £000s £000s £000s £000s

Net Service Expenditure before Interest 1 16,384 15,567 16,088 17,691

Interest received on Investments 2 (137) (55) (61) (70)

Dividends 3 0 (900) (113) (113)

External Interest Paid 4 170 170 170 170

Interest on Borrowing 5 513 1,490 2,083 2,082

Minimum Revenue Provision 6 986 1,802 2,508 2,508

Net Expenditure after Interest & Capital 7 17,916 18,074 20,675 22,268

Remaining Budget Gap 8 0 0 (2,278) (3,542)

Budget Requirement (excluding Parishes) 9 17,916 18,074 18,397 18,726

Collection Fund Deficit/(Surplus) - Council Tax 10 (289) 0 0 0

Collection Fund Deficit/(Surplus) - Business Rates 11 1,118 0 0 0

Revenue Support Grant 12 (196) 0 0 0

Business Rates Retention - Baseline funding 13 (4,451) (4,540) (4,631) (4,724)

Business Rates Retention - Local Share of Growth/S31 Grants 14 (1,792) (1,663) (1,696) (1,730)

Business Rates Retention - Share of Suffolk Pooling 15 (300) (300) (300) (300)

Business Rates Retention - Renewable Energy 16 (503) (513) (523) (533)

Rural Services Delivery Grant 17 (173) 0 0 0

New Homes Bonus Grant 18 (1,848) (1,390) (1,390) (1,390)

Amount to be charged to Council Taxpayers 19 9,482 9,668 9,857 10,049

Council Tax Base 20 55,056.11 55,606.67 56,162.74 56,724.37

Council Tax at Band D - former Forest Heath Taxpayers 21 £152.28 £157.23 £162.18 £167.13

Council Tax at Band D - former St Edmundsbury Taxpayers 22 £182.16 £182.16 £182.16 £182.16

Total Council Tax generated (excluding Parishes) 23 9,482 9,668 9,857 10,049

Town and Parish Council Precepts (see Note 1) 24 3,823 3,823 3,823 3,823

Total Council Tax generated (including Parishes) – Demand 

on the Council Tax Collection Fund 25 13,305 13,491 13,680 13,872

General Fund

Balance as at 1 April 26 5,036 5,036 5,036 5,036

Transfer to / (from) Reserve 27 0 0 0 0

Closing General Fund Balance as at 31 March 28 5,036 5,036 5,036 5,036

Net Expenditure for General Fund purposes 29 17,916 18,074 20,675 22,268

General Fund balance as % of Net Expenditure 30 28.11% 27.86% 24.36% 22.62%

Earmarked Reserves

Balance as at 1 April 31 25,341 22,929 21,455 22,797

Contributions to / (from) Reserves 32 (2,412) (1,474) 1,342 1,106

Closing Earmarked Reserves Balances as at 31 March 33 22,929 21,455 22,797 23,903

Note 1

Provisional figures - to be finalised for Shadow Council meeting on 19 February 2019.

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



 2019/20 Capital Programme Attachment D

Appendix 2

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 4 Year Programme Financing

Project Description

Total

Budget

£

Total

Budget

£

Total

Budget

£

Total

Budget

£

Capital

Receipts

£

Capital

Borrowing

£

Revenue 

Reserves

£

Grants & 

Contributions

£

Total

Financing

£

Mildenhall Hub 9,000,000 10,284,000 0 0 19,284,000 0 19,284,000 0 0 19,284,000

Brandon Leisure Centre & GP Surgery 800,000 0 0 0 800,000 0 0 800,000 0 800,000

Private Sector Disabled Facilities Grants 900,000 900,000 900,000 900,000 3,600,000 0 0 0 3,600,000 3,600,000

Private Sector Renewal Grants 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 0 0 0 1,000,000

Vehicle & Plant Purchases 938,000 2,246,000 363,000 1,257,126 4,804,126 0 0 4,804,126 0 4,804,126

West Suffolk Operational Hub 2,533,177 0 0 0 2,533,177 0 2,533,177 0 0 2,533,177

Leisure Asset Management Scheme 316,000 316,000 316,000 316,000 1,264,000 0 0 1,264,000 0 1,264,000

Barley Homes 2,486,000 2,200,000 0 0 4,686,000 4,686,000 0 0 0 4,686,000

Unallocated Capital Budget 3,000,000 0 0 0 3,000,000 3,000,000 3,000,000

CAPITAL TOTALS: 20,223,177 16,196,000 1,829,000 2,723,126 40,971,303 5,686,000 24,817,177 6,868,126 3,600,000 40,971,303

Total

Budget

(Over 4

Years)

£

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 2018/19 Capital Programme -

 Potential Carry Forwards

Attachment D

Appendix 2a

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19

Project Description

Revised

Budget

£

Quarter 3

Forecast

Spend

£

Potential

Carry

Forward

£

Leisure Capital Investment Fund 5,025,984 1,525,984 3,500,000

Mildenhall Hub 10,034,484 1,000,000 9,034,484

Mildenhall Hub - Investing In Renewable Energy 2,000,000 0 2,000,000

Swimming Pool Mildenhall 250,000 0 250,000

Housing Solutions 275,000 0 275,000

Private Sector Disabled Facilities Grants 1,051,553 958,923 92,630

Community Energy Plan 2,232,182 1,005,000 1,227,182

West Suffolk Operational Hub 12,504,292 8,895,213 3,609,079

Bury St Edmunds, Parkway Multi-Storey Car Park structural works 190,900 0 190,900

Bury Sports Club Project 100,000 0 100,000

Bury Leisure Centre - All Weather Pitch 150,000 0 150,000

Abbey Gardens Extension: Eastgate Nursery 200,000 50,000 150,000

High Street Haverhill Improvements 693,000 0 693,000

Barley Homes 3,356,500 1,642,500 1,714,000

Investing in our Growth Agenda 34,466,651 0 34,466,651

Renovation of 17/18 Cornhill, Bury St Edmunds 6,720,000 422,217 6,297,783

CAPITAL TOTALS: 79,250,547 15,499,837 63,750,709

Note:

The Capital Programme as shown in Appendix 2 is based on the assumption that the approved 2018/19 projects will be fully

spent by the end of the year.

The quarter 3 Performance Monitoring as reported to the Performance & Audit Scrutiny Committee on 31 January 2019 includes

a year end forecast for 2018/19, with an indication of those projects that may require to be carried forward into 2019/20.

The projects as shown above reflect those projects that are currently forecast to be carried forward.

The actual Project Carry Forward amounts required will be reported to the May 2019 Performance & Audit Scrutiny Committee

and the 2019/20 Capital Programme will be revised accordingly.

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



 2019/20 Earmarked Revenue Reserves Attachment D

Appendix 3

2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21

Reserve Details

Budgeted

Opening

Balance

£

Budgeted

Contribution

to Reserve

£

Budgeted

Contribution

from

Reserve

£

Budgeted

Reserve

Transfers

£

Budgeted

Closing

Balance

£

Budgeted

Contribution

to Reserve

£

Budgeted

Contribution

from

Reserve

£

Budgeted

Closing

Balance

£

STRATEGIC RESERVES

Strategic Priorities & MTFS Reserve 1,914,964 1,848,173 (1,319,691) 435,032 2,878,478 1,484,089 (880,125) 3,482,442

Investing in our Growth Agenda Reserve 1,366,377 0 (377,977) 0 988,400 0 (454,509) 533,891

Business Rates Retention Pilot:

Place-Based Reserve
2,657,000 0 (1,594,558) 0 1,062,442 0 (285,917) 776,525

FINANCIAL PLANNING RESERVES

Invest to Save Reserve 2,836,082 32,000 (574,787) 557,072 2,850,367 0 (209,422) 2,640,945

Risk & Recession Reserve

(to be transferred to the Invest to Save Reserve)
557,072 0 0 (557,072) 0 0 0 0

Business Rates Retention Equalisation Reserve 4,056,638 1,127,041 (1,117,790) 0 4,065,889 987,425 0 5,053,314

Housing Benefits Equalisation Reserve 914,506 0 0 0 914,506 0 0 914,506

Capital Project Financing Reserve 368,976 367,784 (157,500) 0 579,260 1 (224,184) 355,077

Interest Equalisation Reserve 359,630 0 0 0 359,630 0 0 359,630

Self Insured Reserve 367,808 20,000 (20,000) 0 367,808 20,000 (20,000) 367,808

Election Reserve 172,888 60,000 (200,000) 0 32,888 60,000 0 92,888

Planning Reserve 389,308 180,000 (257,500) 62,797 374,605 180,000 (300,500) 254,105

Planning Delivery Grant Reserve

(to be transferred to the Planning Reserve)
62,797 0 0 (62,797) 0 0 0 0

SERVICE DELIVERY RESERVES

Computer & Telephone Equipment Reserve 439,007 150,000 (150,000) 0 439,007 150,000 (150,000) 439,007

Office Equipment Reserve 457,103 49,800 (21,000) 6,000 491,903 49,800 (21,000) 520,703

The Apex Reserve

(to be transferred to the Office Equipment Reserve in 

2019/20)

6,000 0 0 (6,000) 0 0 0 0

Professional Fees Reserve

(to be transferred to the Strategic Priorities & MTFS 

Reserve)

405,032 0 0 (405,032) 0 0 0 0

Anglia Revenues Partnership Reserve 811,867 0 (23,000) 0 788,867 0 0 788,867

Vehicle, Plant & Equipment Reserve 1,572,301 946,100 (938,000) 0 1,580,401 817,100 (2,246,000) 151,501

Waste Management Reserve 486,619 62,950 (93,450) 0 456,119 62,950 (93,450) 425,619

Building Repairs Reserve - Property 1,957,588 1,367,840 (1,429,840) 33,957 1,929,545 1,367,840 (1,429,840) 1,867,545

Leased Flats Management Reserve

(to be transferred to the Building Repairs Reserve)
33,957 0 0 (33,957) 0 0 0 0

Industrial Unit Service Charge Reserve 56,526 0 0 0 56,526 0 0 56,526

P
age 89



 2019/20 Earmarked Revenue Reserves Attachment D

Appendix 3

2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21

Reserve Details

Budgeted

Opening

Balance

£

Budgeted

Contribution

to Reserve

£

Budgeted

Contribution

from

Reserve

£

Budgeted

Reserve

Transfers

£

Budgeted

Closing

Balance

£

Budgeted

Contribution

to Reserve

£

Budgeted

Contribution

from

Reserve

£

Budgeted

Closing

Balance

£

Industrial Rent Reserve 645,000 0 (110,000) 0 535,000 0 (110,000) 425,000

Building Repairs Reserve - Leisure 162,373 316,000 (316,000) 0 162,373 316,000 (316,000) 162,373

Abbey Gardens Donation Reserve 38,766 0 0 0 38,766 0 0 38,766

Newmarket Stallion Statue Reserve 20,809 0 0 0 20,809 0 0 20,809

Communities against Drugs Reserve

(to be transferred to the Strategic Priorities & MTFS 
30,000 0 0 (30,000) 0 0 0 0

Housing Options Reserve 430,078 460,374 (594,582) 0 295,870 391,374 (514,449) 172,795

SECTION 106 RESERVES

Commuted Maintenance Reserve 843,985 0 (103,510) 0 740,475 0 (103,510) 636,965

Public Service Village Reserve 92,825 0 0 0 92,825 0 0 92,825

S106 Monitoring Officer Reserve 65,091 30,600 (30,000) 0 65,691 30,600 (30,000) 66,291

S106 Revenue Reserve 185,842 0 0 0 185,842 0 0 185,842

OTHER RESERVES

Gershom Parkington Reserve 563,219 8,300 (5,140) 0 566,379 8,300 (5,640) 569,039

Economic Development Reserve (LABGI) 13,187 0 (5,000) 0 8,187 0 (5,000) 3,187

Total Budgeted Reserves: 25,341,221 7,026,962 (9,439,325) 0 22,928,858 5,925,479 (7,399,546) 21,454,791

P
age 90



 2019/20 Earmarked Revenue Reserves Attachment D

Appendix 3

Reserve Details

STRATEGIC RESERVES

Strategic Priorities & MTFS Reserve

Investing in our Growth Agenda Reserve

Business Rates Retention Pilot:

Place-Based Reserve

FINANCIAL PLANNING RESERVES

Invest to Save Reserve

Risk & Recession Reserve

(to be transferred to the Invest to Save Reserve)

Business Rates Retention Equalisation Reserve

Housing Benefits Equalisation Reserve

Capital Project Financing Reserve

Interest Equalisation Reserve

Self Insured Reserve

Election Reserve

Planning Reserve

Planning Delivery Grant Reserve

(to be transferred to the Planning Reserve)

SERVICE DELIVERY RESERVES

Computer & Telephone Equipment Reserve

Office Equipment Reserve

The Apex Reserve

(to be transferred to the Office Equipment Reserve in 

2019/20)

Professional Fees Reserve

(to be transferred to the Strategic Priorities & MTFS 

Reserve)

Anglia Revenues Partnership Reserve

Vehicle, Plant & Equipment Reserve

Waste Management Reserve

Building Repairs Reserve - Property

Leased Flats Management Reserve

(to be transferred to the Building Repairs Reserve)

Industrial Unit Service Charge Reserve

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Budgeted

Contribution

to Reserve

£

Budgeted

Contribution

from

Reserve

£

Budgeted

Closing

Balance

£

Budgeted

Contribution

to Reserve

£

Budgeted

Contribution

from

Reserve

£

Budgeted

Closing

Balance

£

1,390,089 (567,500) 4,305,031 1,390,089 (567,500) 5,127,620

0 (467,337) 66,554 0 (66,554) 0

0 (190,458) 586,067 0 (50,013) 536,054

0 49,700 2,690,645 0 49,700 2,740,345

0 0 0 0 0 0

1,003,062 0 6,056,376 1,020,611 0 7,076,987

0 0 914,506 0 0 914,506

1 0 355,078 1 0 355,079

0 0 359,630 0 0 359,630

20,000 (20,000) 367,808 20,000 (20,000) 367,808

60,000 0 152,888 60,000 0 212,888

180,000 (218,500) 215,605 180,000 (121,500) 274,105

0 0 0 0 0 0

150,000 (150,000) 439,007 150,000 (150,000) 439,007

49,800 (21,000) 549,503 49,800 (21,000) 578,303

0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 788,867 0 0 788,867

817,100 (363,000) 605,601 817,100 (1,257,126) 165,575

62,950 (93,450) 395,119 62,950 (93,450) 364,619

1,367,840 (1,429,840) 1,805,545 1,367,840 (1,429,840) 1,743,545

0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 56,526 0 0 56,526

P
age 91



 2019/20 Earmarked Revenue Reserves Attachment D

Appendix 3

Reserve Details

Industrial Rent Reserve

Building Repairs Reserve - Leisure

Abbey Gardens Donation Reserve

Newmarket Stallion Statue Reserve

Communities against Drugs Reserve

(to be transferred to the Strategic Priorities & MTFS 

Housing Options Reserve

SECTION 106 RESERVES

Commuted Maintenance Reserve

Public Service Village Reserve

S106 Monitoring Officer Reserve

S106 Revenue Reserve

OTHER RESERVES

Gershom Parkington Reserve

Economic Development Reserve (LABGI)

Total Budgeted Reserves:

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Budgeted

Contribution

to Reserve

£

Budgeted

Contribution

from

Reserve

£

Budgeted

Closing

Balance

£

Budgeted

Contribution

to Reserve

£

Budgeted

Contribution

from

Reserve

£

Budgeted

Closing

Balance

£

0 (110,000) 315,000 0 (110,000) 205,000

316,000 (316,000) 162,373 316,000 (316,000) 162,373

0 0 38,766 0 0 38,766

0 0 20,809 0 0 20,809

0 0 0 0 0 0

391,374 (465,197) 98,972 391,374 (465,197) 25,149

0 (103,510) 533,455 0 (103,510) 429,945

0 0 92,825 0 0 92,825

30,600 (30,000) 66,891 30,600 (30,000) 67,491

0 0 185,842 0 0 185,842

8,300 (6,140) 571,199 8,300 (6,640) 572,859

0 (3,187) 0 0 0 0

5,847,116 (4,505,419) 22,796,488 5,864,665 (4,758,630) 23,902,523

P
age 92



Attachment D - Appendix 4

WEST SUFFOLK COUNCIL
PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS & MRP POLICY 2019/2020

1. Background

1.1 Each year the Council sets an annual budget, which details the revenue and 
capital resources required to meet its priorities for service delivery.   Under the 
provisions of The Local Government Act 2003, local authorities are able to make 
their own decisions about capital expenditure plans providing they assess the 
financing of this to be affordable, prudent and sustainable. The Council must also 
ensure treasury management decisions are made in accordance with good 
professional practice and understanding the risks involved while managing the 
risks to levels acceptable by the Council.  In addition to complying with the Act 
they must comply with:

a. the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 
2003; and

b. the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA’s) 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities.

1.2 The Prudential Code was developed by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accounting (CIPFA) to assist local authorities in taking their decisions.  

1.3 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting)(England)(Amendment) 
Regulations 2008 (SI 2008/414) place a duty on local authorities to make a 
prudent provision for debt redemption.  The Secretary of State has issued 
guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision and local authorities are required to 
“have regard” to such Guidance under section 21(1A) of the Local Government 
Act 2003.  

2. Objectives 

2.1 The key objectives are to ensure, within a clear framework, that the capital 
expenditure plans of local authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable, 
and that treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with good 
professional practice and in full understanding of the risks involved and how 
these risks will be managed to levels that are acceptable to the organisation.  

2.2 The Prudential Code requires authorities to look at capital expenditure and 
investment plans in the light of overall organisational strategy and resources and 
ensure that decisions are being made with sufficient regard to the long run 
financing implications and potential risks to the authority. Effective financial 
planning, option appraisal, risk management and governance processes are 
essential in achieving a prudential approach to capital expenditure, investment 
and debt.

Page 93



2.3 To demonstrate that local authorities have fulfilled these objectives, the 
Prudential Code sets the indicators that must be used, and the factors that must 
be taken into account.

2.4 These targets are known as the “Prudential Indicators” and particular indicators 
will be used to separately assess:

- Capital Expenditure
- External Debt
- Affordability
- Treasury Management

Process and Governance

2.5 The Prudential Code sets out a clear governance procedure for the setting 
and revising of a capital strategy and prudential indicators.  This is done by 
the same body that takes the decisions for the local authority’s budget – 
Full Council. The chief finance officer, the Assistant Director (Resources and 
Performance), is responsible for ensuring that all matters required to be 
taken into account are reported to full Council for consideration, and for 
establishing procedures to monitor performance.

2.6 In setting the indicators due regard was paid to the following matters:
 service objectives, eg strategic planning for the authority 
 stewardship of assets, eg asset management planning 
 value for money, eg option appraisal 
 prudence and sustainability, eg risk, implications for external debt and 

whole life costing 
 affordability, eg implications for council tax/district rates 
 practicality, eg achievability of the forward plan. 

2.7 Set out below are the indicators for 2019/2020 and beyond. For each 
indicator, the CIPFA requirements of the code are set out in bold italics.   An 
explanation is provided, unless the indicator and limits are completely self-
explanatory.

2.8 The figures used to compile the indicators which are detailed in this report 
are based on the latest five year capital programme and medium term 
financial strategy (MTFS).

3      Capital Strategy

3.1 In accordance with the CIPFA Prudential Code 2017 and in order to 
demonstrate the Council takes capital expenditure and investment decisions 
in line with service objectives and properly takes account of stewardship, 
value for money, prudence, sustainability and affordability the Council has 
in place a capital strategy that sets out the long term context in which 
capital expenditure and investment decisions are made and gives due 
consideration to both risk and reward and impact on the achievement of 
priority outcomes. 

Page 94



4      Prudential Indicators 2019/20 – 2022/23

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Estimates of Capital Expenditure & Actual Capital Expenditure 2019/20

3.1 The local authority will make reasonable estimates of the total of 
capital expenditure that it plans to incur during the forthcoming 
financial year and at least the following two financial years.  These 
prudential indicators shall be referred to as:

‘Estimate of total capital expenditure to be incurred in years 1, 2 and 3.’

3.2 This indicator is set to ensure that the level of proposed capital expenditure 
remains within sustainable and affordable limits. 

 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Total
 millions millions millions millions millions

Gross capital 
expenditure £20.223 £16.196 £1.829 £2.723 £40.971

Funded by:      
Grants and 
contributions £0.900 £0.900 £0.900 £0.900 £3.600

Earmarked 
revenue reserves £2.054 £2.562 £0.679 £1.573 £6.868

Capital receipts 
reserve £2.736 £2.450 £0.250 £0.250 £5.686

External borrowing £14.533 £10.284 £0.000 £0.000 £24.817
Total £20.223 £16.196 £1.829 £2.723 £40.971

*These figures may decrease/increase if the S151 Officer uses her delegated 
authority under the MRP Policy to use greater amounts of usable capital receipts 
instead of borrowing.  The total capital expenditure will remain the same.

Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) & Actual CFR 2019/20

3.3 The local authority will make reasonable estimates of the total capital 
financing requirement at the end of the forthcoming financial year and 
the following two years.  These prudential indicators shall be referred to 
as:

‘Estimate of capital financing requirement as at the end of years 1, 2 and 
3’

3.4 The capital financing requirement can simply be understood as the Council’s 
underlying need to borrow money long term.  It does not necessarily mean that 

Page 95



borrowing will be undertaken. The calculation of the CFR is taken from the 
amounts held in the Balance Sheet relating to capital expenditure and it’s 
financing. It is an aggregation of the amounts shown for Investment Property, 
Non-Current and Intangible assets, the Revaluation Reserve, the Capital 
Adjustment Account and any other balances treated as capital expenditure.  The 
indicator takes account of the borrowing requirement and the minimum revenue 
provision.

31.3.18 31.3.19 31.3.19 31.3.20 31.3.21 31.3.22

Actual Approved 
Budget Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast 

£m £m £m £m £m £m
Capital 
Financing 
Requirement 
(CFR)

8.3 65.7 24.4 77.9 77.1 76.4

*These figures may increase/decrease if the S151 Officer uses her delegated 
authority under the MRP Policy to use greater amounts of usable capital receipts 
instead of borrowing.  The total capital expenditure will remain the same.

3.5 The forecast capital financing requirement reflects the changes to the overall 
capital programme, including pending projects.   

EXTERNAL DEBT

Authorised Limit

3.6 The local authority will set for the forthcoming financial year and the 
following two financial years an authorised limit for its total gross 
external debt, separately identifying borrowing from other long term 
liabilities.  This prudential indicator shall be referred to as:

Authorised limit for external debt = authorised limit for borrowing + 
authorised limit for other long term liabilities for years 1, 2 and 3.’

3.7 This limit represents the maximum amount the Council may borrow at any point 
in the year.  It has to be at a level the Council considers is ‘prudent’.  It is ultra 
vires to exceed the authorised limit, and therefore the limits are set so as to 
avoid circumstances in which the Council would need to borrow more money than 
this limit.

3.8 It is consistent with the Council’s existing commitments, its proposals for capital 
expenditure and financing and its approved treasury management policy 
statement and practices.  

3.9 Other long term liabilities include items that would appear on the balance sheet 
of the Council that are related to borrowing.  For example, the capital cost of 
leases would be included.  

Page 96



31.3.18 31.3.19 31.3.19 31.3.20 31.3.21 31.3.22

Actual Approved 
Budget Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast 

£m £m £m £m £m £m
Capital 
Financing 
Requirement 
(CFR)

8.3 65.7 24.4 77.9 77.1 76.4

External 
Debt Limit -55.4 10.9 -19.5 43.1 46.2 44.2

Operational Boundary

3.10 The local authority will also set for the forthcoming financial year and 
the following two years an operational boundary for its total external 
debt, excluding investments, separately identifying borrowing from 
other long term liabilities.  This prudential indictor shall be referred to 
as the:

Operational Boundary = operational boundary for borrowing + operational 
boundary for other long term liabilities for years 1, 2 and 3’

3.11 The operational boundary is a measure of the most money the Council would 
normally borrow at any time during the year.  The code recognises that 
circumstances might arise when the boundary might be exceeded temporarily, 
but suggest a sustained or regular pattern of borrowing above this level ought 
to be investigated, as a potential symptom of a more serious financial problem.  
Any movement between these separate limits will be reported to the next 
available Council.

31.3.18 31.3.19 31.3.19 31.3.20 31.3.21 31.3.22

Actual Approved 
Budget Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast 

£m £m £m £m £m £m
Capital 
Financing 
Requirement 
(CFR)

8.3 65.7 24.4 77.9 77.1 76.4

Operational 
Boundary -45.4 20.9 -9.5 53.1 56.2 54.2

Page 97



Actual External Debt

3.12 The Council’s actual external debt, borrowings, at 31 December 2018 was 
£4,000,000. There were no other long term liabilities.

 
AFFORDABILITY

3.13 The fundamental objective in the consideration of the affordability of the 
authority’s capital plans is to ensure that the level of investment in capital assets 
proposed means that the total capital investment of the authority remains within 
sustainable limits

3.14 In considering the affordability of its capital plans, the authority is required to 
consider all of the resources currently available to it/estimated for the future, 
together with the totality of its capital plans, income and expenditure forecasts.

Estimates of financing costs to net revenue stream & Actual financing costs to 
net revenue stream 2019/20

3.15 The local authority will estimate for the forthcoming financial year and 
following two financial years the proportion of financing costs to net 
revenue stream. This prudential indicator shall be referred to as 
estimates of the proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream and 
shall be expressed in the following manner:

Estimate of financing costs ÷ estimate of net revenue stream x 100%

3.16 This is an indicator of affordability and highlights the revenue implications of 
existing and proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the 
revenue budget required to meet borrowing costs

Indicator 2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

Ratio % 0.3% 1.4% 3.3% 4.2% 4.0%

TREASURY MANAGEMENT

3.17 The Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in 
the Public Services.  Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) have been 
established by the Assistant Director (Resources and Performance) and are kept 
up to date.  

Prudential limits for the maturity structure of borrowing

3.18 The local authority will set for the forthcoming year both upper and lower limits 
with respect to the maturity structure of its borrowing, calculated as follows:

- Amount of projected borrowing that is fixed rate maturing in each period

Page 98



3.19 Expressed as a Percentage of total projected borrowing that is fixed rate 
at the start of the period where the periods in question are:

 Under 12 months.
 12 months and within 24 months.
 24 months and within 5 years.
 5 years and within 10 years.
 10 years+

3.20 All Councils undertaking borrowing need to ensure that the maturity structure of 
its borrowing is both prudent and affordable.  This indicator highlights the 
existence of any large concentrations of fixed rate debt needing to be replaced 
at times of uncertainty over interest rates, and is designed to protect against 
excessive exposure to interest rate changes in any one period, in particular in 
the course of the next ten years.

3.21 The proposed prudential limits are as follows:

Period (years) Lower Limit Upper Limit
Under 12 months 0% 20%
1 – 2 years 0% 20%
2 – 5 years 0% 20%
5 – 10 years 0% 20%
Over 10 years 0% 100%

3.22 The profiled limits set out above apply to the start of each financial year within 
the period 2019/20 to 2022/23

Total Principal Sums invested for longer than 364 days

3.23 Where a local authority invests, or plans to invest, for periods longer 
than 364 days, the local authority will set an upper limit for each 
financial year period for the maturing of such investments.  The 
prudential indicators will be referred to as prudential limits for principal 
sums invested for periods longer than 364 days.

Period 
(years)

Upper limit
£m

31/3/2019 20
31/3/2020 10
31/3/2021 6
31/3/2022 3
31/3/2023 3

5      Minimum Revenue Policy – Annual Policy Statement

5.1 This system for establishing the Minimum Revenue Provision has been radically 
revised by the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2008 [SI 2008/414], (“the 2008 Regulations”) in 

Page 99



conjunction with the publication by the Department for Communities and Local 
Government of detailed MRP guidance.

5.2 All Local Authorities are required to establish annually their policy regarding 
Minimum Revenue Provision for the forthcoming year.

5.3 This is the limit on the statutory requirements for MRP.  However, the 
requirements are supported by Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision, 
issued by the Department for Communities and Local Government in February 
2012.  The status of the Guidance is established by section 21(1B) of the Local 
Government Act 2003: a local authority must have regard to guidance issued 
by the Secretary of State about accounting practices.  

5.4 This is normally taken to mean guidance must be considered when taking 
accounting decisions but can be disregarded where an authority can make a 
reasonable case for doing so.  The onus is on the authority to demonstrate that 
it can better meet its statutory duties by acting differently.

5.5 For MRP, this sets up a situation where an authority has a basic duty to 
determine a prudent level for MRP each year and is not constrained in the 
methodology that it applies.  However, where this methodology is different 
from that recommended in the Guidance, the authority must be able to 
demonstrate that the outcome is as prudent as would have been arrived at 
applying the Guidance:

Method Explanation
Supported debt
Option 1 MRP is equal to the amount determined in accordance with the 

former regulations 28 and 29 of the 2003 Regulations, as if they 
had not been revoked by the 2008 Regulations. 

Option 2 The CFR method 
MRP is equal to 4% of the non-housing CFR at the end of the 
preceding financial year.

Unsupported debt
Option 3 Where capital expenditure on an asset is financed wholly or 

partly by borrowing or credit arrangements, MRP is to be 
determined by reference to the life of the asset.

a) Equal instalment method
MRP is the amount given by the following formula:
(Capital expenditure in respect of the asset less total provision 
made before the current financial year), divided by the 
estimated life of the asset.

b) Annuity Method
MRP is the principal element for the year of the annuity required 
to repay over the asset life the amount of capital expenditure 
financed by borrowing or credit arrangements.

Option 4 Depreciation method
Charging MRP in accordance with the standard rules for 
depreciation accounting. (If only part of the expenditure on the 

Page 100



asset was financed by debt, the depreciation provision is 
proportionately reduced.)

5.6 It is proposed that the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement for West 
Suffolk Council is set as follows for 2019/2020.

Application of capital receipts or other sources

 The MHCLG Guidance only applies to expenditure that has not been 
financed from other sources, primarily capital receipts and grant funding.  
Where the Council has usable capital receipts that are not needed for 
other purposes in that year, it can at the discretion of the section151 
officer to apply where prudent to do so some or all of it to meet capital 
expenditure incurred in the current year or previous years under 
paragraph 23 of the 2003 Regulations to reduce or eliminate any MRP 
that might need to be set aside. 

Loans

 In circumstances where a loan to a third party to fund capital 
expenditure is secured and there is no risk of default, the Council will not 
charge MRP because the principal sum of such a loan will have no 
consequences for the Council’s revenue expenditure and it would be 
over-prudent to provide for the loan1.

 In circumstances where a loan to a third party to fund capital 
expenditure is unsecured and there is no risk of default, the Council will 
not charge MRP because the principal sum of such a loan will have no 
consequences for the Council’s revenue expenditure and it would be 
over-prudent to provide for the loan. However the Council will access 
these on a case by case basis.

Capital Investment with a Defined Life

 To apply Option 3 to projects as a 4% reducing balance amount would 
under-recover the expenditure over its useful life. The basis for projects 
over £250,000 (i.e. equal instatement or annuity basis) to 
be determined as part of each projects financing considerations. Projects 
under £250,000 will be grouped and a weighted average life across an 
equal instalment basis will be used.

Other elements of remaining debt

1 The Council may make loans to other parties to fund their capital expenditure.  Government guidance is that MRP 
should be charged on the outstanding amount of any loan, based on amortising the loan principal over the estimated 
life of the assets in relation to which the other parties’ expenditure is incurred.  This is because lending to other 
parties has the same impact on the underlying need for an authority to borrow as expenditure on acquiring property.  

Page 101



 That, in accordance with the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2008 the Council’s 
continues to use the CFR method for calculating the Minimum Revenue 
Provision for supported capital expenditure.

5.7 The MRP included in the revenue estimates is as follows:

2019/20  2020/21    2021/22  2022/23  
Budget Budget Budget BudgetMRP 

estimates £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
MRP 986 1,802 2,508 2,508

5.8 Members’ attention is drawn to the fact that notwithstanding the MRP policy loan 
repayments continue to be made when they fall due.

Page 102



Scenario Planning and Sensitivity Analysis Attachment D

Appendix 5

2019/20 2019/23

MTFS

Risk Area Impact Impact

£000s £000s

Pay Inflation 222 905 

The Council’s MTFS currently assumes a 2% pay inflationary increase 

for 2019/20 onwards (with additional pay awards for lower grades in 

2019/20 only).

An annual 1% increase in pay inflation over what is already assumed 

in the MTFS would result in an additional £905k pressure on the 

Council’s finances.

Employers Pensions 195 782 

The Council’s MTFS currently assumes the following Employers’ 

Pension Contribution Rates:

2019/20 - 32.27%

2020/21 – 34.27%

2021/22 – 36.27%

2022/23 – 38.27%

An increase of 1% to the contributions on top of that already budgeted 

would result in an additional pressure of £782k on the Council’s MTFS.

Employers Pensions - Take-up 336 1,494 

Pension costs budgeted in the MTFS reflect the actual level of staff 

currently opting into the superannuation scheme.

An increase in opt-in levels of 5% would result in an additional 

pressure of £1,494k across the MTFS.

Council Tax Collection 97 388 

The level of Council Tax receipts in the MTFS are based upon collection 

rates of 97-98% for Council Tax and 85% for the additional income 

generated from changes to the discounts scheme.

A fall of 1% in each of these collection rates would have a detrimental 

effect of £388k across the Council’s MTFS.

Housing Benefit Subsidy 351 1,403 

The MTFS currently assumes a 99.5% subsidy rate within the budgets.

A 1% reduction in this subsidy rate for the Council for each year would 

result in an additional £1,403k pressure on the Council’s MTFS 

position.

The Council holds a Housing Benefits Equalisation Reserve from which 

funds could be drawn to mitigate any short term impact.

Page 103



Scenario Planning and Sensitivity Analysis Attachment D

Appendix 5

2019/20 2019/23

MTFS

Risk Area Impact Impact

£000s £000s

Interest Receipt Rates 79 169 

The Council’s current assumptions around interest receipts are as 

follows:

2019/20 - 0.90%

2020/21 - 1.00%

2021/22 - 1.10%

2022/23 - 1.25%

A 0.5% reduction in each of these figures would result in 

approximately £169k pressure on the Council’s MTFS.

Borrowing Costs - Interest 124 1,245 

The MTFS includes borrowing costs (interest) amounting to £682k in 

2019/20 to fund the ambitious project agenda (£6,845k across the 

MTFS). 

If the interest rates assumed increase by 0.5%, there will be an 

additional pressure of £1,245k.

Projects 50 257 

The MTFS currently assumes net income generation of £5,131k across 

the MTFS as a result of a variety of ambitious projects taking place.

Risks associated with each of these projects will vary according to the 

specific set of circumstances but have been considered in the Project 

Business Cases.  A 5% reduction in the net benefit across these 

projects would result in a £257k additional pressure on the MTFS.

Operational Capacity - Waste and Street Scene 0 215 

The MTFS currently assumes consistent assumptions around inflation 

on current levels of operational staffing and equipment.  To date the 

Waste and Street Scene team have been able to absorb growth 

requirements within current capacity, however this will become more 

challenging in the future as the population increases.

An additional 5,000 households in the district would necessitate the 

requirement for an additional household waste and recycling round, 

plus associated street cleansing and grounds maintenance.  The 

revenue implication of this is around £215k for staffing and associated 

supplies and services, plus around £185k capital requirements for 

vehicles.

Page 104



Scenario Planning and Sensitivity Analysis Attachment D

Appendix 5

2019/20 2019/23

MTFS

Risk Area Impact Impact

£000s £000s

Planning Income 196 786 

The Council’s Building Control and Planning Application Fees have 

been set to reflect actual levels currently being achieved.  There is, 

however, a risk that the desired levels of income may not be achieved.

If Planning income levels were to drop by 10%, this would have a 

£786k detrimental impact on the Council’s MTFS.

Industrial Unit Rental Income 492 1,969 

The Council’s MTFS currently allows for no inflationary increase in 

industrial unit & shop rental income.

If income from rents falls by 10% this would put an additional 

£1,969k pressure on the MTFS.

Business Rate Retention - Amount collectable 278 1,147 

The Business Rates Retention Scheme commenced from 1 April 2013.  

Under the new scheme, the Council benefits from a proportion of the 

additional business rates generated through economic growth in its 

area.  Conversely the risks inherent in such a scheme have now been 

passed down to local authorities and as such the Council could suffer 

from an economic decline or the cessation of business from one of its 

major business ratepayers.

A 1% decrease in the business rates collectable across the district 

would result in additional pressure on the MTFS of around £278k per 

year.

Business Rate Retention - Multiplier 0 408 

The business rate retention multiplier is set centrally and is increased 

annually by the September CPI figures (2.2% as at September 2018 

which has been used to inflate the multiplier for 2019/20). The MTFS 

assumption for 2020/21 to 2022/23 has been set at a more prudent 

level of 2%.

A 1% reduction in the CPI below the rates assumed would result in an 

additional pressure of £408k for the period 2020/21 to 2022/23.

Page 105



Scenario Planning and Sensitivity Analysis Attachment D

Appendix 5

2019/20 2019/23

MTFS

Risk Area Impact Impact

£000s £000s

Business Rate Retention - post 2020 N/A N/A

The MTFS currently assumes a cost neutral position in 2020/21 when 

Local Government is expected to be given 75% retention of Business 

Rates. However, this is untested and will continue to be monitored. If 

the rebaselining and 75% retention resulted in a loss of 100% of BR 

income above funding baseline, this would have the impact of around 

£1.5m in 2020/21 and each year thereafter.

The council has created a Business Rate Equalisation Reserve to assist 

with significant impacts of Business Rate Retention and appeals. This 

reserve would be potentially available to support a short term drop in 

BR income. However, medium term plans would have to be reviewed.

TOTALS (£000s): 2,420 11,168 

Page 106



Strategic Priorities and MTFS Reserve Attachment E

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Details

Total

Budget

Projected

Budget

Projected

Budget

Projected

Budget

£ £ £ £

Budgeted Opening Balance 1,914,964 2,878,478 3,482,442 4,305,031

Budget Contributions to Reserve

Contribution to Reserve - New Homes Bonus 

Grant

1,848,173 1,390,089 1,390,089 1,390,089

Net Benefit from Projects (after borrowing costs 

etc.)

0 94,000 0 0

Transfers from Other Reserves 435,032 0 0 0

Total Contributions to Reserve: 2,283,205 1,484,089 1,390,089 1,390,089

Budget Contributions from Reserve

Funding Project Management Resources for 

2019/20 and 2020/21

(168,404) (162,625) 0 0

Funding for the Suffolk Office of Data Analytics 

(SODA) - annual West Suffolk contribution

(40,000) (40,000) (40,000) (40,000)

Community Chest & Locality Budget

Funding

(502,500) (502,500) (502,500) (502,500)

Lifelink & Social Prescribing Project (part 

funding, balance from 2020/21 to be funded 

from the Business Rates Pilot)

(110,089)

Economic Development - Partnership Funding (25,000) (25,000) (25,000) (25,000)

Destination Management Organisation (DMO) 

Funding

(50,000) 0 0 0

Part Funding for NEET Project (Persons "Not in 

Education, Employment or Training") - balance 

of £27k for 2019/20 to be funded from the 

Business Rates Pilot Reserve

(73,000) 0 0 0

Part funding for Single Council Tax 

Harmonisation

(50,698) 0 0 0

Contribution to offset timings of net Growth 

Income Assumptions

(300,000) (150,000) 0 0

Total Contributions from Reserve: (1,319,691) (880,125) (567,500) (567,500)

Budgeted Closing Balance: 2,878,478 3,482,442 4,305,031 5,127,620

This reserve has been set up in order to provide the financial capacity, either through direct investment - Revenue 

and/or Capital - or through servicing external borrowing, for West Suffolk Council to drive forward the delivery of a 

sustainable Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and the delivery of the Strategic Plan.

The primary source for the funding of this reserve is the New Homes Bonus Grant, and in addition for 2019/20 West 

Suffolk Council has taken the opportunity to combine several other reserves into this one.

The projections below currently assume a level of New Homes Bonus Funding across the 4 years of the MTFS, 

however this will be reviewed annually in line with the revised grant determinations.

The table below summaries the proposed contributions to and from this reserve for the term of the MTFS.

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



Attachment F

0

Capital Strategy 
2019-21

Page 109



Attachment F

1

CONTENTS

Introduction & Purpose of this document

Page

2

Medium Term Financial Strategy – Capital Expenditure 3

Prudential Code 3

Treasury Management 4

Asset Management 5

Growth Investment Strategy
 
Capital Expenditure governance for projects

 Affordability

 Proportionality

Risk Management

5

6

7

8

9

Statement of Accounts 9

Procurement Strategy 9

Page 110



Attachment F

2

INTRODUCTION & PURPOSE

This Capital Strategy has been developed in line with the CIPFA Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities 2017.  This is a working document, which officers 
will keep under review, both as the government makes clear its intended outputs for 
such a strategy, and as good practice is worked through amongst local authorities during 
2018/19.

This Capital Strategy is intended to give a high-level overview of how capital expenditure 
and financing plans are decided upon and how they contribute to the delivery of the 
Council’s Strategic Framework, Medium Term Financial Strategy and overall service 
delivery.

With our West Suffolk Strategic Priorities, statutory and discretionary responsibilities 
and increasingly complex demands on the Council’s services, investment activity covers 
many areas over and above the normal treasury management of our cash balances and 
borrowing.

These investments will have a broad range of objectives ranging from “behaving 
commercially” investments intended to deliver a financial return, to support service 
delivery, alongside investments in our communities and places that have a primary 
objective of social change.

West Suffolk has a number of agreed strategies, frameworks, policies and guidance to 
support its capital and investment decisions. This strategy seeks to reference these from 
a single document.    

Adherence to the principles of this Capital Strategy should ensure that capital 
expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line with the West Suffolk Strategic 
Framework and Medium Term Financial Strategy and take account of stewardship, value 
for money, prudence, sustainability and affordability. This Capital Strategy has been 
written in conjunction with the Council’s Treasury Management Policy Statement and 
Investment Strategy 2018/19.

Page 111



Attachment F

3

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY - CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The summary for capital expenditure on projects for West Suffolk Council is set out 
within the West Suffolk Medium Term Financial Strategy (Attachment D, Appendix 2). 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Project Description
Total

Budget
£

Total
Budget

£

Total
Budget

£

Total
Budget

£

Mildenhall Hub 9,000,000 10,284,000 0 0 19,284,000

Brandon Leisure Centre & GP Surgery 800,000 0 0 0 800,000

Private Sector Disabled Facilities Grants 900,000 900,000 900,000 900,000 3,600,000

Private Sector Renewal Grants 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 1,000,000

Vehicle & Plant Purchases 938,000 2,246,000 363,000 1,257,126 4,804,126

West Suffolk Operational Hub 2,533,177 0 0 0 2,533,177

Leisure Asset Management Scheme 316,000 316,000 316,000 316,000 1,264,000

Barley Homes 2,486,000 2,200,000 0 0 4,686,000

Unallocated Capital Budget 3,000,000 0 0 0 3,000,000

CAPITAL TOTALS: 20,223,177 16,196,000 1,829,000 2,723,126 40,971,303

Total
Budget
(Over 4
Years)

£

THE PRUDENTIAL CODE

This Capital Strategy draws together the framework for capital investment decisions. 
The strategy for funding this investment portfolio is underpinned by the Prudential Code 
for Local Authority Investment, which was introduced by the Local Government Act 
2003. 

The Prudential Code has the following key objectives:

 That capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable;
 That treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with good 

professional practice; and
 That local strategic planning, asset management and proper option appraisal are 

supported.

To demonstrate that these objectives have been fulfilled, the Prudential Code details 
the indicators that must be set and monitored. These are designed to support and record 
local decision-making, and not to be comparative performance indicators. The 
Prudential Indicators are approved annually as part of the budget setting process by 
Council (Attachment D, Appendix 4).

Page 112



Attachment F

4

TREASURY MANAGEMENT

For the purposes of this document, "Treasury Management Activities" are defined as:-

"The management of the Local Authority's investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of 
the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of the optimum 
performance consistent with those risks."

The West Suffolk approved Annual Treasury Management and Investment Strategy  
links to the Capital Strategy and programme in determining the Council's approach to 
borrowing and investment, including borrowing to fund capital expenditure. The 
Treasury Management Strategy is closely related to the Prudential Code and Prudential 
Indicators discussed above.

The Council has an integrated Treasury Management Strategy, and has adopted the 
CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in Public Services. The Treasury 
Management Strategy deals with borrowing and investment arising as a consequence 
of all the financial transactions of the authority, not exclusively those arising from capital 
spending.

The Treasury Management Code of Practice lays out the Treasury Management Practices 
(TMPs) that have been adopted by the Council and the indicators that will be used to 
ensure that the correct approach is taken to:

 Risk management;
 Performance measurement;
 Decision making and analysis;
 Approved instruments, methods and techniques;
 Organisation, clarity and segregation of responsibilities and dealing 

arrangements;
 Reporting requirements and management information arrangements;
 Budgeting, accounting and audit arrangements;
 Cash and cash flow management;
 Money laundering;
 Training and qualifications;
 Use of external service providers; and
 Corporate governance.

The detail behind each of these can be found within the Council’s approved Treasury 
Management Code of Practice.

Page 113



Attachment F

5

ASSET MANAGEMENT

The Capital Strategy is supported by the Council’s Corporate Asset Management 
Strategy and Plan (West Suffolk Strategy under development – due in summer 
2019) which includes an objective to optimise the Council’s land and property portfolio 
through proactive estate management and effective corporate arrangements for the 
acquisition and disposal of land and property assets.

GROWTH INVESTMENT STRATEGY

This strategy covers investments in projects that support our Strategic Framework 
priorities and objectives, particularly around our growth priority and fall outside of 
standard treasury management activities.

This strategy has been devised in order to meet the following aims:

 Ambitious vision for the towns and rural communities of West Suffolk, set out in 
the Strategic Framework 2018-2020;

 Delivery on capital and revenue investment to deliver our Growth Agenda;
 All our activities and duties are investments in our communities and our places, 

seeking to create positive returns from all we do;
 Behaving more commercially – seeking financial returns to invest in our 

communities; and
 Seeking blended returns across social, economic and financial investments.

Page 114



Attachment F

6

This is laid out in more detail in the West Suffolk Growth Investment Strategy. As part 
of our approach, members agreed to prepare investment plans for our places, which 
will be approved by Cabinet and will enable the consideration of investment 
opportunities in relation to the different characteristics of our market towns and rural 
areas. 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE GOVERNANCE FOR PROJECTS

Projects that are identified, that will support our Strategic Priorities and Medium Term 
Financial Strategy, are assessed against our approved Investment Framework and are 
required to go through an approval process prior to accessing any capital funding. This 
approval is subject to the Council’s democratic decision making process. However, each 
proposal is required to go through a rigorous process of evaluation and scrutiny prior to 
reaching a formal council report.

The project evaluation, assessment framework and business case development stages 
will focus on the following areas for each proposal:

 strategic fit;
 deliverability within existing resource commitments;
 risk profile;
 added value; and
 financial return.

An opportunity will be rejected at any stage if it is not appraised by members as an 
appropriate investment decision. For example, it doesn’t have a sufficient strategic fit 
or bears an imbalance between investment, risk and returns.

As projects are developed, they require production of:

 Project Initiation Document;
 Stakeholder engagement analysis;
 Risk log;
 Issues log;
 Lessons learned log; and
 Detailed project plan including delivery and decision timetable and resource 

requirements.

During implementation, project plans, risk registers and financial schedules are 
reviewed monthly, and a Project Status Report (PSR) is submitted to the Programme 
Office Support Team each month. Any significant variance from any component of the 
plan is elevated for Leadership Team review.

The overall capital programme is monitored monthly by the Leadership Team and 
reported to the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee on a quarterly basis, 
highlighting forecast variances to plan in terms of investment. 

Page 115



Attachment F

7

AFFORDABILITY

Affordability is critical in applying the Capital Strategy and assisting the decision 
making process when considering projects for inclusion into the Capital Programme.

All projects need to have a clear funding source with commitment for the entirety of 
the projects. Funding can come from:

 Capital receipts;
 Borrowing;
 Revenue Reserves;
 External Grants; or
 S106 funding.

Where external borrowing is to be used, the affordability is of greater importance as 
the interest costs and capital repayment of that borrowing need to be considered and 
included in the evaluation.

The current and projected debt and affordability position of West Suffolk Council is 
shown below.

Actual 
31/03/19

Budget 
31/03/20

Budget 
31/03/21

Budget 
31/03/22

External 
Borrowing 
(Cumulative)

£4.0m £18.5m
+

£34.4m
Carry 

Forward 
from 

2018/19

£61.8m £83.6m

Annual Interest 
payable

£0.2m £0.7m £1.7m £2.3m

Annual 
repayment cost 
(MRP)

£0.5m £1.0m £1.8m £2.5m

Annual Interest 
payable as % of 
net revenue 
budget

0.3% 1.4% 3.3% 4.3%

Annual 
repayment cost 
as % of net 
revenue budget

0.8% 2.1% 3.5% 4.8%

 
The estimated borrowing related to capital spend to be carried forward from 2018/19 is 
included in the Budget column for 2019/20. This primarily relates to the Growth Fund 
investment.

The Interest Payable figures are based on the assumption that this combined borrowing 
will be in place by Q4 2019/20.

Page 116



Attachment F

8

PROPORTIONALITY

The concept of proportionality, alongside that of affordability, is a key consideration 
when considering funding projects through borrowing.

The costs and risks associated with that borrowing should be looked at as part of the 
whole financial position of the council. Awareness of the scale and relationship with the 
asset base and revenue delivery is essential to informed decision making.

This relationship and trend between borrowing, asset base and yield from the 
investments that the council has made are laid out in the tables below. These are split 
by asset type.

2018/19 Borrowing
£m

Borrowing as 
% of Long 

Term Assets

Annual 
Income

£m

Income as 
% of Net 
Revenue

Industrial Units £0.0 0% £2.6 4.7%

Retail Units £0.0 0% £1.3 2.3%

Land £0.0 0% £1.0 1.7%

Solar Farm £0.0 0% £1.4 2.4%

Growth Fund £0.0 0% £0.2 0.3%

Other £4.0 2% £0.5 0.9%

TOTAL £4.0 2% £7.0 12.3%

2021/22 Borrowing
£m

Borrowing as 
% of Long 

Term Assets

Annual 
Income

£m

Income as 
% of Net 
Revenue

Industrial Units £0.0 0% £2.6 5.1%

Retail Units £0.0 0% £1.3 2.6%

Land £0.0 0% £1.0 1.9%

Solar Farm £7.4 2.3% £1.6 3.3%

Growth Fund £34.5 10.8% £2.7 5.2%

West Suffolk 
Operational Hub

£11.5 3.6% £0.1 0.2%

Mildenhall Hub £13.6 4.2% £0.1 0.2%

Other £14.0 4.4% £0.9 1.7%

TOTAL £83.6 26.1% £10.3 20.2%

These tables show the increase in borrowing required over the life of the MTFS to fund 
the capital projects currently in plan. It also shows that this borrowing is still <30% of 
our asset base and that it will supply 20% of our ongoing annual revenue.

Page 117



Attachment F

9

This position will be monitored on a regular basis and referred to when any new projects 
that require borrowing are proposed. This will provide key insight on the proportionality 
and affordability of each new project within the context of the whole portfolio and 
financial position of the council.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Our approach to risk, as set out in our approved risk management framework, is based 
on context, proportionality, judgement and evidence-based decision making that 
considers each capital investment project on a case by case basis and is documented at 
all stages, following the core principles below:

 a positive approach;
 contextual decision making;
 informed risk-taking;
 proportionality;
 decision risk vs delivery risk;
 documented decision; and
 continuous improvement.

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

The capital expenditure carried out in the year is reflected in the Balance Sheet of the 
Statement of Accounts ensuring stewardship of assets is demonstrated.

The accurate monitoring and recording of capital expenditure ensures that this 
document is free from material error. The Statement of Accounts is externally audited 
at the end of each financial year to certify that it presents a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Council.

PROCUREMENT STRATEGY

The manner in which capital monies are spent is determined by the Procurement 
Strategy which, along with the Contract Procedure Rules and Financial Regulations, set 
the framework for the supply of goods and services to the Council, and how these goods 
and services should best be obtained to secure value for money.

Page 118



Attachment G

WEST SUFFOLK COUNCIL
FLEXIBLE USE OF CAPITAL RECEIPTS STRATEGY 2019/2020

1. Background

1.1 As part of the November 2015 Spending Review, the Government announced that 
it would introduce flexibility for the period of the Spending Review for local 
authorities to use capital receipts from the sale of non-housing assets to fund the 
revenue costs of service reform and transformation. Guidance on the use of this 
flexibility was issued in March 2016 which applies to the financial years 2016/17 
through to 2019/20.

1.2 As part of the final government settlement announced on 6th February 2018 this 
timeframe for flexible use of capital receipts has been extended for a further three 
years out to 2022/23.

1.3 In order to comply with this Direction, the Council must consider the Statutory 
Guidance issued by the Secretary of State. This Guidance requires authorities to 
prepare, publish and maintain a Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy with the 
initial strategy being effective from 1st April 2016 with future Strategies included 
within future Annual Budget documents.

1.4 Government has provided a definition of expenditure which qualifies to be funded 
from capital receipts. This is:  
 
“Qualifying expenditure is expenditure on any project that is designed to generate 
ongoing revenue savings in the delivery of public services and/or transform 
service delivery to reduce costs and/or transform service delivery in a way that 
reduces costs or demand for services in future years for any of the public sector 
delivery partners. Within this definition, it is for individual local authorities to 
decide whether or not a project qualifies for the flexibility.”  

2. Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 

2.1. For 2018/19 West Suffolk Council intended to use capital receipts to fund the 
transition costs resulting from the move to a single council.

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Transition costs – Single Council £500,000 £0 £0

2.2. The savings that would be generated by this expenditure as set out in the table 
below.

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Transition costs – Single Council £300,000 £300,000 £300,000

2.3. The impact of adopting this strategy is reflected in the 2019/20 prudential 
indicators within the Prudential Code.

Page 119



2.4. There may be some carry-over of these costs from Q4 of 2018/19 into 2019/20. 
The total expenditure will not exceed the budget of £500,000 and the savings 
are still expected as laid out in 2.2 above. This amount concerned will be clarified 
in the outturn reports for Forest Heath District Council and St Edmundsbury 
Borough Council for 2018/19.

2.5. These receipts have not been earmarked as funding for any other proposed 
capital expenditure and therefore will not have any impact on the Council’s 
prudential indicators as set out in the Councils’ Treasury Management Strategy.

2.6. This strategy will be monitored throughout the financial year and may be updated 
as proposals are developed and expenditure is finalised.

Page 120



Attachment H

PROPOSED COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNT FOR CARE LEAVERS

1. Key issues and reasons for recommendation(s)

1.1 Background

1.1.1 Billing Authorities have the power to allow a council tax discount under s13A 
of the Local Government Act 1992 (as amended), for individual cases or a 
class of cases.

1.1.2

1.1.3

1.1.4

1.1.5

1.1.6 

1.1.7

Billing Authorities are being encouraged to offer a reduction in Council tax for 
care leavers as part of efforts to help them avoid getting into debt and give 
them more time to learn how to manage their finances. This follows the 
recommendations made in the Government’s care leaver’s strategy, “Keep on 
Caring” (July 2016). The Communities and Local Government Select 
Committee also recommended to Government in their report into 
homelessness (August 2016) that care leavers should not be required to pay 
Council tax until they are 21.

As a corporate parent, Suffolk County Council has a responsibility to support 
care leavers while they are developing the skills and confidence to live 
independent lives and learn vital life skills. Under the Children (Leaving Care) 
Act 2000, there is a duty to improve the life chances of young people living in 
and leaving care, meaning that there must be a plan for these individuals so 
that they have the support needed to make the transition to a successful 
adult life. 

The Children and Social Work Act 2017 sets out new provisions for care 
leavers to come into force on 1 April 2018. Section 2 of the Act requires local 
authorities to consult on and publish a local offer for their care leavers. This 
should include information about their statutory entitlements, as well as any 
discretionary support that a local authority may choose to provide. The draft 
statutory guidance for local authorities states that it may be appropriate or 
necessary to provide a differentiated service to children in care or care 
leavers, and that this is particularly relevant to administration of housing 
benefit, council tax and access to leisure services.

The 2017 Act also places a duty on district councils to have regard to 
children in care and care leavers when carrying out their functions. This 
complements West Suffolk Council’s existing duty to co-operate and its legal 
obligation to assist in re-housing/securing support.

Research has shown that care leavers often have to start living independently 
much earlier than their peers and to take on more financial responsibility, 
when they might be on a low income and without the same family support 
network.

A 2017 Children’s Society briefing note  
https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/sites/default/files/briefing-council-tax-
exemption.pdf, recommending a council tax exemption for care leavers cited 
research by the Centre for Social Justice that found that 57% of young people 
find it difficult managing their money and avoiding debt when leaving care.

Page 121

https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/sites/default/files/briefing-council-tax-exemption.pdf
https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/sites/default/files/briefing-council-tax-exemption.pdf


Attachment H

1.1.8

1.1.9

1.1.10

This is further reinforced by research from the Joseph Rowntree Foundation 
that outlines how ‘accumulation of debt, threats to their tenancies and their 
inability to avoid this through careful budgeting’ were issues of continuing 
concern for care leavers. 

Work undertaken by Rochdale Council, found that 77% of their care leavers 
were behind with their council tax payments. 

Children and young people who are looked after are amongst the most 
vulnerable groups in our community. A good corporate parent should have 
the same aspirations for a child in care or a care leaver as a good parent 
would have for their own child. By granting a discount on council tax for the 
first few years of independent living, West Suffolk Council would potentially be 
providing practical help and financial assistance of great value to care leavers 
at a very vulnerable stage in their transition from care.       

1.2 The proposal

1.2.1

1.2.2

1.2.3

1.2.5

1.2.6

Suffolk Public Sector Leaders agreed to recommend to their individual councils 
that a Suffolk-wide discount for care leavers should be introduced. The 
discount would be a 100% reduction for care leavers living alone, with other 
care leavers, or others who are disregarded for council tax purposes (e.g. full-
time students). Care leavers will also be disregarded for council tax purposes 
so that if they live with a single occupier, that person will not lose their 25% 
discount. 

Suffolk County Council has offered to support a local discount for care leavers 
by contributing funding towards the cost of council tax discounts equal to 
their precept share of the council tax. West Suffolk would therefore bear the 
remaining cost of the discount (22%) if agreed.

A care leaver discount would be allowed only after the award of any statutory 
Council tax discounts (except Council tax Reduction) e.g. single person 
discount.

A Care Leaver is defined as a person aged 25 or under, who has been looked 
after by a local authority for at least 13 weeks since the age of 14; and who 
was looked after by the local authority at school-leaving age or after that 
date.

The discount will complement a wider set of measures that Suffolk County 
Council has in place to support care leavers, including support to live 
independently and to manage their own finances. 

2. Cost

2.1 The cost of allowing a discount under s13A falls directly on the Billing 
Authority (West Suffolk) and therefore its council tax payers. However, in this 
case Suffolk County Council would fund a proportion of the cost based on its 
precept share.

Page 122



Attachment H

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

There are currently 76 Care Leavers aged under 25 years within West Suffolk. 
The upper limit of the likely cost of the scheme, based on an average Band B 
dwelling with a single person discount, the cost of awarding a care leaver 
discount would be £68K per annum.  

As Suffolk County Council have agreed to fund their share, the cost to West 
Suffolk Council would therefore be a maximum of £15K per annum.   
Obviously this is an estimate based on the current years charge and current 
caseload and would vary from year to year. 

In reality the cost is likely to be much less as we would not expect the 
majority of care leavers to be the sole council tax payer, for example, they 
may live with former foster carers, with a partner or friend or a House in 
Multiple Occupation, so the discount would not apply. 

The costs of the scheme that do fall to West Suffolk will be shared between 
existing council tax payers. The impact on individual council tax payers is 
likely to be extremely small, given the cost of the scheme and number of 
council tax payers in West Suffolk. 

On the other hand, the aim of the scheme is that the benefit to care leavers 
could have a consequent positive effect. For example, the proposal may result 
in a decrease in the number of emergency payments made to care leavers in 
crisis; a reduction in the number of debt recovery enforcement actions 
against young people (£280 per case); and a reduction in the dependence 
and therefore cost burden of care leavers on other services.

3 Engagement

3.1

3.2

West Suffolk Council officers have spoken to colleagues in the Suffolk County 
Council Engagement Hub who have regular contact with care leavers through 
monthly meetings and the C2C Children in Care Council. Engagement Hub 
officers emphasised what an important issue money management was for 
care leavers as they move from weekly to monthly budgeting as they leave 
care.  

SCC has also sought direct feedback from care leavers about the likely impact 
of a discount, which has told the council that not being eligible for council tax 
would be a positive step for care leavers in their journey to independence. 

4 Adoption of the proposed discount across Suffolk

4.1 All of the Suffolk district councils are intending to introduce a discount scheme 
for careleavers and so similar reports are being considered in parallel by the 
other billing authorities (for example, East Suffolk’s Shadow Cabinet 
unanimously approved a parallel proposal on 10 December 2018). 

5 Appraisal of the proposal

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared and is available 

Page 123



Attachment H

5.2 The following potential risks and mitigations have been identified:

Risk area Inherent level of 
risk (before 
controls)

Controls Residual risk 
(after controls)

Risk of new policy not 
being implemented by 
staff

Medium Training and 
guidance given to 
staff

Low

Risk of need of 
additional resource to 
support the 
implementation of the 
discount

Low Capita Revenues 
System designed to 
allow the 
introduction of 
discretionary 
discount with limited 
impact on resource 

Low

There is low take-up 
of the discount as 
care leavers may not 
be aware of their 
entitlement, if they 
are not the council 
tax payer within the 
household

Medium Explanatory 
materials will be 
provided to support 
care leavers in 
accessing the 
discount

Low

Page 124



Parish Precepts 2019/20 Attachment I

Schedule A

Parish 

Precept Tax Base

Band D 

Parish 

Council Tax

Parish 

Precept Tax Base

Band D 

Parish 

Council Tax

Increase in 

Band D 

Parish 

Council Tax

£ £ £ £ %

Ampton, Timworth & Livermere -                 55.09          -             -                 54.22          -             -

Bardwell 13,996        312.49        44.79          14,674        313.86        46.75          4.38%

Barnardiston -                 57.92          -             -                 58.11          -             -

Barnham 7,600          233.94        32.49          8,545          234.21        36.48          12.28%

Barningham 32,352        344.15        94.01          34,450        343.93        100.17        6.55%

Barrow cum Denham 24,272        714.51        33.97          24,325        715.97        33.97          0.00%

Barton Mills 21,534        363.67        59.21          21,380        350.86        60.94          2.92%

Beck Row 39,215        986.41        39.76          42,495        1,048.76     40.52          1.91%

Bradfield Combust with Stanningfield 12,661        216.39        58.51          13,129        223.44        58.76          0.43%

Bradfield St Clare 2,785          69.97          39.80          3,179          69.18          45.95          15.45%

Bradfield St George 5,400          154.18        35.02          5,400          155.73        34.68          -0.97%

Brandon (and Wangford) 266,664      2,448.26     108.92        272,052      2,478.61     109.76        0.77%

Brockley 8,559          129.94        65.87          8,816          130.72        67.44          2.38%

Bury St Edmunds 434,015      13,033.47    33.30          438,341      13,163.40    33.30          0.00%

Cavendish 23,000        423.30        54.33          24,100        419.85        57.40          5.65%

Cavenham 500             48.77          10.25          800             51.02          15.68          52.98%

Chedburgh 9,276          244.89        37.88          9,752          251.16        38.83          2.51%

Chevington 6,535          267.49        24.43          6,535          266.51        24.52          0.37%

Clare 93,305        830.86        112.30        93,447        849.87        109.95        -2.09%

Coney Weston 6,024          165.67        36.36          4,622          169.11        27.33          -24.83%

Cowlinge 14,370        132.01        108.86        14,370        132.59        108.38        -0.44%

Culford 5,848          185.31        31.56          5,895          181.68        32.45          2.82%

Dalham 6,132          129.59        47.32          6,276          129.29        48.54          2.58%

Denston 400             62.32          6.42            400             61.63          6.49            1.09%

Depden 2,700          86.61          31.17          2,700          86.21          31.32          0.48%

Elveden 1,100          99.41          11.07          1,100          99.30          11.08          0.09%

Eriswell 11,130        267.48        41.61          13,560        328.78        41.24          -0.89%

Euston 1,780          59.19          30.07          1,780          58.79          30.28          0.70%

Exning 54,900        771.89        71.12          56,000        825.81        67.81          -4.65%

Fakenham Magna 3,331          59.97          55.54          3,441          61.83          55.65          0.20%

Flempton-cum-Hengrave 5,956          145.72        40.87          6,200          147.08        42.15          3.13%

Fornham All Saints 21,796        316.58        68.85          21,796        270.91        80.45          16.85%

Fornham St Martin-cum-St Genevieve 24,387        486.68        50.11          26,041        487.27        53.44          6.65%

Freckenham 12,000        135.01        88.88          12,500        131.52        95.04          6.93%

Gazeley 14,100        252.13        55.92          14,100        266.66        52.88          -5.44%

Great & Little Whelnetham 10,575        357.82        29.55          11,015        363.60        30.29          2.50%

Great Barton 34,803        942.97        36.91          37,288        945.44        39.44          6.85%

Great Bradley 10,600        155.49        68.17          11,300        153.64        73.55          7.89%

Great Livermere 5,259          79.27          66.34          5,310          80.05          66.33          -0.02%

Great Thurlow 5,900          88.40          66.74          5,900          89.37          66.02          -1.08%

Great Wratting 5,107          89.57          57.02          4,960          88.19          56.24          -1.37%

Hargrave 4,434          116.70        37.99          5,000          119.15        41.96          10.45%

Haverhill 930,973      7,336.27     126.90        954,799      7,376.38     129.44        2.00%

Hawkedon 416             66.93          6.22            450             66.83          6.73            8.20%

Hawstead 7,000          133.07        52.60          7,000          131.41        53.27          1.27%

Hepworth 5,848          216.12        27.06          7,001          216.51        32.34          19.51%

Herringswell 4,495          115.31        38.98          4,720          119.97        39.34          0.92%

Higham -                 73.43          -             -                 74.49          -             -

Honington-cum-Sapiston 20,465        299.80        68.26          21,079        305.35        69.03          1.13%

Hopton cum Knettishall (see Note 1) 7,485          246.68        30.34          7,500          248.33        30.20          -0.46%

Horringer 23,538        411.65        57.18          23,538        412.25        57.10          -0.14%

Hundon 15,930        433.87        36.72          16,330        430.84        37.90          3.21%

Icklingham 7,600          142.81        53.22          8,360          143.12        58.41          9.75%

Ickworth 362             9.11            39.74          350             8.82            39.68          -0.15%

Ingham 4,150          161.67        25.67          4,415          165.97        26.60          3.62%

Ixworth cum Ixworth Thorpe 46,285        779.96        59.34          47,460        777.01        61.08          2.93%

Kedington 76,881        691.82        111.13        81,840        687.39        119.06        7.14%

Kentford 8,750          356.69        24.53          10,500        358.67        29.27          19.32%

Lackford 6,500          103.10        63.05          7,650          103.98        73.57          16.69%

Lakenheath 145,220      1,320.04     110.01        148,660      1,351.30     110.01        0.00%

Lidgate 6,068          100.74        60.23          6,302          100.93        62.44          3.67%

Little Bradley -                 21.07          -             -                 21.36          -             -

Little Thurlow 10,729        108.77        98.64          12,095        107.10        112.93        14.49%

Little Wratting -                 62.19          -             -                 65.43          -             -

Market Weston 5,490          101.04        54.33          5,990          101.81        58.84          8.30%

Mildenhall (see Note 2) 288,290      2,754.89     104.65        243,143      2,278.00     106.74        2.00%

Moulton 30,000        411.82        72.85          32,000        421.72        75.88          4.16%

Newmarket 550,174      5,408.60     101.72        565,779      5,409.14     104.60        2.83%

Nowton 2,684          68.99          38.90          2,372          67.62          35.08          -9.82%

Ousden 5,383          113.86        47.28          5,678          115.23        49.28          4.23%

Pakenham 12,200        337.52        36.15          12,200        338.21        36.07          -0.22%

Poslingford 3,640          85.13          42.76          3,900          87.29          44.68          4.49%

Red Lodge 110,881      1,420.93     78.03          131,800      1,492.68     88.30          13.16%

PARISH

2018/19 2019/20

Page 125



Parish Precepts 2019/20 Attachment I

Schedule A

Parish 

Precept Tax Base

Band D 

Parish 

Council Tax

Parish 

Precept Tax Base

Band D 

Parish 

Council Tax

Increase in 

Band D 

Parish 

Council Tax

£ £ £ £ %

PARISH

2018/19 2019/20

Rede 1,363          51.93          26.25          1,363          51.44          26.50          0.95%

Risby 9,270          271.58        34.13          10,288        297.16        34.62          1.44%

Rushbrooke with Rougham 15,125        496.34        30.47          18,000        528.51        34.06          11.78%

Santon Downham 6,516          88.07          73.99          6,581          91.56          71.88          -2.85%

Stansfield 4,896          89.93          54.44          5,014          89.25          56.18          3.20%

Stanton 64,540        913.72        70.63          67,000        926.36        72.33          2.41%

Stoke By Clare 14,060        227.20        61.88          15,500        227.98        67.99          9.87%

Stradishall 6,700          164.19        40.81          7,030          166.15        42.31          3.68%

The Saxhams 6,000          126.32        47.50          6,000          124.65        48.13          1.33%

Thelnetham 1,805          98.28          18.37          1,843          100.33        18.37          0.00%

Troston 12,000        272.36        44.06          12,000        275.75        43.52          -1.23%

Tuddenham St Mary 11,639        157.79        73.76          11,523        156.23        73.76          0.00%

West Row (see Note 2) -                 -                 -             51,314        490.39        104.64        -

West Stow 3,067          78.50          39.07          3,078          79.09          38.92          -0.38%

Westley 1,692          97.41          17.37          2,192          96.24          22.78          31.15%

Whepstead 8,410          214.87        39.14          8,796          216.84        40.56          3.63%

Wickhambrook 32,014        480.82        66.58          33,955        483.37        70.25          5.51%

Withersfield 9,372          324.80        28.85          9,335          323.54        28.85          0.00%

Wixoe -                 66.43          -             1,860          65.55          28.38          -

Wordwell 374             8.04            46.52          377             8.04            46.89          0.80%

Worlington 12,147        211.44        57.45          12,863        215.23        59.76          4.02%

Total Parish Precepts 3,822,728 3,951,797 

FHDC Predecessor Area 1,602,987 1,667,506 

SEBC Predecessor Area 2,219,741 2,284,291 

Total Tax Base 54,455.39 55,056.11  

FHDC Predecessor Area 17,964.44 18,313.11  

SEBC Predecessor Area 36,490.95 36,743.00  

Average Band D Parish Tax 70.20         71.78         2.25%

FHDC Predecessor Area 89.23         91.06         2.05%

SEBC Predecessor Area 60.83         62.17         2.20%

Note 1

Note 2

Hopton cum Knettishall is a grouped parish that issued separate precepts for both parts of its area up to and including 2018/19. The 2018/19 

figures shown above are the totals of those precepts and the taxbase figures, and the resulting average Band D tax. From 2019/20 the council has 

issued one precept across its whole area.

As a result of the Community Governance Review 2017, Mildenhall parish is to be divided into two parishes with effect from 1 April 2019 - 

Mildenhall and West Row. The 2018/19 figures for Mildenhall shown above reflect the precept issued by the current Mildenhall parish council, 

incorporating the whole area including that covered by the new West Row parish. 

Page 126



Basic amount of council tax in those parts of the council's area

to which special items relate

Attachment I

Schedule B

Valuation Valuation

Part of the Council's Area Band D Part of the Council's Area Band D

£    p  £    p  

Bardwell 228.91 Herringswell 191.62

Barnham 218.64 Honington-cum-Sapiston 251.19

Barningham 282.33 Hopton cum Knettishall 212.36

Barrow cum Denham 216.13 Horringer 239.26

Barton Mills 213.22 Hundon 220.06

Beck Row 192.80 Icklingham 210.69

Bradfield Combust with Stanningfield 240.92 Ickworth 221.84

Bradfield St Clare 228.11 Ingham 208.76

Bradfield St George 216.84 Ixworth cum Ixworth Thorpe 243.24

Brandon (and Wangford) 262.04 Kedington 301.22

Brockley 249.60 Kentford 181.55

Bury St Edmunds 215.46 Lackford 255.73

Cavendish 239.56 Lakenheath 262.29

Cavenham 167.96 Lidgate 244.60

Chedburgh 220.99 Little Thurlow 295.09

Chevington 206.68 Market Weston 241.00

Clare 292.11 Mildenhall 259.02

Coney Weston 209.49 Moulton 228.16

Cowlinge 290.54 Newmarket 256.88

Culford 214.61 Nowton 217.24

Dalham 200.82 Ousden 231.44

Denston 188.65 Pakenham 218.23

Depden 213.48 Poslingford 226.84

Elveden 163.36 Red Lodge 240.58

Eriswell 193.52 Rede 208.66

Euston 212.44 Risby 216.78

Exning 220.09 Rushbrooke with Rougham 216.22

Fakenham Magna 237.81 Santon Downham 224.16

Flempton-cum-Hengrave 224.31 Stansfield 238.34

Fornham All Saints 262.61 Stanton 254.49

Fornham St Martin-cum-St Genevieve 235.60 Stoke by Clare 250.15

Freckenham 247.32 Stradishall 224.47

Gazeley 205.16 The Saxhams 230.29

Great & Little Whelnetham 212.45 Thelnetham 200.53

Great Barton 221.60 Troston 225.68

Great Bradley 255.71 Tuddenham St Mary 226.04

Great Livermere 248.49 West Row 256.92

Great Thurlow 248.18 West Stow 221.08

Great Wratting 238.40 Westley 204.94

Hargrave 224.12 Whepstead 222.72

Haverhill 311.60 Wickhambrook 252.41

Hawkedon 188.89 Withersfield 211.01

Hawstead 235.43 Wixoe 210.54

Hepworth 214.50 Wordwell 229.05

Worlington 212.04

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



Basic amounts of council tax in respect of different valuation bands Attachment I

Schedule C

A B C D E F G H

Authority £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p

Suffolk County Council 861.42 1,004.99 1,148.56 1,292.13 1,579.27 1,866.41 2,153.55 2,584.26

Suffolk Police Authority 141.84 165.48 189.12 212.76 260.04 307.32 354.60 425.52

West Suffolk Council:- 

Forest Heath Predecessor Area 101.52 118.44 135.36 152.28 186.12 219.96 253.80 304.56

St Edmundsbury Predecessor Area 121.44 141.68 161.92 182.16 222.64 263.12 303.60 364.32

Ampton, Timworth & Livermere 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Bardwell 31.17 36.36 41.56 46.75 57.14 67.53 77.92 93.50

Barnardiston 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Barnham 24.32 28.37 32.43 36.48 44.59 52.69 60.80 72.96

Barningham 66.78 77.91 89.04 100.17 122.43 144.69 166.95 200.34

Barrow cum Denham 22.65 26.42 30.20 33.97 41.52 49.07 56.62 67.94

Barton Mills 40.63 47.40 54.17 60.94 74.48 88.02 101.57 121.88

Beck Row 27.01 31.52 36.02 40.52 49.52 58.53 67.53 81.04

Bradfield Combust with Stanningfield 39.17 45.70 52.23 58.76 71.82 84.88 97.93 117.52

Bradfield St Clare 30.63 35.74 40.84 45.95 56.16 66.37 76.58 91.90

Bradfield St George 23.12 26.97 30.83 34.68 42.39 50.09 57.80 69.36

Brandon (and Wangford) 73.17 85.37 97.56 109.76 134.15 158.54 182.93 219.52

Brockley 44.96 52.45 59.95 67.44 82.43 97.41 112.40 134.88

Bury St Edmunds 22.20 25.90 29.60 33.30 40.70 48.10 55.50 66.60

Cavendish 38.27 44.64 51.02 57.40 70.16 82.91 95.67 114.80

Cavenham 10.45 12.20 13.94 15.68 19.16 22.65 26.13 31.36

Chedburgh 25.89 30.20 34.52 38.83 47.46 56.09 64.72 77.66

Chevington 16.35 19.07 21.80 24.52 29.97 35.42 40.87 49.04

Clare 73.30 85.52 97.73 109.95 134.38 158.82 183.25 219.90

Coney Weston 18.22 21.26 24.29 27.33 33.40 39.48 45.55 54.66

Cowlinge 72.25 84.30 96.34 108.38 132.46 156.55 180.63 216.76

Culford 21.63 25.24 28.84 32.45 39.66 46.87 54.08 64.90

Dalham 32.36 37.75 43.15 48.54 59.33 70.11 80.90 97.08

Denston 4.33 5.05 5.77 6.49 7.93 9.37 10.82 12.98

Depden 20.88 24.36 27.84 31.32 38.28 45.24 52.20 62.64

Elveden 7.39 8.62 9.85 11.08 13.54 16.00 18.47 22.16

Eriswell 27.49 32.08 36.66 41.24 50.40 59.57 68.73 82.48

Euston 20.19 23.55 26.92 30.28 37.01 43.74 50.47 60.56

Exning 45.21 52.74 60.28 67.81 82.88 97.95 113.02 135.62

Fakenham Magna 37.10 43.28 49.47 55.65 68.02 80.38 92.75 111.30

Flempton-cum-Hengrave 28.10 32.78 37.47 42.15 51.52 60.88 70.25 84.30

Fornham All Saints 53.63 62.57 71.51 80.45 98.33 116.21 134.08 160.90

Fornham St Martin-cum-St Genevieve 35.63 41.56 47.50 53.44 65.32 77.19 89.07 106.88

Freckenham 63.36 73.92 84.48 95.04 116.16 137.28 158.40 190.08

Gazeley 35.25 41.13 47.00 52.88 64.63 76.38 88.13 105.76

Great & Little Whelnetham 20.19 23.56 26.92 30.29 37.02 43.75 50.48 60.58

Great Barton 26.29 30.68 35.06 39.44 48.20 56.97 65.73 78.88

Great Bradley 49.03 57.21 65.38 73.55 89.89 106.24 122.58 147.10

Great Livermere 44.22 51.59 58.96 66.33 81.07 95.81 110.55 132.66

Great Thurlow 44.01 51.35 58.68 66.02 80.69 95.36 110.03 132.04

Great Wratting 37.49 43.74 49.99 56.24 68.74 81.24 93.73 112.48

Hargrave 27.97 32.64 37.30 41.96 51.28 60.61 69.93 83.92

Haverhill 86.29 100.68 115.06 129.44 158.20 186.97 215.73 258.88

Hawkedon 4.49 5.23 5.98 6.73 8.23 9.72 11.22 13.46

Hawstead 35.51 41.43 47.35 53.27 65.11 76.95 88.78 106.54

Hepworth 21.56 25.15 28.75 32.34 39.53 46.71 53.90 64.68

Herringswell 26.23 30.60 34.97 39.34 48.08 56.82 65.57 78.68

Higham 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Honington-cum-Sapiston 46.02 53.69 61.36 69.03 84.37 99.71 115.05 138.06

Hopton cum Knettishall 20.13 23.49 26.84 30.20 36.91 43.62 50.33 60.40

Horringer 38.07 44.41 50.76 57.10 69.79 82.48 95.17 114.20

Hundon 25.27 29.48 33.69 37.90 46.32 54.74 63.17 75.80

Icklingham 38.94 45.43 51.92 58.41 71.39 84.37 97.35 116.82

Ickworth 26.45 30.86 35.27 39.68 48.50 57.32 66.13 79.36

Ingham 17.73 20.69 23.64 26.60 32.51 38.42 44.33 53.20

Ixworth cum Ixworth Thorpe 40.72 47.51 54.29 61.08 74.65 88.23 101.80 122.16

Kedington 79.37 92.60 105.83 119.06 145.52 171.98 198.43 238.12

Kentford 19.51 22.77 26.02 29.27 35.77 42.28 48.78 58.54

Lackford 49.05 57.22 65.40 73.57 89.92 106.27 122.62 147.14

Lakenheath 73.34 85.56 97.79 110.01 134.46 158.90 183.35 220.02

Lidgate 41.63 48.56 55.50 62.44 76.32 90.19 104.07 124.88

Little Bradley 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

VALUATION BANDS

Page 129



Basic amounts of council tax in respect of different valuation bands Attachment I

Schedule C

A B C D E F G H

Authority £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p

VALUATION BANDS

Little Thurlow 75.29 87.83 100.38 112.93 138.03 163.12 188.22 225.86

Little Wratting 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Market Weston 39.23 45.76 52.30 58.84 71.92 84.99 98.07 117.68

Mildenhall 71.16 83.02 94.88 106.74 130.46 154.18 177.90 213.48

Moulton 50.59 59.02 67.45 75.88 92.74 109.60 126.47 151.76

Newmarket 69.73 81.36 92.98 104.60 127.84 151.09 174.33 209.20

Nowton 23.39 27.28 31.18 35.08 42.88 50.67 58.47 70.16

Ousden 32.85 38.33 43.80 49.28 60.23 71.18 82.13 98.56

Pakenham 24.05 28.05 32.06 36.07 44.09 52.10 60.12 72.14

Poslingford 29.79 34.75 39.72 44.68 54.61 64.54 74.47 89.36

Red Lodge 58.87 68.68 78.49 88.30 107.92 127.54 147.17 176.60

Rede 17.67 20.61 23.56 26.50 32.39 38.28 44.17 53.00

Risby 23.08 26.93 30.77 34.62 42.31 50.01 57.70 69.24

Rushbrooke with Rougham 22.71 26.49 30.28 34.06 41.63 49.20 56.77 68.12

Santon Downham 47.92 55.91 63.89 71.88 87.85 103.83 119.80 143.76

Stansfield 37.45 43.70 49.94 56.18 68.66 81.15 93.63 112.36

Stanton 48.22 56.26 64.29 72.33 88.40 104.48 120.55 144.66

Stoke by Clare 45.33 52.88 60.44 67.99 83.10 98.21 113.32 135.98

Stradishall 28.21 32.91 37.61 42.31 51.71 61.11 70.52 84.62

The Saxhams 32.09 37.43 42.78 48.13 58.83 69.52 80.22 96.26

Thelnetham 12.25 14.29 16.33 18.37 22.45 26.53 30.62 36.74

Troston 29.01 33.85 38.68 43.52 53.19 62.86 72.53 87.04

Tuddenham St Mary 49.17 57.37 65.56 73.76 90.15 106.54 122.93 147.52

West Row 69.76 81.39 93.01 104.64 127.89 151.15 174.40 209.28

West Stow 25.95 30.27 34.60 38.92 47.57 56.22 64.87 77.84

Westley 15.19 17.72 20.25 22.78 27.84 32.90 37.97 45.56

Whepstead 27.04 31.55 36.05 40.56 49.57 58.59 67.60 81.12

Wickhambrook 46.83 54.64 62.44 70.25 85.86 101.47 117.08 140.50

Withersfield 19.23 22.44 25.64 28.85 35.26 41.67 48.08 57.70

Wixoe 18.92 22.07 25.23 28.38 34.69 40.99 47.30 56.76

Wordwell 31.26 36.47 41.68 46.89 57.31 67.73 78.15 93.78

Worlington 39.84 46.48 53.12 59.76 73.04 86.32 99.60 119.52

Page 130



Amount of aggregate council tax for the year for each category of dwellings Attachment I

Schedule D

A B C D E F G H

Parish/Town Area £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p

Ampton, Timworth & Livermere 1,124.70 1,312.15 1,499.60 1,687.05 2,061.95 2,436.85 2,811.75 3,374.10

Bardwell 1,155.87 1,348.51 1,541.16 1,733.80 2,119.09 2,504.38 2,889.67 3,467.60

Barnardiston 1,124.70 1,312.15 1,499.60 1,687.05 2,061.95 2,436.85 2,811.75 3,374.10

Barnham 1,149.02 1,340.52 1,532.03 1,723.53 2,106.54 2,489.54 2,872.55 3,447.06

Barningham 1,191.48 1,390.06 1,588.64 1,787.22 2,184.38 2,581.54 2,978.70 3,574.44

Barrow cum Denham 1,147.35 1,338.57 1,529.80 1,721.02 2,103.47 2,485.92 2,868.37 3,442.04

Barton Mills 1,145.41 1,336.31 1,527.21 1,718.11 2,099.91 2,481.71 2,863.52 3,436.22

Beck Row 1,131.79 1,320.43 1,509.06 1,697.69 2,074.95 2,452.22 2,829.48 3,395.38

Bradfield Combust with Stanningfield 1,163.87 1,357.85 1,551.83 1,745.81 2,133.77 2,521.73 2,909.68 3,491.62

Bradfield St Clare 1,155.33 1,347.89 1,540.44 1,733.00 2,118.11 2,503.22 2,888.33 3,466.00

Bradfield St George 1,147.82 1,339.12 1,530.43 1,721.73 2,104.34 2,486.94 2,869.55 3,443.46

Brandon (and Wangford) 1,177.95 1,374.28 1,570.60 1,766.93 2,159.58 2,552.23 2,944.88 3,533.86

Brockley 1,169.66 1,364.60 1,559.55 1,754.49 2,144.38 2,534.26 2,924.15 3,508.98

Bury St Edmunds 1,146.90 1,338.05 1,529.20 1,720.35 2,102.65 2,484.95 2,867.25 3,440.70

Cavendish 1,162.97 1,356.79 1,550.62 1,744.45 2,132.11 2,519.76 2,907.42 3,488.90

Cavenham 1,115.23 1,301.11 1,486.98 1,672.85 2,044.59 2,416.34 2,788.08 3,345.70

Chedburgh 1,150.59 1,342.35 1,534.12 1,725.88 2,109.41 2,492.94 2,876.47 3,451.76

Chevington 1,141.05 1,331.22 1,521.40 1,711.57 2,091.92 2,472.27 2,852.62 3,423.14

Clare 1,198.00 1,397.67 1,597.33 1,797.00 2,196.33 2,595.67 2,995.00 3,594.00

Coney Weston 1,142.92 1,333.41 1,523.89 1,714.38 2,095.35 2,476.33 2,857.30 3,428.76

Cowlinge 1,196.95 1,396.45 1,595.94 1,795.43 2,194.41 2,593.40 2,992.38 3,590.86

Culford 1,146.33 1,337.39 1,528.44 1,719.50 2,101.61 2,483.72 2,865.83 3,439.00

Dalham 1,137.14 1,326.66 1,516.19 1,705.71 2,084.76 2,463.80 2,842.85 3,411.42

Denston 1,129.03 1,317.20 1,505.37 1,693.54 2,069.88 2,446.22 2,822.57 3,387.08

Depden 1,145.58 1,336.51 1,527.44 1,718.37 2,100.23 2,482.09 2,863.95 3,436.74

Elveden 1,112.17 1,297.53 1,482.89 1,668.25 2,038.97 2,409.69 2,780.42 3,336.50

Eriswell 1,132.27 1,320.99 1,509.70 1,698.41 2,075.83 2,453.26 2,830.68 3,396.82

Euston 1,144.89 1,335.70 1,526.52 1,717.33 2,098.96 2,480.59 2,862.22 3,434.66

Exning 1,149.99 1,341.65 1,533.32 1,724.98 2,108.31 2,491.64 2,874.97 3,449.96

Fakenham Magna 1,161.80 1,355.43 1,549.07 1,742.70 2,129.97 2,517.23 2,904.50 3,485.40

Flempton-cum-Hengrave 1,152.80 1,344.93 1,537.07 1,729.20 2,113.47 2,497.73 2,882.00 3,458.40

Fornham All Saints 1,178.33 1,374.72 1,571.11 1,767.50 2,160.28 2,553.06 2,945.83 3,535.00

Fornham St Martin-cum-St Genevieve 1,160.33 1,353.71 1,547.10 1,740.49 2,127.27 2,514.04 2,900.82 3,480.98

Freckenham 1,168.14 1,362.83 1,557.52 1,752.21 2,141.59 2,530.97 2,920.35 3,504.42

Gazeley 1,140.03 1,330.04 1,520.04 1,710.05 2,090.06 2,470.07 2,850.08 3,420.10

Great & Little Whelnetham 1,144.89 1,335.71 1,526.52 1,717.34 2,098.97 2,480.60 2,862.23 3,434.68

Great Barton 1,150.99 1,342.83 1,534.66 1,726.49 2,110.15 2,493.82 2,877.48 3,452.98

Great Bradley 1,173.73 1,369.36 1,564.98 1,760.60 2,151.84 2,543.09 2,934.33 3,521.20

Great Livermere 1,168.92 1,363.74 1,558.56 1,753.38 2,143.02 2,532.66 2,922.30 3,506.76

Great Thurlow 1,168.71 1,363.50 1,558.28 1,753.07 2,142.64 2,532.21 2,921.78 3,506.14

Great Wratting 1,162.19 1,355.89 1,549.59 1,743.29 2,130.69 2,518.09 2,905.48 3,486.58

Hargrave 1,152.67 1,344.79 1,536.90 1,729.01 2,113.23 2,497.46 2,881.68 3,458.02

Haverhill 1,210.99 1,412.83 1,614.66 1,816.49 2,220.15 2,623.82 3,027.48 3,632.98

Hawkedon 1,129.19 1,317.38 1,505.58 1,693.78 2,070.18 2,446.57 2,822.97 3,387.56

Hawstead 1,160.21 1,353.58 1,546.95 1,740.32 2,127.06 2,513.80 2,900.53 3,480.64

Hepworth 1,146.26 1,337.30 1,528.35 1,719.39 2,101.48 2,483.56 2,865.65 3,438.78

Herringswell 1,131.01 1,319.51 1,508.01 1,696.51 2,073.51 2,450.51 2,827.52 3,393.02

Higham 1,104.78 1,288.91 1,473.04 1,657.17 2,025.43 2,393.69 2,761.95 3,314.34

Honington-cum-Sapiston 1,170.72 1,365.84 1,560.96 1,756.08 2,146.32 2,536.56 2,926.80 3,512.16

Hopton cum Knettishall 1,144.83 1,335.64 1,526.44 1,717.25 2,098.86 2,480.47 2,862.08 3,434.50

Horringer 1,162.77 1,356.56 1,550.36 1,744.15 2,131.74 2,519.33 2,906.92 3,488.30

Hundon 1,149.97 1,341.63 1,533.29 1,724.95 2,108.27 2,491.59 2,874.92 3,449.90

Icklingham 1,143.72 1,334.34 1,524.96 1,715.58 2,096.82 2,478.06 2,859.30 3,431.16

Ickworth 1,151.15 1,343.01 1,534.87 1,726.73 2,110.45 2,494.17 2,877.88 3,453.46

Ingham 1,142.43 1,332.84 1,523.24 1,713.65 2,094.46 2,475.27 2,856.08 3,427.30

Ixworth cum Ixworth Thorpe 1,165.42 1,359.66 1,553.89 1,748.13 2,136.60 2,525.08 2,913.55 3,496.26

Kedington 1,204.07 1,404.75 1,605.43 1,806.11 2,207.47 2,608.83 3,010.18 3,612.22

Kentford 1,124.29 1,311.68 1,499.06 1,686.44 2,061.20 2,435.97 2,810.73 3,372.88

Lackford 1,173.75 1,369.37 1,565.00 1,760.62 2,151.87 2,543.12 2,934.37 3,521.24

Lakenheath 1,178.12 1,374.47 1,570.83 1,767.18 2,159.89 2,552.59 2,945.30 3,534.36

Lidgate 1,166.33 1,360.71 1,555.10 1,749.49 2,138.27 2,527.04 2,915.82 3,498.98

Little Bradley 1,124.70 1,312.15 1,499.60 1,687.05 2,061.95 2,436.85 2,811.75 3,374.10

Little Thurlow 1,199.99 1,399.98 1,599.98 1,799.98 2,199.98 2,599.97 2,999.97 3,599.96

Little Wratting 1,124.70 1,312.15 1,499.60 1,687.05 2,061.95 2,436.85 2,811.75 3,374.10

Market Weston 1,163.93 1,357.91 1,551.90 1,745.89 2,133.87 2,521.84 2,909.82 3,491.78

Mildenhall 1,175.94 1,371.93 1,567.92 1,763.91 2,155.89 2,547.87 2,939.85 3,527.82

Moulton 1,155.37 1,347.93 1,540.49 1,733.05 2,118.17 2,503.29 2,888.42 3,466.10

Newmarket 1,174.51 1,370.27 1,566.02 1,761.77 2,153.27 2,544.78 2,936.28 3,523.54

Nowton 1,148.09 1,339.43 1,530.78 1,722.13 2,104.83 2,487.52 2,870.22 3,444.26

VALUATION BANDS

Page 131



Amount of aggregate council tax for the year for each category of dwellings Attachment I

Schedule D

A B C D E F G H

Parish/Town Area £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p

VALUATION BANDS

Ousden 1,157.55 1,350.48 1,543.40 1,736.33 2,122.18 2,508.03 2,893.88 3,472.66

Pakenham 1,148.75 1,340.20 1,531.66 1,723.12 2,106.04 2,488.95 2,871.87 3,446.24

Poslingford 1,154.49 1,346.90 1,539.32 1,731.73 2,116.56 2,501.39 2,886.22 3,463.46

Red Lodge 1,163.65 1,357.59 1,551.53 1,745.47 2,133.35 2,521.23 2,909.12 3,490.94

Rede 1,142.37 1,332.76 1,523.16 1,713.55 2,094.34 2,475.13 2,855.92 3,427.10

Risby 1,147.78 1,339.08 1,530.37 1,721.67 2,104.26 2,486.86 2,869.45 3,443.34

Rushbrooke with Rougham 1,147.41 1,338.64 1,529.88 1,721.11 2,103.58 2,486.05 2,868.52 3,442.22

Santon Downham 1,152.70 1,344.82 1,536.93 1,729.05 2,113.28 2,497.52 2,881.75 3,458.10

Stansfield 1,162.15 1,355.85 1,549.54 1,743.23 2,130.61 2,518.00 2,905.38 3,486.46

Stanton 1,172.92 1,368.41 1,563.89 1,759.38 2,150.35 2,541.33 2,932.30 3,518.76

Stoke by Clare 1,170.03 1,365.03 1,560.04 1,755.04 2,145.05 2,535.06 2,925.07 3,510.08

Stradishall 1,152.91 1,345.06 1,537.21 1,729.36 2,113.66 2,497.96 2,882.27 3,458.72

The Saxhams 1,156.79 1,349.58 1,542.38 1,735.18 2,120.78 2,506.37 2,891.97 3,470.36

Thelnetham 1,136.95 1,326.44 1,515.93 1,705.42 2,084.40 2,463.38 2,842.37 3,410.84

Troston 1,153.71 1,346.00 1,538.28 1,730.57 2,115.14 2,499.71 2,884.28 3,461.14

Tuddenham St Mary 1,153.95 1,346.28 1,538.60 1,730.93 2,115.58 2,500.23 2,884.88 3,461.86

West Row 1,174.54 1,370.30 1,566.05 1,761.81 2,153.32 2,544.84 2,936.35 3,523.62

West Stow 1,150.65 1,342.42 1,534.20 1,725.97 2,109.52 2,493.07 2,876.62 3,451.94

Westley 1,139.89 1,329.87 1,519.85 1,709.83 2,089.79 2,469.75 2,849.72 3,419.66

Whepstead 1,151.74 1,343.70 1,535.65 1,727.61 2,111.52 2,495.44 2,879.35 3,455.22

Wickhambrook 1,171.53 1,366.79 1,562.04 1,757.30 2,147.81 2,538.32 2,928.83 3,514.60

Withersfield 1,143.93 1,334.59 1,525.24 1,715.90 2,097.21 2,478.52 2,859.83 3,431.80

Wixoe 1,143.62 1,334.22 1,524.83 1,715.43 2,096.64 2,477.84 2,859.05 3,430.86

Wordwell 1,155.96 1,348.62 1,541.28 1,733.94 2,119.26 2,504.58 2,889.90 3,467.88

Worlington 1,144.62 1,335.39 1,526.16 1,716.93 2,098.47 2,480.01 2,861.55 3,433.86

Page 132



Attachment J

Council Tax Resolution

Council Tax Resolution – An Explanation

The Council Tax resolution has to be very precise legally and so has to quote 
the sections of the appropriate Acts of Parliament. The following is a simplified 
explanation of each of the significant parts of the resolution:

(1)(a) the number of Band D equivalent properties to be used in the 
calculation of the Council Tax;

(2) the Council Tax Requirement, excluding parish precepts;

(3)(a) the Council’s budgeted gross expenditure, including parish 
precepts and special expenses;

(3)(b) the Council’s budgeted income;

(3)(c) the Council’s Budget Requirement, including parish precepts;

(3)(d) the budgeted income from Business Rates, Revenue Support 
Grant, other non-service specific grant and Collection Fund 
surpluses/deficits;

(3)(f) the average band D Council Tax being levied in the district, for 
the Council and all the parishes;

(3)(g) the amount of parish precepts and special expenses;

(3)(h) the headline Council Tax amount for the Council. This is the 
amount required to fund this Council’s general expense services 
that cover the whole district.

For those areas that raise a parish precept, the figure in Schedule B of 
Attachment I shows the Council’s band D equivalent Council Tax figure 
inclusive of the relevant parish precept;

The figures in Schedule C of Attachment I shows the amount of the 
Council Tax for each of the valuation bands, by County, Police, District 
and Parish, and

Schedule D of Attachment I shows the total aggregate Council Tax for 
each of the valuation bands, (i.e. inclusive of County, Police, District and 
Parish precepts).

Page 133



Attachment J

The Council is recommended to resolve as follows:

1. It be noted that the Council calculated the Council Tax Base 2019/20:-

(a) for the whole Council area as 55,056.11 [Item T in the 
formula in Section 31B of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992, as amended (the "Act")]; 

(b) for the predecessor area of St Edmundsbury Borough Council 
as 36,743.00 and for the predecessor area of Forest Heath 
District Council as 18,313.11; and

(b) for dwellings in those parts of its area to which one or more 
special items relate as in the attached Schedule A of 
Attachment I. 

2 That the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own purposes for 
2019/20 (excluding Town and Parish precepts) is £9,481,825.

3. The following amounts be now calculated by the Council for the year 
2019/20 in accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992:-

(a) £94,731,619, being the aggregate of the amounts which the 
Council estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(2) of 
the Act taking into account all precepts issued to it by Town 
and Parish Councils.

(b) £72,864,815, being the aggregate of the amounts which the 
Council estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(3) of 
the Act.

(c) £21,866,804,  being the amount by which the aggregate at 
3(a) above exceeds the aggregate at 3(b) above, calculated 
by the Council in accordance with Section 31A(4) of the Act 
as its Budget requirement for the year. (Item R in the 
formula in Section 31B of the Act).

(d) £8,433,182, being the aggregate of the sums which the 
Council estimates will be payable for the year into its General 
Fund in respect of Business Rates, Revenue Support Grant or 
additional grant, increased or reduced by the amount of the 
sums which the Council estimates will be transferred in the 
year from its Collection Fund to its General Fund, in 
accordance with Section 97(3) and 98(4) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988. (Item P in the formula in 
Section 31B of the Act).

(e) £13,433,622 being the amount at 3(c) above less the 
amount at 3(d) above, broken down as follows:

 Forest Heath Predecessor Area being £4,456,226 

Page 134



Attachment J

 St Edmundsbury Predecessor Area being £8,977,396

(f) the amount at 3(e) above, divided by Item T (1(a) above), 
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 31B of 
the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year 
(including Town and Parish) being:

 Forest Heath Predecessor Area being £243.34
 St Edmundsbury Predecessor Area being £244.33

(g) £3,951,797, being the aggregate amount of all special items 
(Town and Parish precepts) referred to in Section 34(1) of the 
Act (as per the attached Schedule A of Attachment H), broken 
down as follows:

 Forest Heath Predecessor Area being £1,667,506
 St Edmundsbury Predecessor Area being £2,284,291

(h) the amount at 3(f) above less the result given by dividing the 
amount at 3(g) above by Item T (1(a) above), calculated by 
the Council, in accordance with Section 34(2) of the Act, as 
the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings 
in those parts of its area to which no Town and Parish precept 
relates being:

 Forest Heath Predecessor Area being £152.28
 St Edmundsbury Predecessor Area being £182.16

(i) the figures in Schedule B of Attachment I, being the amounts 
given by adding to the amount at 3(h) above the amounts of 
the special item relating to dwellings in those parts of the 
Council's area mentioned above divided, in each case, by the 
amount at 1(a) above, calculated by the Council, in 
accordance with Section 34(3) of the Act, as the basic 
amounts of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those 
parts of its area to which one or more special items relate; 
and

(j) the figures in Schedule C of Attachment I, being the amounts 
given by multiplying the amounts at  3(h) and 3(i) above by 
the number which, in the proportion set out in Section 5(1) of 
the Act, is applicable to dwellings listed in a particular 
valuation band divided by the number which, in that 
proportion, is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation Band 
D, calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 36(1) 
of the Act, as the amounts to be taken into account for the 
year in respect of categories of dwellings listed in different 
valuation bands.

4. The Council’s basic amount of Council Tax for 2019/20 is not excessive in 
accordance with principles approved under Section 54(2) Local 
Government Finance Act 1992.

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



COU/SA/19/008

Shadow 
Council
Title of Report: The West Suffolk Council 

Constitution
Report No: COU/SA/19/008
Report to and date: Shadow Council 19 February 2019
Shadow Executive  
(Cabinet) 
Members:

Ruth Bowman
FHDC: Future Governance
Tel: 01638 510896
Email: ruth.bowman@forest-
heath.gov.uk

Carol Bull
SEBC: Future Governance
Tel: 01953 681513
Email: 
carol.bull@stedsbc.gov.uk

Lead officer: Leah Mickleborough
Service Manager (Democratic Services) and Monitoring 
Officer 
Tel: 01284 757162
Email: leah.mickleborough@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Purpose of report: West Suffolk Council takes on the powers, functions 
and responsibilities of Forest Heath District and St 
Edmundsbury Borough Councils on 1 April 2019.  This 
report requests Shadow Council to adopt a 
Constitution, to ensure there is clarity on how West 
Suffolk Council will operate and make decisions.

Recommendation: It is RECOMMENDED that Shadow Council adopts 
the West Suffolk Council Constitution, as 
attached at Appendix 1 to Report No: 
COU/SA/19/008, to come into effect on 1 April 
2019.

Key Decision:

(Check the appropriate 
box and delete all those 
that do not apply.)

Is this a Key Decision and, if so, under which 
definition?
Yes, it is a Key Decision - ☐
No, it is not a Key Decision - ☒

Consultation:  All members of the Shadow Council have 
been provided access to the draft 
Constitution, and invited to two drop in 
sessions as set out in the report.

Alternative option(s):  There are no alternatives proposed.
Implications: 
Are there any financial implications? 
If yes, please give details

Yes ☐    No ☒
  

Page 137

Agenda Item 10

mailto:leah.mickleborough@westsuffolk.gov.uk


COU/SA/19/008

Are there any staffing implications? 
If yes, please give details

Yes ☐    No ☒


Are there any ICT implications? If 
yes, please give details

Yes ☐    No ☒


Are there any legal and/or policy 
implications? If yes, please give 
details

Yes ☒    No ☐
 The Constitution has been 

developed in order to comply with 
the relevant applicable legislation 
frameworks

Are there any equality implications? 
If yes, please give details

Yes ☐    No ☒


Risk/opportunity assessment: (potential hazards or opportunities affecting 
corporate, service or project objectives)

Risk area Inherent level of 
risk (before 
controls)

Controls Residual risk (after 
controls)

Failure to agree a 
constitution means 
there is no clarity on 
who can make 
decisions within the 
Council or decisions 
are made without 
authority to do so, 
which then cannot be 
enforced.

High The constitution has 
been developed 
based on the 
current, agreed 
constitution of both 
Councils, and subject 
to consultation with 
all members.

Low

Ward(s) affected: All wards
Background papers:
(all background papers are to be 
published on the website and a link 
included)

None

Documents attached: Appendix 1 – West Suffolk Council 
Constitution
Appendix 2 – Amendments to draft 
Constitution

Page 138



COU/SA/19/008

1. Key issues and reasons for recommendation(s)

1.1 A constitution provides clarity on who can make decisions within a Council, 
and how those decisions can be made.  Without such a document, the 
Council could not operate effectively and consistently, and its decisions 
would be open to challenge.

1.1.1 It is crucial that a Constitution is in place for West Suffolk Council on 1 April 
2019 to provide clarity on who has authority to make decisions, and the 
procedures that should be followed in doing so.  Over the past year, the Joint 
Constitution Review Group has been meeting to develop the new Constitution 
which is broadly based on the current, harmonised Forest Heath and St 
Edmundsbury Constitutions.

1.1.2

1.1.3

The proposed Constitution is attached at Appendix 1.  A draft copy has been 
available to all Members since January 2019, along with accompanying 
summaries that explain the changes from present constitutions, and the 
rationale for making such changes.  

Two Member drop in sessions were held, on 21 and 23 January 2019, where 
Councillors had opportunities to ask questions about the Constitution; 
feedback from the sessions was collated and the Constitution amended as 
appropriate.  A list of amendments from the draft version of the Constitution 
previously made available to members has been included at Appendix 2.

1.2 Areas of Focus

1.2.1

1.2.2

1.2.3

1.2.4

The Joint Constitution Review Group recognise that the proposed 
Constitution may well evolve during the life of West Suffolk Council.  There 
are opportunities to look at how the constitution is working, and see if it 
should be changed to support the way we want to work.

The Review Group are particularly interested in how the arrangements for 
the Development Control Committee will operate.  The revised scheme of 
delegation means that some non-controversial applications that currently go 
directly to Committee to consider will be referred to the Delegation Panel in 
the first instance.  It is intended to keep a watching brief on the operation of 
the scheme of delegation.

The Review Group have proposed changes to the way that the scheme of 
delegations operate.  In the past, the Constitution explicitly stated which 
decisions committees could make, and which decisions officers could make.  
Now, the Constitution identifies which decisions the committees can make, 
but beyond that, officers will have delegated authority to make decisions.  It 
is therefore critical that the right safeguards are in place to ensure that 
decision making remains lawful and transparent.

With this in mind, the Constitution Review Group have revised the definition 
of key decisions, which includes a new emphasis on engaging local Members 
in important executive decisions in their areas.  Again, the scheme of 
delegation is an area the Review Group proposes to monitor to ensure it is 
working effectively and efficiently.

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



(Draft as at February 2019) 

CONSTITUTION

West Suffolk House
Western Way
Bury St Edmunds
Suffolk
IP33 3YU

Tel: 01284 763233
www.westsuffolk.gov.uk

Date: 1 April 2019

APPENDIX 1

Page 141

http://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 142



Page No
(tbc)

1. Cover Page (April 2019)

(a) Draft Index

(b) Summary and Explanation (April 2019)

2. Articles

(a) Article 1 - The Constitution (April 2019)

(b) Article 2 - Members of the Council (April 2019)

(c) Article 3 - The Public and the Council (April 2019)

(d) Article 4 - The Council (April 2019)

(e) Article 5 - Chairing the Council (April 2019)

(f) Article 6 - The Cabinet (April 2019)

(g) Article 7 - Scrutiny Committees (April 2019)

(h) Article 8 - Regulatory and Standards Committees
(April 2019)

(i) Article 9 - Joint Arrangements and Working Groups
(April 2019)

(j) Article 10 - Officers (April 2019)

(k) Article 11 - Decision Making (April 2019)

(l) Article 12 - Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters
(April 2019)

(m) Article 13 - Review and Revision of the Constitution
(April 2019)

(n) Article 14 - Suspension, Interpretation, Maintenance
and Publication of the Constitution (April 2019)

(o) Schedule 1 - Description of Executive Arrangements
(April 2019)

3. Functions and Responsibilities

(a) Section 1 - Responsibility for Local Choice Functions
(April 2019)

(b) Section 2 - Responsibility for Council (Non Executive
Functions (April 2019)

(c) Section 3 - Responsibility for Executive Functions
(April 2019)

(d) Section 4 – Budget Setting and Medium Term
Planning, Budget Monitoring and Control and
Resources Allocations (April 2019)

(e) Section 5 – Scheme of Delegation to Officers
(April 2019)

(f) Section 6 - Member Role Descriptions
(April 2019)

Agenda Item 1a

Page 143



4. Rules of Procedure

(a) Council Procedure Rules and Petition Scheme
(April 2019)

(b) Committee Procedure Rules (April 2019)

(c) Cabinet Procedure Rules (April 2019)

(d) Scrutiny Committees Procedure Rules (April 2019)

(e) Access to Information Procedure Rules (April 2019)

(f) Officer Employment Procedure Rules (April 2019)

(g) Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules
(April 2019)

(h) West Suffolk Financial Procedure Rules
(February 2017)

(i) West Suffolk Contract Procedure Rules
(April 2019)

5. Codes and Protocols

(a) Suffolk Local Code of Conduct for Members
(April 2019)

(b) Code of Conduct for Employees (April 2019)

(c) Member/Officer Protocol (April 2019)

(d) West Suffolk Planning Code of Practice (April 2019)

(e) West Suffolk Licensing Code of Practice (April 2019)

6. Members' Allowances Scheme (May 2019)
(To be recommended for adoption at the Shadow Council meeting
on 19 February 2019)

Page 144



Summary and Explanation April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Summary and Explanation

Introduction 

West Suffolk Council provides a wide range of services to residents and 
businesses within its area. It is divided into 43 areas known as wards and 
there are 64 councillors (also known as members) who are elected by 
residents of the wards to represent them on the Council.  Elections to the 
Council take place every four years.

Councils have legal powers and duties.  Duties are things the Council must 
do – such as collecting household waste, or housing homeless people.  
Powers are things the Council can do, if it wishes.  The Council also has a 
General Power of Competence, which allows it do things that any ordinary 
person can do.  Many of the Council’s powers and duties have to be 
delivered in accordance with specific legal acts, regulations and 
government guidance.

Purpose of the Constitution

The Constitution is a document that sets out the rules and guidance for 
how the Council makes decisions and carries out its business.  It ensures 
that all Council activities are conducted in an open and transparent way, 
and are compliant with the laws and regulations the Council must comply 
with. The constitution is made up of:

 Articles – which explain the different parts of the decision-making
structure and how the Council will operate;

 Responsibility for Functions – which shows which Councillors and
Officers are responsible for which decisions;

 Rules of Procedure – which set out the way meetings will be run and
the procedure for various Council functions; and

 Codes and Protocols – which guide how Councillors and Council staff
should behave and act

The Council has to exercise its duties and powers in accordance with the 
law and this Constitution. Set out below is a brief summary of how the 
Council works.

Cabinet 

The Council’s decision-making structure is based on the Leader and 
Cabinet model.  The Cabinet will make most of the decisions about how 
the Council carries out its business. The Leader is elected every four years 
by a vote of all councillors who will appoint up to nine other councillors, 
one of whom will also be Deputy Leader, to sit in the Cabinet and be 
responsible for particular areas (known as portfolios) of the Council’s 
work.  The Cabinet will collectively set the strategic aims of the Council, 
and ensure that it is delivering key priorities and programmes.  

Agenda Item 1b

Page 145



Summary and Explanation April 2019

The Council publishes a Decisions Plan which shows what decisions the 
Cabinet is going to take that will affect local communities or involve 
expenditure or savings over a certain level.  These are known as key 
decisions.  The Plan also shows what decisions are going to be taken in 
private and why.  There is more detail of how the Cabinet works in Part 2: 
Article 6 and Part 4: Cabinet Procedure Rules.

Council

Some decisions, such as the level of Council Tax or the local plan, have to 
be taken by all the councillors meeting together as the Council. These 
meetings take place at least five times a year.  More information about 
the Council’s powers and procedures can be found in Part 2: Article 4 and 
Part 4: Council Procedure Rules.

Regulatory and Standards Committees

Regulatory Committees
The law gives the Council power to grant consents, licences and so on for 
such matters as planning and licensing.  These powers are known as 
regulatory decisions and are exercised by committees of the Council, or 
delegated to Council officers to make.  What these committees are and 
what they do is set out in Part 2: Article 8 and Part 3: Responsibility for 
Council (Non Executive) Functions. 

Standards Committee
There is a Standards Committee which is responsible for upholding high 
ethical standards in West Suffolk, including monitoring compliance with 
the Code of Conduct by all district, town and parish councillors in the area.  
Further details can be found in Part 2: Article 8 and Part 3: Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) Functions. 

Scrutiny

The Council has two committees whose role is to oversee the work of the 
authority.  Overview and Scrutiny Committee can ‘call in’ Cabinet 
decisions for examination and it will also help the Council develop its 
policies.  It can set up smaller groups to work on reviews and projects 
that benefit West Suffolk communities, and has the power to hold outside 
organisations to account.

The Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee has responsibility for 
monitoring the Council’s performance.  It makes recommendations for 
how the Council should spend its budget and assesses the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Council’s internal and external auditors.

Further details of the work of these Committees can be found in Part 2: 
Article 7 and Part 4: Scrutiny Committees Procedure Rules. 

Page 146



Summary and Explanation April 2019

Staff

The Council’s employees are commonly referred to as ‘officers’. They 
perform a number of different roles, ranging from delivering the Council’s 
services direct to the public, to giving professional advice, implementing 
decisions and managing the working of the Council. Some Officers have 
specific duties to ensure that the Council acts within the law. Officers 
operate in a politically neutral way.  A protocol governs the relationship 
between Councillors and Officers.  Officers do not vote on decisions made 
by the Council, Cabinet or its Committees.

The public’s rights

Residents of the Council’s area have a number of rights in their dealings 
with the Council.  Some are set out in law, others depend on the Council’s 
own processes. Article 3 sets them out in more detail, but in brief they 
include:

 the right to elect the Councillors who will represent them on the
Council, and to contact any Member of the Council about matters that
concern them;

 access to Council documents such as this Constitution, policies, the
Decisions Plan, reports, minutes and records of decisions made
(subject to limited exceptions for things that the law permits the
Council to treat as confidential);

 the right to attend open meetings of the Council, Cabinet and
Committees and to speak at those where the Council’s procedures
allow public participation; and

 making their views known to the Council, whether as a comment,
complaint or compliment or in response to a consultation.

The Council welcomes participation by the public in its work and aims to 
make its processes as transparent as possible.  For further information on 
your rights, please contact the Council’s Monitoring Officer on e-mail: 
democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk or telephone: 01284 757162.

Page 147

mailto:democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 148



Article 1 – The Constitution April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Article 1 – The Constitution

1.1 Powers of the Council

The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance 
with the law and this Constitution.

1.2 The Constitution

This Constitution, and all its appendices, is the Constitution of West 
Suffolk Council.

1.3 Purpose of the Constitution

The purpose of the Constitution is to:

a) Enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the
community in partnership with local people, businesses and
other organisations and in accordance with the Council’s
vision and priorities.

b) Support the active involvement of local people in the
Council’s decision-making process.

c) Help Councillors represent people in their wards more
effectively.

d) Enable decisions to be taken efficiently, effectively and in an
open and transparent way.

e) Create an independent, powerful and effective means of
holding decision-makers to public account.

f) Ensure that those responsible for decision-making are clearly
identifiable to local people and that they explain the reasons
for decisions.

1.4 Interpretation and review of the Constitution

1.4.1 The Rules of Procedure which form Part 4 of the Constitution 
provide mechanisms for interpreting and operating the 
Constitution, including in cases of dispute.

1.4.2 Where the Constitution permits the Council to choose 
between different courses of action, the Council will choose 
the option which it thinks will be most likely to achieve the 
purposes set out in 1.3 above.

1.4.3 The Council will monitor and evaluate the operation of the 
Constitution as set out in Article 13.

Agenda Item 2a

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 150



Article 2 – Members of the Council April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Article 2 – Members of the Council

2.1 Composition and eligibility

The Council comprises 64 Councillors who are elected by the voters 
of the district.  There are 43 wards in the District and one or more 
Councillors will be elected to each ward in line with a scheme which 
was drawn up by the Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England and approved by Parliament.

To be eligible to stand for election as a Councillor, a person must: 

• be at least 18 years old
• be a British citizen, an eligible Commonwealth citizen or a citizen

of any member state of the European Union, and
• meet at least one of the following four qualifications:

(a) You are, and will continue to be, registered as a local
government elector for the local authority area in which you
wish to stand from the day of your nomination onwards.

(b) You have occupied as owner or tenant any land or other
premises in the local authority area during the whole of the
12 months before the day of your nomination and the day of
election.

(c) Your main or only place of work during the 12 months prior
to the day of your nomination and the day of election has
been in the local authority area.

(d) You have lived in the local authority area during the whole of
the 12 months before the day of your nomination and the
day of election.

2.2 Elections and term of office

The regular election of Councillors is held on the first Thursday in 
May, every fourth year.  The term of office of Councillors will start 
on the fourth day after being elected and finish on the fourth day 
after the date of the next regular election, with the exception of the 
Leader and Chair who will hold office until the Annual Meeting which 
follows the election.  (Provisions for the resignation or removal of 
the Leader at other times are set out in Article 6).

2.3 Roles and functions of councillors

2.3.1 The role and function of Councillors are set out in Section 3 
of the Constitution (Member Role Descriptions).

Agenda Item 2b

Page 151



Article 2 – Members of the Council April 2019

2.3.2 Some Councillors are appointed to specific roles, such as 
chairing Committees or acting as a member of the Cabinet.  
These roles have a high level of responsibility associated with 
them, and can be very demanding on the Councillor’s time.  
It is desirable that Councillors would only take up one special 
responsibility role (such as acting as Chair or Vice-Chair of 
another Council Committee) at any point.  The Council 
recognises that there are some exceptional situations where 
it may be necessary for a Councillor to take on additional 
special responsibility roles to ensure all posts are filled by 
Councillors with sufficient experience, training or knowledge

2.4 Rights and duties

2.4.1 Councillors have rights of access to Council documents, 
information, land and buildings as are necessary for them to 
be able to carry out their role properly and in accordance 
with the law.

2.4.2 Councillors will not make any information public if it is 
confidential or exempt without the consent of the Council, or 
divulge information given in confidence to anyone other than 
a Councillor or Officer entitled to know it.

2.4.3 For these purposes, ‘confidential’ and ‘exempt’ information 
are defined in the Access to Information Rules contained in 
Part 4 of the Constitution.

2.5 Conduct

Councillors will at all times observe the Members’ Code of Conduct 
and the protocol on Member/Officer Relations set out in Part 5 of 
the Constitution.

2.6  Allowances

Councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with 
the Members’ Allowances Scheme set out in Part 6 of the 
Constitution.

Page 152



Article 3 – The Public and the 
Council April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Article 3 – The Public and the Council

3.1  The public’s rights

The Council is elected to serve its community.  The public are at the 
heart of what we do as a Council, and their rights are set out in this 
article.  Their rights to information and to attend meetings are 
explained in more detail in the Access to Information Procedure 
Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution.

a) Petitions – residents who are on the electoral register for
the area may sign a petition to request a referendum for an
elected mayor form of constitution. They may then vote in
that referendum, which will take place if at least 5% of the
electorate sign that petition.  This constitution also includes a
petition scheme, which sets out the right of communities to
petition the Council on matters that are important to them

b) Information – the public has the right to:

(i) Obtain a copy of the Council’s Constitution.
(ii) Attend meetings of the Council, Cabinet and

Committees except where confidential or exempt
information is likely to be discussed and the meeting
is, for that reason, held in private.

(iii) See the Decisions Plan to find out what key decisions
will be taken by the Cabinet, its Committees, or
Officers, and when.

(iv) Find out from the Decisions Plan when the Cabinet, its
Committees or Officers will consider any matters in
private.

(v) See reports and background papers, and any records
of decisions made by the Council, Cabinet or Officers
subject to the usual rules regarding confidential or
exempt information.

(vi) Inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views
on them known to the external auditor.

c) Participation – the public has the right to address the
Development Control and Licensing and Regulatory
Committees on specific applications and contribute, by
invitation, to investigations and public inquiries undertaken
by the scrutiny committees.  People who live or work in the
Council’s area have the right to participate in Public Question
Time at other meetings in accordance with the protocol set
out in the Council and Committee Procedure Rules in Part 4
of the Constitution.

Agenda Item 2c

Page 153



Article 3 – The Public and the 
Council April 2019

d) Consultation - the public has the right to respond to
consultations initiated by the Council, and the right for their
views to be taken into account when decisions are made
based on the consultation.

e) Complaints – the public has the right to complain to:
(i) The Council itself under its complaints scheme

[Comments, Compliments and Complaints]
(ii) The Local Government Ombudsman, if the complaint

has not been resolved by the Council’s own complaints
scheme.

(iii) The Monitoring Officer about a breach of the Members’
Code of Conduct set out in Part 5 of the Constitution.

f) Whistleblowing – the public has the right to bring to the
Council’s attention any concerns about corruption or bad
practice.  Details are available in the Whistleblowing Policy
[Whistleblowing Policy]

3.2  The public’s responsibilities

West Suffolk Council encourages the public to exercise their 
democratic rights, whether voting in elections, responding to 
consultations or speaking at Committees.  This input to the work of 
the Council is vital to enable us to discharge our functions 
effectively.

We welcome that the vast majority of people exercise their rights in 
the manner that would be expected in a civil society – respecting 
the norms of public debate, and seeking to input their views in a 
constructive way.  

Page 154

http://westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Feedback_comments_complaints/commentscomplimentsandcomplaints.cfm?aud=council
http://westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Policies_Strategies_and_Plans/whistleblowingpolicy.cfm


Article 4 – The Council April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Article 4 – The Council

4.1 Meaning

The Council means every Councillor of West Suffolk Council meeting 
together.  By law, there are some things that only the Council has 
the power to do and other matters are allocated to the Council by 
this Constitution.

4.2 Functions of the Council

Only the Council meeting as a whole will exercise the following 
functions:-

a) Adopting and changing the Constitution.
b) Approving and adopting the policy framework (see below).
c) Approving and adopting the budget (see below).
d) Approving for the purposes of public consultation draft

proposals associated with the preparation of or alterations to,
or the replacement of, the local development framework.

e) Subject to the urgency procedure set out in the Budget and
Policy Framework Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the
Constitution making decisions about any matter in the
discharge of a Cabinet function which is covered by the policy
framework or budget where the decision maker is minded to
make it in a manner which would be contrary to the policy
framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with
the budget.

f) Electing the Leader, removing by resolution and electing a
replacement in accordance with Article 6.

g) Approving proposals from Committees of the Council for their
terms of reference and any changes to them.

h) Determining the political balance of the Council and the
allocation of seats in accordance with it or in some other way
as the Council sees fit (without any Member voting against).

i) Adopting a Members’ Allowance Scheme.
j) Appointing Councillors to outside bodies unless this is a

function of the Cabinet or has been delegated by the Council.
k) Approving the appointment or dismissal of the Head of Paid

Service.
l) Changing the name of the area.
m) Any Electoral matters requiring a decision by the Council.
n) Approving orders to alter the governance arrangements of

any Parished area within the District.
o) Conferring the title of Honorary Alderman or the Honorary

Freedom.

Agenda Item 2d

Page 155



Article 4 – The Council April 2019

p) Making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws
and promoting or opposing the making of local legislation or
personal Bills.

q) All Local Choice Functions set out in Part 3 of this
Constitution which the Council decides should be taken by
itself rather than the Cabinet.

r) To authorise funding from the Council’s Capital Investment
Fund, over the value of £2m (in line with the Council’s
Growth Investment Strategy).

s) All other matters which, by law, must be reserved to the
Council.

4.3 Council Meetings

There are four types of Council meeting:-

a) The Annual Meeting.
b) Ordinary meetings.
c) Extraordinary meetings; and
d) Special meetings.

and these will be conducted in accordance with the law and with the 
Council Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

4.4  The policy framework

The policy framework means the following plans and strategies:-

a) Those required by legislation to be adopted by the Council.
b) Policies and strategies which the Government recommends

should be adopted by the Council; and
c) Policies and strategies to be adopted by the Council as a

matter of local choice.

The above policies and strategies include:-

- Corporate or Strategic Plan
- Plans and strategies which together comprise the Local Plan
- Asset Management Plan
- Pay Policy Statement
- Licensing Act Statement of Policy
- Gambling Act Statement of Principle

It may also be appropriate for some regional or sub-regional 
policies or strategies to be considered by the Council, to be decided 
on a case-by-case basis.

4.5  The budget

The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its budget.  Once 
the budget is in place it will be the responsibility of the Cabinet to 
implement it.

Page 156



Article 4 – The Council April 2019

The budget comprises:-

 revenue budget
 capital programme
 medium term financial strategy (covering revenue and capital)
 prudential indicators including borrowing limits
 treasury management and investment strategy

The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different 
services and projects, proposed contingency funds, the Council Tax 
base, setting the Council Tax and decisions relating to the control of 
the council’s borrowing requirements, its investments and the 
control of its capital expenditure and the setting of virement limits.

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 158



Article 5 – Chairing the Council April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Article 5 – Chairing the Council

5.1 Role and function of the Chair

The Chair and Vice Chair will be elected annually by the Council.  

Neither the Chair nor Vice Chair may be a member of the Cabinet.  
It would not normally be expected for the Chair to act as Chair of 
any other Committees during their term of office.

The role and function of the Chair is to maintain an apolitical stance 
at all times, in that they are to serve as a representative of the 
whole Council during their term of office, and not seek to favour 
any political group or organisation.

The Chair and, in their absence, the Vice Chair have the following 
roles.

5.2 Procedural role

The Chair:- 

a) Will chair meetings of the Council so that its business can be
carried out efficiently in accordance with the Council
Procedure rules and with regard to the rights of Councillors
and the interests of the community.

b) Will uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution and
interpret the rules of procedure at Council meetings.

c) Will ensure that Council meetings are a forum for the debate
of matters of concern to the community and one of the
places at which Councillors who are not on the Cabinet are
able to hold the Cabinet to account.

d) Should exercise their casting vote with appropriate caution.
A casting vote is only called upon when Members cannot
reach a majority and due respect should be given to the lack
of consensus.  However, the Chair is ultimately entitled to
exercise their vote as they consider appropriate.

5.3 Civic and ceremonial role

The Chair is the ceremonial head of the Council and will be its 
representative at civic and ceremonial events.  This part of the role 
includes:-

a) Representing and promoting the whole district during their
term of office.

b) Enhancing the image of the district.

Agenda Item 2e

Page 159



Article 5 – Chairing the Council April 2019

c) Encouraging understanding of the Council’s role, priorities
and partnerships.

d) Promoting public involvement in the Council’s activities.

Page 160



Article 6 – The Cabinet April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Article 6 – The Cabinet

6.1  Role

6.1.1 The Leader, Deputy Leader and the Portfolio Holders are 
collectively known as the Cabinet and will make executive 
decisions.  The Leader and Cabinet will carry out all of the 
Council’s functions which are not the responsibility of any 
other part of the Council, whether by law or under this 
Constitution.

6.2 Form and Composition

6.2.1 The Cabinet will comprise the Leader and between two and  
nine other Councillors appointed to the Cabinet by the 
Leader, one of whom shall be designated Deputy Leader and 
all of whom are to be known as Portfolio Holders.  Only 
Councillors will be appointed to the Cabinet.  There will be no 
co-optees, no deputies and no substitutes for Cabinet 
members.  The Leader and Portfolio Holders may not be 
members of any Scrutiny Committee.  The Chair and Vice 
Chair of the Council may not be members of the Cabinet.

6.2.2 The Leader and Portfolio Holders may agree to establish 
Working Groups, or nominate other members or co-opted 
members to advise and support them in the discharge of 
their duties, as they consider appropriate.  Such 
arrangements cannot assign decision making responsibilities 
and as such would not be subject to the normal rules of 
debate or Access to Information Procedure Rules.  

6.3 The Leader

6.3.1 The Leader will be a Councillor elected to the position by the 
Council at its first Annual Meeting following the local 
government elections.  The Leader will hold office until:-

a) The next post-election annual meeting of the Council;
or

b) They resign from the office of Leader; or
c) They are removed from office by ordinary resolution

on notice of the Council; or
d) They are no longer a Councillor.

6.3.2 When a vacancy arises in the office of the Leader, the Council 
shall fill the vacancy at the next ordinary meeting of the 
Council, or at a special or extraordinary meeting summoned 
for the purpose.  Or, if the vacancy occurs as a result of the 
removal of the Leader by resolution of the Council, at the 

Agenda Item 2f

Page 161



Article 6 – The Cabinet April 2019

meeting at which that resolution was passed or a subsequent 
meeting.  The Councillor appointed to fill the vacancy shall 
hold office for the remainder of the original term, subject to 
the rules on earlier termination in 6.3.1 above.

6.3.3 The Leader shall appoint another member of the Cabinet as 
Deputy Leader to act when the Leader is unable to act or the 
office of Leader is vacant.  The Leader may remove the 
Deputy Leader from office at any time.  Where there is a 
vacancy in the office of Deputy Leader, the Leader must 
appoint another person to be Deputy Leader.  Unless 
removed by the Leader, resigns as Deputy Leader or ceases 
to be a Member of the Council, the Deputy Leader shall hold 
office until the end of the Leader’s term of office.

6.4 Other Cabinet Members (the Portfolio Holders)

6.4.1 The Leader will usually announce the Portfolio Holders and 
their Portfolio responsibilities at the Annual Meeting of the 
Council. Re-appointments, appointments and the removal of 
Portfolio Holders announced in this way will take immediate 
effect.  If the announcement is not made at the Annual 
Meeting, the Leader will give written notice to the Monitoring 
Officer of the Portfolio Holders and their responsibilities as 
soon as practicable after the Annual Meeting and the re-
appointments, appointments and removals made in this way 
will take effect two working days after receipt of the notice 
by the Monitoring Officer.

6.4.2 The Leader may also appoint Portfolio Holders during the 
municipal year to fill any vacancy or increase the size of the 
Cabinet (up to the maximum number set out in 6.2.1 above) 
by giving written notice to the Monitoring Officer. These 
appointments shall take effect two working days after receipt 
of the notice by the Monitoring Officer.

6.4.3 Portfolio Holders shall hold office until:-

a) They resign from office; or
b) They are no longer Councillors; or
c) They are removed by means of the Leader’s

notification at, or as soon as practicable after, the next
Annual Meeting; or

d) They are removed from office by the Leader giving
written notice of the removal to the Monitoring Officer.
The removal will take effect two working days after
receipt of the notice by the Monitoring Officer.

6.4.4 If for any reason the Leader is unable to act or the office of 
Leader is vacant and the Deputy Leader is unable to act of 
the office of Deputy Leader is vacant, the Cabinet must act in 

Page 162



Article 6 – The Cabinet April 2019

the Leader’s place or must arrange for a Portfolio Holder to 
act in their place.

6.5  Functions of the Cabinet

6.5.1 The Cabinet has the following functions:-

a) To make ‘Key Decisions’ as defined in Article 11 and
published in the Decisions Plan.

b) To formulate the budget and policy framework for
submission to Council in accordance with the Budget
and Policy Framework Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the
Constitution.

c) To implement the approved budget and policy
framework.

d) To determine recommendations and other matters
referred to it by Committees, Sub-committees or
Council.

e) To carry out all of the executive functions, which by
law, must be carried out by Cabinet or which the
Cabinet has chosen to carry out and which have not
been delegated elsewhere.

f) To ensure the publication of, and to consider, the plan
of items likely to come before it for decision at least 28
days before the decision is due to be made.

g) To authorise funding from the Council’s Capital
Investment Fund, up to the value of £2m (in line with
the Council’s Growth Investment Strategy).

6.5.2 The Cabinet may carry out its functions:-

a) Itself.
b) By delegating power to an individual Member of the

Cabinet, to be exercised in accordance with the rules
in Appendix B to this Article 6.

c) By delegating power to an Officer, who shall exercise
that power in accordance with the Scheme of
Delegation to Officers contained in Part 3 of the
Constitution;

d) By delegating power to a joint committee, area
committee or another local authority.

6.5.3 The list of portfolio responsibilities will be maintained by the 
Leader and will set out which individual Members of the 
Cabinet, Officers and joint arrangements are responsible for 
the exercise of particular Cabinet functions.  The full list is in 
Part 3 of the Constitution and a brief list of portfolio 
responsibilities forms Appendix A to this Article 6.  The 
Leader is empowered to amend the portfolios during the 
administrative year.  

Page 163



Article 6 – The Cabinet April 2019

6.6  Meetings of the Cabinet

6.6.1 The Cabinet will hold public meetings as frequently as is 
required for the effective discharge of its functions on dates 
and at times agreed by the Leader.  Meetings will be 
conducted in accordance with the Cabinet Procedure Rules 
set out in Part 4 of the Constitution.  

6.6.2 To ensure it is briefed and/or consulted upon its functions, 
the Cabinet may hold other informal (not public) meetings as 
are necessary for it to carry out its work effectively.  
However, to ensure transparency and facilitate good scrutiny, 
matters discussed at these meetings that are intended to be 
put to Cabinet or Council for decision will, unless a decision is 
required urgently, be included in the Decisions Plan which is 
referred to the appropriate Committee (normally a Scrutiny 
Committee) before a recommendation is made to 
Cabinet/Council (see Article 7 (Scrutiny Committees)).   

Page 164



Article 6 – The Cabinet April 2019

Appendix A

List of Portfolio Responsibilities

(The Cabinet Portfolios and their responsibilities to be 
confirmed by the Leader of the Council, once appointed)

Page 165



Article 6 – The Cabinet April 2019

Appendix B

Procedure for decision-making by individual Portfolio 
Holders

1. Individual Cabinet members are empowered (subject to the
exceptions listed below) to make Cabinet decisions within the Policy
and Budget Framework in respect of their own portfolio area of
responsibility.

2. Individual Cabinet members are empowered to authorise funding
from the Council’s Capital Investment Fund, up to the value of
£0.5m (in line with the Council’s Growth Investment Strategy).

The exceptions are as follows:

(a) A decision that is a departure from the agreed Strategic Plan
except where this falls within current agreed policy.

(b) Decisions solely in relation to the Cabinet Member’s own
ward including, for example, making a grant, unless this is
agreed by the Leader. This does not prevent the use of the
Cabinet Member’s Locality Budget.

(c) Where the Leader has indicated before a decision is either
taken by the Portfolio Holder or implemented that he requires
the decision to be taken collectively by the Cabinet.
Notification of this by the Leader must be made to the
Assistant Director (HR, Legal & Democratic Services).

(d) A decision in which the Cabinet member has either a
disclosable pecuniary interest or some other conflict of
interest.

(e) Those decisions delegated to an officer unless the officer
refers the decision to the Cabinet member.

(f) A decision which in the view of the Chief Executive is one
which should properly be treated as a key decision (except
where it is funded from the Capital Investment Fund, where
it may be made by the Portfolio Holder in accordance with 2.
above).

3. The Cabinet may delegate any decision to an individual Cabinet
member who must then follow the procedure in this document in
making that decision.

4. The decisions must be made in consultation with officers deemed
appropriate by the Chief Executive and the Cabinet member must
take into account the professional, legal and financial implications
and any advice given by those officers.

Page 166



Article 6 – The Cabinet April 2019

5. Where there are significant cross-cutting implications across more
than one portfolio, the decision should be made in consultation with
other appropriate Portfolio Holder(s).

6. Where a decision has significant impact on an individual ward the
Cabinet member should consult the appropriate Ward member,
prior to a decision being made.

7. Where it is not clear in which portfolio an issue sits, the Leader shall
decide. If the appropriate portfolio holder is unavailable and a
decision needs to be taken urgently, then the Leader may take the
decision in consultation with the Chief Executive.

Notification and Publication 

Wherever possible, five clear working days’ notice of the intention to make 
a decision under these delegated powers will be given to all Members of 
the Council, by notice sent electronically and published on the Council’s 
website together with any supporting report. 

Where five clear working days’ notice is not practicable for exceptional 
reasons relating to the urgent need to action the decision the Cabinet 
Member should give notification of the intent to make the decision as soon 
as possible explaining the reasons for the short notice. 

The decision must be recorded on the appropriate form prepared and 
published by Democratic Services. The decision will be published and may 
not be implemented until after either: 

 the call-in period (five working days after the date of publication) has
expired; or

 a call-in process has been completed.

Call-in, using the procedure in the Council Procedure Rules, may be made 
within five days of the decision being published and the usual process 
shall be followed.

Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 168



Article 7 – Scrutiny Committees April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Article 7 - Scrutiny Committees

7.1 Introduction

7.1.1 Effective overview and scrutiny is essential to enhance the 
accountability and transparency of the decision-making 
process. The Council has appointed an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and a Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee 
to discharge the functions conferred by Section 9F of the 
Local Government Act 2000 and any regulations. The 
Committees will discuss issues in public and take a cross-
cutting approach to their work. In accordance with Section 
9FA of the above Act they may appoint one or more sub-
committees to carry out any of their functions. They will seek 
to improve the delivery of policies and services by:- 

(a) Holding the Cabinet to account for its actions.
(b) Advising on the development and implementation of

new policy and corporate projects.
(c) Testing whether existing policies and practices are

effective and efficient and suggesting how they might
be improved; and

(d) Ensuring the rigour and objectivity of performance
management and service reviews.

7.1.2 The Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee will have the 
specific role of monitoring the budget and it oversees the 
performance of services by considering a range of 
information such as performance indicators, inspection 
reports and action plan monitoring.  It approves the Council’s 
Statement of Accounts and is also the Council’s audit 
committee. This Committee also carries out the Treasury 
Management functions set out in detail in the Scrutiny 
Committees Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.

7.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

7.2.1 The Council will appoint an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
of up to 16 members and it will normally be politically 
balanced.  No member of the Cabinet may be a member of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

7.2.2 The primary purpose of the Committee is to improve the 
delivery of services provided to West Suffolk communities.  
To do this it can exercise the following General Roles: 

(a) Review and scrutinise decisions made or actions taken
in connection with the discharge of functions by the

Agenda Item 2g

Page 169



Article 7 – Scrutiny Committees April 2019

Council and other service providers in West Suffolk 
(subject to 7.9.1(h) below). 

(b) Make reports and recommendations to the Council and
the Cabinet in connection with the discharge of any
functions of the Council.

(c) Consider any matter affecting the area or its
inhabitants.

(d) Question Members of the Cabinet and Officers about
their views on issues and proposals affecting the area.

(e) Liaise with external organisations operating in the
area, whether national, regional or local, to ensure the
interests of local people are enhanced by collaborative
working.

(f) Exercise the right to “call in”, for reconsideration,
decisions made but not yet implemented by the
Cabinet, in accordance with the rules set out in Part 4
of this Constitution; and

(g) Consider any Councillor Calls for Action referred to it in
accordance with the Protocol.

(h) Consider any matter which has been placed on the
agenda of the committee by any member of the
committee in accordance with the Rules of Procedure
in Part 4 of this Constitution.

(i) Act as the Crime and Disorder Committee for the
purposes of Section 19 of the Police and Justice Act
2006.

7.2.3 Scrutiny Role 

Within its terms of reference, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may:- 

(a) Review and scrutinise the decisions made by, and the
performance of, the Cabinet, Committees and Council
Officers both in relation to individual decisions and
over time.

(b) Review and scrutinise the performance of the Council
in relation to its policy objectives, performance targets
and/or particular service areas, and carry out
performance management reviews.

(c) Review the adequacy of policies and practices to
ensure compliance with statutory and other guidance.

(d) Question Members of the Cabinet, Committees and
Officers about their decisions and performance,
whether generally in comparison with service plans
and targets over a period of time, or in relation to
particular decisions, initiatives or projects.

(e) Make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or the
appropriate Committee arising from the scrutiny
process.

(f) Review and scrutinise the performance of other public
bodies in the area and invite reports from them by

Page 170



Article 7 – Scrutiny Committees April 2019

requesting them to address the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and local people about their activities and 
performance and issues of wider concern. 

(g) Question and gather evidence from any person (with
their consent).

(h) Assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development
of the policy framework by detailed analysis of policy
issues and options, including research, and community
and other consultation.

(i) Consider and implement mechanisms to encourage
and enhance community participation in the
development of policy options; and

(j) Consider how collaborative working with external
organisations can enhance the interests of local
people.

7.2.4 For specific issues, the above work can be carried out by task 
and finish groups, which will be appointed and managed by 
the Committee. These groups will draw upon the knowledge 
and expertise of all Members of the Council. 

7.2.5  Holding the Cabinet to Account 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will hold the Cabinet 
to account for the discharge of its functions. The principal 
elements by which it will do this are as follows:- 

(a) Scrutinising decisions which the Cabinet is planning to
take, as set out in the Decisions Plan or of which
proper notice is given (including decisions referred to it
in accordance with paragraph 6.6.2 of Article 6).

(b) Scrutinising decisions of the Cabinet and individual
Portfolio Holders before they are implemented and if
necessary using the “call-in” mechanism to require the
decision taker to reconsider the earlier decision.

(c) Scrutinising decisions of the Cabinet or Portfolio
Holders after they have been implemented as part of a
wider review.

7.3 Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee 

7.3.1 The Council will also appoint a Performance and Audit 
Scrutiny Committee of up to 12 members, which will 
normally be politically balanced. Within its terms of reference 
the Committee will monitor and scrutinise the performance of 
the Council’s services by having regard to a variety of 
information, including performance indicators, financial 
information, reports from external inspections, audit reports, 
and monitoring of action plans. No member of the Council’s 
Cabinet may be a member of the Performance and Audit 
Scrutiny Committee.

Page 171



Article 7 – Scrutiny Committees April 2019

7.3.2 The Committee will also assist the Council and the Cabinet in 
the development of the budget framework and act as the 
Council’s Audit Committee, and the nature of this role is 
specified in the Scrutiny Committees Procedure Rules in Part 
4 of this Constitution. 

7.4 Finance 

7.4.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Performance and 
Audit Scrutiny Committee may exercise overall responsibility 
for any finances made available to them. 

7.5 Annual Report 

7.5.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Performance 
and Audit Scrutiny Committee must report annually to the 
Council on their workings and make recommendations for 
future work programmes and amended working methods if 
appropriate. 

7.6 Officers 

7.6.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Performance 
and Audit Scrutiny Committee may exercise overall 
responsibility for the work programme of any Officers 
employed to support their work. 

7.7 Proceedings of the Committees 

7.7.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Performance 
and Audit Scrutiny Committee will conduct their proceedings 
in accordance with the Scrutiny Committees Procedure Rules 
set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

7.8 Work Programme 

7.8.1 The Rules of Procedure in Part 4 of this Constitution will also 
provide mechanisms to allow all Members of the Council the 
opportunity to place an item on the agenda of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and the Performance and Audit 
Scrutiny Committee. 

7.8.2 When practicable, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will 
publish a forward work programme or list of items likely to 
be considered over the next four months. 

7.9 Working Methods 

7.9.1 The following principles should be adhered to by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Performance and 
Audit Scrutiny Committee when carrying out their work:- 

Page 172



Article 7 – Scrutiny Committees April 2019

(a) A variety of different approaches and formats for
meetings may be used.

(b) ‘Task and finish’ groups reporting periodically and at
the end of reviews to the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee should be encouraged as the preferred
method of scrutiny reviews.

(c) Membership of the Committees and their sub groups
(if applicable) should be tailored to ensure appropriate
skills and expertise, and external input, are brought to
bear.

(d) When appropriate, full consultation with all other
stakeholder groups and organisations should take
place.

(e) The declaration of interest rules shall apply.
(f) The imposition of the Party Whip is regarded as

incompatible with the work of the Council’s Scrutiny
Committees.

(g) The Chair and Vice-Chair of each Scrutiny Committee
will meet at least quarterly with the Leader and Deputy
Leader of the Council to ensure that the work of these
Committees is properly co-ordinated; and

(h) Where any Scrutiny Committee is reviewing the work
of a Regulatory or other Committee of the Council (as
opposed to the Cabinet) it will not scrutinise individual
decisions made by such Committees, particularly
decisions in respect of development control, licensing,
registration, consents and other permissions. In
particular, scrutiny will not be an alternative to normal
appeals procedures. However, the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee has the power to make reports
and recommendations on functions which are not the
responsibility of the Cabinet, an option normally to be
used as part of wider policy reviews.

7.10 Support 

7.10.1 In order that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee can 
perform its roles properly, it shall be given the following 
support:- 

(a) Effective and properly resourced support from
officers.

(b) Appropriate financial resources.
(c) Access to the advice of the Council’s Monitoring

Officer.
(d) The ability to require Members of the Cabinet and

officers to attend to answer questions.
(e) Specific training and development for all persons who

undertake overview and scrutiny duties; and
(f) The Decisions Plan, containing details of all the

matters likely to be the subject of key decisions, or
to be considered in private by the Cabinet, or its
Committees or by Officers, shall be made available to

Page 173



Article 7 – Scrutiny Committees April 2019

all Members of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

7.10.2 In order that the Performance and Audit Scrutiny 
Committee can perform its role properly it shall also be 
given the following support:- 

(a) Effective and properly resourced support from
officers.

(b) Appropriate financial resources.
(c) Access to external auditors who report direct to the

Committee and to the Internal Audit Service
Manager; and

(d) Specific training and development as required.

Page 174



Article 8 – Regulatory and 
Standards Committees April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Article 8 – Regulatory and Standards Committees

8.1 Regulatory Committees 

8.1.1 The Council must appoint Committees to deal with functions 
such as licensing, town and country planning controls and 
any other functions which by law are not to be functions of 
the Cabinet or Council.  Although a brief summary of their 
main areas of work is set out below, all the functions 
discharged by these Committees is set out in detail in Part 3 
of this Constitution.

8.2 Development Control Committee 

8.2.1 This Committee is responsible for matters relating to the 
control of the use of land including planning and listed 
building consent, the preservation of buildings and trees, 
conservation areas and enforcement.

8.3 Licensing and Regulatory Committee

8.3.1 This Committee’s responsibilities include regulating the sale 
of alcohol, the provision of public entertainment and 
gambling, and taxis/private hire vehicles and drivers. 

8.4 Standards Committee

8.4.1 This Committee’s role is to seek to promote the upholding of 
high standards of conduct by elected Councillors in West 
Suffolk, including Parish and Town Councillors.  They may 
also review complaints that Councillors have breached the 
Code of Conduct.  The terms of reference for this Committee 
is set out in Part 3 of the Constitution.

Agenda Item 2h

Page 175



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 176



Article 9 – Joint Arrangements and 
Working Groups April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Article 9 - Joint Arrangements and Working Groups

9.1 Arrangements to Promote Wellbeing 

9.1.1  The Council or the Cabinet, in order to promote the 
economic, social or environmental wellbeing of its area or to 
carry out activities under the general power of competence 
may:- 

(a) Enter into arrangements or agreements with any
person or body.

(b) Co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the
activities of, any person or body; and

(c) Exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions
of that person or body.

subject in all cases to compliance with statutory 
requirements.  

9.2 Joint Arrangements 

9.2.1  The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or 
more local authorities and/or their executives to exercise 
functions in any of the participating authorities. Such 
arrangements may involve the appointment of a joint 
committee with such other local authorities. 

9.2.2 The Cabinet may establish joint arrangements with one or 
more local authorities to exercise functions which are 
executive functions. Such arrangements may involve the 
appointment of joint committees with such other local 
authorities. 

9.2.3  Except as set out in 9.2.4 below, the Cabinet may only 
appoint Cabinet Members to a joint committee and those 
Members need not reflect the political balance of the Council 
as a whole. 

9.2.4  The Cabinet may appoint Members to a joint committee from 
outside the Cabinet in any of the following cases:

1. Where the joint committee has functions for only part
of the area of the Council and that area is smaller than
two-fifths of the Council by area or population. In such
cases, the Cabinet may appoint to the joint committee
any Councillor who is a Member for a Ward which is
wholly or partly contained within that part of the area
of the Council.

Agenda Item 2i

Page 177



Article 9 – Joint Arrangements and 
Working Groups April 2019

2. The joint committee is discharging a function in
relation to five or more authorities.

3. The function which the joint committee is discharging
is one which is required by statute to be discharged by
a joint committee.

The political balance requirements do not apply to such 
appointments.

9.2.5 Details of any joint arrangements, including any delegations 
to joint committees will be found in the Council’s Scheme of 
Delegations in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

9.3  Working Groups

9.3.1  The Council, Cabinet or Committees may appoint from time 
to time such Working Groups as they think fit. The Working 
Groups which have been appointed are identified in Part 3 of 
this Constitution.

9.4 Access to Information 

9.4.1  The Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution 
apply to any joint arrangements. 

9.4.2  If all the members of a joint committee are members of the 
Cabinet in each of the participating authorities then the 
Access to Information regime of the joint committee will be 
the same as that applied to executives. 

9.4.3  If the joint committee contains members who are not on the 
Cabinet in any participating authority, then the Access to 
Information Rules in Part VA of the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended) will apply. 

9.5   Delegation to and from Other Local Authorities 

9.5.1  The Council may delegate non-executive functions to another 
local authority or, in certain circumstances, the executive of 
another local authority. 

9.5.2  The Cabinet may delegate executive functions to another 
local authority or the executive of another local authority in 
certain circumstances. 

9.5.3  The decision whether or not to accept similar delegations 
from another local authority shall be reserved to the full 
Council. 

Page 178



Article 9 – Joint Arrangements and 
Working Groups April 2019

9.6 Contracting Out 

9.6.1  The Council (in respect of functions which are not the 
responsibility of the Cabinet) and the Cabinet (in respect of 
executive functions) may contract out to another body or 
organisation any functions which may be exercised by an 
officer and which are subject to an Order under Section 70 of 
the Deregulation and Contracting Out Act 1994, or under 
contracting arrangements where the contractor acts as the 
Council’s agent under usual contracting principles, provided 
there is no delegation of the Council’s discretionary decision-
making.

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 180



Article 10 – Officers April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Article 10 - Officers

10.1 Management Structure 

10.1.1  Appointment of staff below Chief Officer level is the 
responsibility of the Head of Paid Service or their nominee. 

(a) General - The Council may engage such staff
(referred to as Officers) as it considers necessary to
carry out its functions.

(b) Chief Officers - The Council will engage persons
who will be designated Chief Officers as described in
the Officer Employment Procedure Rules in Part 4 of
this Constitution. The appointment of Chief Officers,
other than the Head of Paid Service, will be
undertaken on the Council’s behalf by the Officer
Appointments Committee.

(c) Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer
(s151 Officer) and Monitoring Officer -
These posts will have the functions described in
Article 11.2 - 11.4 below. The duties of the
Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer can
be carried out by a deputy, nominated by them, in
cases of absence or illness.

(d) Structure - The Head of Paid Service will determine
and publicise a description of the overall
departmental structure of the Council showing the
management structure and the deployment of
officers.

10.2 Functions of the Head of Paid Service 

10.2.1 Discharge of functions by the Council - The Head of 
Paid Service will report to Council on the manner in which 
the discharge of the Council’s functions is co-ordinated, the 
number and grades of Officers required for the discharge of 
functions and the organisation of these Officers. 

10.2.2 Restriction on functions - The Head of Paid Service may 
not be the Monitoring Officer but may hold the post of Chief 
Finance Officer if a qualified accountant.

Agenda Item 2j

Page 181



Article 10 – Officers April 2019

10.3  Functions of the Monitoring Officer

10.3.1  Monitoring the Constitution - The Monitoring Officer will 
monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution to 
ensure that its aims and principles are given full effect. 

10.3.2  Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision-making - 
After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief 
Finance Officer, the Monitoring Officer will report to the 
Council, the Cabinet (in relation to an executive function) or 
the relevant committee if they consider that any proposal, 
decision or omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if 
any decision or omission has given rise to 
maladministration. Such a report will have the effect of 
stopping the proposal or decision being implemented until 
the report has been considered. 

10.3.3  Supporting the Standards Committee - The Monitoring 
Officer will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of 
high standards of conduct through provision of support to 
the Standards Committee. 

10.3.4  Considering Complaints - The Monitoring Officer will 
consider allegations that Parish, Town and District 
Councillors have breached the Code of Conduct in 
accordance with a protocol agreed by the Standards 
Committee, and make recommendations as necessary to 
improve standards of conduct. 

10.3.5  Access to Information - The Monitoring Officer will ensure 
that there are procedures in place to ensure that the Access 
to Information Procedure rules are adhered to.

10.3.6  Advising whether Executive decisions are within the 
budget and the policy framework - The Monitoring 
Officer will advise whether decisions of the Executive are in 
accordance with the budget and policy framework. 

10.3.7  Providing advice - The Monitoring Officer will provide 
advice on the scope of powers and authority to take 
decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity 
and budget and policy framework issues to all Councillors. 

10.3.8  Restriction on posts - The Monitoring Officer cannot be 
the Chief Finance Officer or the Head of Paid Service. 

10.4 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer 

10.4.1  Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of 
decision-making - After consulting with the Head of Paid 
Service and the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance Officer 
will report to the Council, or the Cabinet in relation to an 

Page 182



Article 10 – Officers April 2019

executive function and the Council’s external auditor if they 
consider that any proposal, decision or course of action will 
involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is 
likely to cause a loss or deficiency or if the Council is about 
to enter an item of account unlawfully. Such a report will 
have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being 
implemented until the report has been considered. 

10.4.2  Administration of financial affairs - The Chief Finance 
Officer will have responsibility for the administration of the 
financial affairs of the Council. 

10.4.3  Contributing to corporate management - The Chief 
Finance Officer will contribute to the corporate management 
of the Council, in particular through the provision of 
professional financial advice. 

10.4.4  Providing advice - The Chief Finance Officer will provide 
advice on the scope of powers and authority to take 
decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity 
and budget and policy framework issues to all Councillors 
and will support and advise Councillors and officers in their 
respective roles. 

10.4.5  Give financial information - The Chief Finance Officer will 
ensure that financial information about the Council is 
provided in accordance with the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules and Local Government Transparency Code. 

10.5 Duty to Provide Sufficient Resources to the Monitoring 
Officer and Chief Finance Officer 

10.5.1 The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer with such officers, accommodation and 
other resources as are in their opinion sufficient to allow 
their duties to be performed. 

10.6 Conduct  

10.6.1  Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct and 
the protocol on Officer/Member relations set out in Part 5 of 
this Constitution. 

10.7 Employment 

10.7.1  The recruitment, selection and dismissal of Officers will 
comply with the Officer Employment Rules set out in Part 4 
of this Constitution.

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 184



Article 11 – Decision-Making April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Article 11 – Decision-Making

11.1 Responsibility for Decision-Making 

11.1.1  The Council will issue, and keep up-to-date, a scheme 
confirming which committees and individuals have 
responsibility for making particular types of decisions.  This 
scheme is set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

11.2 The Principles of Decision-Making 

11.2.1  All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with 
the following principles:- 

(a) The decision must be reasonable within the common
meaning of the word, i.e. it must be a rational decision
based on sound judgement.

(b) The decision must also be reasonable within the legal
meaning of “reasonableness” i.e. all relevant
considerations must be fully taken into account in
reaching the decision and all irrelevant ones
disregarded.

(c) In the case of ‘quasi-judicial’ decisions (e.g. a decision
as to whether or not to grant a licence) a fair hearing
conducted in accordance with the rules of natural
justice should be afforded to the person who is the
subject of the decision.

(d) The decision must be proportionate (i.e. the action
should be proportionate to the desired outcome).

(e) Decisions should be taken on the basis of due
consultation and professional advice from Officers.

(f) Human rights must be respected and consideration
must be given as to whether the decision will give rise
to any implications under the Human Rights Act 1998
and the European Convention on Human Rights.

(g) Decisions must be taken in compliance with the
Council’s schemes of delegation, financial rules and
instructions relating to contracts.

(h) When making decisions a presumption in favour of
openness must be applied and a clarity of aims and
desired outcomes must be displayed.

(i) Careful consideration should always be given as to
whether there is an interest that should be declared;
and

(j) In the case of executive decisions taken by the
Cabinet, or an individual Member of the Cabinet, or an
Officer (where the decision is closely connected with
the Cabinet), a proper record of the decision must be
made together with a record of the reasons for the

Agenda Item 2k

Page 185



Article 11 – Decision-Making April 2019

decision, details of any alternative options considered 
and rejected and any conflicts of interest. 

11.3 Types of Decision 

11.3.1 Decisions reserved to Council - Decisions relating 
to the functions listed in Article 4.2 will be made by 
the whole Council and not delegated. 

11.3.2  Key Decisions 

11.3.2.1 A key decision is an executive decision that either:

a) Results in new expenditure, or a reduced income
or savings of more than £100k in any one year
that has not otherwise been included in the
Council’s revenue or capital budgets.

b) Comprises or includes the making, approval or
publication of a draft or final scheme, which is not
a routine business decision, that may require,
either directly or in the event of objections, the
approval of a Minister of the Crown.

c) Results in the formation of a new company,
limited liability partnership or joint venture

d) Has a potentially detrimental impact on
communities outside of West Suffolk District.

e) Is a decision that is significant in terms of its
effect on communities living or working in a
definable local community in the District, or on
one or more wards, in that it will:
(i) Have a long-term, lasting impact on that

community; or
(ii) Restrict the ability of individual businesses or

residents in that area to undertake particular
activities; or

(iii) Removes the provision of a service or facility
for that community; or

(iv) Increases the charges payable by members
of the community to provide a service or
facility by more than 5%; or

(v) Have the potential to create significant local
controversy or reputational damage to the
Council

f) A matter that the decision maker considers to be a
key decision.

11.3.2.2 Any matters that fall under the scope of e) above must be 
subject to consultation with the local Member(s) in Wards 
that are likely to be impacted by the decision prior to the 
decision being made.

Page 186



Article 11 – Decision-Making April 2019

11.3.2.3 A key decision shall not be made unless:
 The decision maker has followed the requisite procedure

to publicise the forthcoming decision as required by the
Access to Information Procedure Rules.

 The decision maker has, on the date the decision is made
or as soon as practicable thereafter, published a notice
setting out the reasons for the decision and any conflicts
of interests declared, as required by Local Government
(Executive Arrangements)(Meetings and Access to
Information)(England) Regulations 2012.

 A period of five clear days has elapsed following the
publication of the decision to allow for a call-in by
members as required by the Scrutiny Committee
Procedure Rules.

11.3.2.4 Further to any statutory guidance, the Council considers 
that the key decision threshold above shall also be 
considered as an “executive decision” for the purposes of 
Part 4 of the Local Government (Executive 
Arrangements)(Meetings and Access to 
Information)(England) Regulations 2012

11.4 Urgent key decisions

11.4.1  Provisions for taking key decisions in cases of urgency 
where they have not been included in the Decisions Plan 
are set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules 
(Part 4) and Scheme of Delegation (Part 3) in this 
Constitution.

11.5 Decision-Making by the Council 

11.5.1 Subject to Article 11.9, the Council meeting will follow the 
Council Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution when considering any matter. 

11.6 Decision-Making by the Cabinet 

11.6.1  Subject to Article 11.9, the Cabinet will follow the Cabinet 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when 
considering any matter. 

11.7  Decision-Making by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
and the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee 

11.7.1  The Council’s Scrutiny Committees will follow the Scrutiny 
Committees Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution when considering any matter.  

Page 187



Article 11 – Decision-Making April 2019

11.8 Decision-Making by Other Committees and Sub-Committees 
Established by the Council 

11.8.1  Subject to Article 11.9, other Council Committees and Sub-
Committees will follow those parts of the Council Procedure 
Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution as apply to them. 

11.9 Decision-Making by Council Bodies Acting as Tribunals 

11.9.1 The Council, a Councillor or an Officer acting as a tribunal 
or in a quasi-judicial manner or determining/considering 
(other than for the purposes of giving advice) the civil 
rights and obligations or the criminal responsibility of any 
person will follow a proper procedure which accords with 
the requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair 
trial contained in Article 6 of the European Convention of 
Human Rights.

Page 188



Article 12 – Finance, Contracts 
and Legal Matters April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Article 12 - Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters

12.1 Financial Management 

12.1.1  The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be 
conducted in accordance with the financial rules set out in 
Part 4 of this Constitution. 

12.2 Contracts 

12.2.1  Every contract made by the Council will comply with the 
Contract Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

12.3 Legal proceedings 

13.3.1 The Service Manager (Shared Legal) is authorised by the 
Scheme of Delegation to Officers set out in Part 3 of this 
Constitution to institute, defend or participate in any legal 
proceedings in any case where such action is necessary to 
give effect to decisions of the Council or in any case where 
they consider that such action is necessary to protect the 
Council’s interests. 

12.4 Authentication of documents 

12.4.1  Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or 
proceedings on behalf of the Council, it will be signed by 
the Chief Executive Officer or the Service Manager (Shared 
Legal) or in their absence by other persons authorised by 
the Service Manager (Shared Legal), unless any enactment 
otherwise authorises or requires, or the Council has given 
requisite authority to some other person. 

12.5 Common Seal of the Council 

12.5.1 The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place 
in the custody of the Assistant Director (HR, Legal & 
Democratic Services). A decision of the Council, or of any 
part of it, will be sufficient authority for sealing any 
document necessary to give effect to the decision. The 
Common Seal will be affixed to those documents which in 
the opinion of the Council’s Monitoring Officer should be 
sealed. Sealed documents will be signed by any one of the 
following Officers of the Council:

 The Chief Executive Officer
 The Monitoring Officer

Agenda Item 2l

Page 189



Article 12 – Finance, Contracts 
and Legal Matters April 2019

 A Director
 An Assistant Director
 A Lawyer.

12.5.2  An entry of every sealing of documents will be made and 
consecutively numbered in a register and be initialled by 
the person who attested the seal.

Page 190



Article 13 – Review and Revision 
of the Constitution April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Article 13 - Review and Revision of the Constitution

13.1 Duty to Monitor and Evaluate the Constitution 

13.1.1 The Monitoring Officer will monitor and evaluate the 
operation of this Constitution to ensure that its aims and 
principles are given full effect. 

13.2 Changes to the Constitution 

Approval

13.2.1  Except as provided in 13.2.3 below, changes to this 
Constitution will be approved by the Council after 
consideration of the proposal by the Monitoring Officer. 

13.2.2  A vote at Council to change this Constitution should be 
passed by a simple majority of those present and voting. 

13.2.3  The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Head of Paid 
Service and relevant Portfolio Holder, has delegated 
authority to make minor amendments to the Constitution 
arising from changes to legislation, changes to staffing 
structures or job descriptions or changes in terminology.  
The Monitoring Officer also has authority to amend the 
Constitution to implement decisions of the Leader in 
relation to the delegation of executive functions to the 
Cabinet.

13.2.4  If the proposal involves a change from the existing Leader 
and Cabinet form of executive to another form of 
governance, the Council must ensure it is compliant with 
any legislative requirements and ensure adequate local 
consultation is undertaken.

Agenda Item 2m

Page 191



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 192



Article 14 – Suspension, 
Interpretation, Maintenance and
Publication of the Constitution April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Article 14 - Suspension, Interpretation, Maintenance 
and publication of the Constitution

14.1 Suspension of the Constitution 

14.1.1  Limit to suspension - The Articles of this Constitution 
may not be suspended.  Any rules of procedure, except 
those required by law, may be suspended to the extent 
permitted within those rules and the law. 

14.1.2  Procedure to suspend - A motion to suspend any rules 
will not be moved without notice unless at least one half of 
the total number of Councillors entitled to be present is 
present. The extent and duration of suspension will be 
proportionate to the results to be achieved, taking into 
account the purposes of this Constitution set out in Article 
1. 

14.2 Interpretation of the Constitution 

14.2.1  The ruling of the Chair (or in their absence the Vice Chair) 
on the interpretation of this Constitution in relation to any 
proceedings of the Council, shall not be challenged at any 
meeting of the Council. Such interpretation will have regard 
to the purposes of this Constitution contained in Article 1. 

14.3 Maintaining the Constitution 

14.3.1  The Monitoring Officer will ensure that there are periodic 
operational reviews of this Constitution. 

14.3.2  The Monitoring Officer will also ensure that an up-to-date 
version of this Constitution is maintained and that it is 
widely available for consultation by Members, staff and the 
public, as set out in Article 14.4 below. 

14.4 Publication of the Constitution 

14.4.1  The Monitoring Officer will make available an electronic 
copy of this Constitution to each Councillor upon delivery of 
that individual’s Declaration of Acceptance of Office on the 
Councillor first being elected to the Council. 

14.4.2  The Monitoring Officer will ensure that the Constitution is 
published on the Council’s website in a form that can be 
downloaded and that copies are available for inspection at 
Council Offices  

Agenda Item 2n

Page 193



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 194



Schedule 1 – Description of
Executive Arrangements April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Schedule 1 - Description of Executive Arrangements

The following parts of this Constitution comprise the Executive arrangements.

1. Article 6 (The Cabinet) and the Cabinet Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this
Constitution;

2. Article 7 (Overview and Scrutiny) and the Overview and Scrutiny
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution;

3. Article 9 (Joint Arrangements) - The Council currently operates joint
arrangements with the County Council, neighbouring district councils and
town/parish councils in the District;

4. Article 11 (Decision-Making) and the Access to Information Procedure
Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution; and

5. Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) which confirms the scheme of
delegation and who, within the Council, can make executive decisions

6. Part 4 (Cabinet Procedure Rules) which confirms how executive meetings
and decision making will operate

Agenda Item 2o

Page 195



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 196



Part 3 – Section 1
Responsibility for Local
Choice Functions April 2019

 West Suffolk Council

Functions and Responsibilities

The various parts of this Section of the Constitution set out the responsibility for 
functions.  These are divided between the Council and/or its Committees, and 
the Cabinet (the Executive).  In both cases they are subject to the onward 
delegation to employees set out in the Scheme of Delegation to Officers.

Section 1 - Responsibility for Local Choice Functions

The table below sets out the Council’s decisions on who will be responsible for 
functions where there is a choice whether these are functions of Council or 
Cabinet.*  These are also subject to the onward delegation to employees set out 
in the Scheme of Delegation to Officers.

Local Choice Function Who is Responsible? 

1. Any function under a local Act Cabinet 

2. The determination of an appeal
against any decision made by or on
behalf of the Authority

Council 

3. Any function relating to contaminated
land.

Council 

4. The discharge of any function relating
to the control of pollution or the
management of air quality.

Council 

5. The service of an abatement notice in
respect of a statutory nuisance.

Council 

6. The passing of a resolution that
Schedule 2 to the Noise and
Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 should
apply in the Authority's area.

Council 

7. The inspection of the Authority's area
to detect any statutory nuisance.

Council 

8. The investigation of any complaint as
to the existence of a statutory
nuisance.

Council 

Agenda Item 3a

Page 197



Part 3 – Section 1
Responsibility for Local
Choice Functions April 2019

Local Choice Function Who is Responsible? 

9. The obtaining of information under
section 330 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as to interests in
land.

Council 

10. The obtaining of particulars of
persons interested in land under
section 16 of the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.

Council 

11. The making of agreements for the
execution of highways works

Council 

12. The appointment of any
individual:

(a) to any office other than an office
in which they are employed by
the Authority;

(b) to any body other than –

(i) the Authority;
(ii) a joint committee of two or

more authorities; or

(c) to any Committee or Sub-
Committee of such a body, and
the revocation of any such
appointment

Council, except where the 
matter is the appointment 
to a company owned, or 
part-owned by West 
Suffolk Council, in which 
case the matter is an 
Executive function; or the 
Council has determined 
that the matter should be 
properly exercised by the 
Executive 

*In accordance with the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities)
(England) Regulations 2000, as amended.

Page 198



Part 3 – Section 2 - Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive)
Functions April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Section 2 - Responsibility for Council (Non-Executive) 
Functions

1.1 The following parts set out how the Council has chosen to delegate 
responsibility for its Local Choice and non-executive functions. 

1.2 The Scheme of Delegation operates on the principle that Officers 
are generally delegated to exercise functions of the Council that fall 
within their area of responsibility, unless the matter should properly 
be determined by Councillors in line with the Constitution.

1.3 For clarity, unless the Constitution (inclusive of this Section) states 
that a matter should be determined by Committee or Council, any 
matters that fall within the scope of the below shall be determined 
by Officers:

 Any matters listed within Schedule 1 of The Local Authorities
(Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000

 Any matters listed within Schedule 2 of The Local Authorities
(Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 that
the Council has determined should not be executive functions

 Any other matters which by law, should not be executive
functions

1.3 An Officer’s area of responsibility shall be defined through reference 
to their job description, any delegations that have been made 
specifically to them by the Council, or any Committee or Sub-
Committee of the Council, the Chief Executive, or any sub-
delegations made to them as recorded in a register maintained by 
the Monitoring Officer.  

1.4 The relevant Assistant Director must authorise any sub-delegations 
within their relevant service areas, which must also be notified to 
the Monitoring Officer.

1.5 Every Committee appointed by the Council to discharge functions 
may appoint Sub-Committees for the purposes to be stated by the 
Committee. The Members of a Sub-Committee will be Members or 
substitute Members of the appointing Committee. 

1.6 Any Committee or Sub-Committee may, within its delegated 
authority, set up Working Parties or Panels for the detailed study of 
any matter. Working Parties or Panels are not subject to the Rules 
of Debate or Access to Information Procedure Rules.

1.7 Any Working Party/Panel given delegated (decision making) 
authority will become a Sub-Committee and be subject to both the 
Rules of Debate and Access to Information Procedure Rules.

Agenda Item 3b

Page 199



Part 3 – Section 2 - Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive)
Functions April 2019

A - Development Control 

1 – Remit
The Development Control Committee is authorised to undertake (or sub-
delegate) all of the Council’s functions relating to town and country 
planning, development control, the protection of hedgerows and trees, as 
specified in Parts A and I of Schedule 1 to the Local Authorities (Functions 
and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 (as amended by 
subsequent Regulations), that are not otherwise delegated to Officers.

The Committee is also authorised to exercise the Council’s Local Choice 
Functions in relation to the obtaining of information under Section 330 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as to interests in land and the 
obtaining of particulars of persons interested in land under Section 16 of 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (as specified in 
the Responsibility for Local Choice Functions) that are not otherwise 
delegated to Officers.

In summary, the area of responsibility of this Committee includes all 
matters relating to the administration of Town and Country Planning 
legislation, Listed Building and Conservation Area legislation, Hazardous 
Substances legislation and the Building Acts and associated Regulations 
within the purview of the Authority as it relates to the following 
functions:-

(1) The Committee determines all matters falling within their remit
which are:

(a) Judged by the Assistant Director (Planning and Regulatory
Services) (after consultation with the Chair and/or the Vice
Chair(s) of the Development Control Committee) to be of
such district-wide significance or to be so contentious that
they should in the public interest be referred to the
Committee for consideration and determination.

(b) Applications proposing major development (as defined in
Article 1(2) of the Town and Country Planning (General
Development Procedure) Order 1995) (as amended) where a
Member for the Ward in which the application site is located
has requested (in writing) consideration by the Committee.

(c) Applications proposing other than major development (as
defined above) referred by the Assistant Director (Planning
and Regulatory Services) following consultation with the
Delegation Panel.

(d) Departures from the provisions of the Development Plan
where planning permission is recommended for approval.

(e) Applications made by or on behalf of the Council.

Page 200



Part 3 – Section 2 - Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive)
Functions April 2019

(2) A Members’ Delegation Panel Scheme (known as “the Panel”) has
been set up to advise on the level of decision with applications for
Planning Permissions.  The Panel is intended to deal with the items
which would normally be dealt with under delegated authority but
where there is a contrary view from the Town/Parish Council or
where the Ward Member has requested that the application be
referred to the Panel for a planning reason.  Where a contrary view
has been expressed the Delegation Panel advise whether the
decision remains as delegated or whether the application should be
referred to Committee for a decision. This will apply in cases
including (but not limited to) applications from householders,
advertisement matters, applications for change of use, applications
for minor residential development (as defined in Article 1(2) of the
Town and Country Planning (General Development Procedure)
Order 1995) (as amended), applications for a variation of
conditions, applications relating to hazardous substances and TPO
applications/confirmations (where objections have been received).

(3) The Panel to also advise on the level of decision of an application, in
the first instance, for planning permissions on behalf of, or closely
related to, an elected Member or Officer of the Council, where there
are no contrary views from statutory consultees, Parish/Town
Councils and third parties.  The Panel will also advise where a
Member of the Development Control Committee has requested, in
writing, that the application should be considered by the
Committee, but the local Ward Member(s) has/have not.

(4) In cases referred to above, decisions will only be taken following
consultation with the Panel which will comprise the Chair and/or
Vice Chair(s) of the Development Control Committee. The Panel will
have regard to the views of the local Ward Member(s) who
has/have made representations in writing or at the meeting.

The Panel scheme will operate as follows: 

(a) Meeting of the Panel will normally take place fortnightly. Additional
meetings of the Panel can be arranged if deemed necessary.

(b) A list of applications to be considered at the Panel will be circulated
to all Members, and a written briefing report on each case prepared
and circulated to the Chair and Vice Chair(s) of the Development
Control Committee and any local Member(s) or adjacent Ward
Member with the approval of the Ward Member(s) who has/have
made representations in writing, at least two clear working days in
advance of the Panel meeting, with provision for emergency items
at the discretion of the Chair or Vice Chair(s).

(c) The local Member(s) may attend the Panel or submit
representations in writing in order to make sure the Panel is clearly
aware of their views and reasoning. Any other Member may attend
the Panel as an observer, at the Chair’s discretion.

Page 201



Part 3 – Section 2 - Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive)
Functions April 2019

(d) Following discussion and views expressed at the Delegation Panel
meeting, the Assistant Director (Planning and Regulatory Services)
will make the decision on whether the application should be
determined by Officers, or the matter will be referred to the
Development Control Committee.  If there is no clear consensus of
views expressed, the application will be reported to the
Development Control Committee.

(e) The relevant Parish/Town Council will be informed of the decision
verbally by the Council’s Case Officer within two working days of
the Panel meeting and will be sent written reasons within 10
working days of the Panel meeting with copies to the Chair, Vice
Chair(s) of the Development Control Committee and local
Member(s).

(f) For the avoidance of doubt, Officers will determine all matters
within the remit of the Development Control Committee that:

i) Do not meet the criteria for referral directly to the
Development Control Committee.

ii) Do not meet the criteria for referral for consideration by the
Delegation Panel.

iii) Are reviewed by the Delegation Panel but are not referred to
the Development Control Committee

2 – Membership and meeting arrangements

2.1  The Committee will comprise up to 16 Members of the Authority. 

2.2  The Committee will be appointed annually by the Council and will 
be politically balanced. 

2.3  The Committee will appoint its own Chair and Vice-Chair(s). 

2.4  The Committee will meet in accordance with a schedule of ordinary 
meetings approved by the Council, although meetings may be 
cancelled due to lack of business. Special and Extraordinary 
meetings of the Committee may also be called.

3 – Delegation of Functions

3.1  The majority of the Committee’s functions will be determined by 
officers, as set out in Section 4 of this part of the Constitution. 
These delegations are subject to:- 

(a) Any such determination is not a departure from Development
Plans and adopted District and County Planning Policies.

(b) Statutory consultations being carried out in accordance with
the Statement of Community Involvement; and

(c) The safeguards and consultative procedures listed in Part 1
above.

Page 202



Part 3 – Section 2 - Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive)
Functions April 2019

3.2  Those matters which will normally fall to be determined by the 
Committee are as defined in Part 1, paragraphs (1) (a) to (c) 
above.  In exercising any of its functions, the Committee may refer 
any item to Council for a decision. 

4 – Procedure at meetings

4.1 Procedure at meetings shall be in accordance with the Committee 
Procedure Rules, except as provided in 4.2 below.

4.2  The Committee shall have authority to determine from time to time 
its own arrangements for public speaking on applications, and 
which matters are to be included within those arrangements.

Page 203



Part 3 – Section 2 - Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive)
Functions April 2019

B - Licensing 

1 – Remit

The Licensing and Regulatory Committee (in this Section referred to as 
“the Committee”) is authorised to undertake or sub-delegate all matters 
of a regulatory nature, other than those covered by the Development 
Control Committee, or which are required by statute to be licensed, and 
the hearing of certain appeals, other than those matters that are 
delegated to officers to determine.

The Committee will only hear those appeals which the Authority is 
required to determine.  It will not take the place of any other appeals 
process or complaints procedure, nor will it provide a general appeal 
mechanism for any decision of the Authority.

2 – Membership and meeting arrangements  

2.1  The Committee will comprise up to 15 Members. It will be 
appointed annually by the full Council and will be politically 
balanced in so far as is reasonably practicable. 

2.2  Members appointed to the Committee must:

(a) Be capable of carrying out the Committee’s programme of
work and anticipated number of Sub-Committee hearings for
the forthcoming year, as set out in Section 3 below.

(b) Make themselves available to participate in the work of the
Licensing Authority.

(c) Be required to undertake mandatory training (as set out in
the Code of Practice on Licensing) on the functions and
responsibilities of the Committee and its Sub-Committees in
order that legislative and/or local pay policy requirements are
appropriately applied.  Attendance at events or delivered by
other means of all updates on relevant laws will be required.

If Members do not undertake the mandatory training, then
they would not be appointed to any Sub-Committees.  The
matter would be raised with the relevant Group Leader who
would be requested to consider the Members’ ongoing
appointment to the Committee.

(d) Be expected to act in accordance with the Code of Practice on
Licensing.

2.3 The Committee will appoint its own Chair and Vice-Chair.

Page 204



Part 3 – Section 2 - Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive)
Functions April 2019

2.3.1 The Chair will:

(a) Be elected and it will be their responsibility to make
themselves aware of the full understanding of their
procedural responsibilities, in accordance with the principles
set out in paragraph 5.2 of Article 5 (Chairing the Council) of
the Constitution.

(b) Be responsible for Member-to-Member engagement, in
particular between the Committee and the respective
Portfolio Holder.

(c) Lead on other Member-related duties including the
appointment of Members of the Committee and non-voting
co-optees to Task and Finish Groups.

2.4  The Committee will ordinarily be expected to meet up to four times 
each year and whilst it would be expected for these meetings to 
take place quarterly, meetings may be re-arranged in accordance 
with the Committee’s work programme.   

The substantive responsibilities of the Committee will be to:

(a) Set the fares charged by taxis licensed throughout the
District.

(b) Confirm how the Committee will carry out the core legal
functions of the Licensing Authority.

(c) Act as a consultee on policies relevant to the remit of the
Committee, where appropriate

(d) To consider and make Public Path Orders where, following
the usual informal consultation, there are objections that
cannot be resolved.

2.5 With the agreement of the Chair (or the Vice-Chair in the absence 
of the Chair) and relevant Portfolio Holder, Extraordinary meetings 
of the Committee may also be called as substantive business 
dictates.  Sub-Committee meetings are also scheduled as and when 
required.

3 – Delegation of functions

3.1  As set out in this responsibility for Council functions, it is assumed 
that any non-development control regulatory functions would be 
delegated to Officers unless they must be referred to the 
Committee.  

3.2 In normal circumstances, matters will only be brought before the 
Committee or a Sub-Committee where there is a difficulty or an 
appeal against an Officer’s decision.  In such cases, the Assistant 
Director (Planning and Regulatory Services) shall consult with the 
Chair and Vice-Chair on whether they consider it appropriate to 
refer the matter to the Committee or Sub-Committee, or whether 

Page 205



Part 3 – Section 2 - Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive)
Functions April 2019

the matter should be delegated for Officers to determine.  The Chair 
and Vice-Chair should be informed of any representations received 
in respect of the matter, including any local Member views received.  

3.3 If the Assistant Director (Planning and Regulatory Services), 
following consultation with the Chair and Vice-Chair, consider that 
beyond reasonable doubt the outcome of the Sub-Committee would 
be the application or appeal would be refused, then the matter 
should normally be determined by Officers.

3.4  A Sub-Committee will comprise any three Members drawn from the 
full membership of the Committee and appointed for each occasion 
when it is needed.  In addition there will be one ‘reserve’ Member 
appointed for each Sub-Committee meeting in case one of the other 
Members is unavailable or has to withdraw on the day. Where the 
Sub-Committee is considering the licensing of a specific premises, 
the Ward Member(s) in which the premises lies should not sit on 
the Sub-Committee.

3.5 Democratic Services will seek Members to sit on Sub-Committees 
with a view to achieving political balance as far as is practicable 
across the municipal year.   All Members of the Committee should 
be given equal opportunities to sit on Sub-Committees following 
successful completion of the relevant training

3.6  Applications made in respect of the Licensing Act 2003 will be 
brought before the Committee or a Sub-Committee in accordance 
with any regulations published under the Act, the guidance issued 
under s.182 of the Act and summarised in Table B1 below.

3.7  Applications made in respect of the Gambling Act 2005 will be 
brought before the Committee or a Sub-Committee in accordance 
with the Scheme of Delegation summarised in Table B2 below. 

3.8  Applications made in respect of Sex Establishments will be brought 
before the Committee or a Sub-Committee in accordance with the 
Schedule of Delegated Authority summarised in Table B3 attached.

4 – Procedure at meetings

4.1  Meetings of the Committee will be conducted in accordance with the 
Committee Procedure Rules, except when the Committee sits as a 
hearing, in which case the Hearing Procedure Rules will apply.

Page 206



Part 3 – Section 2 - Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive)
Functions April 2019

TABLE: B1

Licensing Act 2003: Delegation of Functions

The Licensing Authority has adopted the following level of delegation of functions in 
accordance with the general guidance issued by the Government.

Matter to be dealt with Licensing and Regulatory 
Sub Committee

Officers

Application for personal licence If a Suffolk Constabulary 
objection

If no objection 
made

Application for personal licence 
with unspent convictions

All cases

Application for premises 
licence/club premises certificate

If a relevant representation 
made and not withdrawn

If no relevant 
representation
made

Application for provisional 
statement

If a relevant representation 
made and not withdrawn

If no relevant 
representation
made

Application to vary premises 
licence/club premises certificate

If a relevant representation 
made and not withdrawn

If no relevant 
representation
made

Application to vary designated 
premises supervisor

If a Suffolk Constabulary 
objection

All other cases

Request to be removed as 
designated premises supervisor

All cases

Application for transfer of 
premises licence

If a Suffolk Constabulary 
objection

All other cases

Applications for Interim 
Authorities

If a Suffolk Constabulary 
objection

All other cases

Application to review premises 
licence/club premises certificate

All cases

Decision on whether a complaint 
is irrelevant frivolous vexatious 

All cases

Decision to object when local 
authority is a consultee and not 
the  lead authority

All cases

Determination of a Suffolk 
Constabulary representation to a 
temporary event notice

All cases

Determination of application for 
minor variation

All cases

Determination of application for 
licence, or variation of licence, in 
respect of community premises: 
supervision of alcohol sales

If a Suffolk Constabulary 
objection is made and not 
withdrawn

All other cases

Determination of relevance of 
representation

All cases

Exercise of Responsible Authority 
Functions of applications and 
notices submitted to the licensing 
authority under the Licensing Act 
2003 (as amended by the Police 
and Social Responsibility Act 
2011) in accordance with the 
regulations.

All cases

Page 207



Part 3 – Section 2 - Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive)
Functions April 2019

TABLE: B2

Gambling Act 2005: Delegation of Functions

GAMBLING ACT 2005
Summary of permitted licensing authority delegations

(x indicates the lowest level to which decisions can be delegated)
Matter to be dealt with Full Committee Sub Committee Officers
Final approval of three 
year Statement of 
Licensing Principles 

X (as a 
consultee)

Policy not to permit 
casinos

X (as a 
consultee)

Fee Setting
(when appropriate)

x

Application for
premises licences

Where 
representations have 
been received and 

not withdrawn made

Where no 
representations have 

been received/ 
representations have 

been withdrawn
Application for a variation 
to a licence

Where 
representations have 
been received and 

not withdrawn made

Where no 
representations have 

been received/ 
representations have 

been withdrawn
Application for transfer of a 
licence

Where 
representations have 
been received and 

not withdrawn made

Where no 
representations have 

been received/ 
representations have 

been withdrawn
Application for a 
provisional statement

Where 
representations have 
been received and 

not withdrawn made

Where no 
representations have 

been received/ 
representations have 

been withdrawn
Review of a premises 
licence

x

Application for club 
gaming/
club machine permits

Where objections 
have been made 

(and not withdrawn)

Where no objections 
have been made/ 

objections have been 
withdrawn

Cancellation of club 
gaming/
club machine permits

x

Applications for other 
permits

x

Cancellation of licensed 
premises gaming machine 
permits

x

Consideration of temporary 
use notice

x

Decision to give a counter 
notice to a temporary use 
notice

x

Page 208



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

TABLE: B3

Sex Establishments: Schedule of Delegated Authority

Matter to be dealt with Sub Committee* 
(see note below)

Officers

Grant (First or New) of an Application for 
the grant of any type of Sex 
Establishment Licence.

If a relevant objection 
received or Officers 
have concerns in 
respect of the 
application or 
characteristics of the 
locality.

All other cases

Decision on whether an objection is 
frivolous or vexatious.

In respect of all 
Applications

Decision on whether an objection is 
irrelevant.

All cases

Application for Waiver of Licence in 
respect of any type of Sex Establishment 
Licence.

All cases

Refusal of an Application for the grant of 
any type of Sex Establishment Licence on 
the grounds of the Applicant being under 
the age of 18.

All cases

Refusal of an Application for the grant of 
any type of Sex Establishment Licence on 
the grounds of the Applicant being a 
person who is for the time being 
disqualified from holding a licence 
following revocation of such a licence.

All cases

Refusal of an Application for the grant of 
any type of Sex Establishment Licence on 
the grounds of the Applicant being a 
person, other than a body corporate, 
who is not resident in an EEA state or 
was not so resident throughout the 
period of 6 months immediately 
proceeding the date when the application 
was made.

All cases

Refusal of an Application for the grant of 
any type of Sex Establishment Licence on 
the grounds of the Applicant being a 
body corporate which is not incorporated 
in an EEA state.

All cases

Refusal of an Application for the grant of 
any type of Sex Establishment Licence on 
the grounds of the Applicant being a 
person who had, within a period of 12 

All cases

Page 209



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

Matter to be dealt with Sub Committee* 
(see note below)

Officers

months immediately preceding the date 
when the application was made, been 
refused the grant or renewal of a licence 
for the premises, vehicle, vessel or stall 
in respect of which the application is 
made, unless the refusal has been 
reversed on appeal.

Refusal of an Application for the grant, 
renewal or transfer of any type of Sex 
Establishment Licence on the grounds 
that the applicant is unsuitable to hold 
the licence by reason of having been 
convicted of an offence or for any other 
reason.

All cases

Refusal of an Application for the grant, 
renewal or transfer of any type of Sex 
Establishment Licence on the grounds 
that if the licence were to be granted, 
renewed or transferred the business to 
which it relates would be managed by or 
carried on for the benefit of a person, 
other than the applicant, who would be 
refused the grant, renewed or transfer of 
such a licence if he made the application 
himself.

All cases

Refusal of an Application for the grant or 
renewal of any type of Sex Establishment 
Licence on the grounds that the number 
of sex establishments or of sex 
establishments of a particular kind, in the 
relevant locality at the time the 
application is made (determined) is equal 
to or exceeds the number which the 
authority consider is appropriate for that 
locality.

All cases

Refusal of an Application for the grant or 
renewal of any type of Sex Establishment 
Licence on the grounds that the grant or 
renewal of the licence would be 
inappropriate, having regard –
(i) to the character of the relevant

locality; or 
(ii) to the use to which any premises in

the vicinity are put; or 
(iii) to the layout, character or condition

of the premises, vehicle, vessel or
stall in respect of which the
application is made.

All cases

Page 210



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

Matter to be dealt with Sub Committee* 
(see note below)

Officers

Refusal of an Application for the Variation 
of the terms, conditions or restrictions on 
or subject to which the licence is held for 
any type of Sex Establishment Licence.

All cases

Revocation of a licence. All cases

*Although matters will normally be referred to a Sub-Committee for determination, they
may be referred to the full Committee at the discretion of the Business Regulation and
Licensing Manager, after consultation with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman/men

Page 211



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

Appendix A

Procedure for Hearings of Licensing Matters

Delegated authority is given to the Licensing and Regulatory Committee to 
amend its procedures from time to time to comply with legislative requirements 
and in the interests of fairness and efficiency.

Licensing Act 2003 Hearing Regulations - Hearing Procedure

1. Introduction

A Hearing Panel must act as a quasi judicial body. This means that it must
follow the rules of natural justice by ensuring that:

 Applicants and licensees know in advance and in reasonable detail
anything that is claimed or alleged against them.

 All parties are given a proper opportunity to present their views.
 Only relevant matters are considered.
 The decision taken is reasonable.

A Hearing Panel will also have regard to:
 The Human Rights Act 1998
 Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003

(hereinafter called the “2003 Act”)
 The Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy under the 2003 Act

Notes:
Where a Hearing Panel departs from the Guidance and/or the Council’s 
Statement of Licensing Policy, it will give its reasons for doing so. 

2. Definitions

In this document the following definitions apply:

 “Applicant/licensee” means the person who has made an application
for a licence under the 2003 Act or a person who has served notice
of a temporary event in accordance with the 2003 Act or a person
who is the holder of a licence under the 2003 Act;

 “Representation” means a submission by a responsible authority or
interested party under the 2003 Act, whether made in response to a
consultation by application for review or served in the form of a
notice;

 “Party to a hearing” means a person to whom notice of hearing has
been given in accordance with column 4 of Schedule 1 attached or
who is otherwise entitled to speak at a hearing;

 “Member of the Licensing Authority” means:
a Councillor sitting as a member of the Licensing Act 2003 Sub-
Committee hereinafter called a Hearing Panel, or an Officer who has
been appointed by the Council as a proper Officer of the Licensing
Authority, to carry out the following functions:

Page 212



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

 to provide any advice that councillors require to fulfil their
functions whether or not it is asked for on:
o questions of law
o questions of mixed law and fact
o matters of practice and procedure
o the range of options available to the Hearing Panel
o any relevant decisions of the Courts
o relevant national guidance or local policy
o other issues relevant to the matter before the Hearing

Panel
o the appropriate decision making structure to be applied in

any case
 to assist where appropriate as to the formulation of reasons

and recording decisions
 to question any party to a hearing
 to assist parties to a hearing to clarify evidence and issues

 “Discussion” means to examine by argument and debate.
 “Cross Examination” means the examination of a party or witness

with a view to querying or questioning his/her evidence.

3. Hearings will be held in accordance with the Schedule 1 below
which sets out:

Column 1 Provision under a which a hearing may be held
Column 2 The period of time within which the hearing must take 

place
Column 3 The period of notice that must be given about the hearing
Column 4 The persons to whom notice of the hearing will be given
Column 5 The documents that will accompany the notice of the 

hearing (if any)

Column 6 The period of time within which a party to a hearing must 
confirm whether or not they intend to appear

4. Notice of Hearing

A notice of hearing shall be accompanied by the following:

 The rights of a party to a hearing (see paragraph 5 below)
 The consequences of non-attendance
 The procedure to be followed at the hearing (see Schedule 2 below)
 Any particular points on which the Licensing Authority will want

clarification at the hearing
 Any other documents in accordance with Column 5 of Schedule 1

below

5. Rights of a Party to a Hearing

A party to a hearing:
 may be assisted or represented, whether or not that person is

legally qualified;

Page 213



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

 is entitled to give further information in support of their application
or representation where the Licensing Authority has given notice
that clarification on certain points is required;

 may question any other party (including the applicant) if given
permission to do so by the Licensing Authority;

 may address the Licensing Authority;
 must be aware that, in the event of non-attendance, the hearing

may proceed in their absence. However, if a party has indicated that
they intend to attend the hearing but fail to do so, the Licensing
Authority may, where it is in the public interest, adjourn the hearing
to a specified date (but see paragraph 6 below). Alternatively, the
hearing may be held in that party’s absence (in which case the
Licensing Authority will consider the application, representation or
notice made by the absent party);

 will be advised of the procedure to be followed (see Schedule 2
below);

Notes:
 A party to a hearing must confine their submission to the

information given in their application or representation unless they
are asked by the Licensing Authority to clarify information given in
their application or representation.

 Where a party who has confirmed that they intend to appear at a
hearing is unable to do so or is unavoidably delayed they must
contact the Licensing Authority to explain the reason for their
absence. Parties to a hearing are advised to arrive not less than 15
minutes before the hearing commences.

 Each party to a hearing will be allowed an equal maximum period of
time to exercise the above rights.

 The maximum period to be allowed will be determined at the
commencement of each hearing.

 Where a number of interested parties attend a hearing, all of whom
wish to make the same or similar points, they will be invited to
appoint a spokesperson. Other interested parties will then be asked
to add anything that they consider their spokesperson has omitted.
It is not necessary for each interested party to repeat the same
points and the Chairman of the hearing will be firm on this point.

6. Action required by party to a hearing following receipt of notice of
hearing

A party to a hearing is required to confirm to the Licensing Authority
within the period set out in Column 6 of Schedule 1 below:

 Whether or not they intend to attend or be represented;
 Whether they consider the hearing unnecessary;
 To request in writing permission for any other person to attend (as

a witness). Any such request must include the person’s name and
brief description of the point(s) that person may be able make in
order to assist the Licensing Authority at the hearing.  Any such
request will be considered at the beginning of the hearing but such
permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.

Page 214



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

Notes:
 Any such request will be considered at the commencement of the

hearing.
 The submission of the witness must relate to the points contained in

the representation made by the party on whose behalf they are
appearing. Any other comment(s) must and will be disregarded.

7. Dispensing with a hearing

The Licensing Authority may dispense with a hearing if all the parties to it
(other than the Licensing Authority itself) have given notice in writing that
it is unnecessary. If all parties give such notice, the Licensing Authority, if
it agrees, must forthwith give notice to the parties that the hearing has
been dispensed with and determine the application within 10 working days
based on the representations that have been made in writing.

8. Withdrawal of representation

A party to a hearing may withdraw any representation by giving notice no
later than 24 hours prior to the commencement of the hearing or orally at
the hearing itself.

Note: If all representations are withdrawn the application will be approved
as submitted.

9. Adjournments and Extensions of time

The Licensing Authority may:

 extend any time limit relating to a hearing set out in Schedule 1 if it
considers this necessary in the public interest, provided that any
reviews can still be determined within the prescribed time limits and
provided that during the transition period the application is not
consequently deemed grant or deemed refused.

 adjourn or hold a hearing on additional specified dates where it
considers this to be necessary

 adjourn to enable a site meeting to be held.

Notice will be given to all the parties to the hearing stating the period of the 
extension or the date of the re-scheduled hearing and the reasons for it. 

Note: During the transition period any adjournment or extension of time will 
not re-schedule the hearing later than the following:-

Type of Application Latest time for hearing 

Page 215



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

Type of Application Latest time for hearing 
 Conversion of premises licence

or club premises certificate
 Variation of new premises

licence or new club premises
certificate

Not later than 2 months beginning on the 
day the application was received by the 
Licensing Authority

Application for a personal licence 
by the holder of a Justices’ Licence 

Not later than 3 months beginning on the 
day the application was received by the 
Licensing Authority

10. Hearings in Public

Hearings will take place in public, unless the Licensing Authority excludes
the public from all or parts of a hearing on the grounds that the public
interest in doing so outweighs the public interest in the hearing (or that
part) taking place in public.

When the public are excluded from a hearing (or part), any party to the
hearing, their representative and any person called by them as a witness
may also be excluded.

11. Representations and Supporting Documentation

Members of the Licensing Authority may ask any question of any party or
other person attending the hearing.

In considering any representation made by a party, the Licensing Authority
may take into account supporting documentary or other information
produced by that party either before the hearing or, with the consent of all
the other parties, at the hearing itself.

Note:
 If material is to be introduced at the hearing, the party must

prepare at least ten copies for distribution to the members of the
Licensing Authority and the other parties to the hearing if its
submission is permitted.

The Licensing Authority will disregard any information given at a hearing 
that is not relevant to:

 The application, representation or notice made by the party
concerned (or, in the case of a witness the application,
representation or notice of the party on behalf of whom they are
appearing), and

 the licensing objectives

It should further be noted that some hearings may only consider the 
prevention of crime and disorder objective

Page 216



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

12. Procedure at a Hearing

The procedure to be followed will be explained at the commencement of
the hearing. In general terms the procedure will be that set out in
Schedule 2 below.

The hearing will take the form of a discussion led by the Licensing
Authority. Cross-examination will only be permitted if the Licensing
Authority agrees that this is required to enable it to fully and properly
consider the case being dealt with.

The Licensing Authority may require any person attending the hearing who
is behaving in a disruptive manner to leave and may:

 Refuse permission for that person to return, (in which case the
person excluded may submit in writing and before the end of the
hearing any information that they would have given orally had they
not been required to leave),  or

 Permit the person to return on specified conditions

13. Determination of Applications

In the case of a hearing relating to any of the following:

 Application for conversion of existing premises licence or club
premises certificate

 Application to vary a premises licence or club premises certificate
 Application for personal licence by holder of a Justices’ Licence
 Application to vary a licence to specify an individual as a premises

supervisor
 Counter notice following police objection to a temporary event

notice
 Review of premises licences following closure order

The Licensing Authority may make its determination at the conclusion of 
the hearing. All parties will be advised of the decision and the reasons for 
it, together with their right of appeal.

Note: A determination may authorise an Officer of the Licensing Authority 
to approve an application subject to conditions to be applied in accordance 
with the decision made at the hearing  

In the case of any other hearing, the Licensing Authority will make its 
determination within 5 working days.

14. Recording Proceedings

A record of proceedings will be taken in a permanent and intelligible form
and kept for 6 years from the date of the determination or the disposal of
any subsequent appeal, whichever is the later.

Page 217



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

15. Irregularities

Any irregularity resulting from failure to comply with the Licensing Act
2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005 (or any subsequent Regulations) will
not of itself render the proceedings void but, if the Licensing Authority
considers that any person has been prejudiced as a result of any
irregularity, it will take appropriate steps to rectify this or these before
reaching its determination.

Clerical mistakes in any document recording a determination, or errors in
documentation arising from an accidental slip or omission, may be
corrected by the Licensing Authority.

Page 218



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

Schedule 1

Provision under which hearing 
may be held

Column 1
NB: References are to 
sections of the
       Licensing Act 2003

Period of time 
within which 
hearing must be 
take place

Column 2

Period 
of 
Notice 
that to 
be 
given 
about 
the 
Hearing
Column 
3

Persons to whom notice 
of hearing will be given

Column 4

Documents to 
accompany notice of 
hearing (if any)

Column 5

The period of 
time within 
which a party 
to hearing 
must confirm 
whether or not 
they intend to 
appear Column 
6

The person who has made 
the application

The relevant 
representations that 
have been made1

Section 18(3)(a)
(Determination of application for 
premises licence)

20 working days 
commencing day 
after period of 
consultation ends 

10 
working 
days Persons who have made 

relevant representations

5 working days 
before day on 
which hearing is 
held

The person who has made 
the application

The relevant 
representations that 
have been made2

Section 31(3)(a)
(Determination of application for 
a provisional statement – 
premises to be constructed, 
extended or altered)

20 working days 
commencing day 
after period of 
consultation ends

10 
working 
days Persons who have made 

relevant representations

5 working days 
before day on 
which hearing is 
held

Holder of premises licence 
who made application

The relevant 
representations that 
have been made3

Section 35(3)(a)
(Determination of application to 
vary premises licence)

20 working days 
commencing day 
after period of 
consultation ends

10 
working 
days Persons who have made 

relevant representations

5 working days 
before day on 
which hearing is 
held

Holder of premises licence 
who made application

The notice given by the 
Police

Police4

Section 39(3)(a)
(Determination of application to 
vary a premises licence to 
specify individual as the 
premises supervisor)

20 working days 
commencing day 
after period within 
which police may 
object 

10 
working 
days

The DPS The notice given by the 
Police

5 working days 
before day on 
which hearing is 
held

5
Section 44(5)(a)
(Determination of application for 
transfer of premises licence)

5 working days 
commencing day 
after period within 

10 
working 
days

The person who has made 
the application

The notice given by the 
Police

5 working days 
before day on 
which hearing is 

Schedule 1

P
age 219



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

Provision under which hearing 
may be held

Column 1
NB: References are to 
sections of the
       Licensing Act 2003

Period of time 
within which 
hearing must be 
take place

Column 2

Period 
of 
Notice 
that to 
be 
given 
about 
the 
Hearing
Column 
3

Persons to whom notice 
of hearing will be given

Column 4

Documents to 
accompany notice of 
hearing (if any)

Column 5

The period of 
time within 
which a party 
to hearing 
must confirm 
whether or not 
they intend to 
appear Column 
6

Policewhich police may 
object The holder of the premises 

licences
The notice given by the 
Police

held

The person who has given 
notice

The notice given by the 
Police

6

Section 48(3)(a)
(Cancellation of interim authority 
notice on death etc of licence 
holder following police 
objections)

5 working days 
commencing day 
after period within 
which police may 
object

2 
working 
days Police

1 working day 
before day on 
which hearing is 
held

The holder of the premises 
licence

The relevant 
representations that 
have been made

Person who have made 
relevant representations

7
Section 52(2)
(Determination of application for 
review of premises licence)

20 working days 
commencing day 
after period of 
consultation ends

10 
working 
days

Person who asked for the 
review

5 working days 
before day on 
which hearing is 
held

The club that has made 
the application

The relevant 
representations that 
have been made8

Section 72(3)(a)
(Determination of application for 
club premises certificate)

20 working days 
commencing day 
after period of 
consultation ends

10 
working 
days Persons who have made 

relevant representations

5 working days 
before day on 
which hearing is 
held

The club that has made 
the application

The relevant 
representations that 
have been made9

Section 85(3)(a)
(Determination of application to 
vary club premises certificate)

20 working days 
commencing day 
after period of 
consultation ends

10 
working 
days Persons who have made 

relevant representations

5 working days 
before day on 
which hearing is 
held

Schedule 1

P
age 220



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

Provision under which hearing 
may be held

Column 1
NB: References are to 
sections of the
       Licensing Act 2003

Period of time 
within which 
hearing must be 
take place

Column 2

Period 
of 
Notice 
that to 
be 
given 
about 
the 
Hearing
Column 
3

Persons to whom notice 
of hearing will be given

Column 4

Documents to 
accompany notice of 
hearing (if any)

Column 5

The period of 
time within 
which a party 
to hearing 
must confirm 
whether or not 
they intend to 
appear Column 
6

The Club which holds the 
club premises certificate

The relevant 
representations that 
have been made

Persons who have made 
relevant representations

10

Section 88(2)
(Determination of application for 
review of club premises 
certificate)

20 working days 
commencing day 
after period of 
consultation ends

10 
working 
days

Person who asked for the 
review

5 working days 
before day on 
which hearing is 
held

The premises user

11

Section 105(2)(a)
(Counter notice following police 
objection to Temporary Event 
Notice)

7 days 
commencing day 
after period within 
which police may 
object)

2 
working 
days Police

1 working day 
before day on 
which hearing is 
held

The person who has made 
the application

The notice given by the 
Police

12
Section 120(7)(a)
(Determination of application for 
grant of a personal licence)

20 working days 
commencing day 
after period within 
which police may 
object

10 
working 
days Police

5 working days 
before day on 
which hearing is 
held

The person who has made 
the application

The notice given by the 
Police

13

Section 121(6)(a)
(Determination of application for 
renewal of a personal licence)

20 working days 
commencing day 
after period within 
which police may 
object

10 
working 
days Police

5 working days 
before day on 
which hearing is 
held

The holder of the personal 
licence

The notice given by the 
Police

14

Section 124(4)(a)
(Convictions coming to light after 
grant or renewal of personal 
licence)

20 working days 
commencing day 
after period within 
which police may 
object

10 
working 
days Police

5 working days 
before day on 
which hearing is 
held

Schedule 1

P
age 221



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

Provision under which hearing 
may be held

Column 1
NB: References are to 
sections of the
       Licensing Act 2003

Period of time 
within which 
hearing must be 
take place

Column 2

Period 
of 
Notice 
that to 
be 
given 
about 
the 
Hearing
Column 
3

Persons to whom notice 
of hearing will be given

Column 4

Documents to 
accompany notice of 
hearing (if any)

Column 5

The period of 
time within 
which a party 
to hearing 
must confirm 
whether or not 
they intend to 
appear Column 
6

The holder of the premises 
licence

The relevant 
representations that 
have been made15

Section 167(5)(a)
(Review of premises licences 
following closure order)

10 working days 
commencing day 
after notice given

5 
working 
days Persons who have made 

relevant representations

2 working days 
before day on 
which hearing is 
held

The person who has made 
the application16

Paragraph 4(3)(a) of Schedule 8
(Determination of application for 
conversion of existing licence)

10 working days 
commencing day 
after Police give 
notice

5 
working 
days Police

2 working days 
before day on 
which hearing is 
held

The Club that made the 
application 

17

Paragraph 16(3)(a) of Schedule 
8
(Determination of application for 
conversion of existing club 
certificate)

10 working days 
commencing day 
after Police give 
notice

5 
working 
days Police

2 working days 
before day on 
which hearing is 
held

The person who has made 
the application

18

Paragraph 26(3)(a) of Schedule 
8
(Determination of application by 
holder of a justices’ licence for 
grant of a personal licence)

10 working days 
commencing day 
after Police give 
notice

5 
working 
days Police

2 working days 
before day on 
which hearing is 
held

Schedule 1

P
age 222



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

Schedule 2

LICENSING ACT 2003 – HEARING PROCEDURE

Pre-Hearing Matters

1. Declaration of Interests

2. The Chair will introduce members of the Hearing Panel

3. The Chair will ask those present to introduce themselves in the
following order:

 Applicant/licensee and any person representing or assisting
them (Confirmation also should be given that  copies of the
relevant representations to be considered at the Hearing
have been received);

 The Officer of the Licensing Authority, the Committee
Administrator and the Legal Advisor to the Hearing Panel;

 Responsible authorities that have made a relevant
representation;

 Interested parties who have made a relevant representation
(Interested parties should confirm whether a spokesperson
has been nominated and, if so identify them).

4. The Chair will ask all parties to the Hearing whether they wish to
withdraw their application or representation.

5. The Chair will ask the Officer of the Licensing Authority to report:

 Any requests from a party to the Hearing for permission for a
witness to appear in support of their representation. Any
such requests will be determined by the Hearing Panel.

 Any documentary or other information that a party to the
Hearing wishes to present. If there is any such material, the
Chair will ask all the other parties to the Hearing whether
they consent to it being presented. If they agree, the
material will be distributed.  If not, the said material may not
be distributed unless there are exceptional circumstances
which in the Chair’s opinion render it necessary and
appropriate for the said material to be presented to the
Hearing Panel.  In this regard the Chair’s decision will be
final.

6. The Chair will invite the applicant/licensee or his representative to
estimate the time required to present their case and ask questions
of other parties to the Hearing.  The Chair will then ask the other
parties to the Hearing whether they will require a longer period to
present their representation and question the applicant. The
Hearing Panel will determine the maximum period of time allowed
for each party to put their case.  This decision will be final.

Page 223



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

THE HEARING
Immediately the pre-Hearing matters have been dealt with the Hearing 
will commence.

1. The Chair will ask the Officer of the Licensing Authority to
summarise the matter under consideration.

2. The members of the Hearing Panel, the applicant, and those making
representations may ask questions of the Officer of the Licensing
Authority.

3. Starting with the applicant or licensee, each party will exercise their
rights within the identified maximum time, as follows:

 Each party to present their case, including responding to any
points of which the Licensing Authority has previously given
notice, and call any approved witness or witnesses in support
of their case.

 If given permission by the Chair, and only through the Chair
of the Hearing, each party may raise questions of any other
party or witness/witnesses.

4. The applicant/licensee or his representative will be asked to sum up
their case.

5. All those present, other than the members of the Hearing Panel,
their Legal Advisor and the Committee Administrator, will be asked
to leave the meeting to allow Members to determine the
application.

6. All parties will be recalled. The Legal Advisor to the Hearing Panel
will advise those present of any advice that has been provided
during the determination. The Chair will then:

 either announce the decision, together with the reasons for it
if it is a Hearing in relation to an application for which the
Licensing Authority may make its determination at the
conclusion of the Hearing;

or

 advise all the parties that the Licensing Authority will make
its determination within five working days, in which case
notification of the determination will be sent out in writing
(including the rights of appeal) to all relevant parties not
later than five working days after the Hearing date.

7. In the event of the Licensing Authority making its determination at
the conclusion of the Hearing the Chair will outline the rights of
appeal.  The decision and rights of appeal will also be confirmed in
writing by the Officer of the Licensing Authority forthwith.

8. Nothing within paragraph 6. above will preclude a Licensing
Authority from making its determination at the conclusion of any

Page 224



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

Hearing, should the Hearing Panel so decide.  It is entirely within 
the discretion of the Members of the said Panel whose decision in 
this regard will be final.

Page 225



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

C. Other Committees

Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee
Details of the functions and procedures of these Committees are set out in 
Article 7 (Scrutiny Committees) and in the Scrutiny Committees Procedure Rules 
set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

Joint Committees / Committees / Panels /Sub-Committees / Working 
Parties/Groups:

Joint Committee

C. 1 Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee

1.1 The following of the Council’s powers have been delegated to the 
Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership which is a Joint 
Committee pursuant to Section 101(5) of the Local Government Act 
1972 and Section 20(1) of the Local Government Act 2000.  The 
Joint Committee has the power to:

1.2 Implement and administer the statutory Council Tax Benefit and 
Housing Benefit scheme (including the investigation and 
prosecution of benefit fraud) and the Localised Council Tax Support 
Scheme,

1.3 Determine all applications for Relief from the National Non-
Domestic Rate under the terms of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1988 in accordance with the approved criteria.

1.4 Determine all applications arising from the granting of Non-
Domestic Rate Discretionary Relief, in respect of the village shop 
rate relief scheme, under the terms of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988.

1.5 Determine all applications arising for the granting of non-Domestic 
Rate Discretionary Relief, in respect of the charity shop rate relief 
scheme, under the terms of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988.

1.6 Undertake the relevant consultations with National Non-Domestic 
Ratepayers under Section 134 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988.

1.7 Deal with any applications for relief from National Non-Domestic 
Rate liability under Section 44 and 45 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988.

1.8 Administer all relevant matters in connection with the 
administration of the Council Tax under the appropriate legislation 
and any specific determinations made or policies set by the Council 
in connection with Council Tax administration.

Page 226



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

1.9 Take all necessary steps in respect of the demand, collection and 
recovery of business rates.

1.10 The Joint Committee is given power to authorise such officers as it 
thinks fit and appropriate to act on its behalf in relation to:

 Council Tax matters including billing, collection and recovery.
 Council Tax appeals including appearing at the local valuation

tribunal hearings.
 National Non-Domestic Rates including billing, collection,

recovery and representation at court and tribunals.
 Benefit Fraud, including its investigation , instructions to

prosecute, the imposition of sanctions including penalties and
recovery of overpayments

 The Localised Council Tax Support Scheme

Committees

C.2 Officer Appeals Committee

1. Membership and Meeting Arrangements

1.1 Membership of the Committee will comprise six Members.  In 
addition, two Substitute Members will be appointed.  

1.2 The Committee will be appointed annually by the Council and will 
be politically balanced.

1.3 Any Member of the Council may serve on the Committee provided 
that they are not also a Member of the Officer Appointments 
Committee.

1.4 The Committee will appoint its own Chair and Vice Chair.

1.5 The Committee will meet on an ad hoc basis as required.

2. Functions/Remit

2.1 To consider appeals against dismissal and grievances by Chief 
Officers of the West Suffolk Council.

C.3 Officer Appointments Committee

1. Membership and Meeting Arrangements

1.1 Membership of the Committee shall comprise:

a) Up to six Members of the Authority.
b) The Council’s Independent Persons, if they agree to be part of

the Committee.

Page 227



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

1.2 In addition, two substitute Members of the authority will be 
appointed.

1.3 The Committee will be appointed annually by the Council and will 
be politically balanced.

1.4 Any Member of the Council may serve on the Committee provided 
that they are not also a Member of the Officer Appeals Committee.

1.5 The Committee must also contain at least one Member of the Cabinet.

1.6 The Committee will appoint its own Chair and Vice Chair.

1.7 The Committee will meet on an ad hoc basis as required.

2. Functions/Remit

2.1 To deal with the appointment, discipline and termination of 
employment of the Directors of the West Suffolk Council in 
accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules

C.4 West Suffolk Standards Committee

1. Membership and Meeting Arrangements

Membership of the Committee will comprise six Members and will
be politically balanced.

2. Functions/Remit

The Committee will have the following roles and functions:-

(a) Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by
Councillors and co-opted Members.

(b) Assisting Councillors and co-opted Members to observe the
Members’ Code of Conduct.

(c) Advising the Council on the adoption and revision of the
Members’ Code of Conduct.

(d) Monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct.
(e) Advising, training or arranging to train Councillors and co-

opted Members on matters relating to the Members’ Code of
Conduct.

(f) Granting dispensations to Councillors and co-opted Members
from requirements relating to interests set out in Section 34
of the Localism Act 2011.

(g) Considering a report from the Monitoring Officer in respect of
an allegation of a breach of the Members’ Code of  Conduct.

(h) Dealing with a report from the Monitoring Officer in respect
of an allegation of a breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct
of a Town or Parish Council within the District of West Suffolk
Council.

Page 228



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

The Committee will not cover the conduct of Officers, for which 
separate provisions apply.

Sub-Committees

C.5 Health and Safety Sub-Committee

1. Overview

1.1 The Sub-Committee’s membership will be drawn from Councillors
and staff of the West Suffolk Council.

1.2 The Sub-Committee will consider the Council’s health and safety 
arrangements and provide guidance to support the development of 
executive action by Officers of the Council, including policy 
guidance.

1.3 To provide a group of Members who can develop an enhanced level 
of understanding of health and safety matters.

1.4 To make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or Officers of the 
Council about policies and actions required to develop and maintain 
effective health and safety arrangements.

1.5 To advise the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee on the 
progress of their work and matters they have considered.

2. Constitution

2.1 The Health and Safety Sub-Committee shall comprise 12 Members. 
Six Councillors drawn from the membership of the Performance and 
Audit Scrutiny Committee, which desirably reflects the political 
balance of the Council, as far as practically possible (to be the 
‘Employers’ Side’). Six members of staff (to be the ‘Employees’ 
Side’), drawn from the Officer Health and Safety Group.

2.2 Two Substitute Members from the Employers’ side and two 
Substitutes from the Employees’ Side.

2.3 It shall be the Health and Safety Manager’s duty to attend and 
advise the Sub-Committee.

2.4 The Sub-Committee shall appoint a Chair and Vice-Chair from its 
Members. When the Chair is a Member of one side of the Sub-
Committee, the Vice-Chair shall be a Member of the other side. 

2.5 The Sub-Committee may invite attendance of any person whose 
particular knowledge or experience may assist the Sub-Committee 
in its considerations. Such attendance shall be in a consultative 
capacity and only for the period during which the relevant subject is 
under consideration.

Page 229



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

3. Terms of Reference

3.1 The Sub-Committee shall keep under review all matters relating to 
the health, safety and welfare of the Councils’ employees, and to 
the protection of other persons against risks arising out of the work 
activities of the employees and of persons working under contract.

3.2 To review and monitor Health and Safety Policy and recommend 
amendments to the Officers and/or Cabinet in accordance with their 
respective delegations.  Specifically, the Sub-Committee will work 
directly with the Health and Safety Manager to review and 
implement revisions to the operational procedures Policy under 
their delegated authority to make such changes.    

3.3 Without prejudice to the foregoing terms, items for particular 
consideration may include:-

(a) The study of accidents and diseases, and in particular those
notifiable to the Health and Safety Executive.

(b) Considering and making recommendations in respect of items
submitted by the staff Health and Safety Group.

(c) Consideration of reports and information from the Inspectors
of the Health and Safety Executive.

(d) Consideration of reports submitted by Safety
Representatives.

(e) The development of safety procedures and safe systems of
work.

(f) Recommending and monitoring the effectiveness of employee
safety training.

(g) The presentation of publicity on safety matters; and
(h) Inspecting or arranging for an inspection of any particular

area or activity.

4. Arrangements and Procedures

4.1 Meetings shall normally be held three times a year but, 
exceptionally, the Chair may decide, after consultation with the 
Health and Safety Manager, to convene an Extraordinary meeting 
at any time or to cancel a scheduled meeting due to lack of 
business to transact.

4.2 The quorum for the Sub-Committee shall be four, comprising at 
least two employee representatives and two Members of the 
Council.

4.3 Voting shall be by a show of hands and simple majority.  

4.4 The report from the Sub-Committee to the Performance and Audit 
Scrutiny Committee and/or the Cabinet shall be by way of 
presentation of the minutes or by way of a brief report in an agreed 
format.

Page 230



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

C.6 Financial Resilience Sub-Committee

1. Remit

1.1 The Financial Resilience Sub-Committee will undertake the
enhanced monitoring and scrutiny of the Council’s financial 
resilience, and will be responsible to the Performance and 
Audit Committee for:-

(1) The Council’s responses to changes in statutory and
regulatory requirements and guidance related to
treasury management, capital financing and financial
resilience.

(2) Examining and recommending Annual Treasury
Management and Investment Strategy.

(3) On-going revisions to treasury management strategies
and policies.

(4) The mid-year treasury management review.

(5) Receiving reports on treasury management
performance.

(6) The annual report on treasury management
performance, including the effects of the decisions
taken and the transactions executed in the past year,
and on the circumstances of any non-compliance with
the Council’s treasury management policy statements.

(7) Examining ongoing compliance with any statutory and
non-statutory guidance or measures relating to
financial resilience.

2. Membership and Meeting Arrangements

2.1 The Sub-Committee will comprise three Members and one
substitute Member of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny 
Committee, which desirably reflects the political balance of 
the Council, as far as practically possible.

2.2 There will be one non-voting invitee, which will normally be 
the Portfolio Holder with responsibility for finance.

2.3 The Sub-Committee will be appointed annually by the 
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee (or Council) and 
will appoint its own Chair.

2.4 The Sub-Committee will meet at least three times each year, 
although meetings may be cancelled by the Chair due to lack 

Page 231



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

of business.  Special meetings of the Sub-Committee may 
also be called as necessary.

2.5 In order to help streamline the comprehensive treasury 
management reporting requirements of the CIPFA Code, 
where possible meetings will be held to coincide with existing 
reporting requirements.

Panels

C.7 Staff Consultative Panel

1. Overview

1.1 The Panel’s membership will be drawn from Councillors and staff of 
the Council. The definition of ‘staff’ includes all groups of employees 
covered by the National Joint Council for Local Government 
Services.

1.2 The Panel will consider the Council’s staffing arrangements and 
provide a regular forum to secure the largest measure of 
agreement between the Council as an employer and Trade Union 
employees regarding matters directly affecting employment by the 
Council

1.3 To provide a group of Members who can develop an enhanced level 
of understanding on staffing matters.

1.4 To make recommendations to the Cabinet about policies and 
actions required to develop and maintain effective 
employee/employer arrangements.

2. Constitution

2.1 The Panel shall comprise 12 Members, to be comprised of six 
Councillors, which desirably reflects the political balance of the 
Council, as far as practically possible, to be the ‘Employers’ Side’ 
and six members of staff from the Council to be the ‘Employees’ 
Side’, nominated by the Trade Unions recognised by the Authorities 
in accordance with the formula set out below:-

(a) Employee representatives appointed by each of the Trade
Unions recognised by the Authority should be on a
proportional basis to the total number of employees within
the individual union compared to the total Trade Union
membership; and

(b) Each Trade Union recognised by the Authority shall have a
minimum of one seat.

Page 232



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

2.3 The Trade Unions recognised by the Council shall represent all 
Council employees. This will include raising issues on behalf of non-
Trade Union members, should they be requested.

2.4 In the event of any failure to appoint/elect the number of 
representatives provided for by this Constitution, such failure to 
appoint/elect shall not invalidate the decisions of the Panel.

2.5 Two substitute Members shall be permitted on the ‘Employers’ Side’ 
and two substitutes shall be permitted from the ‘Employees’ Side’.

2.6 It shall be the duty of a senior Human Resource Officer to attend 
and advise the Panel.

2.7 The Panel shall elect a Chair and Vice-Chair from its Members. 
When the Chair is a Member of one Side of the Panel, the Vice-
Chair shall be a Member of the other Side. The Chair of the Panel 
shall be rotated on an annual basis between the Employees’ and 
Employers’ Side. The Chair of the meeting shall not have a casting 
vote.

2.8 The Panel may invite attendance by any person whose particular 
knowledge or experience may assist the Panel in its considerations. 
Such attendance shall be in a consultative capacity and only for the 
period during which the relevant subject is under consideration. In 
addition, the Employee side may arrange for the attendance of a 
Trade Union official at any meeting of the Panel, subject to the prior 
agreement of the Chair and Vice Chair.

3. Terms of Reference

3.1 To establish and maintain methods of negotiation and consultation, 
to consult on matters affecting the employment of all groups of 
employees of the Council, with a genuine commitment to seek 
consensus and enter into agreements, as appropriate.

3.2 These matters may include such subjects as:-

(a) Application or implementation of National Agreements.
(b) Application or implementation of Local Agreements or local

conditions of service.
(c) Productivity or performance arrangements.
(d) Issues referred to the Panel by the Trade Unions as provided

for by the formal ‘Consultation Procedures’ (Employment
Restructuring & Redundancy).

(e) Working conditions.
(f) Welfare and health of employees.
(g) Personnel procedures including recruitment, sickness,

discipline and handling of grievances and redundancies.
(h) Training and development of employees.
(i) Equality issues; and
(j) Any issue referred to the Panel by the Cabinet.

Page 233



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

3.3 Issues affecting individuals (eg pay, discipline) are excluded from 
consideration unless they represent matters of principle which are 
of general application to employees.

4. Authority of the Panel

4.1 Decisions of the Panel shall be in accordance with the voting 
arrangements set out in paragraph 5.3 below and shall be subject 
to the approval of the Cabinet, as provided for by the Council’s 
Scheme of Delegation.

5. Arrangements and Procedures

5.1 Meetings shall normally be held quarterly but, exceptionally, the 
Chair may decide, after consultation with a senior Human 
Resources Officer to convene an Extraordinary meeting at any time 
or to cancel a scheduled meeting due to lack of business to 
transact. Meetings to alternate between the Council Offices or as 
agreed by the Panel.

5.2 The quorum for the Panel shall be four, comprising at least two 
Employee representatives and two Members.

5.3 Voting shall be by a show of hands and simple majority. No motion 
shall be regarded as carried unless it has been approved by a 
majority of Employer representatives and a majority of Employee 
representatives present and voting.

5.4 The report from the Panel to the respective Cabinet shall be by way 
of presentation of the minutes or by way of a brief report in a 
format agreed by the Cabinet.

5.5 If the Panel is unable to agree and no local settlement can be 
achieved, the matter may be referred by either side to the Cabinet.

(*Note: This meeting is not governed by the normal Access to Information 
rules (The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and 
Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012) in the Council.  
Therefore these meetings are not open to attendance by the public).

C.8 West Suffolk Independent Remuneration Panel

1. The work of the Panel

1.1 The Independent Remuneration Panel is convened to make 
recommendations to West Suffolk Council on its Scheme of 
Members Allowances and Expenses.

1.2 The Remuneration Panel will be required to make recommendations 
for the formation of a new scheme for West Suffolk, and 
subsequently review the scheme agreed by the Council to ensure 
that it remains consistent, fair and relevant.

Page 234



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

1.3 The Panel’s recommendations should encompass:

a) The rates of basic allowance that should be payable by the
Council to all of its Members.

b) The rates of allowances payable to those Members who have
special responsibilities within the Council.

c) The rates of travel, subsistence and other allowances payable
to Councillors when discharging their duties, to include
payments made in respect of child and dependent caring
duties.

d) The rates that should be payable to any co-opted Members of
the Council, if appointed.

e) The frequency with which the rates should be reviewed or
adjusted.

f) Any other matters that the Panel deem to be appropriate.

1.4 In undertaking their work, the Panel should be mindful of:

a) Any relevant legislation, including in relation to the payment
of allowances and taxation.

b) Any relevant guidance issued by government departments or
advisory bodies.

c) The need to respect the expectations of the general public in
the payment of allowances.

d) The need to ensure that appropriate analysis and research is
undertaken to ensure their recommendations are robust and
evidence-based.

e) The need to ensure that the level of allowances is affordable
to the Council.

f) The expectations placed on Councillors, and the workloads
and commitments generated as a result.

g) The need to ensure that Councillors have the opportunity to
put forward their views on levels of remuneration.

2. Membership of the Panel

2.1 The initial Panel, appointed by West Suffolk Shadow Authority, shall
serve a term of office until 31 May 2021, after which a formal 
recruitment process shall be undertaken, with further appointments 
to be made for a term of no longer than four years.  Panel members 
may seek re-appointment to the Panel. 

2.2 The Panel shall be made up of a minimum of three members 
appointed by a selection process to be agreed by the Council.  The 
Council may also appoint Advisors to the Panel, who will not be 
voting members.

2.3 The members of the Panel and Advisors shall receive an allowance 
of £100 per meeting attended, plus travelling expenses of up to 45p 
per mile.  Members of the Panel and Advisors may elect to waive 
their allowances and shall not be treated as employees, being 

Page 235



Part 3 – Section 2 -Responsibility 
for Council (Non Executive) 
Functions April 2019

responsible for their own tax, National Insurance and pension 
arrangements.

2.4 The Council shall have the right to remove members of the Panel 
and Advisors where they no longer meet the required criteria as 
established by the Council; commit a breach of confidentiality; 
persistently fail to attend meetings, or an act or behaviour which 
may otherwise bring the Panel or the Council into disrepute.

3. Operation of the Panel

3.1 The members of the Panel shall elect their own Chair from amongst
their members.  The Chair shall be responsible for managing the 
business of the meeting, ensuring that meetings are conducted in 
an effective manner, and reach clear conclusions.

3.2 The Panel should seek to draw consensus on their 
recommendations, but where they are unable to do so, minority 
opinions may be reflected in their subsequent recommendations 
and report.

3.3 The Panel shall be supported by the Democratic Services Team of 
West Suffolk Council.  The Panel is encouraged to seek advice, seek 
the views of members of the Councils, and undertake and 
commission research to support its work.  The Council will support 
the Panel by accommodating all reasonable requests for information 
and resources.

4. Advisor

4.1 An Advisor may be appointed, whose role will be to provide the
Panel with their views on matters under discussion and assist the 
Panel in understanding the context of matters under discussion – 
effectively acting as a conduit between the Council Officers, Council 
members and members of the panel.  They are not a voting 
member of the Panel and can be called on at the discretion of the 
Panel.  They will be entitled to attend Panel meetings and have 
access to all papers and records of Panel meetings. 

5. Report and Findings

5.1 The Independent Remuneration Panel is required to produce
recommendations for the Council, which will be articulated in 
reports, prepared by Council Officers and approved by the Panel.  
These shall be presented by the Chair of the Panel to the Council.  

6. Access to Meetings

6.1 Panel meetings will not normally be open to the public although
minutes and records of the Panel will be open to public inspection.

Page 236



Part 3 – Section 3 – 
Responsibility for
Executive Functions April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Section 3 - Responsibility for Executive functions

3.1 Cabinet Decision Making

3.1.1 Unless the matter is one of special urgency, only the Cabinet can make 
the following Executive decisions:
a) Decisions that refer a policy, strategy, plan or other form of

decision to the Council to determine.
b) Decisions that are contrary to any policies, strategies, plans or

other form of decision that Council has previously made.
c) Decisions that are contrary to any policies, strategies plans or other

form of decision that Cabinet has previously agreed, unless the
Leader, Portfolio Holder and Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee agree it may be delegated to the Portfolio Holder or
Officers to determine.

d) Decisions to adopt a policy, strategy or plan which is required as a
result of legislation or statutory guidance but does not require
adoption by the Council.

e) Award a grant, contract or licence to an individual or corporate
body in which a Councillor has declared a pecuniary interest.

f) The Portfolio Holder or Leader has determined the matter should be
determined by Cabinet.

3.1.2 a), b) and c) below must also be determined by Cabinet where they:

 Have not been included in the Council’s budget; or
 They are not specifically required to bring into effect any previously

agreed policy or plan; or
 Are not fully funded by an external source and therefore have no net

budgetary impact.

a) The acquisition or disposal of land, property or other assets which
are of more than £500k in value.

b) The establishment of a new company, limited liability partnership or
joint venture.

c) Permanent additions to the staffing establishment for which there is
no other budgetary provision.

3.1.3 Any decision of Cabinet (unless the matter is a referral to Council) may 
be subject to the call-in procedure as outlined in the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee Procedure Rules.

3.2 Portfolio Holder or Cabinet decision making

3.2.1 The following matters cannot be determined by Officers and must either 
be determined by Cabinet, or by Portfolio Holders.  The decision making 
route shall be determined following consultation between the relevant 
Officer, Portfolio Holder and/or Leader:

Agenda Item 3c

Page 237



Part 3 – Section 3 – 
Responsibility for
Executive Functions April 2019

a) Matters that, as above, must only be considered by Cabinet.
b) The Portfolio Holder or Leader has determined they should make

the decision.
c) Where consultation with the public or local Ward Member(s) has

highlighted that the matter has the potential to cause local
controversy or reputational damage to the Council.

d) Where a Member of the Officer Leadership Team or a statutory
Officer has declared a pecuniary interest in a matter.

e) The acquisition or disposal of land, property or other assets which
are of more than £100k in value.

f) The write off of balances, or write-on of credit balances that are
individually worth more than £5k.

3.2.2 The Cabinet or Portfolio Holders, may also make decisions that do not 
meet the criteria in 3.1 or 3.2.1 above that would ordinarily be 
delegated to Officers to make.  

3.3 Officer decision making

3.3.1 Except in circumstances described in 3.1 and 3.2 above, Officers may 
make any other executive decisions in respect of the services, 
programmes, projects and plans for which they are responsible for.  
They may also make any decisions that are necessary in order to bring 
into effect decisions made by Cabinet or Portfolio Holders.

3.3.2 The Chief Executive may delegate levels of responsibility and decision 
making to any Director, Assistant Director or other Officer.  A Director or 
Assistant Director who is delegated authority may then further sub-
delegate decision making to any other Officer.  Anyone delegated 
decision making responsibility should be familiarised with the limits of 
their delegation and the terms of this constitution.  

3.3.3 The Monitoring Officer shall maintain a record of all Officers delegated to 
make decisions.

3.3.4 Applicable to all individuals in making decisions:

a) Any individual who is delegated decision making responsibility may
elect not to exercise their delegation.

b) Any individual who is delegated decision making responsibility
should carefully consider who should be consulted on the decision.
This should include consideration to the Portfolio Holder, local Ward
Member, Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and/or the
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee in addition to any
required public consultation.

c) Where there is any doubt as to whether the matter constitutes a
Key Decision, the presumption should be that it is.

d) Where there is any doubt as to whether the matter should be
determined by Cabinet or the Portfolio Holder, the presumption
should be that the Cabinet or Portfolio Holder makes the decision.

e) No individual should make a decision where they, or close
relatives/friends are the beneficiary of that decision.

Page 238



Part 3 – Section 3 – 
Responsibility for
Executive Functions April 2019

f) Any one making a decision must take appropriate levels of care and
diligence in doing so.  They should ensure that the decision is
appropriately documented and there is a clear rationale to support
it.  They must take into account any advice provided to them, the
outcomes of any consultation, and any legal requirements/statutory
guidance.

g) Any one making a decision must follow any other requirements
placed on them by this Constitution, including requirements with
respect to Key Decisions and the requirements of the Access to
Information Procedure Rules.

3.4 Urgent Decisions

3.4.1 Where, in the opinion of the Chief Executive, by reason of limitation of 
time or urgency, a decision is required on any executive matter that is 
not otherwise delegated to Officers to make, after such consultation as 
they consider necessary, (or as is required by the Council’s Budget and 
Policy Framework Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution), they 
shall have power to make the decision provided that any such decision 
shall be reported to the next meeting of Cabinet.

3.4.2 Such decisions should be treated under the special urgency provisions in 
the Access to Information Procedure Rules

3.5 Cabinet Portfolio Holders

3.5.1 The Cabinet Portfolio Holders may only make decisions with respect to 
services that fall within their area of responsibility.  The Leader shall 
determine the number and scope of Cabinet Portfolios, and allocate 
responsibility for the Portfolios amongst the Members of Cabinet.  The 
Monitoring Officer shall maintain a list of Portfolio responsibilities as 
nominated by the Leader, which shall be published alongside this 
Constitution.

3.5.2 The Leader (or in their absence, the Deputy Leader) may make decisions 
in respect to any services.  All Cabinet Portfolio Holders may only make 
decisions within the limits of responsibility provided within 3.1 to 3.4 
above and comply with any requirements of this Constitution in doing 
so.  

Page 239



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 240



Part 3 – Section 4
Budget Setting and Medium 
Term Planning April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Section 4 - Budget Setting and Medium-Term Planning, Budget 
Monitoring and Control and Resource Allocation 

1. Budget Setting and Medium-Term Planning

1.1 Overarching Principles 

1.1.1  The Council is a complex organisation responsible for delivering a wide 
variety of services. It needs to plan effectively and to develop systems to 
enable scarce resources to be allocated in accordance with priorities and 
statutory obligations. The budget is the financial expression of the 
authority’s plans and policies.

1.1.2 The revenue budget must be constructed so as to ensure that resource 
allocation properly reflects the service plans, statutory services and 
priorities of the Council. Budgets (spending plans) are needed so that the 
authority can plan, authorise, monitor and control the way money is 
allocated and spent. It is illegal for an authority to budget for a deficit. 

1.1.3 Medium-term financial planning involves a planning cycle in which 
managers develop their plans. As each year passes, another future year is 
added to the medium-term plan. This ensures that the authority is always 
preparing for events in advance. The Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) reflects this forward planning financially. 

1.2 Key controls 

1.2.1 The key controls for budget setting and medium-term planning are:-

(a) Budget managers are consulted and involved in the preparation of
the budgets for which they will be held responsible and accept
accountability within delegations set out in the Constitution for their
budgets and the level of service to be delivered; and

(b) A monitoring process is in place to review regularly the
effectiveness and operation of budget preparation and to ensure
that any corrective action is taken.

1.3 Responsibilities 

1.3.1 Section 151 Officer 

(a) Prepare and submit reports on budget prospects as part of the
annual financial planning cycle, including resource constraints set
by the Government and other external factors. Reports should take
account of medium-term prospects, where appropriate. Prepare
reports at intervals during the year in specific circumstances, such

Agenda Item 3d

Page 241



Part 3 – Section 4
Budget Setting and Medium 
Term Planning April 2019

as prior to approval of additional expenditure and at regular 
intervals for the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee. 

(b) Prepare and submit the annual budget to Council, on the basis of
information provided by the Leadership Team and budget holders.

(c) Advise on the medium-term implications of spending decisions.

(d) Encourage the best use of resources and value for money by
working with the Chief Officers and their staff to identify
opportunities to improve economy, efficiency and effectiveness, and
by encouraging good practice in conducting financial appraisals of
development or savings options, and in developing financial aspects
of service planning.

(e) To advise the Council in accordance with their responsibilities under
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972.

1.3.2 Assistant Directors 

(a) Prepare budgets on the basis of service priorities and statutory
obligations, within the overall context of the Cabinet’s agreed
priorities.

(b) Prepare budgets that are consistent with any relevant limits, as part
of the authority’s annual budget cycle and within guidelines issued
by Cabinet (for example relating to the setting of council tax).

(c) Integrate financial and budget plans into service planning, so that
budget plans can be supported by financial and non-financial
performance measures.

(d) When drawing up draft budget requirements, have regard to:-

(i) Spending patterns and pressures revealed through the
budget monitoring and budget setting processes;

(ii) Legal requirements.
(iii) Policy requirements as defined by the Council in the

approved policy framework; and
(iv) Initiatives already under way.

2. Budget Monitoring and Control

2.1 Overarching Principles 

2.1.1 Budget management ensures that once the budget has been approved by 
Council, resources allocated are used for their intended purposes and are 
properly accounted for. Budgetary control is a continuous process, 
enabling the authority to review and adjust its budget targets during the 
financial year. It also provides the mechanism that calls to account 
managers to account for defined elements of the budget. 

Page 242



Part 3 – Section 4
Budget Setting and Medium 
Term Planning April 2019

2.1.2 By continuously identifying and explaining variances against budgetary 
targets, the authority can identify changes in trends and resource 
requirements at the earliest opportunity. The authority itself operates 
within an annual financial limit, approved when setting the overall budget. 
To ensure that the authority in total does not overspend, each service is 
required to manage its own expenditure within the limited budget 
allocated to it. 

2.1.3 For the purposes of budgetary control by managers, a budget will 
normally be the planned income and expenditure for a service area or cost 
centre. However, budgetary control may take place at a more detailed 
level if this is required by the Assistant Director’s Scheme of Delegation. 

2.2 Key controls 

2.2.1 The key controls for managing and controlling the revenue budget are 
that:- 

(a) Budget managers should be responsible only for income and
expenditure that they can influence.

(b) There is a nominated budget manager for each cost centre heading.

(c) Budget managers accept accountability for their budgets and the
level of service to be delivered and understand their financial
responsibilities.

(d) Budget managers follow an approved certification process for all
expenditure.

(e) Income and expenditure are properly recorded and accounted for;
and

(f) Performance levels/levels of service are monitored in conjunction
with the budget and necessary action is taken to align service
outputs and budget.

2.3 Responsibilities 

2.3.1 Section 151 Officer 

(a) Establish an appropriate framework of budgetary management and
control which ensures that:-

(i) Budget management is exercised within annual budget limits
unless otherwise agreed by an appropriately authorised body
or Officer.

(ii) Each Assistant Director has available timely information on
income and expenditure for each budget, which is sufficiently
detailed to enable managers to fulfil their budgetary
responsibilities.

Page 243



Part 3 – Section 4
Budget Setting and Medium 
Term Planning April 2019

(iii) Expenditure is committed only against an approved budget
head.

(iv) All Officers responsible for committing expenditure comply
with relevant guidance, and the financial regulations.

(v) Each cost centre has a single, named manager, determined
by the relevant Assistant Director. As a general principle,
budget responsibility should be aligned as closely as possible
to the decision-making process that commits expenditure;
and

(vi) Significant variances from approved budgets are investigated
and reported by budget managers on a regular basis.

(b) To administer the authority’s scheme of virement.

(c) To prepare and submit regular reports to the Cabinet and the
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee on the Authority’s
projected income and expenditure compared with the budget on a
regular basis.

(d) Where an Assistant Director is unable to balance expenditure and
resources within existing approved budgets under their control, to
submit reports to the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee,
in consultation with the Section 151 Officer.

2.3.2 Assistant Directors 

(a) Maintain budgetary control within their responsibility, in adherence
to the principles in 2. above, and to ensure that all income and
expenditure are promptly and properly recorded and accounted for.

(b) Ensure that an accountable budget manager is identified for each
item of income and expenditure under the control of the Assistant
Director (grouped together in a series of cost centres). As a general
principle, budget responsibility should be aligned as closely as
possible to the decision-making that commits expenditure.

(c) Ensure that spending remains within the Service’s overall financial
limit, and that individual budget heads are not overspent, by
monitoring the budget and taking appropriate corrective action
where significant variations from the approved budget are forecast.

(d) Ensure that a monitoring process is in place to review performance
levels/levels of service in conjunction with the budget and is
operating effectively.

(e) Ensure prior approval by the Cabinet and Council (as appropriate)
for new proposals that create financial commitments in future
years.

Page 244



Part 3 – Section 4
Budget Setting and Medium 
Term Planning April 2019

(f) To ensure compliance with the scheme of virement.

(g) Agree with the Section 151 Officer where it appears that a budget
proposal, including a virement proposal, may impact materially on
another service area or Assistant Director level of service activity.

3. Resource Allocation

3.1 Overarching Principles 

3.1.1 A mismatch often exists between available resources and required 
resources. A common scenario is that available resources are not 
adequate to fulfil need/desire. It is therefore imperative that 
needs/desires are carefully prioritised and that resources are fairly 
allocated, in order to fulfil all legal responsibilities. Resources may include 
staff, money, equipment, goods and materials. 

3.2 Key controls 

3.2.1 The key controls for resource allocation are:- 

(a) Resources are acquired in accordance with the law and using an
approved authorisation process.

(b) Resources are used only for the purpose intended, to achieve the
approved policies and objectives, and are properly accounted for.

(c) Resources are securely held for use when required; and

(d) Resources are used with the minimum level of waste, inefficiency or
loss for other reasons.

3.3 Responsibilities 

3.3.1 Section 151 Officer 

(a) Advise on methods available for the funding of resources, such as
grants from central government and borrowing requirements.

(b) Assist in the allocation of resources to budget managers.

3.3.2 All Assistant Directors 

(a) Work within budget limits and to utilise resources allocated, and
further allocate resources, in the most efficient, effective and
economic way.

(b) Ensure that delegated budgets are appropriately managed in line
with the West Suffolk Financial Procedure Rules and other policy
requirements.

Page 245



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 246



Part 3 – Section 5
Scheme of Delegation 
to Officers April 2019

 West Suffolk Council

Section 5 - Scheme of Delegation to Officers

General

1. This section of the Scheme for the responsibility of functions establishes
how Officers shall exercise the delegations made to them through the
Responsibility for Council Functions and Scheme of Delegation for
Executive Functions, and any other delegations provided for in this
Scheme of Delegation for Officers.

2. In general, the delegation for Council and Executive functions works so
that it is assumed that unless otherwise stated in this Constitution,
Officers have the authority to make decisions on the delivery of functions,
responsibilities and services of the Council that fall within their scope of
responsibility.  As this places a broad functional responsibility, the
delegations in this Constitution should be taken to assume powers, and
duties, within all present and future legislation, and all powers incidental
to that legislation.

3. It is deemed that it falls within the scope of an Officer’s responsibility
where:

a) They have been specifically delegated by Council, Cabinet, a
Committee or Sub-Committee to make a decision.

b) They are authorised as a result of a specific statutory requirement,
or they are a statutory postholder.

c) It is a stated responsibility within the Officer’s job description.
d) The Chief Executive, or any other person authorised by them (or

sub-delegated) has authorised that they have responsibility as is
recorded within a scheme of delegation, to be maintained by the
Monitoring Officer.

4. This Scheme of Delegation shall operate in place of any previous
delegation.  This may be revised or superseded by new delegations that
have been properly agreed, but have not been incorporated into the
Constitution.

5. Any reference to any specific statutory requirements or local Orders shall
incorporate reference to any enactment that replaces or amends the
original reference.

Limitations

6. Officers shall not make decisions where:
a) The law requires it to be made by Council, a specific Committee or

Sub-Committee.
b) This Constitution expressly reserves the matter to Council, a

Committee, Sub-Committee or any other individual to make.

Agenda Item 3e

Page 247



Part 3 – Section 5
Scheme of Delegation 
to Officers April 2019

c) Council, Committee or Cabinet, or any other decision maker with
authority to do so, has determined that they should make the
decision.

7. Officers may only exercise delegated powers in accordance with:-

(a) The Council’s Rules of Procedure contained in Part 4 of this
Constitution, including the Financial Procedure Rules and Contract
Procedure Rules.

(b) All plans, policies, schemes or strategies approved by or on behalf
of the Council.

(c) Any statutory restrictions, guidance or statutory code of practice.

(d) The statutory and local requirements in respect of the taking and
recording of Key Decisions.

(e) The revenue and capital funding for the relevant service as
approved by the Council, subject to any variations which are
permitted by virtue of the Council’s Rules of Procedure; and

(f) The Council’s Equal Opportunities and other policies, procedures,
standards and the Local and National Conditions of Service.

Sub-Delegation 

8. Any Officer with delegated powers is also authorised to further delegate in
writing all or any of the delegated functions to other Officers (described by
post) either fully or under the general supervision and control of the
delegating Officers. Sub-delegations shall be recorded in a register kept
by the Monitoring Officer.  Administrative functions ancillary to the
exercise of delegated powers are deemed to be carried out in the name of
the Officer exercising the function.

Further Provisions 

9. It shall always be open to an Officer not to exercise their delegated
powers but to refer the matter to the Council, Cabinet, or relevant
Committee (as appropriate) for decision.

10. In exercising delegated powers, Officers shall consult other Officers,
Members or other parties as appropriate and have regard to any advice
given or views provided. In particular, Officers must have regard to any
report by the Head of Paid Service or the Monitoring Officer under
Sections 4 and 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 or of the
Chief Finance Officer under Section 114 of the Local Government and
Housing Act 1988.

11. In exercising delegated powers, Officers shall consider whether the matter
is controversial or significant and if so shall as appropriate consult or
inform the relevant Portfolio Holder and/or Ward Member(s)

Page 248



Part 3 – Section 5
Scheme of Delegation 
to Officers April 2019

12. For the avoidance of doubt, where the Council, Cabinet or a Committee
has settled a policy, plan or budget for a matter or class of matters, each
Assistant Director or others that they shall designate, shall be empowered
to deal with all such matters that are necessary to bring the policy, plan
or budget into effect.

13. Where a policy, strategy or plan has been agreed by Council, Cabinet or a
Committee, the Assistant Director or others that they shall designate, has
the authority to make minor amendments to that policy, strategy or plan
provided it does not change the nature of the decision reached, and they
have undertaken such consultation as they consider appropriate

Delegation in the case of absence or inability to act

13. If the following Officer(s) having delegated authority under the Scheme
are absent or otherwise unable to exercise their delegation, and there is
no other Officer to whom the authority has been sub-delegated, these
provisions shall apply:

a) Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) – the powers shall be
exercised by a Director or, if either Director is unable to act, an
Assistant Director

b) Directors – the powers shall be exercised by the Chief Executive
or, if the Chief Executive is unable to act, an Assistant Director.

c) Assistant Director (Resources and Performance) – the Service
Manager (Finance and Performance) shall be responsible for the
administration of the financial affairs of the Council pursuant to
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and to act generally
as the Council’s Chief Finance Officer under the terms of the Local
Government Act 1988.

d) Other Assistant Directors – the powers shall be exercisable by a
Director or the Chief Executive

e) Service Managers – the powers shall be exercisable by the
relevant Assistant Director.

f) Officers – the powers shall be exercisable by a relevant Service
Manager or Assistant Director

Urgency Provisions

14. Where, in the opinion of the Chief Executive, by reason of limitation of
time or urgency, a decision is required on any matter, after such
consultation as they consider necessary (or as is required by the Council’s
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this
Constitution), they shall have power to make a decision provided that any
such decision shall be reported to the next meeting of the Cabinet,
appropriate Committee or Council unless there is a need for

Page 249



Part 3 – Section 5
Scheme of Delegation 
to Officers April 2019

confidentiality, in which case the reporting of the decision may be 
deferred until the need for confidentiality expires. 

Specific Provisions

15. Elections – the Chief Executive shall act as the Returning Officer and
Electoral Registration Officer and shall ensure such action is taken to
ensure the effective conduct of elections.

16. Statutory Officers – except as provided for in this constitution, the Chief
Executive shall appoint any other statutory postholders.

17. Proper Officer – the Proper Officer for the administration of the Council
shall be the Monitoring Officer.  The Chief Executive, or other Officers that
they designate, shall be the Proper Officer in respect of any other
statutory functions.

Page 250



Part 3 – Section 6
Member Role Descriptions April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Section 6 - Member Role Descriptions

Leader of the Council 

1. General

The Leader of the Council will represent the Council and provide
political leadership for the Cabinet, the Council and the District.

2. Specific Responsibilities will be to:-

(a) Appoint Members of the Cabinet and determine portfolios.
(b) Chair the meetings of the Cabinet.
(c) Agree the schedule and venue for Cabinet meetings and

make arrangements for special meetings.
(d) Enable preparation of the Decisions Plan.
(e) Have an overview of, and advise on, the policy making of the

District.
(f) Act as lead Member on overall strategy.
(g) Monitor the overall performance of the Council in delivering

the agreed policies of the Council.
(h) Co-ordinate and manage Cabinet Members.
(i) Represent Council policy to the community and partners.
(j) Work closely with the Chief Executive on strategic matters to

ensure the co-ordination, consistency and delivery of Council
services.

(k) Represent the Council on local, regional and national bodies.
(l) Consult with the Chief Executive on strategic or policy

matters where an urgent decision or action must be taken.
(m) Promote and develop partnership working with other

agencies, ensuring that the Council’s priorities are met.
(n) Where necessary consult with Group Leaders of other political

groups to expedite the efficient and effective delivery of
Council business.

(o) Carry out the duties identified in the job description for Ward
Councillors.

(p) Liaise with the Chairs and Vice-Chairs of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee and the Performance and Audit
Committee to ensure that work programmes are properly co-
ordinated.

Deputy Leader of the Council 

1. General

1.1 The Deputy Leader of the Council is responsible for supporting the 
Leader in providing political leadership for the Cabinet, the Council 
and the District.

Agenda Item 3f

Page 251



Part 3 – Section 6
Member Role Descriptions April 2019

 1.2 In the absence of the Leader, the Deputy Leader is authorised to 
act on their behalf in accordance with the Council’s Constitution, in 
particular:- 

(a) Chairing Cabinet meetings.
(b) Enabling the preparation of the Decisions Plan.
(c) Consulting with the Chief Executive on strategic or policy

matters where an urgent decision or action must be taken;
and

(d) Where necessary, consulting with Group Leaders of other
political groups, the Chair of the Council  and the Chair of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny Committee to expedite the efficient and
effective delivery of Council business.

2. Specific duties include:

2.1 In the absence of the Leader, to chair Cabinet meetings, conduct 
the Cabinet's business and present reports to Council. 

2.2 In the absence of the Leader, to perform any other duties of the 
Leader, as set out in the Constitution and the Job Description for 
the Leader. 

2.3 On behalf of the Leader, to represent the Council on local, regional 
and national bodies. 

2.4 On behalf of the Leader, to represent Council policy to the 
community, partners and the media. 

2.5 With the Leader, to attend quarterly meetings with the Chair and 
Vice-Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee and to ensure the work 
of these Committees is properly co-ordinated. 

2.6 To carry out the duties identified in the role descriptions for Cabinet 
Members, their own Cabinet portfolio and Ward Councillors.

General Roles and Responsibilities of all Portfolio Holders 

1. Accountability and Leadership

1.1 Each Portfolio Holder will be accountable, and provide the political 
leadership, for their specific areas of responsibility. 

2. Shared Responsibility as a Member of the Cabinet

Responsibility for:- 

2.1 The co-ordination, promotion and implementation of the Council’s 
statutory plans and strategies and for the setting of the Council’s 
objectives.

Page 252



Part 3 – Section 6
Member Role Descriptions April 2019

2.2 The oversight, development, monitoring and promotion of all 
services provided by the Council within the appropriate 
performance management framework. 

2.3 Suitable and proper arrangements being made for the procurement, 
development, monitoring and promotion of all services relating to 
Cabinet functions which are provided under contract to the Council. 

2.4 The promotion of the interests of the District and the whole of West 
Suffolk and of all the residents, businesses, other organisations and 
stakeholders within West Suffolk. 

2.5  A community leadership role being taken by the Council across the 
public, voluntary and business sectors involving the development of 
good and effective working links and partnerships with all sectors. 

2.6 The promotion and implementation of an effective equal 
opportunity policy in relation both to the employment of staff by the 
Council and the delivery of services by the Council and other 
agencies. 

2.7 The promotion of services which contribute to the Council’s 
Corporate Priorities. 

2.8 Improving arrangements for communicating, consulting and 
maintaining a dialogue with residents and service users; and 

2.9 Members of the Cabinet also carry out the duties identified in the 
role description for Ward Councillors. 

3. Specific Responsibilities

Portfolio Holders will:- 

3.1 Take the leading role in the development and implementation of the 
policies and covered by their Portfolio. 

3.2 Be responsible for ensuring the effective management and delivery 
of the services or functions covered by their Portfolio within the 
following framework:- 

(a) The Council’s overall strategic, corporate and policy
objectives.

(b) All statutory and other plans and strategies approved by the
Council.

(c) The statutory and local obligation to ensure best value.
(d) The approved revenue and capital budgets.
(e) The law and the Council’s Constitution; and
(f) The decisions made at meetings of the Cabinet.

Page 253



Part 3 – Section 6
Member Role Descriptions April 2019

4. Specific roles of Portfolio Holders

Will include:- 

(a) Advising the Council, Cabinet or the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee on matters concerning the implementation,
monitoring and performance of services, groups of services,
initiatives and projects.

(b) Monitoring the performance of portfolio functions and
activities to ensure corporate objectives and targets are
achieved.

(c) Advising and consulting with Officers on matters of
significance for Council policy and its implementation.

(d) Representing the Council’s views to other agencies,
community interests and local media.

(e) Formally representing the Cabinet at meetings and Working
Groups of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and
Performance and Audit Committee.

(f) Liaising with other lead Members and Officers on strategic
matters to ensure proper co-ordination, consistency and
seamless delivery of services within Council policy.

(g) Chairing, from time to time, meetings of members and
officers and with Council partners.

(h) Assisting in the development of work programmes, Decisions
Plans and the setting of agendas.

(i) Presenting and reporting issues to the Council, its
Committees and Members’ seminars.

(j) Being consulted as part of any decision-making processes
within their Portfolio which have been delegated to Officers;
and

(k) Being consulted on any matters of urgency which an Officer
needs to act upon prior to a Member decision.

Ward Councillor

1. Overview

1.1 As a Councillor, you will be expected to balance the needs and 
interests of the Council, your local area, your residents and voters, 
community groups, local businesses and your political party (if you 
belong to one).  

1.2 First and foremost, you will represent your Ward, engaging with 
residents and groups on a wide range of different issues and taking 
on an important community leadership role.  At the Council, you will 
contribute to the development of policies and strategies, including 
budget-setting.  You may also be involved in taking decisions on 
planning or licensing applications.

1.3 In balancing the varying needs and interests of your residents, it is 
important that you are able to pro-actively engage with the work of 

Page 254



Part 3 – Section 6
Member Role Descriptions April 2019

the Council, and input the views of your communities to relevant 
committees. 

2. Representing the local area

2.1 Represent effectively the interests of the Ward for which you were 
elected and deal with residents’ enquiries and representations, 
fairly and without prejudice.

2.2 Champion the causes which best relate to the interests of the 
community and campaign for improvements in the quality of life of 
the community in terms of diversity, safety, well-being, economy 
and environment.

2.3 Use local knowledge in the development of Council policies, 
including listening to the needs of local people and taking their 
views into account when considering policy proposals and decision-
making.

2.4 Ensure that local people are informed about:

 Services in their area;
 Decisions that affect them;
 The reasons why decisions were taken by the Council;
 Their rights as residents.

2.5 Represent the Authority to the community and the community to 
the Authority, through the various forums available.

2.6 When appropriate, respond to any Council consultation regarding 
matters within your Ward.

2.7 Know your Ward, and be aware of its particular qualities, 
advantages and challenges.

2.8 Develop effective working relationships with other local 
representatives, including other local Ward Members and the 
County Councillors, and representatives of local organisations, 
associations, interest groups and businesses 

2.9 Encourage people in your Ward to participate in the democratic 
decision-making process by engaging with consultations etc.

2.10 Above all, you are a leader in your community.  You act as an 
important link between the Council and your community, and you 
need to ensure you keep both your Council, and your community, 
informed of the work that each other is doing.  That may mean 
reporting to Parish/Town Councils, Community Groups and 
Residents Associations, and reporting back from their meetings to 
appropriate forums.

Page 255



Part 3 – Section 6
Member Role Descriptions April 2019

3 Participating in the work of the Council

3.1 Participate effectively at all meetings of Council and at Committees, 
Groups or other Forums to which you are appointed.

3.2 Contribute actively to the formation and scrutiny of the Council’s 
priorities, budget, strategies and service delivery.

3.3 Develop and maintain a working knowledge of the Council’s 
services, management arrangements, powers/duties and 
constraints and develop good working relationships with the 
Council’s Officers.

3.4 Fulfil the statutory and locally determined requirements of an 
elected Member, including compliance with all relevant codes of 
conduct and protocols.

3.5 Represent the Council on outside bodies to which it appoints you, 
ensuring that relevant Officers and Members in the Council are 
made aware of the work of the outside body and any matters 
arising from their meetings.

3.6 Support the Chair in promoting the civic life of the Council.

3.7 Participate in the scrutiny of the services and policies of the Council 
and their effectiveness in meeting the strategic objectives of the 
Council and the needs of its residents.

3.8 Engage with the Member Development Programme, ensuring you 
have the skills you need to discharge your role effectively and 
comply with any compulsory training requirements.  Ensure you 
have sufficient IT skills to enable you to make use of the relevant 
Council systems.

Page 256



Part 4 – Council Procedure 
Rules April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Council Procedure Rules

Introduction

1. Ordinary meetings of the Council will usually take place five times a year
on a Tuesday, commencing at 6.30 pm.

2. Meetings will usually take place at the Council’s main Offices but may take
place at other venues with the agreement of the Chair.

3. There are four types of Council Meetings:
- The Annual meeting
- Ordinary meetings
- Extraordinary Meetings
- Special meetings.

These are dealt with in more detail below. 

4. Notice of all meetings of the Council will be given to the public by the
Chief Executive in accordance with the Access to Information Rules, five
clear working days before the date of the meeting, unless convened at
shorter notice. Notice by summons will also be given by the Chief
Executive to each Member of the Council in the manner prescribed in the
Access to Information Procedure Rules. The summons shall contain the
date, time and place of each meeting, specify the business to be
transacted and be accompanied by such reports that may be available.

5. The Chief Executive is authorised to cancel a meeting where the agenda
has already been issued if it is considered expedient. Before exercising
this authority, the Chief Executive will consult with the Chair and the
Leader of the Council. Any outstanding business will be held over to the
next ordinary meeting or an extraordinary meeting on a date to be
arranged.

6. The Council may make audio and/or visual recordings of meetings and
broadcast or otherwise make them available to the public on its website or
by other means.

Agenda Item 4a

Page 257



Part 4 – Council Procedure 
Rules April 2019

1. Annual meeting of the Council

1.1 Timing and business 

The Annual Meeting of the Council will be held:-

1.1.1 In a year of ordinary elections of Councillors to the Council, on such 
day within the twenty-one days immediately following the day of 
retirement of Councillors as the Council may fix.

1.1.2 In any other year, on such day in the month of March, April or May 
as the Council may fix.

1.1.3 At such hour as the Council may fix.
1.1.4 At the Annual Meeting, the Council will:- 

(a) Elect a Member to preside if the retiring Chair and Vice Chair
are not present.

(b) Elect the Chair for the ensuing year.
(c) Receive any announcements from the Chair.
(d) Receive any announcements from the Officer advising the

Chair including apologies for absence.
(e) Elect the Vice Chair.
(f) Elect the Leader at the post-election Annual Meeting.
(g) If practicable, be told by the Leader about the composition

and constitution of the Cabinet for the coming year, and the
names of Councillors chosen to be Members of the Cabinet.

(h) Determine the Council’s Committee structure and
arrangements for outside bodies in accordance with 1.2
below.

(i) Appoint the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee and the Performance and Audit Scrutiny
Committee.

(j) Update the Constitution if necessary in line with 1.2 below.
(k) Consider any other business set out in the notice convening

the meeting.

1.2 Selection of councillors on committees and outside bodies 

At the Annual Meeting, the Council will:-

(a) Decide which Committees to establish for the municipal year.
(b) Decide the size and agree terms of reference for those Committees.
(c) Decide the allocation of seats and substitutes to political groups in

accordance with the political balance rules.
(d) Receive, or arrange the delegation of, nominations of Councillors to

serve on each Committee and on any outside body for which a new
appointment or re-appointment is required.

(e) Appoint to those Committees and outside bodies except where
appointment to those bodies has been delegated by the Council or
is exercisable only by the Cabinet.

Page 258



Part 4 – Council Procedure 
Rules April 2019

2. Ordinary meetings of the Council

2.1 Ordinary meetings of the Council will usually take place at 6.30pm but 
may take place at any other time in accordance with the programme 
previously approved by the Council.  The starting time of an ordinary 
meeting may be changed before the publication of the agenda by 
agreement of the Leader and the Chair.

2.2 Unless changed in accordance with paragraph 2.3 below, the order of 
business at every ordinary meeting of the Council, will be:- 

(a) To elect a person to preside if the Chair and Vice Chair are not
present.

(b) To deal with any business required by law to be dealt with first.
(c) To confirm as a correct record and sign the minutes of the last

meeting of the Council, except that minutes of a special meeting or
an extraordinary meeting of the Council will be submitted for
confirmation to the next ordinary meeting of the Council.

(d) The Chair’s announcements.
(e) To receive any announcements from the Officer advising the Chair

(including apologies for absence).
(f) Declarations of interests.
(g) The Leader’s report and questions thereon in accordance with Rules

8.1 – 8.3 below.
(h) to receive statements and answer questions  from members of the

public in accordance with Rule 6 below.
(i) To receive, and when appropriate debate, any petitions in

accordance with the Petition Scheme attached as Appendix A to
these Rules.

(j) To deal with any business remaining from the last Council meeting
in accordance with Rules 5.2 and 11.11(c) below.

(k) To deal with the referrals report of recommendations from Cabinet
and Committees.

(l) To consider any other business specified in the summons to the
meeting, including reports of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
and the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee.

(m) To receive reports about, and receive questions and answers on,
the business of joint arrangements and external organisations.

(o) To consider any motions under Rule 9 below in the order in which
they are received.

(p) To answer any questions received under the terms of Rules 8.4 –
8.8 below.

(q) To consider any business, which by reason of special circumstances,
should in the opinion of the Chair be considered at the meeting as a
matter of urgency.  The special circumstances concerned shall be
specified in the minutes of that meeting.

2.3 The order of business (except for items (a), (b) and (c) of paragraph 2.2 
above of these Rules) may be changed:- 

(a) Before or at a meeting, as the Chair sees fit; or

Page 259



Part 4 – Council Procedure 
Rules April 2019

(b) By a resolution of the meeting passed on a motion under Rule 9 or
Rule 10.1(c) below.

3. Special and extraordinary meetings of the Council

Calling Special or Extraordinary Meetings 

3.1  An Extraordinary meeting is one that is additional to the scheduled 
ordinary meetings and is called to deal with matters that cannot 
conveniently be dealt with at one of those meetings.  A Special meeting is 
one called for a specific and unusual purpose, for example to confer an 
honorary title.

Those listed below may request the Chief Executive to call Council 
meetings in addition to ordinary meetings:- 

(a) The Council by resolution.
(b) The Chair.
(c) The Monitoring Officer.
(d) In accordance with paragraph 3 of Schedule 12 of the Local

Government Act 1972 (as amended), any five Members of the
Council if they have signed a requisition presented to the Chair and
who has refused to call a meeting or has failed to call a meeting
within seven days of the presentation of the requisition.

Business 

3.2 Special or Extraordinary meetings will:- 

(a) Elect a person to preside if the Chair and Vice Chair are not
present.

(b) Receive any declarations of interest.
(c) (At Extraordinary meetings only) receive statements and answer

questions from members of the public in accordance with Rule 6
below and limited to the subject matter of the business to be
transacted at the meeting; and

(d) Deal with the business for which the Special or Extraordinary
meeting was called. No other business will be dealt with.

4. Appointment of substitute members of committees and sub-
committees

4.1 As well as allocating seats on Committees, the Council may allocate seats 
in the same manner for substitute Members. In the case of Sub-
Committees, the appointing Committees will determine the number of 
substitutes and appoint them. Substitute Members must be from the same 
political group as the absent Member.  If a substitute Member cannot be 
found from the list of prescribed substitutes, a temporary substitute may 
be appointed by the Monitoring Officer on receipt of the prescribed form 
authorised by the relevant Group Leader. In the case of the full Member 
not being in a group, the full Member seeking a substitute will authorise 
the form. Substitutes cannot be appointed for the Cabinet. 

Page 260



Part 4 – Council Procedure 
Rules April 2019

4.2 When the Council (or a Committee) wishes to appoint substitutes to a 
Committee (or Sub-Committee) it will adhere to the rules of political 
proportionality, subject to the total number of substitutes being no more 
than half of the total number of Members of the Committee (or Sub-
Committee). 

4.3  The powers and duties of substitutes are set out in the Committee 
Procedure Rules.

4.4 Any substitute, whether standing or temporary, must comply with any 
applicable training requirements for the committee prior to sitting on the 
Committee meeting.

5. Quorum

5.1 If at the start of a meeting or during a meeting of the Council there are 
not at least one third of the Council present, the Chair will adjourn the 
meeting. 

5.2 Consideration of any business not dealt with, will be adjourned to a date 
and time fixed by the Chair or to the next ordinary meeting of the Council, 
if a meeting is not fixed to consider the adjourned business. 

6. Public question time

General

6.1  At each ordinary meeting of the Council, members of the public who live 
or work in the District may put questions about the work of the Council or 
make statements on items on the agenda to members of the Cabinet or 
any Committee. 30 minutes will be set aside for this. 30 minutes will also 
be set aside for questions at Extraordinary meetings of the Council, but 
must be limited to the business to be transacted at that meeting. 

6.2 A person who wishes to speak must register at least fifteen minutes 
before the time the meeting is scheduled to start.  This can be done online 
by sending the request to democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk or 
telephoning 01284 757176/01638 719363 or in person by telling the 
Committee Administrator present at the meeting.  The Chair has 
discretion to allow members of the public to speak if they are not 
registered.

6.3   Written questions, detailing the full question to be asked, may be 
submitted by members of the public to the Monitoring Officer no later than 
10.00 am on the previous working day to the meeting of the Council.  

Order of questions 

6.4  Questions will be asked in the order in which notice of them was received, 
except that the Chair may group together similar questions. 

Page 261

mailto:democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk


Part 4 – Council Procedure 
Rules April 2019

Time limits 

6.5  Each person may ask one question or make one statement only. A total of 
five minutes will be allowed for the question to be put and answered, or 
the statement made.  The Chair may use their discretion to extend or 
reduce the time allowed if they feel it appropriate. 

6.6 If a question is raised, one supplementary question will be allowed 
provided that it arises directly from the reply and the overall time limit of 
five minutes is not exceeded. The Member to whom the question is 
directed may refer it to another Member or may choose to give a written 
response.  A written response will be provided if the Member to whom the 
question was directed is not present at the meeting and is not answered 
by another Member.

6.7 If a statement is made, then the Chair may allow the Leader of the 
Council, or other Member to whom they refer the matter, a right of reply.

6.8  If no questions/statements are received or all the questions/statements 
are dealt with in less than 30 minutes, the Council will move immediately 
to the next business. 

Scope of Questions 

6.9  The Monitoring Officer, in respect of any question/statement notified 
before the meeting, or the Chair, in respect of any question/statement 
notified at the meeting, may reject a question or stop a statement being 
made if it:- 

(a) Is not about a matter for which the Council has a responsibility or
which affects the District.

(b) Is defamatory, frivolous or offensive.
(c) Is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a

meeting of the Council in the past six months; or
(d) Requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information.

Record of Questions and answers

6.10  All questions/statements and answers under Public Question Time will be 
summarised in the minutes of the meeting. The summary for rejected 
questions and statements will include the reasons for rejection. 

Written Answers 

6.11  As well as being sent to the person asking the question, written answers 
will be distributed to all Councillors and published on the Council’s 
website.

7. Recording of Council meetings

7.1  The Council usually makes its own recording of Council meetings.  

Page 262



Part 4 – Council Procedure 
Rules April 2019

All recordings should be retained for 12 months after the day of the 
meeting.

7.2  Arrangements for the public to film/record and for the use of social media 
at meetings are set out in the Access to Information Rules.

8. Questions by Members

On the Leader’s Statement

8.1 At each ordinary meeting of the Council the Leader of the Council will 
submit a report (the Leader’s Statement) summarising important 
developments and activities since the preceding meeting of the Council. 

8.2 The Leader will introduce the statement and Members may ask the Leader 
questions on the content of both their introductory remarks and the 
written statement itself. All questions will be answered immediately by the 
Leader or by the relevant Cabinet Member if the Leader refers any 
question to them, unless sufficient information to give an answer is not 
available. In these circumstances the Member asking the question will 
receive a response in writing as soon as feasible after the Council meeting 
at which the question was asked. The response will be distributed to all 
Members and published on the Council’s website.

8.3  A total of 30 minutes will be allowed for questions and responses. There 
will be a limit of five minutes for each question to be asked and answered.  
The Member asking the original question may put a supplementary 
question arising from the reply so long as the five minute limit is not 
exceeded.

Questions on notice at Council 

8.4  Subject to paragraph 8.5 below, a Member may submit in writing to the 
Monitoring Officer a question on notice for:- 

(a) The Chair; or
(b) The Leader or any Member of the Cabinet; or
(c) The Chair of any Committee or Sub-Committee.

on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or 
which affects the administrative area of the Council, or part of it, or the 
inhabitants of that area. 

8.5  A Member may ask only one question on notice, under paragraph 8.4 
above, at each Council meeting and:- 

(a) Must submit it in writing to the Monitoring Officer no later than 12
noon seven working days before the meeting, not counting the day
of the meeting.

(b) If the question is urgent and the Member has the consent of the
Member to whom the question is to be put, must submit it in

Page 263



Part 4 – Council Procedure 
Rules April 2019

writing to the Monitoring Officer by 11am on the day of the 
meeting.  

8.6  Every question on notice will be answered without discussion. The Member 
who is asked the question on notice may ask another Member to answer. 
An answer may take the form of:- 

(a) A direct verbal answer summarised in the minutes.
(b) Where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or

other published work, a reference to that publication.
(c) Where the reply cannot conveniently be given verbally at the

meeting, a written answer sent by the appropriate Officer and/or
relevant Member to all Members within five working days of the
Council meeting.

8.7  A Member asking a question on notice under paragraph 8.4 above may 
ask one supplementary question, without notice, of a Member to whom 
the first question was asked. The supplementary question must arise 
directly from the original question or the reply.  The total time allowed for 
each question, including any supplementary question, to be put and 
answered will be ten minutes.

8.8  If the Member who gave notice of the question is not present at the 
meeting, any other Member may ask that question, but if that does not 
occur, the Chair shall proceed to the next item of business.  The question 
shall be deemed to have been withdrawn and may not be asked unless 
notice is given again in accordance with paragraph 8.4 above.

9. Motions which need written notice

9.1 Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Section 10 
of these Rules, written notice of every motion must be delivered to the 
Monitoring Officer no later than 12 noon, seven working days before the 
meeting, not counting the day of the meeting. Motions must be about 
matters for which the Council has a responsibility or which affect the 
administrative area of the Council or part of it, or the inhabitants of that 
area. 

9.2  Each Member may put one motion on notice at each Council meeting.

9.3  All motions on notice received under paragraph 9.1 above will be set out 
in the agenda in the order in which they have been received. 

9.4  A Member may withdraw a motion on notice at any time. 

9.5  A motion on notice under paragraph 9.1 above can be moved at the 
meeting by any Member.  If the motion on notice is not moved, it will be 
treated as withdrawn and may not be moved without another notice in 
accordance with paragraph 9.1 above of these Rules. 

9.6  Any motion on notice under paragraph 9.1 above of these Rules, on being 
moved and seconded, will usually, without discussion, be referred to the 

Page 264



Part 4 – Council Procedure 
Rules April 2019

appropriate forum for consideration.  If the Chair considers it appropriate, 
allow the motion to be dealt with at the meeting at which it is moved and 
seconded provided that the motion, if carried, would:

(a) Not involve the Council incurring expenditure not included in the
Council’s approved revenue or capital budget.

(b) Not involve the Council being committed to take action which would
usually require public consultation or a statutory process to be
followed prior to it being made

10. Motions and amendments which may be moved without notice

10.1 The following motions and amendments may be moved without notice:- 

(a) To appoint a Chair of the meeting at which the motion is moved.
(b) In relation to the accuracy of the minutes.
(c) To change the order of business on the agenda.
(d) To receive the reports or adopt the recommendations of the Cabinet

or Committees, or reports and recommendations of Officers, and
any consequent resolutions.

(e) To refer something to an appropriate body or individual.
(f) To appoint a Committee or Member arising from an item on the

summons for the meeting.
(g) To withdraw a motion.
(h) To extend the time limit for speeches.
(i) To amend a motion.
(j) To proceed to the next business.
(k) To vote on a motion.
(l) To vote on an amendment.
(m) To adjourn a debate.
(n) To adjourn a meeting.
(o) To suspend a particular Council Procedure Rule.
(p) To exclude or re-admit the public and press in accordance with the

Access to Information Rules.
(q) To direct that a Member named under Rule 17.3 below be not

further heard or to exclude them from the meeting under Rule 17.4
below.

(r) To give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by
this Constitution.

10.2 A motion by the Chair under paragraph 10.1(p) below of these Rules, to 
exclude the public for an item of business, will be dealt with before any 
other motion on that item and will be voted on without discussion. 

11. Rules of debate

11.1 No discussion until motion or amendment seconded 
A motion or amendment will not be discussed or recorded in the minutes 
unless it has been proposed and seconded.

Page 265



Part 4 – Council Procedure 
Rules April 2019

11.2 Motion may need to be in writing 
If the Chair requires, the motion will be put in writing before it is further 
discussed. 

11.3 Seconder’s speech 
When seconding a motion or an amendment, a Member may reserve the 
right to speak at a later point in the debate. 

11.4 Content and length of speeches 
11.4.1 Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or 

to a personal explanation or point of order. 
11.4.2 No speech will be longer than five minutes, except as allowed by 

the Council following a motion moved and carried under Rule 
10.1(h) below, and will be about the matter under discussion. 

11.4.3 The five minutes time limit will not apply to a Member proposing 
a motion, or an amendment to a motion, who will be allowed to 
speak for no longer than ten minutes. 

11.5 When a member may speak again 
A Member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is 
the subject of debate, except:- 

(a) To speak once on an amendment moved by another Member.
(b) To move an amendment.
(c) To move a further amendment (if the motion has been amended

since they last spoke).
(d) If their first speech was on an amendment moved by another

Member, to speak on the main issue (whether or not the
amendment on which they spoke was carried).

(e) In exercise of a right of reply in accordance with paragraph 11.9
below of these Rules.

(f) On a point of order in accordance with paragraph 11.12 below.
(g) By way of personal explanation in accordance with paragraph 11.13

below.

11.6 Amendments to motions 
(a) An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and will

either be:-

(i) To refer the matter to an appropriate body, forum, or
individual for consideration or reconsideration.

(ii) To leave out words.
(iii) To leave out words and insert or add others; or
(iv) To insert or add words.

as long as the effect of (ii) to (iv) is not to cancel the effect of the 
motion. 

(b) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one
time. No further amendment may be moved until the amendment
under consideration has been dealt with.

Page 266



Part 4 – Council Procedure 
Rules April 2019

(c) If an amendment is lost, other amendments to the original motion
may be moved.

(d) If an amendment is carried, the motion, as amended, will take the
place of the original motion and will become the actual motion upon
which any further amendment may be moved.

(e) After an amendment has been carried, the Chair will read out the
amended motion before accepting any further amendments.  If
there are no further amendments, the Chair will put the motion (as
amended) to the vote.

11.7 Alteration of motion 
A Member may, with the agreement of the Chair, and without discussion:- 

(a) Change a motion of which they have given notice under Rule 9
above; or

(b) With the agreement of their seconder, change a motion which they
have moved.

(c) But only alterations which could be made as an amendment in
accordance with paragraph 11.6(a) above of these Rules may be
made.

11.8 Withdrawal of motion 
(a) A motion or an amendment may be withdrawn by the mover, but

only with the consent of the seconder and the Chair, which will be
given without discussion.

(b) No Member may speak on the motion after the mover has asked for
consent to withdraw it, unless consent is not given.

11.9 Right to reply 
(a) The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate

on the motion, immediately before it is put to the vote.
(b) If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion also

has the right of reply at the end of the debate on the amendment,
but may not otherwise speak on it.

(c) The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the debate on
his or her amendment.

(d) A reply under this paragraph will be confined to matters raised in
the debate on the motion or amendment.

(e) After every reply to which this Rule refers, a vote will be taken
without further discussion.

11.10 Motions which may be moved during a debate
11.10.1 When a motion is being discussed, no other motion may be 

moved except the following (non-closure) motions:- 

(a) To withdraw a motion.
(b) To amend a motion.
(c) That the subject of debate:-

(i) Be referred to the appropriate forum for
consideration.

Page 267



Part 4 – Council Procedure 
Rules April 2019

(ii) Be referred back to the appropriate forum for further
consideration.

(d) To exclude the public and press in accordance with the
Access to Information Rules.

(e) That a Member be not further heard in accordance with
paragraph 17.3.1 below of these Rules; and

(f) By the Chair, in accordance with paragraph 17.4.1 below
of these Rules, that a named Member leave the meeting.

11.10.2 Any of the motions under paragraph 11.10.1 above of these 
Rules will not take away from the mover of the original motion 
the right to reply. 

11.11 Closure motions which may be moved during a debate 
(a) A Member may move, without comment, any of the following

closure motions at the end of a speech of another Member:-

(i) To move to the next business.
(ii) That the question be put.
(iii) To adjourn the debate; or
(iv) To adjourn the meeting.

(b) If a motion “to move the next business” or “that the question be
put” is seconded and the Chair thinks the item has been sufficiently
discussed, they will put the closure motion to the vote. If it is
passed, the Chair will give the mover of the original motion a right
of reply before putting that original motion to the vote.

(c) If a motion “to adjourn the debate” or “to adjourn the meeting” is
seconded and the Chair thinks the item has not been sufficiently
discussed and cannot reasonably be so discussed on that occasion,
they will put the closure motion to the vote without giving the
mover of the original motion the right of reply.

11.12 Point of order 
11.12.1 A Member may ask to make a point of order at any time and will 

have the right to be heard at once, but will stay silent until 
asked by the Chair to speak. 

11.12.2 A point of order will only be about a claimed breach of a 
provision of these Council Procedure Rules or of law and the 
Member will indicate the paragraph(s) or law and the way in 
which they consider it has been broken. 

11.12.3 The ruling of the Chair on the matter will be final and will not be 
open to discussion. 

11.13 Personal explanation 
11.13.1 A Member may ask to give a personal explanation at any time 

and will have the right to be heard at once, but will stay silent 
until asked by the Chair to speak. 

11.13.2 A personal explanation will be confined to some material part of 
an earlier speech by the Member which may appear to have 
been misunderstood in a later stage of the debate. 

Page 268



Part 4 – Council Procedure 
Rules April 2019

11.13.3 The ruling of the Chair on the admissibility of a personal 
explanation will be final. 

12. Previous decisions and motions

12.1 Motion to rescind a previous decision 
A motion to overturn a decision made at a meeting of the Council within 
the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion is 
signed by at least fifteen Members. Once the motion is dealt with, no 
Member can propose a similar motion for six months. 

12.2 The restrictions contained in paragraph 12.1 above do not apply to:-

(a) A recommendation contained in a referral from Cabinet or any
Committee to the Council.

(b) A recommendation contained in a report presented individually or
collectively by Chief Officers.

12.3 Motion similar to one previously rejected 
A motion or amendment which means the same or largely the same as 
one that has been rejected at a meeting of Council in the past six months 
cannot be moved unless the notice of motion or amendment is signed by 
at least fifteen Members. Once the motion or amendment is dealt with, no 
Member can propose a similar motion or amendment for six months. 

13. Voting

13.1 Simple majority 
Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by 
a simple majority of those Members voting and present at the time the 
question was put. 

13.2 Chair’s casting vote 
13.2.1  The Chair should exercise their casting vote with appropriate 

caution.  A casting vote is only called upon when Members 
cannot reach a majority and due respect should be given to the 
lack of consensus.  However, the Chair is ultimately entitled to 
exercise their vote as they consider appropriate.

13.2.2  In the case of the Chair refraining from exercising a second vote 
the motion or amendment being voted on will not be carried.

13.3 Show of hands 
Unless a recorded vote is demanded under paragraph 13.4.1 below or 
required under paragraph 13.4.2 below of the Rules, the Chair will take 
the vote by show of hands, or if there is no dissent, by the affirmation of 
the meeting. 

13.4 Recorded vote 
13.4.1 If, before a vote is taken, a Member asks that the voting be 

recorded and the request is supported by ten other Members 
(who will show their support by a show of hands):- 

Page 269



Part 4 – Council Procedure 
Rules April 2019

(a) The Officer advising the Chair at the meeting will call the
name of each Member present at the meeting.

(b) The Member will say whether they are for or against the
motion or are abstaining; and

(c) Each Member’s response will be recorded in the minutes.

13.4.2  There will also be a recorded vote when required by law.  This 
includes that a recorded vote will be required at a meeting of 
the Council on motions, amendments or substantive motions 
relating to the approval of the budget or setting of council tax, 
whereby there shall be recorded in the minutes the names of the 
Members who cast a vote for the motion/amendment or against 
the motion/amendment or who abstained from voting.  As this is 
a mandatory standing order under the Local Authorities 
(Standing Orders) Regulations 2001, it cannot be suspended 
under Council Procedure Rule 19.1 below.

13.5 Right to require individual vote to be recorded 
Where any Member so requires, immediately after a vote has been taken 
on any matter, the minutes must record whether that Member voted for 
or against or abstained. 

13.6 Voting on appointments 
13.6.1 If there are more than two people nominated for any position to 

be filled, a vote shall be taken. If there is not an overall majority 
of votes in favour of one person, then the name of the person 
(or persons) with the fewest votes will be taken off the list and a 
new vote taken.  This shall be repeated until only one candidate 
remains with an overall majority.

13.6.2 If, in the scenario that there was a tie for the fewest number of 
votes, and removal of the candidates would mean only one 
candidate is left, then, the Chief Executive (or their 
representative) will draw lots between those with the fewest 
votes to determine which of the candidates with fewest votes 
will proceed to the next round; 

13.6.3 Where more than one position is contested (for example, there 
are to be two Vice-Chairs of a Committee) each position will be 
voted on separately. 

13.6.4 In the event of there being an equality of votes for the final two 
candidates, lots will be drawn by the Chief Executive (or their 
representative) to decide which person is elected. 

14. Minutes

14.1 Approval and signing 
(a) The Chair will sign the minutes of the proceedings, once they are

confirmed as a correct record, at the next suitable meeting.
(b) In this regard, the Chair will seek a mover and seconder for the

motion “that the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on
………………” be confirmed and signed as a correct record”. 

Page 270



Part 4 – Council Procedure 
Rules April 2019

(c) There will be no discussion on the minutes, except by way of a
motion upon their accuracy.

14.2 No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at 
extraordinary or special meeting 
The minutes of the preceding meeting of the Council will not be submitted 
to an Extraordinary or Special meeting of the Council for approval but will 
be submitted to the next ordinary meeting.

15. Record of attendance

15.1 All Members present during the whole or part of a meeting will, before the 
conclusion of such meeting, sign their names on the Attendance Register 
provided. 

16. Exclusion of public

16.1 If a matter may fall within the list of exempt or confidential
information set out in Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, the matter will not be discussed until the Council has 
decided whether the public should be excluded from the meeting. 

16.2 Members of the public may only be excluded either in accordance 
with the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution or 
paragraph 18 below (Disturbance by Public) of these Rules. 

17. Members’ conduct

17.1 One member to speak at a time 
(a) When speaking, a Member will stand at their place and address the

Chair. If two or more Members indicate to speak at the same time,
the Chair will call on one to speak; and

(b) While a Member is speaking, all other Members will remain silent
and seated unless asking to make a point of order or of personal
explanation.

17.2 Respect for the chair 
Whenever the Chair rises during a debate the Member then standing and 
speaking will stop speaking and sit down and the Council will be silent. 

17.3 Member not to be heard further 
17.3.1 If, at a meeting, any Member, in the opinion of the Chair, 

repeatedly ignores the Chair’s ruling or behaves irregularly, 
improperly or offensively, or wilfully obstructs the business of 
the Council, the Chair or any other member may move “That the 
member named be not further heard” and the motion, if 
seconded, will be voted on without discussion. 

17.4 Continuing misconduct of a named member 
17.4.1 If the Member named continues to behave improperly after a 

motion in accordance with paragraph 17.3 above is carried, the 
Chair will move a motion that either:-

Page 271



Part 4 – Council Procedure 
Rules April 2019

(a) The meeting be adjourned for however long the Chair
states; or

(b) The Member named leave the meeting.

If seconded, the motion will be voted on without discussion. 

17.4.2 If, after a motion under paragraph 17.4.1 above of these Rules 
has been carried, the Member named does not leave the 
meeting, the Chair may order the removal of the Member and 
may adjourn the meeting without debate or resolution to enable 
removal to take place. 

17.5 General disturbance 
In the event of general disturbance among the Members which, in the 
opinion of the Chair, makes it impossible to carry on the meeting, the 
Chair may stand and declare the meeting adjourned for however long as 
they state. 

17.6 Interpretation of rules - ruling of Chair not to be challenged
The decision of the Chair about the meaning or use of any of these Rules, 
or about any proceedings of the Council, is final and may not be 
challenged. 

17.7 Interests of members in matters under discussion
Members must observe the rules in the Members’ Code of Conduct in Part 
5 of this Constitution. Any Member declaring a disclosable pecuniary 
interest must leave the room where the meeting is being held for as long 
as the matter is being considered.

18. Disturbance by public

18.1 Removal of member of the public 
If a member of the public interrupts the proceedings of any meeting, the 
Chair will warn the person concerned not to interrupt. If the interruption is 
repeated, the Chair will order the removal of that person from the 
meeting room. The Chair may without debate or resolution adjourn the 
meeting to allow removal to take place.

18.2 Clearance of part of meeting room 
In the case of general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open 
to the public, the Chair will give a warning and if the disturbance 
continues will order that part to be cleared, but may identify persons who 
may remain. The Chair may without debate or resolution adjourn the 
meeting to allow clearance to take place.

18.3 No re-admittance for those removed 
In the case of paragraphs 18.1 and 18.2 above, any member of the public 
removed from a meeting following a disturbance will not be re-admitted 
during the remainder of that meeting. 

Page 272



Part 4 – Council Procedure 
Rules April 2019

19. Suspension and amendment of Council procedure rules

19.1 Suspension 
All of these Council Rules of Procedure except Rules 13.4.2 and 14.1 
above may be suspended by motion on notice (in accordance with 
paragraph 9.1 above of these Rules) or without notice under if at least 
one half of the whole number of Members of the Council are present. 
Suspension can only be for the whole or part of the meeting at which they 
are suspended. 

19.2 Amendment 
Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Rules of Procedure 
will, when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to 
the next ordinary meeting of the Council with a report and 
recommendation from the appropriate forum/Officer. 

20. Custody of seal

20.1 The Common Seal of the Council will be kept by the Assistant Director 
(HR, Legal and Democratic Services). 

21. Arms of the Council – use or reproduction

21.1 Any application to use or reproduce the Arms granted to the Council will 
be referred to the Assistant Director (HR, Legal and Democratic Services) 
in consultation with the Chair, and that Officer will refuse or grant 
permission, or refer the application to the Council for a decision.

Page 273



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 274



Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules
Appendix A St Edmundsbury
Borough Council Petition Scheme April 2019

Appendix A

West Suffolk Council Petition Scheme

1. Introduction

1.1 This Scheme sets out the details of how the West Suffolk Council will deal 
with and respond to petitions.

2. Petitions

2.1 The Council welcomes petitions and recognises that petitions are one way 
in which people can let us know their concerns.

2.2 Petitions that meet the requirements about the number of signatories set 
out below can be presented at a meeting of Council, Cabinet or a 
Committee or can trigger a Council Debate, prompt the review of a Traffic 
Regulation Order (TRO) or require specified Officers of the Council to give 
evidence to a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  The 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee is a committee of Councillors who are 
responsible for scrutinising the work of the Council.  

2.3 Petitions can be received by the Council in a number of ways:-

(a) Petitions can be sent in writing to:

Monitoring Officer
West Suffolk Council
West Suffolk House
Western Way
Bury St Edmunds
Suffolk
IP33 3YU

(b) Electronic petitions can be created, signed and submitted by using
free software that is available online.  A number of websites provide
this service which can be easily found by using an internet search
engine.

(c) Petitions can also be presented to a meeting of Council, Cabinet, or
an appropriate Committee.  Details of the meetings timetable can be
found here Calendar of Meetings

2.4 If you would like to present your petition at a meeting of the Council, 
Cabinet or Committee or would like your Councillor to present it on your 
behalf, please contact:-

Monitoring Officer 
Telephone: (01284) 757162  
E-mail: democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Page 275

https://democracy.westsuffolk.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1
mailto:democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk


Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules
Appendix A St Edmundsbury
Borough Council Petition Scheme April 2019

at least seven working days before the meeting and help you to arrange 
this.

3. What are the guidelines for submitting a petition?

3.1 Petitions submitted to the Council must be about:
(a) A service that the Council provides and include a clear and concise

statement covering the subject of the petition; or
(b) A Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) within the West Suffolk boundary.

3.2 It should state:-

(a) The contact details, including an address, for the petition organiser.
This is the person we will contact to explain how we will respond to
the petition.  The contact details of the petitioner will not be placed
on the Council’s website.

(b) What action the petitioners wish the Council to take.

(c) (For petitions relating to TROs) the name of the TRO in effect (eg
car park or road name) and which aspects the petitioners wish to
see reviewed.

(d) The name and address and signature of any person supporting the
petition.  The contact details of the petition organiser will not be
placed on the website.

(e) The petition must contain the signatures of people who live, work or
study in the Council’s area.

3.3 If the petition does not identify a petition organiser, we will contact 
signatories to the petition to agree who should act as the petition 
organiser.  We will not consider petitions which are considered by the 
Assistant Director (HR, Legal and Democratic Services) to be vexatious, 
abusive or otherwise inappropriate and these will not be accepted.  In that 
case, we will write to you to explain the reasons.

3.4 If the petition applies to a planning or licensing application, is a statutory 
petition (for example requesting a referendum on having an elected 
mayor), or on a matter where there is already an existing right of appeal, 
such as council tax banding and non-domestic rates, other procedures 
apply (unless your petition fails to meet that requirements for those 
procedures or, is about the failure to deliver service in those areas, rather 
than a specific case). 

3.5 In the period leading up to an election or referendum we may need to 
deal differently with your petition.  If this applies we will explain the way 
that we will deal with the petition.  

3.6 The Council can reject a parking petition in the following circumstances.  
If the petition:

Page 276



Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules
Appendix A St Edmundsbury
Borough Council Petition Scheme April 2019

(a) Requests a review of many traffic regulations over too wide an
area.

(b) Is a series of petitions from a small or non-resident group
addressing a particular aspect of the parking policies over a number
of areas.

(c) Relates to a TRO where a review has taken place in the last 12
months and where there has been no significant external change.

3.7 We will inform the petition organiser at the earliest opportunity of the 
grounds for rejecting a petition and will advise on how the petition could 
be validly submitted.

4. What will the Council do when it receives my petition?

4.1 An acknowledgement will be sent to the petition organiser within 10 
working days of receiving the petition. It will let them know what we plan 
to do with the petition and when they can expect to hear from us again. It 
will also be published on our website. 

4.2 If we can do what your petition asks for, the acknowledgement may 
confirm that we have taken the action requested and the petition will be 
closed. Depending on the number of signatures, whether it can be 
presented to Council, Cabinet or an appropriate Committee, then the 
acknowledgment will confirm this and tell you when and where the next 
meeting will take place. If the petition needs more investigation, we will 
tell you the steps we plan to take.

4.3 When a petition is seeking the review of a parking policy, the Council will 
confirm the aspects of parking policy concerned, whether the review is 
valid and has been accepted and advise the petition organiser of the next 
steps.

4.4 We will not take action on any petition which the Monitoring Officer 
considers to be vexatious, abusive or otherwise inappropriate and will 
explain the reasons for this in our acknowledgement of the petition.

4.5 To ensure that people know what we are doing in response to the 
petitions we receive, the details of all the petitions submitted to us will be 
published on our website, except in cases where this would be 
inappropriate. Whenever possible we will also publish all correspondence 
relating to the petition (all personal details will be removed). 

5. How will the Council respond to petitions?

5.1 Our response to a petition will depend on what a petition asks for and how 
many people have signed it, but may include one or more of the 
following:-

(a) Taking the action requested in the petition.
(b) Considering the petition at a Council meeting.
(c) Holding an inquiry into the matter.

Page 277



Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules
Appendix A St Edmundsbury
Borough Council Petition Scheme April 2019

(d) Undertaking research into the matter.
(e) Holding a public meeting.
(f) Holding a consultation.
(g) Holding a meeting with petitioners.
(h) Referring the petition for consideration by the Council’s Overview

and Scrutiny Committee.
(i) Calling a referendum.
(j) Writing to the petition organiser setting out our views about the

request in the petition.

5.2 In addition to these steps, the Council will consider all the specific actions 
it can legally take on the issues highlighted in a petition.

6. Petitions requesting the review of a Traffic Regulation Order
(TRO)

6.1 The Council’s wider petition scheme will only accept petitions with at least 
20 signatures.  Taking this into account, and considering the size of the 
Council’s car parks, the minimum number of signatures that can prompt 
the review of a TRO is 20.  Any petition received with the number of 
signatures below that number will be rejected as invalid.

6.2 TROs are reviewed annually by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
When a petition contains 20 or more signatures, the review requested will 
be included as part of the review for consideration.

6.3 Once the petition has been accepted as valid, the petition organiser will be 
advised of the following:

(a) What the review will involve.
(b) Whether any public consultation is required.
(c) The likely timescale and dates of meetings when the review will be

considered.
(d) That they will receive regular updates.
(e) A copy of the report to be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny

Committee will be sent to the petition organiser to consider and
respond to before a final decision is made.

7. Petition requiring Council debate

7.1 If a petition contains more than 2500 signatures it will be debated by 
Council unless it is a petition asking for a senior Council Officer to give 
evidence at a public meeting.

7.2 The issue raised in the petition will be discussed at a Council meeting 
which all Councillors can attend. The petition organiser will be given not 
more than five minutes to present the petition at the meeting and the 
petition will then be discussed by Councillors for a maximum of 20 
minutes. The Council will decide how to respond to the petition at this 
meeting, it may decide to:-

Page 278



Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules
Appendix A St Edmundsbury
Borough Council Petition Scheme April 2019

(a) Take the action the petition requests.
(b) Not to take the action requested for reasons put forward in the

debate; or
(c) To commission further investigation into the matter, for example by

referring it to a relevant Committee.

7.3 The petition organiser will receive written confirmation of this decision. 
This confirmation will also be published on our website.

8. Petition requiring an officer to give evidence

8.1 If it contains at least 1250 signatures your petition may ask for a senior 
Council Officer to give evidence at a public meeting about something for 
which the officer is responsible as part of their job. A list of the Officers 
that can be called to give evidence is as follows:-

 Chief Executive
 Directors
 Assistant Directors

8.2 For example, your petition may ask a senior Council Officer:-

 To explain progress on an issue; or
 To explain the advice given to elected Members to enable them to

make a particular decision.

8.3 The evidence will be given at a meeting of the Council’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and you will be given due notice to enable you to 
attend. These meetings are normally held in public, but the Committee 
has the option to exclude the press and public from any part of the 
meeting that discusses confidential information. You should be aware that 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may decide that it would be more 
appropriate for another Officer to give evidence instead of any Officer 
named in the petition, for instance if the named Officer has changed jobs. 
Committee Members will ask the questions at this meeting, but you will be 
able to suggest questions to the Chair of the Committee by contacting the 
Monitoring Officer on (01284) 757162 or email: 
democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk up to three working days before 
the meeting.

8.4 Petitions containing not less than 100 signatories can be presented at a 
meeting of Council during Public Question Time, provided seven working 
days notice has been given to the Proper Officer before the meeting.  The 
Council will, without debate, refer any petition to the appropriate forum 
for consideration.

8.5 If petitioners so wish, a petition containing not less than 20 signatures 
may, instead, be presented to the Leader of the Council or to the Chair of 
the appropriate Committee or the relevant Chief Officer, for consideration 
by the Cabinet or the appropriate Committee(s), provided seven working 
days’ notice in writing has been given to the Proper Officer before the 
relevant meeting.  When a petition is considered by the Cabinet or the 

Page 279

mailto:democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk


Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules
Appendix A St Edmundsbury
Borough Council Petition Scheme April 2019

appropriate Committee, a representative of the petitioners may speak at 
the meeting for not more than three minutes.

9. E-petitions

9.1 The Council welcomes petitions in electronic format.  A number of 
websites are available that allow electronic petitions to be created and for 
the final petitions to be emailed to the Council.  These should be sent to: 
democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk

9.2 Please note that the Council is not responsible for the content of any 
external websites used to create e-petitions.  The Council shall not be 
liable for how your personal data may be used by the website providers or 
the petition host. 

9.3 The e-petition organiser will need to:-

(a) Provide us with their name, postal address and email address.
(b) State how long you would like your petition to be open for

signatures (most petitions run for three months, but you can choose
a shorter period).

9.4 When an e-petition has closed for signature, the petition organiser should 
submit it to democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk for further 
consideration as appropriate. In the same way as a paper petition, you 
will receive an acknowledgement within 10 working days. If you would like 
to present your petition to the Council, or would like your Councillor to 
present it on your behalf, please contact:

Monitoring Officer 
Telephone: (01284) 757162 or
Email: democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk

within five days of the petition closing.

9.5 The acknowledgment and response to the e-petition will also be published 
on the Council’s website.

10. How do I ‘sign’ an e-petition?

10.1 The free online software used will enable people wishing to ‘sign’ the 
petition free of charge by submitting their name and email address.  The 
signer will usually receive an automatic email from the provider, asking 
them to confirm that they want to sign the petition.

11. What if my petition has not been dealt with properly?

11.1 If you feel that we have not dealt with your petition properly, the petition 
organiser has the right to request that the Council’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee review the steps that the Council has taken in 
response to your petition.

Page 280

mailto:democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk


Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules
Appendix A St Edmundsbury
Borough Council Petition Scheme April 2019

11.2 The Committee will consider your request at the next available meeting 
receiving it. Should the Committee determine that the Council has not 
dealt with your petition adequately, it may use any of its powers to deal 
with the matter. These powers include instigating an investigation, making 
recommendations to the Council and arranging for the matter to be 
considered at a meeting of the Council.

11.3 Once the appeal has been considered the petition organiser will be 
informed of the results within five working days. The results of the review 
will also be published on our website.

Page 281



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 282



Part 4 – Committee Procedure 
Rules April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Committee Procedure Rules

1. Terms of reference

1.1 The terms of reference of Committees will be approved by the 
Cabinet or Council as appropriate.

1.2  Every Committee will be able to propose changes to its own terms 
of reference for consideration by the Cabinet or Council.

2. Time and place of meetings

2.1  Committee and Sub-Committee meetings shall take place on the 
dates and at the times set out in the Calendar of Meetings approved 
by Council before the start of each civic year, except that:-

a) The Members of any Committee or Sub-Committee may
resolve to hold the meetings at a time that is different from
that in the calendar, but is the same for every meeting.

b) The Chair, after appropriate consultation and before the
publication of the agenda for any given meeting, may alter
the date, time or place of any meeting if, in their opinion, it
would assist the efficient conduct of the committee or Sub-
Committee’s business.

but in all cases regard will be had to the compatibility of the date, 
time or place proposed with the right of the public to attend.

2.2  An extraordinary meeting of a Committee or Sub-Committee may 
be called by:-

a) The Chair or in their absence, the Vice-Chair; or
b) By any three Members of the Committee or Sub-Committee

giving written notice to the Chief Executive specifying the
business to be transacted.

2.3  A Chair may cancel a Committee or Sub-Committee meeting if they 
consider that there is insufficient business to transact or that it 
would assist the efficient conduct of the Committee or Sub-
Committee’s business.

3. Publication and distribution of agendas

3.1 Notice of the time and place of any meeting will be published in 
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules.

3.2 Unless convened at shorter notice, at least five clear days before a 
meeting, the agenda will be published electronically and made 
available to the public and Members.

Agenda Item 4b

Page 283



Part 4 – Committee Procedure 
Rules April 2019

3.3 The agenda will give the date, time and place of each meeting and 
specify the business to be transacted, and will be accompanied by 
such reports as are available. 

3.4  The validity of a meeting will not be affected by a Member being 
unable to access the agenda and reports.

3.4 Informal meetings or Panels will not be covered by the Rules in this 
section. 

4. Quorum

4.1 The quorum of Committees, Sub-Committees, Working Parties and 
Panels shall not be less than three Members, or one third of the 
total membership, whichever is the greater, and will be as 
determined by the Monitoring Officer, having regard to that 
principle. 

4.2 No business will be dealt with unless the Committee or Sub-
Committee is quorate.  Any items of business that cannot be dealt 
with because the meeting is or becomes inquorate shall stand 
adjourned for consideration at the next ordinary meeting of the 
Committee or Sub-committee unless:-

a) The Chair and Leader agree a date and time for the meeting
to continue; or

b) An extraordinary meeting is called in accordance with Rule
2.2 above; or

c) The remaining items of business are for information only and
do not require a formal decision.

4.3 A Committee or Sub-Committee may still debate the substance of 
items on their agenda even if not quorate.  However, they may not 
make any decisions on any item.

5. Attendance register

5.1 All Members present during the whole or part of a meeting will, 
before the conclusion of such meeting, sign their names on the 
Attendance Register provided.

6. Election of chairs and vice-chairs of committees and sub-
committees

6.1 Except in the case of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the 
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee (whose Chair and Vice-
Chair are appointed by the Council), every Committee and every 
Sub-Committee will, as its first business as a newly appointed 
Committee following each Annual Meeting of the Council, elect a 
Chair and Vice-Chair.

Page 284



Part 4 – Committee Procedure 
Rules April 2019

6.2  Except in an ordinary election year, the Members who were Chair 
and Vice-Chair prior to the Annual Meeting will, if still in office and 
Members of the relevant Committee or Sub-Committee, remain in 
post until immediately prior to its first meeting after the Annual 
Meeting.

6.3 Unless otherwise stated, the Chair and Vice-Chair of every 
Committee and Sub-Committee will be elected Members of the 
Council. 

7. Order of business

7.1 Unless changed in accordance with Rule 7.2 below the order of 
business at Committee and Sub-Committee meetings will be:- 

(a) To elect a Chair or to choose a Member to preside if the Chair
and Vice-Chair are not present.

(b) To deal with any business required by law to be dealt with
first.

(c) Declaration of substitutions.
(d) Apologies for absence.
(e) To confirm as a correct record and sign available minutes

from previous meetings.
(f) Public speaking in accordance with Rule 11 below.
(g) To receive any petitions in accordance with the Council’s

Petition Scheme.
(h) To deal with any business remaining from the last meeting in

accordance with Rule 4.2 below.
(i) To receive and consider any items arising from Panels,

Working Groups or Sub-Committees appointed by the
Committee.

(j) Other business as set out on the agenda.
(k) Agenda items requested by Members in accordance with

Rules 13 and 14 below (Questions on notice and Motions
which need written notice).

(l) To consider the date and time of the next meeting and any
proposals for future agenda items under Rule 12 below.

(m) To consider any business which, by reason of special
circumstances should in the opinion of the Chair, be
considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.  The
special circumstances concerned shall be specified in the
minutes of that meeting.

7.2  The order of business except for items (a) to (e) above may be 
changed:- 

(a) Before or at a meeting, as the Chair sees fit; or
(b) By a resolution of the meeting passed on a motion under

Rules 14 or 15.1(c) below.

Page 285



Part 4 – Committee Procedure 
Rules April 2019

8. Chairing a meeting

8.1 Subject to paragraph 8.3 below, where the Chair is not
present the Vice-Chair will, if present, chair the meeting. 

8.2 If the Chair and Vice-Chair are not present at a meeting, the 
Members present will choose one of their number to chair the 
meeting. 

8.3 If, after the start of a meeting:- 

(a) The Chair arrives; or
(b) A Vice-Chair arrives when the Chair is not present,

they will take the chair of the meeting after any item
which is being discussed when they arrive has been
dealt with.

9. Substitutes
Powers and Duties

9.1 Once a substitute has been declared, they will have the ordinary 
status of a Member present in their own right and will not be the 
delegate of the original Member. They will not be able to exercise 
any special powers or duties exercisable by the person for whom 
they are substituting. Any disqualification of the original Member to 
speak or vote, however, is not transferred to the substitute. 
Conversely, if a substitute Member is disqualified to speak or vote 
on a particular item, they must declare it. 

9.2 If an original Member arrives at a meeting at which a substitute has 
already been declared, the substitute will remain the Member 
entitled to speak and vote. Once a substitution has been declared, 
the original Member will not be entitled to attend the meeting, 
either as a Member of the Committee or Sub-Committee or ‘by 
invitation’ (this is because if a substitution is declared it is on the 
pre-supposition that the original Member has declared themselves 
unable to attend the meeting). 

9.3 The procedure for the appointment of temporary substitutes will be 
in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 
of this Constitution. 

Substitution Rules 

9.4 At the commencement of each meeting of a Committee or Sub-
Committee (or upon arrival, if arriving late) each Member 
substituting for another Member will declare the said substitution. 

9.5 Once a substitute has been declared as present in place of a 
Member for a meeting of that Committee or Sub-Committee, that 
substitute will take the place of the Member and will be able to 

Page 286



Part 4 – Committee Procedure 
Rules April 2019

speak and vote (subject to the declaration of any interests, as is 
usual practice). 

9.6 Once a substitute has declared that they are substituting for 
another Member, the original Member will not be able to replace the 
substitute Member during the course of the meeting. If the 
substitute Member leaves the meeting during the course of the 
meeting, the original Member will not be allowed to attend and vote 
in place of the substitute.

9.7 If, at the commencement of the meeting, the original Member is 
present, then a substitution cannot take place. 

9.8 Any original Member of a Committee may seek a substitute from 
any of those on the appointed list of substitutes for that Committee 
or Sub-Committee, provided that they are from the same political 
group to maintain political balance.

9.9 No substitute Member has the automatic right to substitute for 
another Member who is not present.  It is for the original Member 
to select a substitute in accordance with paragraph 9.8 above.  
However, where the original Member is incapacitated, due to 
sickness or hospitalisation and is, therefore, unable to appoint a 
substitute Member themselves, then their Group Leader will be 
asked to nominate a Member from the same political group to 
substitute for the original Member.  

9.10 Substitute Members cannot be appointed to attend meetings for a 
Member who ceases to be a member of the Council (ie by way of 
resignation, disqualification or death in service).  Instead, the 
relevant seat shall be carried as a vacancy on the Committee until 
an alternative appointment is made.

10. Attending and speaking at committee and sub-committee
meetings

10.1  Except as provided in Rules 10.2 to 10.5 below, a Member of the 
Council shall not be entitled to speak or vote at a meeting of any 
Committee or Sub-Committee unless they are a Member of that 
Committee or Sub-Committee.

10.2  Where a motion stands referred to a Committee or Sub-Committee 
the mover and/or the seconder of the motion may attend the 
meeting which is to consider the motion and take part in any 
discussion about it, but cannot vote unless a Member of the 
Committee or Sub-Committee.

10.3  Local Members have the right to speak at a Committee meeting 
which is discussing matters that affect or relate to their Ward.  
However, this must comply with any requirements that are set out 
in these Procedure Rules or as may be agreed by the Committee in 
question. 

Page 287



Part 4 – Committee Procedure 
Rules April 2019

10.4  A Member who is not a member of a Committee or Sub-Committee 
but who wishes to speak at a meeting of that body will be permitted 
to do so if they have indicated in advance to the Chair that they 
wish to speak on a particular agenda item.

10.5  The Chair may at their discretion allow non-members of the 
Committee or Sub-Committee to speak in situations not falling 
within paragraphs 10.2 to 10.4 above.

11. Public speaking

11.1  Members of the public who live or work in the District are welcome 
to speak at any open meeting of a Committee or Sub-Committee. 
They may ask a question or make a statement on any item on the 
agenda for that meeting.

11.2  A person who wishes to speak must register at least fifteen minutes 
before the time the meeting is scheduled to start.  This can be done 
online by sending the request to 
democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk or telephoning 01284 
757176/01638 719363 or in person by telling the Committee 
Administrator present at the meeting.  The Chair of the Committee 
has discretion to allow anyone who has not registered to be able to 
speak.

11.3  The Monitoring Officer in respect of any question notified before the 
meeting, or the Chair, in respect of any question notified at the 
meeting, may reject a question if it:- 

(a) Is not about a matter for which the Council has a
responsibility or which affects the District.

(b) Is defamatory, frivolous or offensive.
(c) Is substantially the same as a question which has been put at

a meeting of the Council in the past six months; or
(d) Requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information.

11.4  There will be an overall time limit of 15 minutes for public speaking, 
which may be extended at the Chair’s discretion.  Speakers will be 
called in the order in which they gave notice. Each person may ask 
one question or make one statement and will be allowed up to three 
minutes.  If the question can be answered orally at the meeting it 
will be, and the question and answer will be summarised in the 
minutes.  Questions that cannot be answered immediately will be 
answered in writing to the questioner, distributed to all Members of 
the Committee or Sub-Committee and published on the Council’s 
website.  If a question is asked and answered within three minutes, 
the person who asked the question may ask a supplementary 
question that arises from the reply which may be answered orally 
or in writing as above.

11.5 These public speaking rules do not apply to meetings of the 
Development Control Committee, as the Committee has its own 

Page 288

mailto:democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk


Part 4 – Committee Procedure 
Rules April 2019

authority to determine from time to time, its own arrangements for 
public speaking on applications, and which matters are to be 
included within those arrangements (see Part 3 – Functions and 
Responsibilities; Section 2 – Responsibility for Council (Non 
Executive) Functions; A-Development Control and as set out in the 
'Guide to Having a Say on Planning Applications'.

11.6 These public speaking rules do not apply to meetings of the 
Licensing and Regulatory Committee, when the Committee sits as a 
hearing, in which case the Hearing Procedure Rules will apply (see 
Part 3 – Functions and Responsibilities;  Section 2 – Responsibility 
for Council Functions; B-Licensing).

12. Agenda items requested by members

12.1  Any Member of a Committee or Sub-Committee may propose under 
Rule 7.1(l) above, an item to be considered at a future meeting of 
that Committee or Sub-Committee.  The Member shall give notice 
of such items to the Chair and to the Monitoring Officer no later 
than 12 noon, seven working days before the date of the meeting 
(not including the day of the meeting) together with a brief 
explanation of the item and its purpose, which will then be 
published on the agenda.

12.2  To be eligible for consideration, the item proposed must fall within 
the terms of reference or the delegated powers of the Committee or 
Sub-Committee.

12.3  The Member shall present their proposal to the Committee or Sub-
Committee and may be questioned on it before the Committee or 
Sub-Committee resolves whether or not to refer the matter to a 
future meeting for report and consideration in the usual way.

Questions on notice 

13.1  Subject to paragraph 13.5 below, a Member may submit in writing 
to the Monitoring Officer a question on notice for:- 

(a) The Chair; or
(b) The Chair of any Sub-Committee

on any matter in relation to which the Committee or Sub-
Committee has powers or duties. 

13.2  A Member may ask only one question on notice under paragraph 
13.1 above at each meeting and:-

a) Must submit it in writing to the Monitoring Officer no later
than 12 noon, seven working days before the meeting, not
counting the day of the meeting; or

b) If the question is urgent and the Member has the consent of
the Member to whom the question is to be put, must submit

Page 289

http://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/upload/Guide-to-having-a-say-on-planning-applications-West-Suffolk-Version-25-03-15-2.pdf


Part 4 – Committee Procedure 
Rules April 2019

it in writing to the Monitoring Officer by 12 noon on the 
working day before the meeting.  

13.3  Every question on notice will be answered without discussion. The 
Member who is asked the question on notice may ask another 
Member to answer. An answer may take the form of:- 

(a) A direct oral answer summarised in the minutes.
(b) Where the desired information is in a publication of the

Council or other published work, a reference to that
publication; or

(c) Where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally at the
meeting, a written answer sent by the appropriate Officer
and/or relevant Member to all Members within five working
days of the meeting.

13.4  A Member asking a question on notice under paragraph 13.1 above, 
may ask one supplementary question, without notice, of a Member 
to whom the first question was asked. The supplementary question 
must arise directly from the original question or the reply.  The total 
time allowed for each question, including any supplementary 
question, to be put and answered will be ten minutes.

13.5  If the Member who gave notice of the question is not present at the 
meeting, any other Member may ask that question but if that does 
not occur the Chair shall proceed to the next item of business.  The 
question shall be deemed to have been withdrawn and may not be 
asked unless notice is given again in accordance with paragraph 
13.1 above.

14. Motions which need written notice

14.1 Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule 
15 below, written notice of every motion must be delivered to the 
Monitoring Officer no later than 12 noon, seven working days 
before the meeting, not counting the day of the meeting. Motions 
must be about matters for which the Committee or Sub-Committee 
has a responsibility. 

14.2  Each Member may put one motion on notice at each meeting.

14.3  All motions on notice received under paragraph 14.1 above, will be 
set out in the agenda in the order in which they have been 
received. 

14.4  A Member may withdraw a motion on notice at any time. 

14.5  A motion on notice under paragraph 14.1 above, can be moved at 
the meeting by any Member.  If the motion on notice is not moved, 
it will be treated as withdrawn and may not be moved without 
another notice in accordance with paragraph 14.1 above. 

Page 290



Part 4 – Committee Procedure 
Rules April 2019

14.6  Any motion on notice under paragraph 14.1 above, on being moved 
and seconded, will usually, without discussion, be referred to a 
future meeting for report and consideration.  The Chair may, if they 
consider it appropriate, allow the motion to be dealt with at the 
meeting at which it is moved and seconded provided that the 
motion, if carried, would:
(a) Involve the Council incurring expenditure not included in the

Council’s approved revenue or capital budget.
(b) Not involve the Council being committed to take action which

would usually require public consultation or a statutory
process to be followed prior to it being made

15. Motions and amendments which may be moved without
notice

15.1 The following motions and amendments may be moved without 
notice:- 

(a) To appoint a Chair of the meeting at which the motion is
moved.

(b) In relation to the accuracy of the minutes.
(c) To change the order of business on the agenda.
(d) To receive the reports or adopt the recommendations of any

Sub-Committees, or reports and recommendations of Officers
and any consequent resolutions.

(e) To refer something to an appropriate body or individual.
(f) To withdraw a motion.
(g) To extend the time limit for speeches.
(h) To suspend any of these Rules for the whole or part of the

meeting.
(i) To amend a motion.
(j) To proceed to the next business.
(k) To vote on a motion.
(l) To vote on an amendment.
(m) To adjourn a debate.
(n) To adjourn a meeting.
(o) To exclude or re-admit the public and press in accordance

with the Access to Information Rules.
(p) To direct that a Member named under Rule 20.3 below, be

not further heard or to exclude them from the meeting under
Rule 20.4 below.

15.2 A motion by the Chair under paragraph 15.1(o) below of these 
Rules, to exclude the public for an item of business, will be dealt 
with before any other motion on that item and will be voted on 
without discussion. 

16. Rules of debate

16.1 The Chair has authority to manage the meeting, debate and 
decision making in a manner they consider most appropriate to 
reach a clear conclusion on items on the agenda.  With this in mind, 

Page 291



Part 4 – Committee Procedure 
Rules April 2019

for each substantive item of business, the following order will 
normally apply:-

(a) Presentation of report by Chair, Cabinet Member or Officer,
as deemed appropriate.

(b) Contributions by Members who have been invited by the
Chair to also speak on the report.  (Note: These Members
may also be permitted to speak again at the discretion of the
Chair).

(c) Contributions and discussions by Members of the Committee.
The Chair may invite the proposer (or other appropriate
persons) to respond to questions raised by Members during
discussion.

(d) Except in relation to non-regulatory Committees, the Chair
will support the Committee to formulate recommendations or
decisions, as appropriate.  The recommendation or decision
shall then be subject to a formal vote.

(e) In relation to regulatory Committees, the Chair shall then
invite a formal motion, which must be proposed and
seconded.  It would usually be expected that the motion
would be immediately voted upon.  If necessary to reach a
conclusion on a matter, a subsequent motion may then be
proposed.

16.2 It is expected that non-regulatory Committees will, as far as 
possible, seek to reach a consensus after discussion, without formal 
rules of debate.  However, where there are differences of view 
which are unlikely to be resolved by consensus, the Chair may 
invite a formal motion, including seconding thereof, and after 
debate, put the matter to a vote.  Amendments may be moved 
during the debate, although with the consent of the meeting, the 
Chair may choose to handle these informally where this is likely to 
assist the Committee in reaching an agreed conclusion.

16.3 On occasion and again with the consent of the meeting, the Chair 
may also apply the rules of debate to the handling of a 
recommendation in an Officer’s report.

16.4 Where the formal rules of debate are applied to the proceedings in 
a meeting, paragraph 11 of the Council Procedure Rules contained 
within this Constitution shall apply.

16.5 The Chair shall control the meeting and may in particular:

(a) Require a Councillor to restrict their speech to the matter
under debate.

Page 292



Part 4 – Committee Procedure 
Rules April 2019

(b) Stop a Councillor from speaking if the Chair considered that
their speech is irrelevant or is excessively long.

(c) Require a Councillor to explain statements they have made
or provide examples to support their position.

17. Approval and signing of minutes
17.1.1 The Chair will sign the minutes of the proceedings, once

they are confirmed as a correct record, at the next suitable 
meeting. 

17.1.2 In this regard, the Chair will ask any Members if they have 
objection to the accuracy of the minutes.  If there is no 
objection, then the Chair shall ask the Committee to 
verbally confirm they consider the minutes to be a correct 
record.

17.1.3 If there is objection, then the Members raising objection 
shall be asked to recommend changes to the minutes.  The 
Chair shall then ask the Committee whether any Members 
object to the proposed amendments.  If there is no 
objection, then the Chair shall ask the Committee to 
verbally confirm the minutes to be a correct record, subject 
to the proposed amendment. 

17.1.4 If a Member(s) object to the proposed amendment, then 
the Chair shall seek a proposer and seconder for the 
amendment and then take a vote on the amendment.  It is 
normally expected that only those Members who were 
present at the meeting to which the minutes relate, would 
take part in the vote.  The Chair shall then seek a proposer 
and seconder for the substantive motion in the same 
manner.

17.1.5 There will be no discussion on the minutes, except by way 
of a motion upon their accuracy.

17.2  No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at 
extraordinary or special meeting 

The minutes of the preceding meeting of the Committee or Sub-
Committee may be submitted to an Extraordinary or Special 
meeting of that body for approval, if convenient and practicable to 
do so, but otherwise will be submitted to the next ordinary meeting.

17.3 Content of minutes 
Recommendations 
17.3.1 Every decision of a committee which is not within its 

delegated authority will be indicated by the word 
“RECOMMENDED”, and will require approval by the 
appropriate body. 

Page 293



Part 4 – Committee Procedure 
Rules April 2019

Decisions 
17.3.2 Every decision of a Committee which is within its delegated 

authority will be indicated by the word “RESOLVED”. 

17.3.3 The recommendations of a meeting of a Sub-Committee will 
be sent to the next convenient meeting of the parent 
Committee. 

18. Voting

18.1 Simple majority 
Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be 
decided by a simple majority of those Members voting and present 
at the time the question was put. 

18.2 Chair’s casting vote 

18.2.1 The Chair should exercise their casting vote with 
appropriate caution.  A casting vote is only called upon 
when Members cannot reach a majority and due respect 
should be given to the lack of consensus.  However, the 
Chair is ultimately entitled to exercise their vote as they 
consider appropriate.

18.2.2  In the case of the Chairman refraining from exercising a 
second vote the motion or amendment being voted on will 
not be carried.

18.3 Show of hands 
Unless a recorded vote is demanded under paragraph 18.4 below of 
the Rules, the Chair will take the vote by show of hands, or if there 
is no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting. 

18.4 Recorded vote 
18.4.1 If, before a vote is taken, a Member asks that the voting be 

recorded and the request is supported by five other 
Members who will show their support by a show of hands:- 

(a) The Officer advising the Chair at the meeting will call
the name of each Member present at the meeting.

(b) The Member will say whether they are for or against
the motion or is abstaining; and

(c) Each Member’s response will be recorded in the
minutes.

18.4.2  There will also be a recorded vote when required by law.

18.5 Right to require individual vote to be recorded 
Where any Member so requires, immediately after a vote has been 
taken on any matter, the minutes must record whether that 
Member voted for or against or abstained. 

Page 294



Part 4 – Committee Procedure 
Rules April 2019

18.6 Voting on appointments 
18.6.1 If there are more than two people nominated for any 

position to be filled, a vote shall be taken.  If there is not 
an overall majority of votes in favour of one person, then 
the name of the person (or persons) with the fewest votes 
will be taken off the list and a new vote taken.  This shall 
be repeated until only one candidate remains with an 
overall majority. 

18.6.2 If, in the scenario that there was a tie for the fewest 
number of votes and removal of the candidates would mean 
only one candidate is left, then the Officer advising the 
Chair at the meeting, will draw lots between those with the 
fewest votes to determine which of the candidates with the 
fewest votes will proceed to the next round. 

18.6.3 Where more than one position is contested (for example, 
there are to be two Vice-Chairs of a Committee) each 
position will be voted on separately. 

18.6.4 In the event of there being an equality of votes for the final 
two candidates, lots will be drawn by the Officer advising 
the Chair at the meeting to decide which person is elected. 

19. Exclusion of public

19.1 If a matter may fall within the list of exempt or confidential 
information set out in Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, the matter will not be discussed until the meeting has 
decided whether the public should be excluded from the meeting. 

19.2 Members of the public may only be excluded either in accordance 
with the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution or 
Rule 21 (Disturbance by Public). 

20. Members’ conduct

20.1 One member to speak at a time 
(a) When speaking, a Member will sit at their place and address

the Chair. If two or more Members indicate to speak at the
same time, the Chair will call on one to speak.

(b) While a Member is speaking, all other Members will remain
silent unless asking to make a point of order or of personal
explanation.

20.2 Respect for the chair 
Whenever the Chair rises during a debate the Member then 
speaking will stop speaking and the meeting will be silent. 

20.3 Member not to be heard further 
20.3.1 If, at a meeting, any Member, in the opinion of the Chair, 

repeatedly ignores the Chair’s ruling or behaves irregularly, 

Page 295



Part 4 – Committee Procedure 
Rules April 2019

improperly or offensively, or wilfully obstructs the business 
of the meeting, the Chair or any other Member may move 
“That the Member named be not further heard” and the 
motion, if seconded, will be voted on without discussion. 

20.4 Continuing misconduct of a named member 
20.4.1 If the Member named continues to behave improperly after 

a motion in accordance with paragraph 20.3 is carried, the 
Chair will move a motion that either:-

(a) The meeting be adjourned for however long the Chair
states; or

(b) The Member named leave the meeting.

If seconded, the motion will be voted on without discussion. 

20.4.2 If, after a motion under paragraph 20.4.1 above of these 
Rules has been carried, the Member named does not leave 
the meeting, the Chair may order the removal of the 
Member and may adjourn the meeting without debate or 
resolution to enable removal to take place. 

20.5 General disturbance 
In the event of general disturbance among the Members which, in 
the opinion of the Chair, makes it impossible to carry on the 
meeting, the Chair may stand and declare the meeting adjourned 
for however long as they state.

20.6 Interpretation of rules - ruling of Chair not to be challenged
The decision of the Chair about the meaning or use of any of these 
rules, or about any proceedings of the Committee or Sub-
committee, is final and may not be challenged. 

20.7 Interests of members in matters under discussion
Members must observe the rules in the Members’ Code of Conduct 
in Part 5 of this Constitution. Any Member declaring a disclosable 
pecuniary interest must leave the room where the meeting is being 
held for as long as the matter is being considered.

21. Disturbance by public

21.1 Removal of member of the public 
If a member of the public interrupts the proceedings of any 
meeting, the Chair will warn the person concerned not to interrupt. 
If the interruption is repeated, the Chair will order the removal of 
that person from the meeting room. The Chair may without debate 
or resolution adjourn the meeting to allow removal to take place.

21.2 Clearance of part of meeting room 
In the case of general disturbance in any part of the meeting room 
open to the public the Chair will give a warning and if the 
disturbance continues will order that part to be cleared, but may 

Page 296



Part 4 – Committee Procedure 
Rules April 2019

identify persons who may remain. The Chair may without debate or 
resolution adjourn the meeting to allow clearance to take place.

21.3 No re-admittance for those removed 
In the case of paragraphs 21.1 and 21.2 above, any member of the 
public removed from a meeting following a disturbance will not be 
re-admitted during the remainder of that meeting. 

22. Suspension and amendment of committee procedure rules

22.1 Suspension 
All of these Committee Procedure Rules except Rule 18.4 above 
(recorded vote) may be suspended by motion on notice (in 
accordance with Rule 14.1 above) or without notice under if at least 
one half of the whole number of Members of the Committee or Sub-
Committee are present. Suspension can only be for the whole or 
part of the meeting at which they are suspended. 

22.2 Amendment 
Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Rules will, when 
proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the 
next ordinary meeting of the Committee or Sub-Committee with a 
report and recommendation from the appropriate forum/Officer.

Page 297



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 298



Part 4 – Cabinet Procedure Rules April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Cabinet Procedure Rules

1. How does the Cabinet operate?

1.1  Executive functions

The Cabinet is the Council’s executive body and is responsible for 
carrying out those functions which by law or under this constitution 
are designated as “executive functions”.

The arrangements for the discharge of executive functions are set 
out in Article 6. The arrangements may provide for executive 
functions to be discharged by:- 

(a) The Cabinet as a whole;
(b) A Committee of the Cabinet;
(c) An individual Member of the Cabinet;
(d) An Officer;
(e) An Area Committee;
(f) Joint arrangements; or
(g) Another local authority.

1.2 Sub-delegation of executive functions 

(a) Where the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet or an
individual member of the Cabinet is responsible for an
executive function, they may delegate further to an Officer or
by joint arrangements.

(b) Even where executive functions have been delegated, that
fact does not prevent the discharge of delegated functions by
the person or body who delegated.

1.3 Delegation of executive functions

(a) Subject to (b) below, the delegation of executive functions
will be as adopted by the Council and set out in Part 3 of this
Constitution.

(b) The Leader may amend the delegations to individual Cabinet
Members (Portfolio Holders) relating to executive functions at
any time during the year by giving written notice to the
Monitoring Officer and to the person, body or Committee
concerned.  The notice must set out the extent of the
amendment to the scheme of delegation and whether it
entails the withdrawal of delegation from any person, body,
committee or the Cabinet as a whole.  The appropriate

Agenda Item 4c

Page 299



Part 4 – Cabinet Procedure Rules April 2019

amendments to the Constitution will be made by the 
Monitoring Officer. 

(c) Where the Cabinet seeks to withdraw delegation from a
Committee, notice will be deemed to be served on that
Committee when the Leader has served it on its Chair.

1.4 Meetings of Cabinet  

The Cabinet will meet at times to be agreed by the Leader at either 
of the Council’s main Offices or another location to be agreed by the 
Leader and will be held in public except in accordance with the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules.  Notice of the dates and 
times of meetings, and their agendas, will be published in 
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules.  

1.5 Quorum 

The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet, or a Committee of it, 
shall be one third of the total number of Members of the Cabinet 
(including the Leader) or three, whichever is the larger. 

1.6 How are decisions to be taken by the Cabinet? 

(a) Executive decisions which have been delegated to the
Cabinet as a whole will be taken at a meeting convened in
accordance with the Access to Information Rules.

(b) Where executive decisions are delegated to a Committee of
the Cabinet, the rules applying to executive decisions taken
by them shall be the same as those applying to those taken
by the Cabinet as a whole.

2. How are executive meetings conducted?

2.1 Who presides?

The Leader, or in their absence the Deputy Leader, will preside at 
any meeting of the Cabinet or its Committees at which they are 
present.  In the absence of the Leader and Deputy Leader the 
members of the Cabinet who are present shall choose a Member to 
preside. 

2.2 Who may attend? 

2.1.1 The public may attend in accordance with the Access to 
Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.  Members of 
the public who live or work in the District may speak or ask 
one question in accordance with the provisions for public 
speaking in the Committee Procedure Rules.

Page 300



Part 4 – Cabinet Procedure Rules April 2019

2.1.2 Any member of the Council who is not a member of the 
Cabinet may attend a meeting of the Cabinet.  They can 
speak:-

(a) To ask a question or make a statement in accordance
with Rule 2.4.1 below; or

(b) If invited to by the person presiding.

2.3 What business? 

At each meeting of the Cabinet or a Committee of the Cabinet the 
following business will be conducted:-

(a) Apologies for absence.
(b) Confirm as a correct record and sign the minutes of the last

meeting.
(c) “Open forum” in accordance with Rule 2.4 below.
(d) Public speaking/questions in accordance with Rule 11 of the

Committee Procedure Rules.
(e) The receipt of any petitions (submitted and presented in

accordance with the Council’s Petition Scheme).
(f) Matters referred to the Cabinet, whether by the Overview

and Scrutiny Committee, the Performance and Audit Scrutiny
Committee, or by the Council for reconsideration in
accordance with the provisions of contained in the Scrutiny
Committees Procedure Rules or the Budget and Policy
Framework Procedure Rules.

(g) Consideration of reports from the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee or the Performance and Audit Scrutiny
Committee; and

(h) Matters set out in the agenda for the meeting, and which
shall indicate which are key decisions and which are not in
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules
set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

2.4 Open Forum

2.4.1  At each Cabinet meeting up to fifteen minutes shall be 
allocated for questions or statements from and discussion 
with non-Cabinet members.  Members wishing to speak 
during this session may, but do not have to, give notice in 
advance.  Who speaks and for how long will be at the 
complete discretion of the person presiding.  

2.5 Who can put items on the Cabinet agenda? 

2.5.1 Normally, the Leader will decide upon the schedule for the 
meetings of the Cabinet. 

2.5.2 Subject to 2.5.1 above, an item will be placed on the agenda 
of the next scheduled meeting of the Cabinet where the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Performance and 

Page 301



Part 4 – Cabinet Procedure Rules April 2019

Audit Scrutiny Committee or the Council have resolved that 
an item be considered by the Cabinet. 

2.5.3 Subject to 2.5.1 above, the Monitoring Officer and/or the 
Chief Finance Officer may include an item for consideration 
on the agenda of a Cabinet meeting and may require the 
Proper Officer to call such a meeting in pursuance of their 
statutory duties. In other circumstances, where any two of 
the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer and 
Monitoring Officer are of the opinion that a meeting of the 
Cabinet needs to be called to consider a matter that requires 
a decision, they may jointly include an item on the agenda of 
a Cabinet meeting. If there is no meeting of the Cabinet soon 
enough to deal with the issue in question, then the person(s) 
entitled to include an item on the agenda may also require 
that a meeting be convened at which the matter will be 
considered.

Page 302



Part 4 – Scrutiny Committees
Procedure Rules  April 2019

West Suffolk Council

 Scrutiny Committees Procedure Rules

A. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

1. What will be the number of and arrangements for Overview
and Scrutiny Committees?

1.1 The Council will have one Overview and Scrutiny Committee as set 
out in Article 7 and will appoint to it annually. The Committee may 
appoint panels or ‘task and finish’ groups for fixed periods to 
consider specific issues. 

1.2 The Committee will consist of a maximum of 16 members of the 
Council.  The Council will normally observe the rules governing 
political balance contained in Section 15 of the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 when allocating seats to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee but it may resolve to vary this provision if no 
Member votes against it.

1.3 The terms of reference of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will 
be:- 

(a) The performance of all overview and scrutiny functions on
behalf of the Council (explained in Article 7 of this
Constitution) and as set out in Section 9F of the Local
Government Act 2000

(b) To receive the draft West Suffolk Annual Report from the
Leaders or representative(s) of Cabinet.

(c) To approve a rolling overview and scrutiny work programme,
including the programme of any Panels or Groups it appoints,
so as to ensure that the Committee’s and Panels’ or Groups’
time is effectively and efficiently utilised;

(d) To put in place a system to ensure that referrals from the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to the Cabinet, either by
way of report or for reconsideration, are managed efficiently.

(e) In the event of the volume of reports to the Cabinet creating
difficulty for the management of Cabinet business or
jeopardising the efficient running of Council business, at the
request of the Cabinet, to make decisions about the priority
of referrals made.

Agenda Item 4d

Page 303



Part 4 – Scrutiny Committees
Procedure Rules  April 2019

(f) To act as the Crime and Disorder Committee for the purposes
of Section 19 of the Police and Justice Act 2006 and
associated regulations, and accordingly:

(i) To scrutinise the actions undertaken by the
Community Safety Partnership and the partners who
comprise it, insofar as their activities relate to the
Partnership itself; and

(ii) To make reports or recommendations to the Council
and partner organisations with respect to the
discharge of those functions.

(g) To consider local crime and disorder matters in accordance
with the Councillor Call for Action Protocol.

(h) To work collaboratively, as may be appropriate, with the
scrutiny function of other local authorities to fulfil the crime
and disorder scrutiny function.

(i) To advise on the development of new policy in accordance
with its agreed work programme.

(j) To advise, where appropriate, on corporate projects and
strategies.

(k) To appoint informal Member Panels and ‘Task and Finish’
Groups to assist the work of the Committee; and

(l) To review annually the work and constitution of such Panels
and Working Parties.

(m) To agree the procedures for the ways in which matters can
be referred to the Committee and how its own Task and
Finish Groups should be formed and operated.

2. Who may sit on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee?

2.1 All Councillors, except members of the Cabinet and full Members of 
the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee, may be Members 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. However, no Member 
may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which they have been 
directly involved in the development of, or making. 

3. Co-optees

3.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to 
recommend to Council the appointment of a number of people as 
non-voting co-optees. Panels and Working Groups of the Committee 
may appoint non-voting co-optees to assist with specific reviews. 

Page 304



Part 4 – Scrutiny Committees
Procedure Rules  April 2019

4. Meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

4.1 The Committee shall have meetings programmed approximately 
every six weeks (i.e. normally, there will be up to eight ordinary 
meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in each year). 

4.2 Meetings will be conducted in accordance with the Committee 
Procedure Rules unless there are specific exceptions in these 
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules.

5. Who chairs Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings?

5.1 Following discussions between Group Leaders, the Chair and Vice-
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be appointed by 
the Council. In the event that there is a majority group within the 
Council, it will be desirable for:- 

(a) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be chaired by a
Member who is not a member of the majority group; and

(b) The Vice-Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be
a member of the majority group.

5.2 The Chair and Vice-Chair will hold office until:- 

(a) They resign from the office of Chair or Vice-Chair; or
(b) They are no longer a Councillor; or
(c) The next Annual Meeting of the Council save that the Council

may remove the Chair or Vice-Chair at an earlier date but
only in the event of a change in the political control of the
Council.

5.3 Upon the occurrence of a vacancy in the office of Chair or Vice-
Chair, the Council shall fill the vacancy at the next ordinary meeting 
of the Council or, if the vacancy occurs as a result of the removal of 
the Chair and/or Vice-Chair in the event of a change in the political 
control of the Council, at the meeting at which that resolution was 
passed. The person appointed to fill the vacancy shall hold office for 
the remainder of the original term, subject to the rules on earlier 
termination in paragraph 5.2 above. 

6. Work programme

6.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for 
setting its own work programme and in doing so it shall take into 
account the wishes of Members of the Committee. 

7. Agenda items

7.1 Any Member of the Council shall be entitled to give notice to the 
Scrutiny Officer that they wish an item relevant to the functions of 
the Committee to be included on the agenda for the next available 
meeting of the Committee. On receipt of such a request the 

Page 305



Part 4 – Scrutiny Committees
Procedure Rules  April 2019

Scrutiny Officer will ensure that it is included on the next available 
agenda. The request must be by way of any procedures agreed by 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, in order to ensure the 
Committee has all the information it needs to decide whether to 
take the issue forward. 

7.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall also respond, as soon 
as its work programme permits, to requests from the Council, the 
Cabinet, and the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee to 
review particular areas of Council activity. Where it does so, the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall report its findings and any 
recommendations back to the Cabinet and/or Council. The Council 
and/or the Cabinet shall consider the report of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee at its next meeting. 

8. Policy review, service development and performance
management

8.1 The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in relation to the 
development of the Council’s budget and policy framework is set 
out in detail in the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules. 

8.2 In relation to the development of the Council’s approach to other 
matters not forming part of its policy and budget framework, the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee may make proposals to the 
Cabinet for developments in so far as they relate to matters within 
its terms of reference. 

8.3 To fulfil its role, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may hold 
enquiries and investigate the available options and may appoint 
advisers and assessors to assist it in this process. The Committee 
and any Panel it appoints may go on site visits, conduct public 
surveys, hold public meetings, commission research and do all 
other things that it reasonably considers necessary to form its 
deliberations. It may ask witnesses to attend to address it on any 
matter under consideration and may pay to any advisers, assessors 
and witnesses a reasonable fee and expenses for doing so. 

9. Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committee

9.1 Once it has formed recommendations on proposals for 
development, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will prepare a 
formal report and submit it to the Scrutiny Officer for consideration 
by the Cabinet (if the proposals are consistent with the existing 
budgetary and policy framework), or to the Council as appropriate 
(e.g. if the recommendation would require a departure from or a 
change to the agreed budget and policy framework). 

9.2 The Chair, or in their absence, the Vice-Chair of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee will normally be responsible for presenting the 
report to the Cabinet or the Council as appropriate. However, in the 
case of the report of a panel or working group, the report to the 

Page 306



Part 4 – Scrutiny Committees
Procedure Rules  April 2019

Cabinet and/or Council can also be made by the Chair or Vice-Chair 
of the Panel/Working Group. 

9.3 If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on one single 
final report to the Council or Cabinet as appropriate, then up to one 
minority report may be prepared and submitted for consideration 
by the Council or Cabinet with the majority report. 

9.4 The Council or Cabinet shall consider the report of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee at the next available meeting. 

10. Making sure that overview and scrutiny reports are
considered by the cabinet

10.1 Once the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has completed its 
deliberations on any matter it will forward a copy of its final report 
to the Scrutiny Officer who will allocate it to either or both the 
Cabinet and the Council for consideration, according to whether the 
contents of the report would have implications for the Council’s 
budget and policy framework. If the Scrutiny Officer refers the 
matter to Council, they will also serve a copy on the Leader with 
notice that the matter is to be referred to Council. The Cabinet 
must be given the opportunity to respond to the Overview and 
Scrutiny report before the Council meets to consider it. When the 
Council does meet to consider any referral from the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on a matter which would impact on the budget 
and policy framework, it shall also consider the response of the 
Cabinet to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee proposals. 

10.2 The agenda for Cabinet meetings shall include an item entitled 
‘Issues arising from Overview and Scrutiny’. Any reports of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee referred to the Cabinet shall be 
included at this point in the agenda (unless they have been 
considered in the context of the Cabinet’s deliberations on a 
substantive item on the agenda). 

10.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will, in any event, have 
access to the Cabinet’s Decision Plan and timetable for decisions. 
Even where an item is not the subject of detailed proposals from 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee following a consideration of 
possible policy/service developments, the Committee will at least 
be able to respond in the course of the Cabinet’s consultation 
process in relation to any key decision. 

11. Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee members to
documents

11.1 In addition to their rights as Councillors, members of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee have the additional right to documents, 
and to notice of meetings, as set out in the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

Page 307



Part 4 – Scrutiny Committees
Procedure Rules  April 2019

11.2 Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between 
the Cabinet and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee as 
appropriate depending on the particular matter under 
consideration. 

12. Members and officers giving account

12.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may scrutinise and review 
decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of 
any Council functions. As well as reviewing documentation, in 
fulfilling the scrutiny role, it may require any member of the 
Cabinet, the Head of Paid Service and/or any Chief Officer to attend 
before it to explain in relation to matters within its remit:- 

(a) Any particular decision or series of decisions;
(b) The extent to which the actions taken implement Council

policy; and/or
(c) Their performance.

and it is the duty of those persons to attend, or send an appropriate 
substitute, if so required. 

12.2 Where any Member or Officer is required to attend the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee under this provision, the Chair of the 
Committee will inform the Scrutiny Officer. The Scrutiny Officer 
shall inform the Member or Officer in writing, giving at least five 
working days notice of the meeting at which they are required to 
attend. The notice will state the nature of the item on which they 
are required to attend to give account and whether any papers are 
required to be produced for the Committee. Where the account to 
be given to the Committee will require the production of a report, 
then the Member or Officer concerned will be given sufficient notice 
to allow for preparation of that documentation. 

13.3 Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Member or Officer is 
unable to attend on the required date, then the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee shall, in consultation with the Member or 
Officer, arrange an alternative date for attendance to take place 
within a maximum of 10 working days from the date of the original 
request. 

13. Attendance by others

13.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may invite people other than 
those people referred to in paragraph 12.1 above to address it, 
discuss issues of local concern and/or answer questions. It may, for 
example, wish to hear from residents, stakeholders and Members 
and Officers in other parts of the public sector and shall invite such 
people to attend. Attendance is of course entirely optional. 

Page 308



Part 4 – Scrutiny Committees
Procedure Rules  April 2019

14. Call-in

14.1 A key element of the scrutiny role of the Committee concerns the 
arrangements for the “call-in” of a decision taken by or on behalf of 
the Cabinet. A decision by the Cabinet, or a Key Decision made by 
an Officer with delegated authority may be “called-in” by Members 
of the Council submitting a request in writing on the Call-in Request 
Form to the Assistant Director (HR, Legal and Democratic Services) 
within five working days of the publication of that decision. No 
action can be taken on an item called in for scrutiny. 

14.2 Call-in should only be used in exceptional circumstances. These are 
where Members have evidence which suggests that the Cabinet 
decision was not taken in accordance with the principles set out in 
Article 12 (Decision Making). In order to ensure that call-in is not 
abused; nor causes unreasonable delay, certain limitations are to 
be placed on its use. These are:- 

(a) A decision must be called-in by at least five Members of the
Council; and

(b) A decision on the same item may only be “called-in” for
scrutiny by the Committee on one occasion within a six
month period. The six month period is to commence from the
date the “call-in” request is received by the Assistant Director
(HR, Legal and Democratic Services).

(c) Members who have called-in a decision may withdraw their
call-in at any time prior to the meeting taking place to hear
the call-in, by giving notice in writing to the Scrutiny Officer.

(d) A decision should not be called-in where it was considered by
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee prior to the decision
being made, unless it can be reasonably demonstrated that
the Cabinet decision was flawed.

14.3 The following arrangements for the call-in of decisions made by the 
Cabinet will apply:- 

(a) When a decision is made by the Cabinet (or by any Members
of the Cabinet with a delegated authority contained in Part 3
of this Constitution) or a Key Decision is made by an Officer
with delegated authority from the Cabinet, the decision shall
be published electronically. Normally, such publication will be
on the Thursday of the week in which the decision was taken.
Notification of all such decisions will also be issued to all
Members within the same timescale by the person
responsible for publishing the decision.

(b) The relevant notice will bear the date on which it is published
and will specify that the decision will come into force, and

Page 309



Part 4 – Scrutiny Committees
Procedure Rules  April 2019

may then be implemented, on the expiry of five working days 
after the publication of the decision, unless it is called in. 

(c) During that period, the Scrutiny Officer shall call-in a decision
for scrutiny by the Committee if so requested by Members (in
accordance with paragraph 14.1 above) and shall notify the
decision-taker of the call-in. An item called in for scrutiny will
normally be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee at its next scheduled meeting. However, in
consultation with the Chair of the Committee, they may call
an extraordinary meeting of the Committee on such date as
they may determine (in accordance with the Access to
Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution).

(d) Any Member considering calling in a Cabinet decision, or a
Key Decision taken by an Officer under delegated authority,
first be required to make every effort to discuss the issue
with the relevant Portfolio Holder or Leader of the Council.

(e) Members using the call-in arrangements have the right to
address the Committee when it deals with the issue.

(f) Normally, the Committee will complete its scrutiny of the
issue at that meeting and report the outcome to the next
meeting of the Cabinet. However, the Committee may
consider that further time is required to consider the issue
and would, therefore, need to recommend to the Cabinet that
further work be carried out and that the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee makes recommendations at a later date.
In these circumstances, the Cabinet will decide whether or
not the decision should be implemented, having regard to the
urgency, if any, of the matter and the provisions of the
Budget and Policy Framework Rules (see (i) below);

(g) If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee agrees with a called-
in decision, the decision may be implemented immediately
following the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting.

(h) If the Committee makes an alternative recommendation, this
will be considered by the Cabinet at its next meeting and no
action should be taken until a final decision has been made
by the Cabinet (or the Council – see (i) below); and

(i) As set out in the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure
Rules, called-in decisions which are deemed to be contrary to
the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly consistent
with the budget, may have to be referred to the Council for a
final decision.

Page 310



Part 4 – Scrutiny Committees
Procedure Rules  April 2019

14.4 Call-in and urgency 

14.4  The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply where the 
decision being taken by the Cabinet is urgent. A decision will be 
urgent if any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process would 
seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interest. The 
record of the decision, and notice by which it is made public shall 
state whether in the opinion of the decision-making person or body, 
the decision is an urgent one, and therefore not subject to call-in. 
The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee must agree both 
that the decision proposed is reasonable in all the circumstances 
and to it being treated as a matter of urgency. In the absence of 
the Chair, the Vice Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s 
consent shall be required. In the absence of both, the Head of Paid 
Service or their nominee’s consent shall be required. Decisions 
taken as a matter of urgency must be reported to the next available 
meeting of the Council, together with the reasons for urgency. 

15. Councillor call for action

15.1 Any Councillor may request that the Committee consider the 
inclusion of a Councillor Call for Action (CCfA) on its work 
programme, under the terms of a CCfA Protocol to be agreed by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  This should only be in 
exceptional circumstances where all other possible avenues for 
resolution of the issue have been followed by the referring 
Councillor, and yet a problem still exists. 

16. The party whip

16.1 For the purpose of this section, reference to “the party whip” shall 
mean:- 

“Any instruction given by or on behalf of a political Group to any 
Councillor who is a Member of that Group as to how that Councillor 
shall speak or vote on any matter before the Council or any 
Committee or Sub-Committee, or the application or threat to apply 
any sanction by the Group in respect of that Councillor should they 
speak or vote in any particular manner.” 

16.2 The imposition of the party whip is regarded by the Council as 
incompatible with Overview and Scrutiny. The party whip should 
not therefore be imposed on any member of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee while engaged in the work of Overview and 
Scrutiny. 

17. Business at Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings

17.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall consider the following 
business:- 

Page 311



Part 4 – Scrutiny Committees
Procedure Rules  April 2019

(a) Minutes of the last meeting.
(b) Public speaking in accordance with the Committee Procedure

Rules.
(c) Consideration of any matter referred to the Committee for a

decision in relation to call-in of a decision.
(d) Responses of the Cabinet to reports of the Overview and

Scrutiny Committee.
(e) Any recommendations or reports from the Committee’s

Panels or Task and Finish Groups.
(f) Consideration of the Decisions Plan; and
(g) The business otherwise set out on the agenda for the

meeting.

17.2 Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee conducts 
investigations, the Committee may also ask people to attend to give 
evidence at Committee meetings which are to be conducted in 
accordance with the following principles:- 

(a) That the investigation be conducted fairly and all Members of
the Committee be given the opportunity to ask questions of
attendees, and to contribute and speak.

(b) That those assisting the Committee by giving evidence be
treated with respect and courtesy; and

(c) That the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the
efficiency of the investigation or analysis.

17.3 Following any investigation or review, the Committee shall prepare 
a report, for submission to the Cabinet and/or Council as 
appropriate and shall make its report and findings public. 

Page 312



Part 4 – Scrutiny Committees
Procedure Rules  April 2019

B. PERFORMANCE AND AUDIT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

1. What will be the arrangements for the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny Committee?

1.1 The Council will have a Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee 
as set out in Article 7 and will appoint to it annually. 

1.2 The Committee will consist of a maximum of 12 Members of the 
Council. The Council will normally observe the rules governing 
political balance contained in Section 15 of the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 when allocating seats to the Performance 
and Audit Scrutiny Committee but it may resolve to vary this 
provision if no Member votes against it.

1.3 The terms of reference of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny 
Committee will be:- 

(i) To monitor and scrutinise the performance of the Council’s
services by having regard to a variety of information,
including performance indicators, financial information,
reports from external inspections, audit reports and
monitoring of action plans.

(ii) To suggest means of improving and promoting the
performance management and audit functions of the Council.

(iii) The Committee will also assist the Council and the Cabinet in
the development of the budget framework and act as the
Council’s Audit Committee and will have reference to any or
all of the following areas:-

(a) Integration of the Audit role
To ensure that the principles of effective audit are
integrated into the work of the Performance and Audit
Scrutiny Committee and the Council generally.

(b) Risk Management
To provide assurance of the effectiveness of the
corporate risk assessment process and monitor the
effective development and operation of risk
management policies in the Council, specifically
including monitoring of the Risk Management Strategy
and the Corporate Risk Register.

To appoint a Health and Safety Sub-Committee to
provide assurances on the effectiveness of Health and
Safety Policy and monitor compliance with this.

(c) Internal Audit and Governance
To provide an effective mechanism to monitor the
control environment within the authority, ensuring the

Page 313



Part 4 – Scrutiny Committees
Procedure Rules  April 2019

highest standards of probity and public accountability 
by:- 

(1) Reviewing and approving of the Annual Audit
Plan.

(2) Challenging and follow-up of internal audit
recommendations.

(3) Reviewing internal audit performance;
(4) Reviewing of Code of Corporate Governance and

Statement of Internal Control; and
(5) Reviewing the anti-fraud and corruption controls

and arrangements.

(d) Financial Statements and Annual Accounts
To provide scrutiny of the authority’s financial
performance by scrutinising the:-

(1) Budget Monitoring Reports.
(2) Capital Programme Audited Accounts; and
(3) Any proposals for cost reductions or growth in

the forward budget.

(e) Financial Resilience and Treasury Management
A Financial Resilience Sub-Committee will undertake
the enhanced monitoring and scrutiny requirements of
the revised Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy and will be responsible to the Committee
for:-

(1) The Council’s responses to changes in statutory
and regulatory requirements and guidance.

(2) The Annual Treasury Management and
Investment Strategy.

(3) On-going revisions to treasury management
strategies and policies.

(4) The mid year treasury management review.
(5) Reports on treasury management performance;

and
(6) The annual report on treasury management

performance, including the effects of the
decisions taken and the transactions executed in
the past year, and on the circumstances of any
non-compliance with the Council’s treasury
management policy statements.

(f) External Audit
To maintain and develop a trusting and professional
relationship with the Council’s external auditors and
ensure any issues arising from inspection are dealt
with:-

Page 314



Part 4 – Scrutiny Committees
Procedure Rules  April 2019

(1) Annual audit and Inspection Plan and any
resulting reports.

(2) Annual Audit Letter; and
(3) Statement of Auditing Standard (SAS) 610

Communications.

(g) Procurement
Formal reporting of procurement issues.

(iv) To receive an annual work programme based around a
quarterly performance management and risk and budget
monitoring cycle; and

(v) To approve the Annual Statement of Accounts and Annual
Governance Statement each year in good time to meet the
statutory deadline for adoption.

(vi) To receive reports from other external inspectors related to
the financial and non-financial performance of the Council
and ensure appropriate action is taken in response to
recommendations.  This shall include adverse findings of the
Local Government Ombudsman which do not amount to a
wider maladministration on the part of the Council.

1.4 It is not within the terms of reference of this Committee to carry 
out in-depth service reviews, although the Committee may from 
time-to-time carry out initial investigation into or scoping of an 
issue, which may lead to recommendations for further work by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Cabinet and may also serve to 
assist the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in its own detailed 
examinations or Task and Finish Group work. 

2. Who may sit on the Performance and Audit Scrutiny
Committee?

2.1 All Councillors, except members of the Cabinet and full Members of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, may be Members of the 
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee. 

3. Co-optees

3.1 The Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to 
recommend to Council the appointment of a number of people as 
non-voting co-optees. 

4. Meetings of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee

4.1 There will be up to six ordinary meetings of the Committee each 
year, comprising four quarterly meetings based around a 
programme of performance management and risk and budget 
monitoring, and, as required, a meeting to approve the annual 

Page 315



Part 4 – Scrutiny Committees
Procedure Rules  April 2019

accounts, and a further meeting to scrutinise proposals for cost 
reductions and growth in the forward budget. 

4.2  Meetings shall be held in accordance with the Committee Procedure 
Rules as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution, except where these 
Scrutiny Committees Procedure Rules specify otherwise.

5. Who chairs Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee
meetings?

5.1 Following discussions between Group Leaders, the Chair and Vice-
Chair of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee will be 
appointed by the Council. 

5.2 The Chair and Vice-Chair will hold office until:- 

(a) They resign from the office of Chair or Vice-Chair; or
(b) They are no longer a Councillor; or
(c) The next Annual Meeting of the Council save that the Council

may remove the Chair or Vice-Chair at an earlier date but
only in the event of a change in the political control of the
Council.

5.3 Upon the occurrence of a vacancy in the office of Chair or Vice-
Chair, the Council shall fill the vacancy at the next ordinary meeting 
of the Council or, if the vacancy occurs as a result of the removal of 
the Chair and/or Vice-Chair in the event of a change in the political 
control of the Council, at the meeting at which that resolution was 
passed. The person appointed to fill the vacancy shall hold office for 
the remainder of the original term, subject to the rules on earlier 
termination in paragraph 5.2 above. 

6. Work programme

6.1 The Committee will receive a rolling work programme based around 
a quarterly performance management and risk and budget 
monitoring cycle. 

7. Agenda items

7.1 Any Member of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee shall 
be entitled to give notice to the Scrutiny Officer that they wish an 
item relevant to the functions of the Committee to be included on 
the agenda for the next available meeting of the Committee. On 
receipt of such a request the Scrutiny Officer will ensure that it is 
included on the next available agenda. If the item is accepted by 
the Committee, the extent to which such an item is investigated by 
the Committee shall be only to the level of initial scoping, in order 
to ascertain whether further investigation of an issue by the 
appropriate Scrutiny Committee should be recommended. 

Page 316



Part 4 – Scrutiny Committees
Procedure Rules  April 2019

7.2 Any five members of the Council who are not members of the 
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee may also give written 
notice to the Scrutiny Officer that they wish an item to be included 
on the agenda of the Committee. If the Scrutiny Officer receives 
such a notification, then they will include the item on the first 
available agenda of the Committee for consideration by the 
Committee. If the item is accepted by the Committee, the extent to 
which such an item is investigated by the Committee shall be only 
to the level of initial scoping, in order to ascertain whether further 
investigation of an issue by the appropriate Scrutiny Committee 
should be recommended. 

7.3 The Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee shall also respond, 
as soon as its work programme permits, to requests from the 
Council, the Cabinet and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 
carry out such initial scoping investigations. Where it does so, the 
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee shall report its findings 
and any recommendations back to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, Cabinet and/or Council. The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, Council and/or the Cabinet shall consider the report of 
the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee at its next meeting. 

8. Performance management and audit

8.1 The role of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee in 
relation to its performance management and audit responsibilities is 
as set out in paragraphs 1.3 to1.4 above and Article 7 of this 
Constitution. 

9. Reports from the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee

9.1 Once it has formed any recommendations, the Performance and 
Audit Scrutiny Committee will submit them to the Scrutiny Officer 
for consideration by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Cabinet 
and/or Council as appropriate. 

9.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Council or Cabinet shall 
consider the recommendations of the Performance and Audit 
Scrutiny Committee at the next available meeting. 

9.3 The agenda for Cabinet meetings shall, when applicable, include an 
item entitled ‘Issues arising from the Performance and Audit 
Scrutiny Committee’. Any reports of the Committee referred to the 
Cabinet shall be included at this point in the agenda (unless they 
have been considered in the context of the Cabinet’s deliberations 
on a substantive item on the agenda). 

9.4 The Chair, or in their absence, the Vice-Chair of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee will normally be responsible for presenting the 
report to the Cabinet or the Council as appropriate. However, in the 
case of the report of a Panel or Working Group, the report to the 

Page 317



Part 4 – Scrutiny Committees
Procedure Rules  April 2019

Cabinet and/or Council can also be made by the Chair or Vice-Chair 
of the Panel/Working Group.

10. Attendance by others

10.1 Members of the Cabinet will be entitled to attend meetings of the 
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee and speak on any 
matter under consideration. 

10.2 Subject to the provisions of paragraph 1.4 above, the Committee 
may also invite Members, Officers and any other person to address 
its meetings, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer 
questions as part of its initial scoping or investigation of a matter. 
Attendance is of course entirely optional. 

11. The party whip

11.1 For the purpose of this section, reference to “the party whip” shall 
mean:- 

“Any instruction given by or on behalf of a political Group to any 
Councillor who is a Member of that Group as to how that Councillor 
shall speak or vote on any matter before the Council or any 
Committee or Sub-Committee, or the application or threat to apply 
any sanction by the Group in respect of that Councillor should they 
speak or vote in any particular manner.” 

11.2 , The imposition of the party whip is regarded by the Council as 
incompatible with Performance and Audit Scrutiny. The party whip 
should not therefore be imposed on any Member of the 
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee while engaged in the 
Committee’s work. 

12. Procedure at Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee
meetings

12.1 The Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee shall consider the 
following business: 

(a) Minutes of the last meeting.
(b) Public speaking in accordance with the Committee Procedure

Rules.
(c) Any decisions or reports of the Cabinet regarding the

Committee’s work.
(d) Any previous recommendations or reports of the Committee

referred back to the Committee by the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee, Cabinet or Council; and

(e) The business otherwise set out on the agenda for the
meeting.

12.2 The Committee may also ask people to attend its meetings, which 
are to be conducted in accordance with the following principles:- 

Page 318



Part 4 – Scrutiny Committees
Procedure Rules  April 2019

(a) That all Members of the Committee be given the opportunity
to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and speak.

(b) That those assisting the Committee by giving evidence or
offering opinions be treated with respect and courtesy; and

(c) That the meeting be conducted so as to maximise the
efficiency of the discussion, investigation or analysis.

12.3 Following scrutiny of any matter, the Committee shall prepare, if 
necessary, recommendations for submission to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, Cabinet and/or Council as appropriate, and 
shall make its recommendations and any accompanying findings 
public.

Page 319



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 320



Part 4 – Access to Information 
Procedure Rules April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Access to Information Procedure Rules

1. Scope

1.1 These rules apply to all meetings of the Council, Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee, 
Standards Committee, Regulatory Committees and public meetings 
of the Cabinet (together called Meetings). 

2. Additional rights to information

2.1 These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information 
contained elsewhere in this Constitution or the law. 

3. Rights to attend meetings

Public
3.1 Members of the public may attend all meetings unless excluded in 

accordance with Rules 11.1 and 11.2(a) below. 

Members 
3.2 A member of the Council may attend a meeting of a Committee or 

Sub-Committee of which they are not a member.  A Member may 
speak at that meeting if allowed to do so by the Committee 
Procedure Rules but shall not be entitled to vote.

4. Notices of meeting

4.1 Unless a meeting is convened at shorter notice, the Council will give 
at least five clear days’ notice of any meeting by putting details on 
its website and on lists displayed at its main offices.

4.2 If a meeting is convened at shorter notice, then the time and place 
of the meeting shall be displayed at the Council’s main offices and 
on its website as soon as the meeting is convened. 

5. Access to agenda and reports before the meeting

5.1 The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports open to the 
public available for inspection by publishing them on its website at 
least five clear days before the meeting, unless the meeting is 
convened at shorter notice, in which case the agenda and reports 
shall be available as soon as the meeting is convened. 

5.2 If an item is added to an agenda after the meeting has been 
convened or notice published, the revised agenda will be available 
on its website from the time the item was added to the agenda. 
Where reports are prepared after the summons has been sent out, 

Agenda Item 4e

Page 321



Part 4 – Access to Information 
Procedure Rules April 2019

the Council shall make each such report available to the public on 
its website as soon as the report is completed and sent to 
Councillors. 

6. Supply of copies

6.1 The Council will supply copies of the following documents to any 
person on request and may make a charge for unreasonable 
postage and any other costs:- 

(a) Any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection;
(b) Any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate

the nature of the items in the agenda; and
(c) If the Proper Officer thinks fit, copies of any other documents

supplied to Councillors in connection with an item.

7. Access to minutes etc. after the meeting

7.1 The Council will as soon as practicable after a meeting make the 
following available on its website for six years:- 

(a) The minutes of the meeting or records of decisions taken,
together with reasons, for all meetings specified in 1.1
above,  excluding any part of the minutes of proceedings
when the meeting was not open to the public or which
disclose exempt or confidential information;

(b) A summary of any proceedings not open to the public where
the minutes open to inspection would not provide a
reasonably fair and coherent record;

(c) The agenda for the meeting; and
(d) Reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the

public.

8. Recording of council meetings and use of social media

8.1 People may photograph, film, record and/or broadcast those 
attending Council, Cabinet, Committee or Sub-Committee meetings 
(other than any part of such a meeting from which the public are 
excluded), subject to:- 

(a) The Committee Administrator at the meeting being told so
that everyone attending can be notified; and

(b) The filming or recording must not be disruptive to the
effective conduct of the meeting (for example, they should
not use noisy equipment or excessive flash lighting), without
prior agreement of the chairman;

(c) Fixed points or areas for cameras or recording equipment
being agreed in advance so they do not distract those
involved in the democratic process or impinge on the
decision-making or block viewing from the public seating
area; and

Page 322



Part 4 – Access to Information 
Procedure Rules April 2019

(d) Members of the public speaking at, or attending, the meeting
must not be filmed if they have indicated they do not wish to
be included.

8.2 Notice of the photographing, filming, recording and/or broadcasting 
of meetings is to be displayed in and outside the place of meeting 
and included on any literature handed to persons attending a 
meeting as follows:- 

“The Council may record this meeting and permits members of the 
public and media to record or broadcast it as well (when the media 
and public are not lawfully excluded)”. 

Any member of the public who attends a meeting and objects to 
being filmed should advise the Committee Administrator who will 
instruct that they are not included in the filming.” 

8.3 People may use social media at Council, Cabinet, Committee or 
Sub-Committee meetings (other than any part of such a meeting 
from which the public are excluded), subject to:- 

(a) Equipment used being silent during operation.
(b) The use of equipment not distracting those involved in the

democratic process or impinging on decision making or
blocking the view from the public seating area.

(c) Councillors who elect to use social media during Council
meetings should ensure they remain focussed on the debate,
do not compromise decision making and do not distract
others in using social media

9. Background papers

9.1 List of background papers 

The report’s author will set out in every report a list of those 
documents (called background papers) relating to the subject 
matter of the report which in their opinion:- 

(a) Disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an
important part of the report is based; and

(b) Which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing
the report.

but does not include published works or those which disclose 
exempt or confidential information (as defined in Rule 10 below) 
and, in respect of Cabinet reports, any advice of a political advisor. 

9.2 Public inspection of background papers 

The Council will make available for public inspection for four years 
after the date of the meeting, each of the documents on the list of 
background papers. 

Page 323



Part 4 – Access to Information 
Procedure Rules April 2019

10. Summary of public’s rights

10.1 These Rules will constitute the written summary of the public’s 
rights to attend meetings and to inspect and copy documents and 
will be available to the public on the Council’s website. 

11. Exclusion of the public from meetings

11.1 Confidential information – Requirement to exclude public 

The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in 
view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of 
the proceedings that confidential information would be disclosed. 

11.2 Exempt information – Discretion to exclude public 

(a) The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is
likely in view of the nature of the business to be transacted
or the nature of the proceedings that exempt information
would be disclosed.

(b) Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or
obligations, or adversely affect their possessions, Article 6 of
the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a presumption that
the meeting will be held in public unless a private hearing is
necessary for one of the reasons specified in Article 6.

11.3 Meaning of confidential information 

Confidential information means information given to the Council by 
a Government Department on terms which forbid its public 
disclosure or information which cannot be publicly disclosed by 
Court Order. 

11.4 Meaning of exempt information 

11.4.1Exempt information means information falling within the following 
seven categories (subject to any condition):- 

(1) Information relating to any individual.
(2) Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an

individual.
(3) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any

particular person (including the authority holding that
information).

(4) Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or
contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection
with any labour relations matter arising between the
authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or
office holders under, the authority.

(5) Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional
privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.

(6) Information which reveals that the authority proposes:-

Page 324



Part 4 – Access to Information 
Procedure Rules April 2019

(a) To give under any enactment a notice under or by
virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person;
or

(b) To make an order or direction under any enactment.
(7) Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in

connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution
of crime.

11.4.2Information falling within paragraph 11.4.1 above is not exempt 
information by virtue of that paragraph if it is required to be 
registered under:- 

(a) The Companies Act 1985.
(b) The Friendly Societies Act 1974.
(c) The Friendly Societies Act 1992.
(d) The Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978.
(e) The Building Societies Act 1986; or
(f) The Charities Act 1993.

11.4.3 Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed 
development for which the local planning authority may grant itself 
planning permission pursuant to Regulation 3 of the Town and 
Country Planning General Regulations 1992. 

11.4.4 Information which:- 

(a) Falls within any of paragraphs (1) to (7) above; and
(b) Is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of paragraph

11.4.2 or 11.4.3 above

is exempt information if and so long as, in all circumstances of the 
case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs 
the public interest in disclosing the information. 

11.4.5The public shall be ordinarily taken to mean people who are not 
Members or Officers of the Council.  However, the Council, Cabinet 
or Committee may elect to admit any other parties they consider 
are necessary to the effective conduct of the meeting when exempt 
information is being considered.  

12. Exclusion of access by the public to reports

12.1 If the Monitoring Officer thinks fit, the Council may exclude access 
by the public or Members to reports which in the Monitoring 
Officer’s opinion relate to items during which, in accordance with 
Rule 11 above, the meeting is likely not to be open to the public or 
should not be disclosed further. Such reports will be marked “Not 
for publication” together with the category of information likely to 
be disclosed. 

Page 325



Part 4 – Access to Information 
Procedure Rules April 2019

13. Application of rules to the Cabinet

13.1 Rules 14-23 apply to the Cabinet and its Committees. If the Cabinet 
or its Committees meet to take a Key Decision then it must also 
comply with Rules 1-13 unless Rule 16 (General Exception) or Rule 
17 (Special Urgency) apply. A Key Decision is as defined in Article 
11 of this Constitution. 

13.2 If the Cabinet or its Committees meet to discuss a Key Decision to 
be taken collectively, with an Officer other than a political assistant 
present, within 28 days of the date according to the Decisions Plan 
by which it is to be decided, then it must also comply with Rules 1-
12 unless Rule 16 (General exception) or Rule 17 (Special urgency) 
apply. A Key Decision is as defined in Article 11 of this Constitution. 
This requirement does not include meetings whose sole purpose is 
for Officers to brief Members. 

14. Procedure before taking key decisions or holding executive
meetings in private

14.1 Key decisions 

14.1.1 Subject to Rule 16 (General exception) and Rule 17 
(Special urgency), a Key Decision may not be taken 
unless:- 

(a) A notice (called here a Decisions Plan) has been
published in connection with the matter in question,
at least 28 clear days before the decision is to be
taken; and

(b) Where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the
Cabinet or its Committees, notice of the meeting has
been given in accordance with Rule 4 (Notices of
Meeting).

14.2 Matters to be considered in private 

14.2.1 At least 28 clear days before a private meeting of the 
Cabinet, or a Committee or Joint Committee of the Cabinet, 
the decision-making body must make available and publish 
on its website a notice including a statement of the reasons 
for the meeting, or part of the meeting, to be held in 
private. 

14.2.2 At least five clear days before a private meeting, the 
decision-making body must make available and publish on 
its website an additional notice of its intention to hold a 
meeting or part of a meeting in private, including a 
statement of the reasons for the meeting to be held in 
private, details of any representations received by the 
decision-making body about why the meeting should be 
open to the public, and a statement of its response to any 

Page 326



Part 4 – Access to Information 
Procedure Rules April 2019

such representations. For ease of reference this notice will 
be incorporated into the agenda for the meeting in 
question.

15. The decisions plan

15.1 Publication of decisions plan 

15.1.1 Decisions Plans will be prepared on behalf of the Leader to 
ensure that 28 clear days’ notice of the taking of any Key 
Decision, or the holding of any meeting, or part of a 
meeting, in private, is given. This document will be made 
available for inspection at the Council’s offices and on its 
website. 

15.2 Contents of decisions plan 

15.2.1 The Decisions Plan will contain matters which the Leader 
has reason to believe will be subject of a key decision to be 
taken by the Cabinet, a Committee of the Cabinet, 
individual Members of the Cabinet, Officers or under joint 
arrangements in the course of the discharge of an 
executive function during the period covered by the plan. It 
will describe the following particulars in so far as the 
information is available or might reasonably be obtained:- 

(a) The matter in respect of which a decision is to be
made.

(b) Where the decision taker is an individual, their name
and title, if any and where the decision taker is a
body, its name and details of membership.

(c) The date on which, or the period within which, the
decision will be taken.

(d) A list of the documents submitted to the decision
taker for consideration in relation to the matter;

(e) The address from which, subject to any prohibition or
restriction on their disclosure, copies of, or extracts
from, any document listed is available.

(f) That other documents relevant to those matters may
be submitted to the decision maker; and

(g) The procedure for requesting details of those
documents (if any) as they become available.

15.2.2  The Decisions Plan will also detail any matters which it is 
intended will be considered in private, and the reason for 
the matter being considered in private. 

15.2.3  Exempt information need not be included in a Decisions 
Plan and confidential information cannot be included. 

Page 327



Part 4 – Access to Information 
Procedure Rules April 2019

16. General exception

16.1 If a matter which is likely to be a key decision has not been 
publicised with 28 clear days’ notice then subject to Rule 17 
(Special urgency), the decision may still be taken if:- 

(a) The decision must be taken by such a date that it is
impracticable to defer the decision; and

(b) The Proper Officer has informed the Chair of the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee, or if there is no such person, each
member of that Committee in writing, by notice, of the
matter to which the decision is to be made; and

(c) The Proper Officer has made copies of that notice available to
the public at the Council’s offices and on its website; and

(d) At least five clear days have elapsed following the day on
which the Proper Officer made the notice available.

16.2 Where such a decision is taken collectively, it must be taken in 
public, unless it relates to exempt information as determined under 
Section 100 of the Local Government Act 1972, when the public will 
be excluded. 

17. Special urgency

17.1 Key decisions 

17.1.1 If by virtue of the date by which a decision must be taken 
Rule 16 (General exception) cannot be followed, then the 
decision can only be taken if the decision taker (if an 
individual) or the Chair of the body making the decision, 
obtains the agreement of the Chair of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee that the taking of the decision cannot 
be reasonably deferred. If there is no Chair of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, or if the Chair of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee is unable to act, then the 
agreement of the Vice-Chair will suffice. 

17.2 Matters to be considered in private

17.2.1 Where the date by which a meeting must be held makes 
publication within 28 clear days impracticable, the meeting 
may only be held in private where agreement has been 
obtained from the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee that the meeting is urgent and cannot 
reasonably be deferred. If there is no Chair, or if the Chair 
is unable to act, then the agreement of the Vice-Chair will 
suffice. 

17.3 In the case of both Key Decisions and matters to be considered in 
private, as soon as practicable after the decision-maker has 
obtained such agreement, the decision-maker will make available at 
the Council’s offices, and on its website, a notice setting out the 

Page 328



Part 4 – Access to Information 
Procedure Rules April 2019

reasons why the decision or matter is urgent and cannot reasonably 
be deferred. 

18. Report to Council

18.1 When an Overview and Scrutiny Committee can require a 
report 

18.1.1  If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee thinks that a Key 
Decision has been taken which was not:- 

(a) Treated as being a key decision; or
(b) The subject of the general exception procedure; or
(c) The subject of an agreement with the Overview and

Scrutiny Committee Chair, or the Vice-Chair, under
Rule 17.

the Committee may require the Cabinet to submit a report 
to the Council within such reasonable time as the 
Committee specifies. 

18.1.2 The report will include:- 

(a) The decision and the reasons for the decision;
(b) The decision making body by which, or the individual

by whom, the decision was made; and
(c) The reasons as to why the decision was considered not

to be a key decision.

18.1.3 The power to require a report rests with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee but is also delegated to the Monitoring 
Officer, who shall require such a report on behalf of the 
Committee when so requested by the Chair or any five 
Members. Alternatively the requirement may be raised by 
resolution passed at a meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 

18.2 Cabinet’s report to Council 

18.2.1 The Cabinet will prepare a report for submission to the next 
available meeting of the Council. However, if the next 
meeting of the Council is within seven days of receipt of the 
written notice, or the resolution of the Committee, then the 
report may be submitted to the meeting after that. 

18.2.2  The report to Council will set out particulars of the decision, 
the individual or body making the decision, and if the 
Leader is of the opinion that it was not a Key Decision the 
reasons for that opinion. 

Page 329



Part 4 – Access to Information 
Procedure Rules April 2019

18.3 Quarterly reports on special urgency decisions 

18.3.1 The Leader will submit quarterly reports to the Council on 
the Executive decisions taken (if any) in the circumstances 
set out in Rule 17 (Special urgency) in the preceding three 
months. 

18.3.2 The report will include the number of decisions so taken 
and a summary of the matters in respect of which those 
decisions were taken together with the reasons for the 
decision and why the matter was considered to be urgent. 

19. Record of decisions

19.1 After any meeting of the Cabinet or any of its Committees, whether 
held in public or private, the Proper Officer or their nominee will 
produce a record of every decision taken at that meeting as soon as 
practicable. 

19.2 The record will include:- 

(a) A record of the decision including the date it was made;
(b) A record of the reasons for the decision;
(c) Details of any alternative options considered and rejected by

the decision making body at the meeting at which the
decision was made;

(d) A record of any conflict of interest in relation to the matter
decided which is declared by any member of the decision
making body which made the decision; and

(e) In respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of any
dispensation granted by the Council’s Head of Paid Service.

20. Executive meetings relating to matters which are not key
decisions

20.1 The Cabinet will meet in public to consider matters which are not 
Key Decisions, unless confidential or exempt information is being 
discussed.

21. Officers

21.1 The Head of the Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer and the 
Monitoring Officer, and their nominees are entitled to attend any 
meeting of the Cabinet and its Committees. The Cabinet may not 
meet unless the Chief Executive has been given reasonable notice 
that a meeting is to take place. 

21.2 A Cabinet meeting may only take place in the presence of the Chief 
Executive or their nominee with responsibility for recording and 
publicising the decisions and the provisions of Rule 19 will apply. 

Page 330



Part 4 – Access to Information 
Procedure Rules April 2019

22. Decisions by individuals

22.1 Reports intended to be taken into account 

(a) Where a Cabinet Member or Officer receives a report, which
will be taken into consideration when a Key Decision is made,
they shall not make that decision until the report has been
available for public inspection for at least five clear days.

(b) The Cabinet Member or Officer making the decision shall
ensure that Democratic Services make the report available
for inspection by the public as soon as is reasonably
practicable after that officer or member receives it.

(c) The Officer who prepares the report shall, in any report to be
available for inspection by the public, include a list of
background papers for the report or part of the report, and
shall ensure that the background papers are available on the
Council’s website.

22.2 Provision of reports to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

22.2.1 Where a report has been submitted to a Cabinet Member or 
Officer with a view to it being considered when a Key 
Decision is made, the person who submitted the report 
shall, as soon as is reasonably practicable, ensure that it is 
available electronically to the Chair of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee or, where there is no Chair, to every 
Member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

22.3 Record of individual decision 

22.3.1 As soon as reasonably practicable after an executive 
decision has been taken by an individual Member of the 
Cabinet, or after an Officer has taken a decision closely 
associated with the discharge of an executive function, they 
will prepare, or instruct the Proper Officer to prepare, a 
record of the decision which must include:- 

(a) A record of the decision including the date it was
made.

(b) A record of the reasons for the decision.
(c) Details of any alternative options considered and

rejected at the time when the decision was made.
(d) A record of any conflict of interest declared by any

Cabinet Member who is consulted in relation to the
decision; and

(e) In respect of any declared conflict of interest a note
of any dispensation granted by the Council’s Head of
Paid Service.

22.3.2 The provisions of Rules 7 and 9 above (relating to the 
inspection of documents after meetings) will also apply to 
the making of decisions by individual Members of the 

Page 331



Part 4 – Access to Information 
Procedure Rules April 2019

Cabinet. This does not require the disclosure of exempt or 
confidential information. 

23. Overview and Scrutiny Committee members’ access to
documents

23.1 Rights to copies 

Subject to Rule 23.2 below, a Member of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee will be entitled, no later than 10 clear days after the 
Cabinet receives the request, to copies of any document which is in 
the possession or control of the Cabinet and which contains 
material relating to:- 

(a) Any business transacted at a public or private meeting of the
Cabinet or its Committees; or

(b) Any decision taken by an individual Member of the Cabinet;
or

(c) Any decision that has been made by an Officer of the
authority which is closely associated with the discharge of an
executive function.

23.2 Limit on rights 

A Member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee will not be 
entitled to:-

(a) Any document that is in draft form.
(b) Any part of a document that contains exempt or confidential

information, unless that information is relevant to an action
or decision they are reviewing or any review contained in any
programme of work of such a Committee or Sub-Committee
of such a Committee; or

(c) Any document or part of a document containing the advice of
a political adviser or assistant.

23.3 Where the Cabinet determines that a Member of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee is not entitled to a copy of a document or part 
of any such document for a reason set out in paragraphs 23.1 or 
23.2 above, it must provide the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
with a written statement setting out its reasons for that decision. 

24. Additional rights of access for members

24.1 Material relating to previous business 

All Members will be entitled to inspect any document which is in the 
possession or under the control of the Cabinet or its Committees, 
and contains material relating to any business previously transacted 
at a private meeting unless it contains:- 

Page 332



Part 4 – Access to Information 
Procedure Rules April 2019

(a) Exempt information falling within paragraphs (1), (2), (3) (to
the extent that the information relates to any terms proposed
or to be proposed by or to the authority in the course of
negotiations for a contract), (4), (5) and (7) of the categories
of exempt information; or

(b) The advice of a political adviser.

24.2 Material relating to key decisions 

All Members of the Council will be entitled to inspect any document 
(except those available only in draft form) in the possession or 
under the control of the Cabinet or its Committees which relates to 
any Key Decision unless paragraph (a) and/or (b) in 24.1 above 
applies. 

24.3 Nature of rights 

These rights of a Member are additional to any other rights they 
may have.

25. Confidentiality

25.1  No member of the Council, nor any co-opted Member of any 
Committee, Sub-Committee, Panel or Working Group, shall without 
the permission of the Council or (in respect of Cabinet functions) 
the Cabinet, or (in respect of their functions) of the appropriate 
Committee, Sub-Committee, Panel or Working Group, disclose any 
exempt or confidential matter unless and to the extent only that 
that matter shall have been placed in the public domain by the 
Council, Cabinet, Committee, Sub-Committee, Panel or Working 
Group (as the case may be). 

Page 333



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 334



Part 4 – Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Officer Employment Procedure Rules

All procedures in this Section shall be subject to the provisions of the 
Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2015 or any 
legislation that amends or replaces them, and all other relevant 
Regulations. 

1. Recruitment and appointment

1.1 Declarations 

(a) The Council will require any candidate for appointment as an
employee to state in writing whether they are related to or
closely connected with an existing councillor or employee of
the Council or the spouse or partner of such persons.

(b) A candidate who does not disclose such a relationship may be
disqualified from consideration, and if appointed, may be
liable to dismissal.

(c) Every Member and Officer of the Council will inform the
Assistant Director concerned when they become aware of an
application by a relative.

(d) No candidate so related or connected to a Councillor or an
Officer will be appointed without the authority of the Head of
Paid Service or an Officer nominated by them.

1.2 Seeking support for appointment 

The Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or indirectly 
seeks the support of any councillor for any appointment with the 
Council. The content of this paragraph will be included in any 
recruitment information. 

2. Recruitment of chief executive and directors

For the purposes of these rules and of Article 11, the term “chief
officers” shall mean the Chief Executive and the Directors.

Where the Council proposes to appoint a Chief Officer and it is not
proposed that the appointment be made exclusively from among
their existing officers, the Council will:-

(a) Draw up a statement specifying:-

(i) The duties of the Officer concerned; and
(ii) Any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the

person to be appointed; and

Agenda Item 4f

Page 335



Part 4 – Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules April 2019

(iii) The requirement in 1.1 (a) above;

(b) Make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a
way as is likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are
qualified to apply for it.

3. Appointment of chief executive

Before an offer of appointment is made, the Council will approve
the appointment of the Chief Executive following the
recommendation of such an appointment by a Committee of the
Council specifically appointed for that purpose. That Committee
must include at least one Member of the Cabinet.

4. Appointment of chief officers

(a) The Officer Appointments Committee will appoint all
Directors.  For this purpose, the Council’s Independent
Persons do not need to be invited to the Officer Appointment
Committee.

(b) An offer of employment as a Chief Officer shall only be made
where no well-founded objections from any Member of the
Cabinet has been received.

5. Other appointments

(a) Officers below Chief Officer level
Appointment of officers below Chief Officer level is the
responsibility of the Chief Executive or their nominee, and
may not be made by Councillors.

(b) Assistants to political Groups
Appointment of an assistant to a political Group shall be
made in accordance with the wishes of that political Group.

6. Disciplinary action

Disciplinary action for the dismissal of the Head of Paid Service,
Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer shall take place in
accordance with Schedule 3 of the Local Authorities (Standing
Orders) (England) Regulations 2015.  The Officer Appointments
Committee shall be the “Panel” referred to in Schedule 3:

(a) Suspension
The Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief
Finance Officer may be suspended whilst an investigation
takes place into alleged misconduct. That suspension will be
on full pay and last no longer than two months unless the
Investigator recommends the suspension should continue
beyond that point.

Page 336



Part 4 – Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules April 2019

(b) Councillors will not be involved in any other disciplinary
action against any officer below Chief Officer level, except
where such involvement is necessary for any investigation or
inquiry into alleged misconduct. Such disciplinary action will
be undertaken by the Head of Paid Service or an Officer
nominated by them.

(c) The Officer Appointments Committee will make
recommendations to Council for the dismissal of the Head of
Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer and
Council must approve that dismissal before notice is given to
that person.

(d) The Officer Appointments Committee shall approve any
disciplinary action, short of dismissal, against the Head of
Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer.

(e) Subject to the provisions of The Local Authorities (Standing
Orders) (England) Regulations 2015, all actions will be in
accordance with both the JNC Conditions of Service for Chief
Executives/Chief Officers and the Council’s employment
policies.

(f) The Officer Appointments Committee will approve the
dismissal of a Director.

(g) Notice of the dismissal of the Chief Executive or any Director
or assistant to a political group must be given to Cabinet in
accordance with paragraph 6 of Part II to Schedule I of the
Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations
2015.

(h) Councillors will not be involved in the dismissal of any other
officer below Director level, except where such involvement
is necessary for any investigation or inquiry into alleged
misconduct.  Any dismissal procedure will be undertaken by
the Head of Paid Service or by an officer nominated by them.

(i) Directors, the Head of Paid Service, the Section 151 Officer
and the Monitoring Officer have a right of appeal against
dismissal to a Chief Officer Appeals Committee specifically
appointed for that purpose.

Page 337



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 338



Part 4 – Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules  April 2019

 West Suffolk Council

Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules

1. The framework for Cabinet decisions

1.1 The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its budget and 
policy framework as set out in Article 4. Once the budget and policy 
framework is in place, it will be the responsibility of the Cabinet to 
implement it. 

2. Process for developing the policy framework

2.1 Normally, in the development of the policy framework, the Cabinet 
will liaise with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the 
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee to ensure that matters 
can be given proper consideration as part of the work programmes 
of these Committees. 

2.2 However, the formal process by which the policy framework shall be 
developed is as follows. 

2.3 Prior to Cabinet consideration 

(a) The Cabinet will publicise, by including in a Decisions Plan
and/or by other methods, a timetable for making proposals
to the Council for the adoption of any new or significantly
revised policy or strategy that forms part of the policy
framework. Where consultation on a draft policy is due to
take place, the Decisions Plan will also set out the timetable
for Cabinet consideration of the draft for consultation.

Consultation on draft policies

(b) Where a policy is to be consulted on in draft form, the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny Committee may wish to investigate, research
or report in detail with policy recommendations before the
end of the consultation period.

2.4 Preparation of final proposals by Cabinet

(a) At the end of any consultation period, the Cabinet will
approve its own final proposals for submission to the Council.
These proposals will have regard to the responses to any
consultation and will take into account any response or
proposals from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or the
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee. Its report to
Council will reflect the comments made by consultees and/or
the Committees and the Cabinet’s response.

Agenda Item 4g

Page 339



Part 4 – Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules  April 2019

(b) The Council will consider the proposals of the Cabinet and
may:-

(i) Adopt them;
(ii) Amend them;
(iii) Refer them back to the Cabinet for further

consideration; or
(iv) Substitute its own proposals in their place.

In considering the matter, the Council shall have before it the 
Cabinet's proposals and any report from the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee or the Performance and Audit Scrutiny 
Committee. 

(c) 
(i) The Council's decision will be published on the

Council’s website and drawn to the attention of the
Leader.

(ii) The notice of decision shall be dated and shall state
either that the decision shall be effective immediately
(if the Council accepts the Cabinet's proposals without
amendment); or

(iii) If the Cabinet's proposals are not accepted without
amendment, the decision must inform the Leader of
any objections which the Council has and require the
Cabinet to reconsider, in the light of those objections,
the proposals submitted to it.

(iv) The Council's decision will become effective on the
expiry of five clear days after the publication of the
notice of decision, unless the Leader objects to it in
that period.

(d) If the Leader objects to the decision of the Council, he shall
give written notice to the Chief Executive to that effect prior
to the date upon which the decision is to be effective. The
written notification must either:-

(i) Submit a revision of the proposals as amended by the
Cabinet (the "revised proposals"), with the Cabinet's
reasons for any amendments made to the proposals,
to the Council for the Council's consideration; or

(ii) Inform the Council of any disagreement that the
Cabinet has with any of the Council’s objections and
the Cabinet’s reasons for any such disagreement.

(e) Where such notification is received, the Chief Executive shall
refer the matter to the next ordinary meeting of the Council
to reconsider its decision and the decision shall not be
effective pending that meeting. The Chief Executive may call
an extraordinary meeting of Council if the matter is too
urgent to await the next ordinary meeting.

Page 340



Part 4 – Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules  April 2019

(f) At that Council meeting, the decision of the Council shall be
reconsidered in the light of the revised proposals or the
objections, which shall be available in writing for the Council.

(g) The Council shall at that meeting make its final decision on
the matter on the basis of a simple majority. The decision
shall be made public in accordance with Article 4 and shall be
implemented immediately.

(h) In approving the policy framework, the Council will also
specify the degree of in-year changes to the policy
framework which may be undertaken by the Cabinet. Any
other changes to the budget and policy framework are
reserved to the Council.

3. Process for developing the budget framework

3.1 There will be a process for financial planning:- 

(a) The Cabinet shall prepare and adopt a timetable to
accomplish these objectives that should incorporate
consideration of:-

(i) An early assessment of assumptions that will be used
in the drafting of the forthcoming budget, taking
account of financial issues that may have a significant
impact on the medium term financial situation of the
Council.

(ii) An overview of the financial position in the coming
financial year following publication of the settlement
details of the anticipated funding from Central
Government.

(ii) Detailed consideration of items of growth or potential
disinvestments.

(b) Prior to Cabinet consideration:-

(i) The Cabinet will publicise, by including in the Decisions
Plan and/or by other methods, a timetable for making
proposals to the Council for the adoption of any plan,
strategy or budget that forms part of the budget and
policy framework, and its arrangements for
consultation. The Chairman of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee will be notified. The consultation
period shall in each instance be not less than six
weeks.

(ii) If the Committee wishes to respond to the Cabinet in
that consultation process then it may do so. As the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee has responsibility
for fixing its own work programme, it is open to this
Committee to investigate, research or report in detail
with policy recommendations before the end of the
consultation period.

Page 341



Part 4 – Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules  April 2019

(c) Preparation for the formal budget meeting:-

(i) The Council will hold its formal budget meeting in
February or March when the Cabinet will present
proposals to Council.

(ii) The budget proposals presented by the Cabinet having
taken consideration of the views of the public, staff,
members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and
other consultees.

(iii) All potential amendments to the budget must be
assessed for their financial implications prior to the
Council meeting to comply with Financial Procedures.
To avoid any problems arising from this requirement,
all proposed amendments to the budget will therefore
be notified in advance to the Chief Executive and S151
Officer.

(iv) At the budget meeting, the Council will decide on the
budget for the forthcoming year and formally adopt
this, satisfying any statutory requirements so that all
income due to the Council and its preceptors can be
collected.

4. Decisions outside the budget and policy framework

(a) Subject to the provisions of Rule 6 below the Cabinet,
Committees of the Cabinet, individual Members of the
Cabinet and any Officers, or joint arrangements discharging
Executive functions may only take decisions which are in line
with the budget and policy framework.

If any of these bodies or persons wishes to make a decision
which is contrary to policy, or contrary to or not wholly in
accordance with the budget approved by the Council, then
that decision may only be taken by the Council, subject to
Rules 5 and 7 below.

(b) If the Cabinet, Committees of the Cabinet, individual
Members of the Cabinet and any Officers, or joint
arrangements discharging Cabinet functions want to make
such a decision, they shall take advice from the Monitoring
Officer and the S151 Officer as to whether the decision they
want to make would be contrary to policy, or contrary to or
not wholly in accordance with the budget.

(c) If the advice of either of those Officers is that the decision
would not be in line with the existing budget and policy
framework, then the decision must be referred to the Council
for decision, unless the decision is a matter of urgency, in
which case the provisions in Rule 5 below (Urgent decisions
outside the budget and policy framework) shall apply.

Page 342



Part 4 – Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules  April 2019

5. Urgent decisions outside the budget and policy framework

(a) The Cabinet, a Committee of the Cabinet, an individual
member of the Cabinet or Officers, or joint arrangements
discharging Cabinet functions may take a decision which is
contrary to policy or contrary to or not wholly in accordance
with the budget if the decision is a matter of urgency.
However, the decision may only be taken if:-

(i) It is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the
Council;

and 
(ii) The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

agrees in writing that the decision is a matter of
urgency.

The reasons why it is not practical to convene a
quorate meeting of the Council and the Chair of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee's consent to the
decision being taken as a matter of urgency must be
noted on the record of the decision.

In the absence of the Chair of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee the consent of the Vice-Chair will
be sufficient.

and 
(iii) The Council's Financial Procedure Rules are complied

with in all other respects.

(b) Following the decision, the decision maker will provide a full
report to the next available Council meeting explaining the
decision, the reasons for it and why the decision was treated
as a matter of urgency.

6. Virement

(a) The Council shall have sufficient budget heads to enable
service delivery and effective budgetary control in line with
the Council's budget and policy framework.

(b) The Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors and other
Officers they authorise are entitled to vire budgets between
individual budget heads within the limits of authority
provided to them.

7. In-year changes to budget and policy framework

7.1 The responsibility for agreeing the budget and policy framework lies 
with the Council and, decisions by the Cabinet, a Committee of the 
Cabinet an individual member of the Cabinet or Officers, or joint 
arrangements discharging Executive functions must (subject to Rule 
5 above) be in line with that framework. No changes to the overall 
budget and policy framework may be made by those bodies or 
individuals except those changes:- 

Page 343



Part 4 – Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules  April 2019

(a) Which will result in the closure or discontinuance of a service
or part of service to meet a budgetary constraint.

(b) Which are necessary to implement a budget decision made
by the Council.

(c) Necessary to ensure compliance with the law, ministerial
direction or government guidance where there is no
discretion how to act.

(d) In respect of a policy which would normally be agreed
annually by the Council following consultation, but where the
existing policy document is silent on the matter under
consideration.

8. Call-in of decisions outside the budget and policy framework

(a) Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is of the
opinion that an executive decision is, or if made would be,
contrary to policy, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance
with the budget, then it shall seek advice the Monitoring
Officer and/or S151 Officer.

(b) The Monitoring Officer's report and/or S151 Officer’s report
shall be to the Cabinet with a copy to every Member of the
Council. Regardless of whether the decision is delegated or
not, the Cabinet must meet to decide what action to take in
respect of the Monitoring Officer/S151 Officer’s report. The
Cabinet must prepare a report to:-

(i) The Council if the Monitoring Officer or the S151
Officer conclude that the decision was a departure;
and

(ii) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee if the
Monitoring Officer or the S151 Officer conclude that
the decision was not a departure.

(c) If the decision has yet to be made, or has been made but not
yet implemented, and the advice from the Monitoring Officer
and/or the S151 Officer is that the decision is or would be
contrary to policy or contrary to or not wholly in accordance
with the budget, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may
refer the matter to the Council. In such cases, no further
action will be taken in respect of the decision or its
implementation until the Council has met and considered the
matter. The matter will be referred to the next ordinary
meeting of the Council except in cases of urgency when an
extraordinary meeting will be called.  At the meeting it will
receive a report of the decision or proposals and the advice
of the Monitoring Officer and/or the S151 Officer. The Council
may either:-

(i) Endorse a decision or proposal of the Cabinet decision
maker as falling within the existing budget and policy

Page 344



Part 4 – Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules  April 2019

framework. In this case no further action is required; 
or 

(ii) Amend the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules or
policy concerned and agree to the decision with
immediate effect; or

(iii) Here the Council accepts the decision or proposal is
contrary to policy or contrary to or not wholly in
accordance with the budget, and does not amend the
existing framework to accommodate it, require the
Cabinet to reconsider the matter in accordance with
the advice of either the Monitoring Officer/S151
Officer.

Page 345



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 346



Part 4 – West Suffolk Financial 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

 West Suffolk Council

West Suffolk Financial Procedure Rules

1. Introduction

1.1 These Financial Procedure Rules (FPRs) have been issued in
accordance with Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972,
the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations Act 2011, the
provisions of Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act
1988 and Sections 4 and 5 of the Local Government and Housing
Act 1989.

1.2 The FPRs have been adopted by the West Suffolk Council (the
Council) to provide a framework of control, responsibility and
accountability for the administration of the Council’s financial
affairs. The FPRs are, in many of the areas detailed below,
supported by more detailed guidance and procedures which set
out how they will be implemented.

1.3 The FPRs are intended to clarify the powers and duties to be
exercised with regard to the principles of good financial
management. All employees must comply with the FPRs. Officers
must ensure that any Agents, Consultants and contractual
partners acting on the Council’s behalf also comply. Any queries
regarding the interpretation of the FPRs should be directed to the
Section 151 Officer.

1.4 For the purposes of these FPRs there is a requirement for all
communication to be in writing except where otherwise specified.
This shall be deemed to include electronic communication.

1.5 Where inconsistencies may appear to arise the order of
precedence shall be:
(i) Legislation
(ii) Other Rules of Procedure in Part 4 of this Constitution
(iii) Scheme for the Responsibility for Functions (Part 3 of this

Constitution)
(iv) Financial Procedure Rules.

2. General Financial Management

Section 151 Officer

2.1 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for administering the financial 
affairs of the Council and for establishing proper systems of internal 
control to ensure that:

- The policies of the Council and statutory requirements are
adhered to;

Agenda Item 4h

Page 347



Part 4 – West Suffolk Financial 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

- The business of the Council is carried out in an orderly, efficient
and effective manner;

- The Council’s records are complete and accurate;
- Financial information and reporting is timely and accurate; and
- The assets of the Council are safeguarded.

2.2 The Section 151 Officer shall make and control arrangements for 
the payment of the Council’s creditors and for the collection, 
custody and accounting of all monies received by the Council.

2.3 The Section 151 Officer shall establish an adequate and effective 
internal audit of the Council’s accounting records and system(s) of 
internal control. 

2.4 The Section 151 Officer shall have access to all records, cash or 
other Council property as required for audit purposes. If required 
the Section 151 Officer may also request access to such information 
and explanations from any Officer or Member as may be necessary 
for audit purposes. 

2.5 The Section 151 Officer shall prepare and publish the Annual 
Accounts of the Council in accordance with statutory requirements 
and the policies of the Council.  

2.6 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for making all statutory 
returns and the like to H M Customs and Excise in relation to Value 
Added Tax, and for the obtaining and giving of advice and guidance 
to the Council and Chief Officers on Value Added Tax matters.

2.7 Each Chief Officer is responsible for ensuring the correct treatment 
of Value Added Tax on all accounts payable by, and all invoices 
raised by, their departments.

Budget holders

2.8 Budget holders shall maintain financial records and accounts that 
can be accessed by the Section 151 Officer when required. The 
financial records shall be retained by budget holders for such 
periods as required for Council or statutory purposes.  

2.9 Budget holders will endeavour to manage all financial records and 
accounts using the Council financial management system. This will 
enable the Section 151 Officer to maintain effective control and 
audit of the financial affairs of the Council. 

2.10 Budget holders shall consult with the Joint Leadership Team on any 
matter which is liable to affect the finances of the Council. No report 
to the Cabinet or relevant Committee shall be made until such 
consultation has taken place.    

Page 348



Part 4 – West Suffolk Financial 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

2.11 Assistant Directors may designate Officers to be responsible for 
authorising financial transactions on their behalf. Assistant Directors 
must inform the Section 151 Officer of all Officers with delegated 
financial responsibilities.

2.12 Budget holders, in consultation with the Section 151 Officer, are 
responsible for ensuring that all financial affairs of the Council are 
managed in a properly controlled environment and compliant with 
the Council Information Security Policy.

Reporting

2.13 Any employee that suspects any irregularity should raise their 
concerns with their line manager and in accordance to the 
Whistleblowing Policy.

2.14 The Chief Executive Officer and the Section 151 Officer will take 
such steps as they consider necessary by way of investigation and 
report. 

Controlled stationery 

2.15 The Section 151 Officer shall control the issue and use of controlled 
stationery. Controls on the use of such stationery must be adequate 
to enable usage to be traced and to prevent incorrect or fraudulent 
usage. 

2.16 Budget Holders shall be responsible for the security and use of 
controlled stationery and are not permitted to obtain controlled 
stationery other than from the Section 151 Officer.

3. Banking arrangements

3.1 The Section 151 Officer shall make and control arrangements as 
necessary for the operation of banking services for the Council. 

3.2 All monies received on behalf of the Council should be brought to 
the attention of the Section 151 Officer and banked in accordance 
with their instructions.

3.3 The Section 151 Officer shall arrange payments or transfers to and 
from the Council’s bank accounts by the use of electronic methods. 

3.4 The Section 151 Officer shall ensure that all bank accounts and 
credit cards operated by the Council are reconciled at intervals of 
no longer than one calendar month. 

4. Forward financial planning

4.1 The Section 151 Officer will prepare, for the Cabinet, a timetable 
each year for the preparation, submission and approval of the 

Page 349



Part 4 – West Suffolk Financial 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

forward financial plan covering revenue budgets and capital 
expenditure. 

4.2 The Section 151 Officer will ensure that the forward financial plan is 
prepared in accordance with the timetable and any guidelines 
issued by the Cabinet. 

4.3 The Cabinet shall consider the proposed forward financial plan and 
each year shall submit appropriate recommendations to the Council.  
The report shall include a recommendation as to the council tax to 
be levied in the following financial year. 

4.4 The Section 151 Officer shall provide financial information in an 
appropriate form for the continuous monitoring and control of 
financial activities of the Council by the Cabinet and each 
Committee with finances allocated to it.

4.5 The Section 151 Officer shall inform the Cabinet of any significant 
variation to the financial plan during the financial year. If for any 
reason any head budget of approved expenditure may be 
significantly exceeded or the estimated income not reached, the 
Section 151 Officer shall inform the Cabinet or relevant Committee 
together with a proposal to address the situation.

4.6 Any proposal to incur expenditure, either capital or revenue, above 
those limits set out on the Council’s budget and policy rules, or 
responsibility for Executive functions, that is not included in the 
existing financial plan or budget shall be recommended by the 
Cabinet to the Council. The recommendation must include the full 
financial implications of the proposal.  

5. Expenditure

Official orders

5.1 Official orders shall be issued using the Council’s financial system, 
for all works, goods or services to be supplied to the Council except 
for supplies of public utility services, for periodical payments such 
as rent or rates, for petty cash purchases or other exemptions 
approved by the Section 151 Officer.

5.2 Procurement of works, goods or services to be supplied to the 
Councils shall be completed in accordance with the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules. 

5.3 Official orders shall specify the nature and quantity of goods, 
services, or works required, any relevant contract, and the agreed 
prices. 

5.4 Official orders shall not be issued for works, goods or services 
unless the cost is within an approved estimate or other financial 
provision.

Page 350



Part 4 – West Suffolk Financial 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

Certificates for payment

5.5 All certificates for payment shall be authorised for payment by the 
signature, or electronic signature (approval) via the Council’s 
financial management system, of the appropriate budget holder or 
other authorised signatory, as agreed by the Section 151 Officer. 
Such authorisation shall imply that:

5.5.1 The expenditure is within an approved estimate or other 
financial provision;

5.5.2 The expenditure has been coded to the correct financial 
heading;

5.5.3 The goods, services or works have been supplied and are 
satisfactory;

5.5.4 Appropriate prices have been charged for the goods, services 
or works;

5.5.5 All conditions imposed by the order or contract agreement 
have been substantially complied with;

5.5.6 Where applicable Value Added Tax, Construction Industry Tax 
or any other relevant taxation requirements are complied 
with;

5.5.7 The certificate for payment has not previously been passed to 
the Section 151 Officer for payment; and

5.5.8 Appropriate entries have been made in all relevant 
inventories, stock records or asset registers.

5.6 To reduce multiple certificates for payment, budget holders should 
aim to agree payment within 30 days of receipt of invoice. Invoices 
will be paid by BACS where possible. 

5.7 The Section 151 Officer shall examine accounts passed for payment 
and shall make such enquiries and receive such information as 
necessary to establish that the payments are in order.

Advance accounts (petty cash, change floats etc.)

5.8 The Section 151 Officer may provide advance accounts to 
designated Officers for petty cash or for change float purposes. 

5.9 The maximum limit of advance accounts shall be agreed with the 
Section 151 Officer and not exceeded without permission of the 
Section 151 Officer. Appropriate safes and other receptacles shall 
be provided as required.

5.10 The Officers responsible for advance accounts shall maintain a 
record of their transactions in the form and manner required by the 
Section 151 Officer.

5.11 Payments from advance accounts shall be limited to minor items of 
expenditure not exceeding £20. The claim must be supported by a 
receipted voucher and properly authorised claim form. 

Page 351



Part 4 – West Suffolk Financial 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

5.12 Officers with responsibility for an advance account shall be required 
to provide information about the state of the account to the Section 
151 Officer as necessary. 

5.13 If the advance account is no longer required or an Officer ceases to 
be responsible for holding an account, the relevant budget holder 
shall ensure that the balance of the advance account is returned to 
the Section 151 Officer. 

6. Income

6.1 Budget holders shall notify the Section 151 Officer of all money due 
to, or expected by, the Council. This includes sponsorship or grant 
income, contracts, leases and other agreements entered into which 
involve the receipt of monies. 

6.2 Where cheques are paid in, the amount of each cheque and a 
reference to enable the cheque to be traced shall be recorded on 
the banking paying-in-slip or a format agreed with the Section 151 
Officer.

6.3 An official receipt is a written or printed acknowledgement given on 
behalf of the Council’s for monies received. Such acknowledgement 
shall be given from a cash receipting system which has been 
approved for use by the Section 151 Officer.

6.4 All monies shall be held and transported securely in accordance 
with any requirements from the Section 151 Officer.

6.5 Each budget holder is responsible for ensuring that accounts are 
promptly and accurately raised in respect of charges for work done 
or goods or services supplied. This includes cases where 
sponsorship money or grant income is due.

6.6 The Section 151 Officer may write off irrecoverable debts or 
overpayments, or write on credit balances that cannot be repaid up 
to a limit of £5000 in any one case.

7. Contracts

7.1 All contracts made for and on behalf of the Council shall be subject 
to the Contract Procedure Rules, these FPRs and any other 
statutory provision, except in circumstances where the Council is 
acting as an agent for another organisation which specifically 
directs otherwise.

7.2 The Section 151 Officer shall maintain a register of payments due 
and made under formal contracts over £50,000 to show the state of 
account on each contract between the Council and the contractor, 
together with any other payments.

Page 352



Part 4 – West Suffolk Financial 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

7.3 Payment on account of the contract sum shall be made only on a 
certificate signed by the appropriate budget holder. The certificate 
shall show, as a minimum, the total amount of the contract, the 
value of work executed to date, retention money, amount paid to 
date and the amount now certified.

7.4 Before a certificate for final payment under a contract is paid, the 
appropriate budget holder shall produce to the Section 151 Officer a 
detailed written statement of account, together with such other 
documents as may be required.

7.5 The appropriate budget holder shall be empowered to authorise an 
extra, or variation in a contract. Where the variation is estimated to 
result in a material increase in the contract sum it shall be reported 
to the next meeting of the relevant Cabinet.

7.6 Where completion of a contract is delayed, except for reasons 
qualifying for an extension of the contract, it shall be the duty of 
the budget holder to supply the Section 151 Officer with all 
necessary information to allow the correct amount of Liquidated and 
Ascertained Damages to be claimed.

8. Treasury Management

8.1 The Council has adopted the Charted Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) “Code for Treasury Management in Local 
Authorities”. If deemed necessary, the Section 151 Officer shall 
advise the Cabinets of any significant amendment to the CIPFA 
Code. 

8.2 The Section 151 Officer shall be authorised to make investment, 
borrowing and financing decisions on behalf and in the name of the 
Council. All decisions shall be taken in accordance with the Council’s 
Treasury Management Investment Strategy. 

8.3 All monies held by the Council shall be aggregated for the purposes 
of treasury management and shall be under the control of the 
Section 151 Officer. 

8.4 All investments and borrowing, including for any Trust administered 
by the Council, shall be made in the name of the Council and any 
deeds relating to such funds shall be deposited with the Monitoring 
Officer or otherwise as deemed appropriate by the Section 151 
Officer.

8.5 The Section 151 Officer is given the authority to deal with any 
emergency situation that may arise in relation to any matters not 
already delegated within the Treasury Management Policy. Use of 
emergency authority will be reported at the next meeting of the 
relevant Cabinet.

Page 353



Part 4 – West Suffolk Financial 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

9. Staffing

9.1 The Assistant Director (HR, Legal and Democratic Services) shall 
make and control arrangements for the payment of salaries, wages, 
expenses and benefits to employees in accordance with the 
approved salary scales and wage rates. 

9.2 The Assistant Director (HR, Legal and Democratic Services) shall be 
provided with the appropriate documentation required to ensure the 
payment of salaries, wages, pensions and other expenses due to 
employees.

9.3 All claims for payment must be made as soon as possible and in no 
circumstances should a claim be delayed for more than three 
months after the date on which the work was done or the expenses 
incurred. 

9.4 Matters which affect employee payments shall be referred direct to 
the Assistant Director (HR, Legal and Democratic Services). 
Notification shall include:

9.4.1 Details of all appointments, resignations, dismissals, 
suspensions, secondments and transfers.

9.4.2 Details of any training.
9.4.3 Changes in remuneration except for national pay increases;
9.4.4 Absence from duty for sickness or other reason, apart from 

approved leave; and
9.4.5 Information necessary to maintain records for pension, 

income tax, national insurance etc.

9.5 The Assistant Director (HR, Legal and Democratic Services) shall 
maintain appropriate records and make arrangements for the 
payment of sums due to Councillors in accordance with the 
Allowance Scheme approved by the Council. 

10. Insurance

10.1 The Section 151 Officer shall make and control arrangements for 
the provision of necessary insurance cover and for the negotiation 
of any insurance claims.

10.2 The Section 151 Officer shall obtain competitive quotations from 
insurers for the provision of insurance at least every five years 
unless otherwise determined by the current contract term or the 
Cabinet.

10.3 All budget holders shall notify the Section 151 Officer of all 
insurable risks arising from the activities carried out in their area of 
operation. Such notification shall include:

10.3.1 The acquisition of any property which is capable of 
insurance against fire or other risks.

Page 354



Part 4 – West Suffolk Financial 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

10.3.2 Any amendment to the value of any Council-owned asset 
likely to affect the insurable risk.

10.3.3 Any insurable risk which may arise through the activities of 
Councillors or employees of the Council. 

10.4 All Chief Officers shall notify the Section 151 Officer of the 
occurrence of any event which may give rise to a claim under any 
policy of insurance held by the Council or to an ex gratia payment.

10.5 The Section 151 Officer shall be authorised to make the appropriate 
reimbursement of any insurance claim up to the excess limit of the 
insurance policy concerned. 

10.6 All appropriate employees of the Council shall be included in a 
suitable fidelity guarantee insurance. 

10.7 Officers shall consult the Section 151 Officer and the Assistant 
Director (HR, Legal and Democratic Services) in respect of the 
terms of any indemnity which the Council is requested to give.

11. Property

11.1 The Assistant Director (Operations) is the Council’s Asset Registrar 
and shall maintain an asset register and associated records of all 
land and buildings owned, leased or managed by the Council.

11.2 The Assistant Director (HR, Legal and Democratic Services) shall 
have custody of and keep all title deeds in a secure manner.

11.3 All Officers shall be responsible for maintaining proper security of 
staff and assets under their control.

11.4 The Section 151 Officer shall be responsible for ensuring that 
adequate controls and security procedures are maintained in 
connection with the Council’s information technology systems and 
installations.

12. Glossary of Terms

12.1 Further details of the definitions, specific responsibilities and 
delegations of Chief Officers and Budget Holders referred to above, 
are contained in the Scheme of Delegation for Officers, as contained 
in Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) of the Council’s Constitution.

Page 355



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 356



Part 4 – West Suffolk Contract 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

 West Suffolk Council

West Suffolk Contract Procedure Rules

1. Introduction

1.1 These Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) have been issued in
accordance with Section 135 of the 1972 Local Government Act 
and the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (PCR2015) and adopted 
by West Suffolk Council to give consistency to procurement across 
the organisation. 

1.2 Procurement is the process by which the Council manages the 
acquisition of all goods, services and works. It includes the 
identification of need, consideration of options and the actual 
procurement process.

1.3 Officers responsible for purchasing on behalf of the Council must 
comply with these CPRs. They provide the minimum requirements 
although a more thorough procedure may be appropriate for 
specific contracts.

1.4 These CPRs provide a corporate framework for the procurement of 
all goods, services and works for the Council. They are designed 
to ensure that all procurement activity is conducted with 
openness, probity and accountability. Above all, these CPRs are 
designed to ensure that the Council obtains value for money and 
the required level of quality and performance in all contracts that 
are entered into.

1.5 These CPRs must be read in conjunction with the Constitution, 
any agreed procurement policy and guidance issued to Officers 
by, or on behalf of the Section 151 Officer. 

1.6 The disposal of assets and the acquisition, use and disposal of 
Land and Buildings are not covered by these CPRs and are to be 
considered alongside the Financial Procedure Rules. 

1.7 For the purposes of these CPRs there is a requirement for all 
communication to be in writing except where otherwise specified. 
This shall be deemed to include electronic communication, use of 
e-procurement and fax transmissions or hard copy.

Agenda Item 4i

Page 357



Part 4 – West Suffolk Contract 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

2. Basic principles

2.1 Good procurement aims to achieve:

 Transparency - contract procedures must be transparent and
contract opportunities must generally be publicised.

 Equal treatment and non-discrimination - potential suppliers
must be treated equally and fairly.

 Proportionality - procurement procedures and decisions must
be proportionate.

 Mutual recognition – validity should be given to equivalent
qualifications and standards.

2.2 In addition to the above all procurement must:

 Comply with the Procurement Policy, support the Councils’
corporate and departmental aims, strategies, policies and
procedure

 Achieve Best Value for public money spent
 Be consistent with the highest standards of integrity
 Comply with relevant legal requirements
 Be undertaken in a timely fashion
 Ensure that Non-commercial Considerations do not influence

any Contracting Decision
 Be conducted in a sustainable manner, taking environmental

and social value into account.

3. Exclusions

3.1 These contract procedure rules apply to all contracts
commissioned by the Council, except for:

• The making of grant payments which are covered by the
Financial Procedure Rules, or

• Contracts of employment which make an individual a direct
employee of the council, or

• The engagement of Counsel/Advocates or other experts by
the Service Manager (Shared Legal) where such engagement
falls outside an existing framework for the provision of legal
services, or

• Contracts where delay will adversely impact on the service
delivery of the Council and there is a prior specialised
Knowledge of a particular building or asset, or

• Agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of
land. Further guidance must be sought from the Service
Manager (Shared Legal) or the Procurement Manager; or

• The lending and borrowing of money, or
• The purchase or sale by auction or at public fairs and

markets, or

Page 358



Part 4 – West Suffolk Contract 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

• The purchase of works of art or museum specimens, or
• Agreements in relation to festivals and arts programming, or
• Agreements under s.106 of the Town and Country Planning

Act 1990 (as amended).

4. Exemptions

4.1 Exemptions to the procurement process cannot be awarded where
the proposed value exceeds the limits placed in regulation 5 of the
PCR2015.

4.2 Below this threshold, exemptions must only be sought in
exceptional circumstances and all exemptions, must be recorded.

4.3 Between £50,001 and the regulation 5 limits, any exemption must
be approved by the relevant service Assistant Director in
consultation with the Section 151 Officer, The section 151 Officer
shall keep records of all exemptions granted along with reasons
and supporting evidence for such exemptions.

4.4 Below £50,000 any exemption must be approved by the Assistant
Director or an officer delegated to make such decisions by the
Assistant Director.  The Assistant Director, or delegated officer,
must send a record of the exemption to the Section 151 Officer
alongside supporting evidence and reasons.

4.5 Exemptions are likely only to be granted in the following
circumstances:

 An unforeseeable emergency involving immediate risk to
persons or property, or serious disruption to council services.

 The goods or services are supplied at a fixed price or the
prices are wholly controlled by trade organisations and the
relevant Assistant Director is satisfied that no satisfactory
alternative is available.

 The works to be executed consist of repair or supply of parts
of existing propriety machinery or plant.

 The items to be supplied consist of goods or services which
are currently in use and are required for the purposes of
standardisation.

 Best value is anticipated to be delivered from sourcing goods
on the second-hand market where no competing quotations
can be obtained.

 The anticipated disruption/cost of changing supplier will
significantly outweigh the savings generated from re-
tendering.

 The specialised nature of the goods, services to be supplied
or the works to be executed means that only one suitable
supplier has been identified or is available.

Page 359



Part 4 – West Suffolk Contract 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

 Emergency action is required and/or immediate repairs are
required to buildings, structures and other assets damaged
by fire, flood or vandalism.

 Unforeseen works where delay will adversely impact on the
service delivery for the Council(s).

 For a ‘pilot’ scheme where goods and services are procured
on an experimental basis and considered to be the most
appropriate approach for a particular scenario and where
‘pilot’ scheme is for a clearly defined period not exceeding 24
months and where agreed by relevant Service Manager and
the Procurement Manager.

4.6 If an exemption is sought which is not for any of the above reasons, 
advice must first be obtained from the Monitoring Officer and 
Section 151 Officer in order to determine whether such an 
exemption can be applied.  Exemptions for reasons not listed above 
will be acceptable only in exceptional circumstances.

5. Procurement thresholds and key requirements

5.1 Where the Total Value for procurement is within the values in the
first column below, the Award Procedure in the second column
and the key requirements in the third column must be followed:

Total Value 
(excluding 
VAT)

Award Procedure Key Requirements

Up to 
£10,000

Procure as 
required

 If assured of value for
money; just purchase
through the most efficient
route.

£10,001- 
£50,000

Formal Quotation 
Procedure (8.3)

 Use of e-procurement
expected

 Invite minimum three
quotations from three
suppliers

 Use Formal Quotation
Template

 Open Procedure
recommended.

£50001- 
Regulation 5 
Limits

Formal Tender 
Procedure (8.4)

 Use of e-procurement
expected

 Must always consult the
Procurement Manager

 Use Formal Tender
Template

 Open Procedure
recommended.

Page 360



Part 4 – West Suffolk Contract 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

Total Value 
(excluding 
VAT)

Award Procedure Key Requirements

Above 
Regulation 5 
Limits  

EU Tender 
Procedure (8.5)

 Must always consult the
Procurement Manager and
the Service Manager
(Shared Legal)

 Use of e-procurement
expected

6. Officer responsibilities

6.1 Officers responsible for procurement must comply with these
CPRs, Financial Procedure Rules, the Officers' Code of Conduct,
and with all UK binding legal requirements.  Officers must ensure
that any Agent, Consultants and contractual partners acting on
the Councils’ behalf also comply.

6.2 Before requesting Quotations or inviting Tenders the Officer must:
• Explore whether there is an alternative to buying the goods,

services or works.
• Check with the Procurement Manager whether a relevant

contract exists before seeking to enter into a further contract;
if such a relevant contract exists, this must be used unless
there is an auditable reason not to.

• Check with the Procurement Manager whether a suitable
Framework Agreement is available from any Contracting
Authority or Professional Buying Organizations (e.g. ESPO,
GPS, YPO, CBC etc.) before starting a new procurement;
where a suitable Framework Agreement exists, consideration
must be given to procure from it unless there is an auditable
reason not to.

• Confirm that there is member or delegated approval for the
expenditure and the procurement complies with the approved
policy and scheme of delegation as set out in the Constitution.

• If a Tender relates to a contract award which is a Key Decision,
confirm that all appropriate steps have been taken.

• Seek timely procurement, legal, financial, and other
professional advice.

• Confirm that they are authorised to use the e-procurement
portal or obtain authorisation from the Procurement Manager.

• Have regard to the guidance in the Procurement Webpage and
the Procurement Policy.

• Give consideration to Contract Management and prepare a
business case if the project is high risk, high profile or of
significant financial value

• Keep records of all Contracting Decisions taken.

Page 361



Part 4 – West Suffolk Contract 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

6.4 The Officer must ensure that timely advice is sought from the 
Assistant Director (HR, Legal and Democratic Services) when any 
employee either of the Councils or of a service provider may be 
affected by the Transfer of Undertaking (Protection of 
Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE) issues before proceeding 
with inviting Tenders or Quotations.

7. Contract formalities

7.1 All contracts to which these Procedure Rules apply shall be in
writing.

7.2 Advice from the Service Manager (Shared Legal) and the
Procurement Manager must be sought for the following contract
types:

 Where the Total Value exceeds the regulation 5 limits
 Those involving leasing arrangements
 Where it is proposed to use a supplier's own terms and

conditions
 Agreements involving the development of land for public

benefit
 Those that are complex in any other way.

7.3 All contracts shall clearly specify:

 What is to be supplied (i.e. the works, materials, services,
matters or things to be furnished, had or done)

 The provisions for payment (i.e. the price to be paid and
when)

 Whether the price stated is inclusive or exclusive of Value
Added Tax

 The time, or times, within which the contract is to be
performed

 The provisions for the council to terminate the contract

7.4 Guidance must be sought from the Service Manager (Shared Legal) 
for the terms and conditions that will apply to any contract with a 
value in excess of £50,000.

7.5 Where a contact does not contain a defined extension period but 
supply of goods/services is desired to continue past the contract 
end date, then either:
 a re-tender for that contract must be performed in line with

the Procurement thresholds in paragraph 5.1.
or
 an exemption must be granted for a contract extension under

the circumstance listed in paragraph 4.5

Page 362



Part 4 – West Suffolk Contract 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

8. Procedure

8.1 Specification and Award Criteria

8.1.1 The Officer must prepare a specification document that describes 
the Council’s requirements in sufficient detail to enable the 
submission of competitive offers before starting a procurement 
process.  The specification document must include performance 
targets and/or the criteria for acceptance and must be outcome or 
output based.

8.1.2 Consideration must also be given by the Officer to economic, 
environmental and social value benefits of any proposed 
procurement to include consulting stakeholders where 
appropriate. Further information is within the Procurement 
Webpage or advice can be obtained from the Procurement 
Manager.

8.1.3 The Officer must define Award Criteria and any sub criteria that 
are appropriate to the procurement and designed to secure an 
outcome giving Value for Money for the council. The basic criteria 
shall be:

 ‘Lowest price’
 ‘Most economically advantageous’, where considerations other

than price also apply.

8.1.4 Award Criteria must not include:

 Non-commercial Considerations
 Matters which unfairly discriminate against suppliers

8.1.5 Good practice requires that quoted prices or tendered prices must 
not be altered without justification. However where there is a risk 
that a priced document maybe subject to computational errors 
then the Officer must decide, at the time that the specification is 
agreed, how such errors will be treated and this should be 
detailed within the Specification. Further information is within the 
Procurement Webpage or advice can be obtained from either the 
Procurement Manager or the Service Manager (Shared Legal).

8.2 Advertisement of quotation or tender opportunities

8.2.1 Officers shall ensure that a sufficiently accessible advertisement is 
published to generate the appropriate level of interest in the 
contract. Examples of where such advertisements may be placed 
include:

Page 363



Part 4 – West Suffolk Contract 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

 Suffolk Sourcing and Contracts Finder.
 Constructionline or similar specialist portal websites created

for contract advertisements
 the Council’s website
 the Council’s social media  accounts
 national official journals
 the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU), Tenders

Electronic Daily (TED)
 Any other appropriate mechanism in consultation with the

Procurement Manager and Service Manager (Shared Legal).

8.2.2 The Officer must ensure to give Bidders an adequate period in 
which to prepare and submit a Quotation or Tender consistent 
with the complexity of the contract requirement. Advice must be 
sought from the Procurement Manager but the following are 
recommended:

Quick Quotation 10  Calendar Days
Formal Quotation 28 Calendar Days
Formal Tender 28 Calendar Days
EU Tender The timescales are prescribed and 

vary according to procedure 
utilised

8.2.3 No Quotation or Tender received after the date and time indicated 
in the Request for Quotation or Invitation to Tender shall be 
accepted or considered, other than exceptional circumstances and 
the Officer must consult with the Monitoring Officer and 
Procurement Manager.

9. Award procedure and detailed requirements

9.1  Procure as required (Up to £10,000)

9.1.1 Where the estimated value of goods, works or services to be 
supplied is less than £10,000 the Officer must be satisfied that the 
arrangements made secure the best available terms for the 
Council.

9.2   Formal quotation procedure (£10,001- £50,000)

9.2.1 The Request for a Formal Quotation shall be issued through the e-
procurement portal utilising the standard template available in the 
Procurement Webpage and shall specify the supplies, services or 
works that are required together with the appropriate terms and 
conditions of contract as agreed with the Service Manager (Shared 
Legal) and will state that no Formal Quotation will be considered 
unless it is received by the date, time and method stipulated.

Page 364



Part 4 – West Suffolk Contract 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

9.2.2 All organisations invited to provide a Quotation must be issued 
with the same information at the same time and subject to the 
same conditions.

9.2.3 A minimum of three Formal Quotations shall be invited where the 
Officer is satisfied that competitive Quotations will be received 
from those three. Where the Officer is unsure of the market, 
consideration may be given to using an open process provided the 
Officer is satisfied that this will not generate an excessive volume 
of responses. If less than three quotations are received the 
process can be continued subject to Officer approval.

9.2.4 Providing clarification of a Request for a Quotation to a Bidder is 
permitted and is provided for within e-procurement.

9.2.5 For the receipt and opening of a Formal Quotation there must be 
strict compliance with the requirements of e-procurement.

9.3  Formal tender procedure (£50,001- Regulation 5 Limit)

9.3.1 All procurement above £50,000 shall be conducted in accordance 
with advice from the Procurement Manager and shall be 
undertaken as an Open Tender Procedure using e-procurement 
system.   

9.3.2 Open tender procedure

9.3.2.1 The Invitation to Tender shall be issued through the e-
procurement portal and shall specify the supplies, 
services or works that are required together with the 
appropriate terms and conditions of contract as agreed 
with the Service Manager (Shared Legal). It will also 
state that no Tender will be considered unless it is 
submitted via the e-procurement portal.

9.3.2.2 All organisations invited to provide a Tender must be 
issued with the same information at the same time and 
subject to the same conditions. All dialogue with Bidders 
during the process must be dealt with using the e-
procurement portal.

9.3.2.3 Utilising the standard template available in the 
Procurement Webpage, all Invitations to Tender shall 
include a Form of Tender, and other documentation as 
advised by the Service Manager (Shared Legal) or the 
Procurement Manager.

Page 365



Part 4 – West Suffolk Contract 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

9.3.2.4 Providing clarification of an Invitation to Tender to 
Bidder is permitted and is provided for within e-
procurement.

9.3.2.5 For the receipt and opening of a Tender there must be 
strict compliance with the requirements of e-
procurement.

9.3.2.6 The Officer must ensure that there is approval from the 
Assistant Director before awarding any contract above 
the tender threshold. 

9.4 Regulation 5 Limit procedure  

9.4.1 All procurement above the Regulation 5 Limit shall be conducted 
in accordance with advice from the Service Manager (Shared 
Legal) and the Procurement Manager and shall be undertaken 
using e-procurement.   Provisions, such as those relating to the 
receipt and opening of Tenders, must be followed exactly in 
accordance with the legislation.

9.4.2 All transactions exceeding the Regulation 5 Limit must be 
conducted in accordance with the required procedures as set out 
in the PCR2015.  Strict rules govern the process in relation to 
timescales, descriptions and selection procedures and these are in 
addition to these Contract Procedure Rules. Advice must be 
sought from the Procurement Manager and the Service Manager 
(Shared Legal) in all circumstances where there is a likelihood of 
the PCR2015 limits being exceeded. 

10. Collaborative arrangements

10.1 In order to secure Value for Money, the Council may enter into 
collaborative procurement arrangements. The Officer must consult 
with the Procurement Manager in these circumstances.

10.2 All procurement made via a local authority procurement 
consortium or a Professional Buying Organisation (PBO) are 
deemed to comply with these CPRs and no exemption is required. 
However, procurements above the PCR2015 limits must be let in 
accordance with those procedures, unless the consortium has 
satisfied this requirement already 

10.3 Any contracts entered into through collaboration with other local 
authorities or other public bodies, where a competitive process 
has been followed that complies with the CPRs of the leading 
organisation, will be deemed to comply with these CPRs and no 
exemption is required. However, advice must be sought from the 
Procurement Manager.

Page 366



Part 4 – West Suffolk Contract 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

10.4  Framework agreements

10.4.1 A Framework Agreement may be entered into with one provider, 
or, where an agreement is concluded with several organisations, 
there must be at least three providers. Advice must be sought 
from the Procurement Manager when a Framework Agreement is 
being considered. Contracts based on Framework Agreements may 
be awarded by either:

 Direct Call Off - applying the terms laid down in the
Framework Agreement (where such terms are sufficiently
precise to cover the particular call-off) without reopening
competition, or

 Mini Competition - where the terms laid down in the
Framework Agreement are not precise enough or complete
for the particular call-off, by holding a mini competition.

10.5  Dynamic purchasing systems (DPS)

10.5.1 A DPS is a completely electronic process. The DPS is open to any 
economic operator who meets the selection criteria and submits 
an indicative Tender that is found compliant. The Contracting 
Authority invites the Bidders admitted to the system to submit a 
Tender within a reasonable time limit. Advice from the 
Procurement Manager must be sought prior to use of a DPS.

11. Records and safekeeping

11.1 It is essential that for every Procurement exercise a record is kept 
by the Officer.  Where e-procurement has been used then the 
system retains the records from after the Request to Quote or 
Invitation to Tender has been issued up to the Contract Award.

11.2 For every awarded contract over £25,000 the details of the 
winning tender must be sent to the Procurement Manager in the 
prescribed format. This includes awards made following a call-off 
from a Framework Agreement and contracts that may not have 
been openly advertised or been granted an exemption. This list of 
awards will be published in accordance with government 
transparency requirements.

11.3  Where the Total Value does not exceed £50,000, the following 
records must be kept:

 Request to Quote and Quotations (including name of Bidder
and price)

 Any exemption and the reason for them
 Any clarification question and the answer

Page 367



Part 4 – West Suffolk Contract 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

 Award Criteria if the award is most economically advantageous
 Details of how the Quotations were stored before opening
 When and how the Quotations were opened
 Written records or communications with the successful Bidder

or an electronic record if written record of the transaction
would normally not be produced.

11.4 Where the Total Value exceeds £50,000 the Officer must record:

 The method for obtaining bids
 Pre-tender market research
 Any Contracting Decision and the reasons for it
 Any exemption together with the reasons for it
 The Award Criteria in descending order of importance and any

sub criteria
 The Invitation to Tender sent to and received from the Bidder
 Clarification and post-tender negotiation (to include minutes of

meetings)
 The contract documents
 Post-contract evaluation and monitoring
 Communications with the Bidder and with the successful

contractor throughout the period of the contract.

11.5 Records relating to procurement must be retained in accordance 
with the Council’s Retention guidelines.

11.6 Details of all Renewable Contracts (regardless of value) are and 
shall be entered onto the contract management system with the 
following details:

 The title of the contract and reference number
 The parties to the contract
 The name of the service and contract manager primarily

responsible for the contract
 The estimated total value of the contract or the estimated

annual spend or budget
 The start date, end date, review dates  and any date to which

the contract may be extended
 The procurement method to include details of any Framework

Agreement.

11.7 The original executed and completed copy of all contracts over the 
value of £50,000 shall be passed to the Service Manager (Shared 
Legal) for safe-keeping.  

11.8 Assistant Directors shall be responsible for the safekeeping of all 
other contracts falling within their designated functions. 

Page 368



Part 4 – West Suffolk Contract 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

12. Evaluation, award of contract, and debriefing bidders

12.1 Apart from the debriefing required or permitted by these CPRs, the 
confidentiality of Quotations, Tenders and the identity of Bidders 
must be preserved at all times and information about one Bidder’s 
response must not be given to another Bidder.

12.2 Contracts must be evaluated and awarded in accordance with the 
Award Criteria. During this process, Officers shall ensure that 
submitted prices are compared with any pre-process estimates 
and that any discrepancies are examined and resolved 
satisfactorily.

12.3 The arithmetic in compliant Quotations or Tenders must be 
checked. If computational errors are found in the lowest or most 
economically advantageous bid, then advice must be sought from 
the Service Manager (Shared Legal) before they must be notified 
to the Bidder. Further the Request to Quote or Invitation to 
Tender must be reviewed to ascertain the procedure in these 
circumstances.

12.4 Officers may accept Quotations and Tenders received in respect of 
proposed contracts, provided that they have been sought and 
evaluated fully in accordance with these CPRs and they do not 
exceed the budget provision. Only the successful Bidder will be 
subject to the appropriate Financial Vetting.

12.5 Where the Total Value is above the Regulation 5 Limits the Officer 
must notify all Bidders simultaneously and as soon as possible of 
the intention to award the contract to the successful Bidder. The 
Officer must provide unsuccessful Bidders with a period of at least 
ten days in which to challenge the decision before the Officer 
awards the contract. If the decision is challenged by an 
unsuccessful Bidder, then the Officer shall not award the contract 
and shall immediately seek the advice of the Service Manager 
(Shared Legal).

12.6 The Officer shall debrief in writing all those Bidders who submitted 
a Tender about the characteristics and relative advantages of the 
leading Tenderer. No information, other than the following, must 
be given without taking the advice of the Procurement Manager or 
the Service Manager (Shared Legal):

 How the Award Criteria were applied
 The prices or range of prices submitted, in either case not

correlated to Bidders’ names.

12.7 If a Bidder requests in writing the reasons for any Contracting 
Decision (to include those deselected in any pre-tender 
shortlisting process) the Officer must give the reasons in writing 

Page 369



Part 4 – West Suffolk Contract 
Procedure Rules  April 2019

within 15 days of receipt of the request.  Guidance must be 
sought from the Procurement Manager.

13. Post-tender negotiation

13.1 Post-tender negotiation means discussions with a Bidder, or a 
number of Bidders, and can be a useful tool in making 
improvements to Quotations or Tenders. It can ensure that the 
Council obtains true value for money by purchasing an acceptable 
finished product at a competitive but fair market price, within the 
time stipulated. It can also ensure that potential suppliers have no 
illusions or misunderstandings as to their exact obligations under 
the terms of any contract. Further Guidance is available within the 
Procurement Webpage. 

13.2 Advice must be obtained from the Service Manager (Shared Legal) 
prior to entering into any Post-Tender Negotiations. Where post-
tender negotiation results in a material change to the specification 
(or contract terms) the contract must not be awarded and must 
be re-tendered.

13.3 Negotiations must not take place unless the Formal Quotation or 
Tender specifically reserves the right to do so. Any negotiations 
will occur following the closing date for receipt of Quotations or 
Tenders but before award of the contract.

Page 370



Part 5 - Suffolk Local Code
Of Conduct for Members April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Suffolk Local Code of Conduct for Members

In accordance with S26 to 37 of the Localism Act 2011 West Suffolk Council Has 
resolved to adopt the Suffolk Local Code of Conduct for the purposes of 
discharging  its duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct within its 
area.

Until otherwise amended or replaced by a decision of the Council, the Suffolk Local 
Code of Conduct set out below shall hereafter apply to all elected members and 
any co-opted members entitled to vote on any decisions of the council or its 
committees, sub committees or joint committees when acting in their capacity as 
a member of the Council.

Preamble 

The Suffolk Local Code of Conduct shall be interpreted in accordance with the 
following 7 principles of public life identified by the Committee on Standards in 
Public Life chaired by Lord Nolan: 

Selflessness - Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public 
interest. They should not do so in order to gain financial or other material benefits 
for themselves, their family, or their friends. 

Integrity - Holders of public office should not place themselves under any 
financial or other obligation to outside individuals or organisations that might seek 
to influence them in the performance of their official duties. 

Objectivity - In carrying out public business, including making public 
appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and 
benefits, holders of public office should make choices on merit. 

Accountability - Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and 
actions to the public and must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is 
appropriate to their office. 

Openness - Holders of public office should be as open as possible about all the 
decisions and actions that they take. They should give reasons for their decisions 
and restrict information only when the wider public interest clearly demands. 

Honesty - Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests 
relating to their public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in 
a way that protects the public interest. 

Leadership - Holders of public office should promote and support these principles 
by leadership and example. 

Agenda Item 5a

Page 371



Part 5 - Suffolk Local Code
Of Conduct for Members April 2019

SUFFOLK LOCAL CODE OF CONDUCT 

1. You must treat others with respect.

2. You must not —

(1) do anything which may cause your council to breach any of the
Council’s duties under the Equality Act 2010

(2) bully any person;

(3) intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely to
be—

(a) a complainant,
(b) a witness, or
(c) involved in the administration of any investigation or

proceedings,  in relation to an allegation that a member
(including yourself) has failed to comply with his or her
council’s code of conduct; or

(4) do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the
impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf of, your council.

3. You must not —

(1) disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or
information acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably
to be aware, is of a confidential nature, except where—

(a) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it;

(b) you are required by law to do so;

(c) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of
obtaining professional advice provided that the third party
agrees not to disclose the information to any other person; or

(d) the disclosure is reasonable, in the public interest, made in
good faith and in compliance with the reasonable requirements
of the council; or

(2) prevent another person from gaining access to information to which
that person is entitled by law

4. You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be
regarded as bringing your office or council into disrepute.

Page 372



Part 5 - Suffolk Local Code
Of Conduct for Members April 2019

5. You —

(1) must not use or attempt to use your position as a member improperly
to confer on or secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage
or disadvantage; and

(2) must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources
of your council—

(a) act in accordance with your council’s reasonable requirements;
(b) ensure that such resources are not used improperly for

political purposes  (including party political purposes); and

(3) must have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity
made under the Local Government Act 1986.

6. (1) When reaching decisions on any matter you must have regard to any
relevant advice provided to you by—

(a) your council's chief finance officer; or
(b) your council’s monitoring officer,

where that officer is acting pursuant to his or her statutory duties.

7. (2) You must give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any statutory
requirements and any reasonable additional requirements imposed by your 
council.

8. Registration of interests

8.1. You must register within 28 days of becoming a member of the Council (and 
notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer of any changes within 28 days) any 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) you may have for publication in the 
Register of Members’ Interests.  (See Appendix A to this Code.)

8.2. You may not at any time discharge any function or participate in any Council 
business or discussions, or vote on any issues that relate to or concern any 
of your DPIs where you are aware that you have a relevant DPI.  You may 
not remain in the chamber or meeting room or in the public gallery when 
any matter that relates to any of your DPI is under discussion or debate 
unless you have requested and obtained a written dispensation from your 
Council’s Monitoring Officer in advance of the relevant meeting.

8.3. You must register within 28 days of becoming a member of the Council (and 
notify your Council’s Monitoring Officer of any changes within 28 days) any 
non statutory Local Non Pecuniary Interests (LNPIs) set out in Appendix A 
to this code but you may participate in any discussions or debates relating 
to or concerning any of your LNPIs after the date of registration. 

8.4. You must declare any DPIs or LNPIs to a meeting where business is relevant 
to those interests, including those interests that are already registered with 
the Monitoring Officer or where registration is pending.

Page 373



Part 5 - Suffolk Local Code
Of Conduct for Members April 2019

8.5. You must register, within 28 days, any gifts and hospitality received by you 
in accordance with the instructions issued within your Council by the 
Monitoring Officer.

8.6. The Council’s Register of Interests will be available for inspection at the 
Council offices during normal office hours, and will be published on the 
Council’s website.

9. Sensitive Interests

You may also apply to your Council’s Monitoring officer for non publication
of the full details of any of your DPIs or LNPIs where you reasonably believe
that publication of the details of a particular DPI or LNPI could result in your
being subjected to violence or intimidation.  In considering such applications
the Monitoring Officer shall have regard to any representations made by
you in determining whether he or she considers the relevant DPI or LNPI
should be treated as a Sensitive Interest and excluded from the published
version of the Register of Members’ Interests.

(Footnote:
*Within this Code of Conduct, the term ‘co-opted members’ shall have the
meaning as defined in the Localism Act 2011; Section 27(4)).

Page 374



Part 5 - Suffolk Local Code
Of Conduct for Members April 2019

Appendix A
Part 1

Description of categories of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

You have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any business of the Council if it is of 
a description set out in 1 - 7 below and is either:

(a) An interest of yours
(b) An interest of your spouse or civil partner
(c) An interest of a person with whom you are living as husband and wife

or as civil partners

and, in the case of paragraphs (b) and (c), you are aware that they have the 
interest. 

In these descriptions the term “relevant person” is used to mean you as member 
and any such person as set out in paragraphs (b) and (c)

1. Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit
or gain.

2. Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from
the Council) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any
expenses incurred in carrying out your duties as a member, or towards your
election expenses.  This includes any payment or financial benefit from a
trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations
(Consolidation) Act 1992 other than from a registered political party.

3. Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where -

(1) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the
area of the Council and

(2) either:

(a) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(b) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total
issued share capital of that class.

4. Any contract which is made between the relevant person, or a body in which
they have a beneficial interest, and the Council -

(1) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be
executed; and

(2) which has not been fully discharged.

5. Any beneficial interest in any land in the Council’s area.

Page 375



Part 5 - Suffolk Local Code
Of Conduct for Members April 2019

6. Any tenancy where to your knowledge (a) the landlord is the Council and
(b) the tenant is a body in which a relevant person has a beneficial interest.

7. Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the Council’s
area for a month or longer.

Part 2

Description of categories of Local Non Pecuniary Interests

(1) Any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or
management and to which you are appointed or nominated by the Council;

(2) Any body –

(a) exercising functions of a public nature;
(b) directed to charitable purposes; or
(c) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion

or policy (including any political party or trade union);

of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 
management;

(3) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an
estimated value of at least £25.

Page 376



Part 5 - Code of Conduct for Employees April 2019

West Suffolk Council

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR EMPLOYEES

1. Introduction

2. Standards

3. Disclosure of Information

4. Political Neutrality

5. Relationships

6. Appointment and other Employment Matters

7. Outside Commitments

8. Personal Interests

9. Equality Issues

10.Separation of Roles During Tendering

11.Corruption

12.Use of Financial Resources

13.Hospitality

14.Sponsorship – Giving and Receiving

15.Miscellaneous

16.Enquiries and Change Control

17.Appendices:
A1. Register of Disclosure of Interests Notes of Guidance
A2. Register of Disclosures of Interest
B. Declaration of Gifts and Hospitality Form/PROVE IT TEST
C. Supplementary Guidance
D. Gifts and Hospitality Register (to be included in the Disclosure Register file)

Agenda Item 5b

Page 377



Part 5 - Code of Conduct for Employees April 2019

1. Introduction

1.1 This document provides guidance to all employees of West Suffolk Council on
the standards required in relation to service, advice, disclosure of interests and 
hospitality which will help to maintain and improve standards and protect 
employees from misunderstanding and criticism.

1.2 The public is entitled to demand and expect that all employees will conduct 
themselves at the highest standard and with complete integrity. The Code of 
Conduct sets out to support this through setting standards for the conduct of 
its employees.

1.3 This Code is based on a model produced, after consultation, by the local 
Authority associations and the former Local Government Management Board. A 
copy is available on the intranet for all employees. Local consultations with 
Unison have also taken place.

1.4 The Code sets out the minimum standards that employees should observe. If 
an employee of the Council should fail to observe the Code of Conduct normal 
disciplinary procedures will apply.

2. Standards

2.1 Our employees are expected to give the highest possible standard of service to
the public and where it is part of their duties, to provide appropriate advice to
Councillors and fellow employees with impartiality.  Employees will be expected,
through agreed procedures (the “Whistleblowing Policy”, the Anti-Fraud and
Anti-Corruption strategy statement) and without fear of recrimination, to bring
to the attention of the appropriate level of management, any circumstance that
may lead to a lowering of the standards of the provision any given service.
Employees must report a situation where there may be a breach of procedure
or a failure to comply with this Code of Conduct to their manager of a member
of Leadership Team (LT).

2.2 The Committee of Standards in Public Life has set out 'Seven Principles of
Public Life' which it believes should apply to all in the public service. The
Council believes that these principles apply to staff of the Council as well as to
Councillors. They are:-

i) Selflessness
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.
They should not do so in order to gain financial or other benefits for
themselves, their family or their friends.

ii) Integrity
Holders of public office should not place themselves under any financial or
other obligation to individuals or organisations that might seek to influence
them in the performance of their official duties.

iii) Objectivity
In carrying out public business, including making public appointments,
awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits,
holders of public office should make choices on merit.

Page 378



Part 5 - Code of Conduct for Employees April 2019

iv) Accountability
Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and actions to
the public and must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate
to their office.

v) Openness
Holders of public office should be as open as possible about all the decisions
and actions that they take. They should give reasons for their decisions
and restrict information only when the wider public interest clearly
demands.

vi) Honesty
Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests relating
to their public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a
way that protects the public interest.

vii) Leadership
Holders of public office should promote and support these principles by
leadership and example.

3. Disclosure of Information

3.1 It is generally accepted that open government is best.  The law requires that
certain types of information must be available to members, auditors,
government departments, service users and the public.  The Council will ensure
that employees are aware of which information their authorities are and are not
open about, and act accordingly. A Policy and guidance for staff on the Freedom
of Information Act and Data Protection Act is available on the intranet.

3.2 All employees have a responsibility to ensure that they comply fully with the
General Data Protection Regulations and the Data Protection Act 2018. It is a
criminal offence to knowingly or recklessly obtain or disclose personal data.
Employees should not process any personal data unless they are sure that they
are authorised to do so. Employees failing to comply with this policy could be
subject to action under West Suffolk Councils’ disciplinary procedure and leave
themselves open to further civil action under the Human Rights Act, Article 8 –
Right to Privacy. A Policy and guidance for employees on the Freedom of
Information Act and Data Protection Act 2018 is available on the Council’s
intranet.

4. Political neutrality

4.1 Employees serve the Council as a whole.  It follows they must serve all
Councillors and not just those of the Political group or groups, and must ensure
that the individual rights of all Councillors are respected.

4.2 Subject to the Member/Officer Protocol, employees may also be required to
advise political groups. They must do so in ways which are consistent with
employees’ political neutrality.

4.3 Employees, whether or not politically restricted, must follow every lawful
expressed policy of the Council and must not allow their own personal or
political opinions to interfere with their work.

Page 379



Part 5 - Code of Conduct for Employees April 2019

4.4 Prior to any election there will be a sensitive pre-election period which is notified 
to all employees of the Council. There is a need for employees to be mindful 
against political partiality in pre election periods.  

5. Relationships

5.1 Councillors

5.1.1 Mutual respect between employees and individual Councillors is essential to 
good local government.  Close personal familiarity can arise between Councillors 
and officers, for example, where an officer is related to a Councillor.  Where this 
arises, efforts should be made to ensure that any potential conflicts of interest 
are avoided, any interaction in the workplace is professional at all times, and 
relevant service managers / Assistant Directors are made aware to avoid any 
potential embarrassment that could otherwise arise.

5.2 The Local Community and Service Users

5.2.1 Employees should always remember their responsibilities to the community 
they serve and ensure courteous, efficient and impartial service delivery to all 
groups and individuals within that community as defined by the overall policies 
of the Council. 

5.2.2 The Council is committed to equal opportunity for both staff and members of 
the community. 

5.3 Contractors

5.3.1 All relationships of a business or private nature with external contractors, or 
potential contractors, should be made known to the appropriate Assistant 
Director of Service/Director in writing. Orders and contracts must be awarded 
on merit, by fair competition against other tenders and no special favour should 
be shown to businesses run by, for example, friends, partners (a) or relatives 
(b) in the tendering process.  No part of the local community should be
discriminated against.

(a) “Partner” in paragraph 5.3 means a member of a couple who live together.

(b) In paragraph 5.3 a “relative” means a spouse, partner, parent, parent-in
law, son, daughter, step-son, step-daughter, child of a partner, brother,
sister, grandparent, grandchild, uncle, aunt, nephew, niece, or the spouse
or partner of any of the preceding persons; and

5.4 Employees who engage or supervise contractors, or have any other official 
relationship with contractors and have previously had or currently have a 
relationship in a private or domestic capacity with contractors, should declare 
that relationship, in writing, to their Assistant Director of Service/ Director will 
declare any such relationship to the Chief Executive and the Chief Executive to 
the Monitoring Officer.

5.5 Employees who award orders and contracts must comply with the Contracts 
Procedure Rules. 

Page 380



Part 5 - Code of Conduct for Employees April 2019

6. Appointment and other Employment Matters

6.1 Employees involved in the appointment of new employees should ensure that
these are made on the basis of merit.  It would be unlawful for an employee to
make an appointment which was based on anything other than the ability of
the candidate to undertake the duties of the post.  In order to avoid any possible
accusation of bias, employees should not be involved in an appointment where
they are related to an applicant, or have a close personal relationship outside
work with them.

6.2 Similarly, employees should not be involved in decisions in relation to discipline,
promotion or pay adjustments for any other employee who is a relative, partner,
etc or where there is a close personal relationship outside work between them.

6.3 If an employee receives any type of criminal conviction during the course of
their employment with the Councils it is their duty to disclose the matter to
their line manager.  The line manager, in liaison with the HR team, will make a
decision as to whether this impacts on the employee’s employment.  Failure to
disclose a criminal conviction may lead to disciplinary action.

7. Outside Commitments

7.1 Employees at Band E and above should not engage in any other business or
take up any other appointment, including voluntary roles with an ongoing
commitment, without the written consent of the Council. All such commitments
must be notified in writing to the appropriate Assistant Director of
Service/Director who will decide whether there is any Conflict of Interest. A
record of all such correspondence will be retained on the employee’s personal
file. All employees should be clear about their contractual obligations and should
not take outside employment which conflicts with the interests of the Council.

7.2 Employees should follow the rules of the Council on the ownership of intellectual
property or copyright created during their employment. Intellectual property
includes inventions, creative writings and drawings. If these are created during
the course of employment then as a general rule they belong to the Council
under section 11 of the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

8. Personal Interests

8.1 Employees must declare, in writing, to their Assistant Director of
Service/Director as appropriate, any financial, or non-financial, interests which
could reasonably be considered to conflict with the Councils interests.

8.2 Employees should declare, in writing, to their Assistant Director of
Service/Director, membership of any organisation not open to the public
without formal membership and commitment of allegiance and which has
secrecy about rules or membership or conduct.

8.3 The Assistant Director of Service/Director will advise the employee of how the
declaration will be handled and the action that should be taken to ensure that
no conflict of interest occurs.  Declarations will be accepted in confidence and
will only be disclosed in appropriate situations. A hypothetical example where
the Assistant Director of Service/Director may need to disclose a declaration

Page 381



Part 5 - Code of Conduct for Employees April 2019

would be where land owned within the family of a planning or housing officer 
could be selected as a potential development site, or where services used by 
the Councils are owned or managed by a family member who is in direct contact 
with an employee of the Councils responsible for purchasing such services. 

8.4 If a West Suffolk employee does have a close personal relationship with another 
officer or a Councillor this should be declared in writing to the HR Department, 
who may need to inform the relevant Service Manager / Assistant Director if 
this causes potential conflict in undertaking their role.   Employees should also 
declare  if they have a close personal relationship with any candidates during a 
recruitment process

9. Register of Disclosure of Interests

9.1 All declarations made in accordance with section 5 and 9 of this Code will be in
the form attached in the appendices which is available on the intranet.

9.2 Each Assistant Director of Service, Director and the Section 151 Officer will
maintain a register of declarations received (known as the Disclosure Register).
This register will record Gifts and Hospitality declared in their directorates. At
the end of each financial year, a summary return of the number of declarations
made will be lodged with internal audit.

9.3 There is a requirement to review and update entries in the register and staff
will be reminded of this on an annual basis. The register will also be subject to
review by internal and external auditors as required.

9.4 Registers will be retained for a period of 6 years plus the current year.

10. Equality Issues

10.1 All local government employees should ensure that policies relating to equality 
issues as agreed by the Authority are complied with in addition to the 
requirements of the law.  All members of the local community, customers and 
other employees have a right to be treated with fairness and equality in line 
with the Councils Equal Opportunity Policy.

11. Separation of Roles During Tendering

11.1 Employees involved in the tendering process and dealing with contractors 
should be clear on the separation of client and contractor roles within the 
authority.  Senior employees who have both a client and contractor 
responsibility must be aware of the need for accountability and openness. 
Please refer to the Contracts Procedure rules of the Councils Constitution. 

11.2 Employees in contractor or client units must exercise fairness and impartiality 
when dealing with all customers, suppliers, other contractors and sub-
contractors.

11.3 Employees who have access to confidential information on tenders or costs for 
either internal or external contractors should not disclose that information to 
any unauthorised party or organisation.

Page 382



Part 5 - Code of Conduct for Employees April 2019

11.4 Employees who are considering a management buyout should, as soon as they 
have formed a definite intent, inform an Assistant Director of the Service and 
withdraw from the contract awarding processes. 

11.5 Employees should ensure that no special favour is shown to current or recent 
former employees or their partners, relatives or friends in awarding contracts to 
businesses run by them or employing them in a senior or relevant managerial 
capacity.

12. Corruption

12.1 It is a serious criminal offence for any employee of the Council to receive or 
give any gift, loan, fee reward or advantage for doing, or not doing, anything 
or showing favour, or disfavour, to any person in their official capacity 
dishonestly.  If an allegation is made it is for the employee to demonstrate that 
any such rewards have not been obtained or given dishonestly.

12.2 Any case of suspected corruption will be fully investigated and any proven cases 
will be treated as gross misconduct and could also result in criminal prosecution.

13. Use of Financial Resources

13.1 Employees must ensure that they use public funds entrusted to them in a 
responsible and lawful manner.  They should strive to ensure ‘value for money’ 
to the local community and to avoid any action which, by its nature, could lead 
to legal challenge of the Council.

14. Gifts, Hospitality and Sponsorship

14.1 The NJC Scheme of Conditions of Service for APT&C staff states at Part 2, 2.1 
on official conduct:

‘Employees will maintain conduct of the highest standard such that public 
confidence in their integrity is sustained.’   

14.2 Employees must be aware that the offering and acceptance of gifts could result 
in criminal proceedings, under the Bribery Act 2010.  

14.3 Gifts

14.3.1 Any offer, gift, favour or hospitality directed at individual employees or 
members should be treated with caution.

14.3.2 An employee should tactfully refuse any personal gift offered to them or a 
member of their family, by or indirectly attributable to, any person or body who 
has, or may have, dealings of any kind with the Council (including applications 
for planning permission or other kind of decision).

14.3.3 An employee should not accept any inducements which could be considered 
payment in kind, such as money, goods such as chocolates or alcohol, or tickets 
for events. If refusal would offend, the gift should be reported to their Assistant 
Director of Service/ Director.

Page 383



Part 5 - Code of Conduct for Employees April 2019

14.3.4 The only exceptions to these rules are insignificant items of token value such 
as pens, diaries, calendars etc.

14.3.5 In the event of an employee receiving a gift without warning to which refusal 
would give offence, this should be reported immediately to their Assistant 
Director of Service, Director or the Section 151 Officer.

14.3.6 The Assistant Director of Service, Director or the Section 151 Officer shall be 
responsible for deciding whether the gift should be retained, returned or 
forwarded to some charitable or other deserving cause. A register of gifts is 
retained by each Assistant Director of Service. This will be in a standard format 
as attached detailed in the supplementary guidance.  The register will be subject 
to review by internal and external auditors as required.  Registers will be 
retained for a period of 6 years plus the current year.

14.3.7  Registers will be reviewed annually, in January, by the Chief Executive to ensure 
that registers are up-to-date and  working effectively. It is the responsibility of 
the Section 151 Officer to call in the registers annually and to place a reminder 
of the Procedures regarding the Registers on the intranet at that time.

14.4   Giving and Receiving Hospitality

14.4.1 Employees should only accept offers of hospitality if there is a genuine need to 
impart information or represent the local authorities in the community.  Offers 
to attend purely social or sporting functions should be accepted only when these 
are part of the life of the community or where the Council should be seen to be 
represented. If there is any doubt please refer the matter to the appropriate 
Assistant Director of Service. They should be properly authorised and recorded. 

14.4.2 When hospitality has to be declined those making the offer should be 
courteously but firmly informed of the procedures and standards operating 
within the Council. 

14.4.3 Acceptance by employees of hospitality through attendance at relevant 
conferences and courses is acceptable where it is clear the hospitality is 
corporate rather than personal, where the Assistant Director pf 
Service/Director/Section 151 Officer gives consent to attendance in advance 
and where the Councils are satisfied that any purchasing decisions are not 
compromised. Where visits to inspect equipment etc are required, employees 
should ensure that the Council meets the cost of such visits to avoid 
jeopardising the integrity of subsequent purchasing decisions.  Any hospitality 
received should be notified in writing to the Assistant Director of 
Service/Director/Section 151 Officer. This is recorded in the Hospitality Register 
kept by these Officers. 

15. Sponsorship – Giving and Receiving

15.1 Where an outside organisation wishes to sponsor, or is seeking to sponsor a 
local government activity, whether by invitation, tender negotiation or 
voluntarily, the basic conventions concerning acceptance of gifts or hospitality 
apply.  Particular care must be taken when dealing with contractors or potential 
contractors. Further procedural guidelines on Sponsorship can be found in 
Section 4 Scheme of Delegation to Officers of the Council’s Constitution.

Page 384



Part 5 - Code of Conduct for Employees April 2019

16. Miscellaneous

16.1 Employees must comply with the West Suffolk policies on Anti-Fraud, Data 
Protection and Use of Internet and E-mail.

16.2 As emphasised earlier in this Code, although the guidelines are set down for 
and apply to all West Suffolk employees, its effect will be greater for those 
employees involved, for example, in the management and policy making 
processes. Nevertheless, a copy of this code is made available to every 
employee whatever their position.

17. Enquiries and Change Control

17.1 All enquiries relating to this document should be directed to Human 
Resources.

17.2 This policy will be subject to a review every two years which will be initiated 
by Human Resources in consultation with trade unions.

17.3 Suggestions for any changes to this document should also be forwarded to 
Human Resources.

17.4 Readers of this document are strongly advised to read the Supplementary 
Guidance at Appendix C.

Page 385



Part 5 - Code of Conduct for Employees April 2019

Appendix A(1)
Code of Conduct for Local Government Employees

Register of Disclosure of Interests - Notes of Guidance

Under the Code employees, including temporary employees, are required to disclose 
to their Assistant Director of Service/Director/Section 151 Officer, as appropriate, the 
interests set out below.

1. Register of relationships with contractors

a. Award of orders and contracts

Employees who are responsible for the award of orders and the tendering and
award of contracts should make known, in writing, to their corporate director all
relationships of a business or private nature that they have with existing or
potential contractors.

b. Relationships in a private or domestic capacity

Employees who, in the course of their job, engage or supervise contractors or
have any other official relationship with contractors and who have had, or
currently have, a relationship in a private or domestic capacity with existing or
potential contractors (or their senior staff).

2. Personal interests

Conflict of interests

Employees must declare in writing, to their Assistant Director of Service/ 
Director/Section 151 Officer, any financial or non-financial interests which could 
reasonably be considered to conflict with the Authorities interests.

For example silent partnerships, major shareholdings, close family relationships 
(such as husband, wife, partner, parent, brother, sister and child) with those in 
senior positions in organisations that could do business with the authorities.

Services should ensure:

a. that employees in the Service  (including temporary employees) are regularly
advised of the need to make such declarations;

b. that the Registers are maintained and regularly reviewed; and
c. that the location of these Registers has been notified to Internal Audit.

The Registers should be made available to internal and external auditors for 
inspection.

Page 386



Part 5 - Code of Conduct for Employees April 2019

Confidential Appendix A(2)

Code of Conduct for Employees
Register of Disclosure of Interests

Name:

Service:

Directorate:

Section A: Relationship with contractors

1. Name and address of contractor:

2. Nature of interest (for example contractor is a friend, personal or business
partner, spouse or relative, or there is a relationship with the contractor in a
private or domestic capacity):

Section B:  Personal interests   

1. Nature of conflict:  (financial/relationship)

Signed:  ………………………………………….. Date:  ………………………….
(Employee)

Signed:  ………………………………………….. Date:  ………………………….
(*Assistant Director of  Service/ Director)  * delete as appropriate

This declaration will be retained on the relevant service area disclosure 
register. Employees are entitled to see details held on the register about 
them. The Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer, Director, Assistant Director 
of Service, external and internal auditors may also have access to it.

This process is to safeguard you from any misunderstanding or criticism.

Page 387



Part 5 - Code of Conduct for Employees April 2019

CONFIDENTIAL Appendix B

DECLARATION OF GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY
This form should be completed for all gifts or hospitality or the offer of any 
gift or hospitality within 28 days of the offer being made 
Section A (to be completed by the employee)
Name of Employee:
Directorate:

1. Name of the person or organisation that made the offer, gift or hospitality:

2. Details of the gift or hospitality offered/received, including estimated or actual
value:

3. Date offered: Date accepted: Date declined:

4. The circumstances in which the offer was made or gift/hospitality was accepted:

5. I have applied the PROVEIT test overleaf:

6. Action taken:  (e.g. kept for personal use; personally consumed; donated to
Charity; or raffled and proceeds donated to Charity.)

Name: .............................................................

Signed:  ………………………………………….. Date:  …………………………........
Section B (to be completed by the Assistant Director of Service/Director/
Chief Executive)*        *delete as appropriate

I authorise acceptance of the gifts/hospitality detailed above.*

The above gifts/hospitality cannot be accepted and must be refused and/or 
returned to the person/organisation. *

Please provide reasons for decision:

Name: ............................................................

Signed:  ………………………………………….. Date:  ………………………….........

This declaration will be retained on the relevant service area Code of 
Conduct Register.  Employees are entitled to see details held on the 
register about them.  The Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer, Assistant 
Director of HR Legal & Democratic Services, External and Internal Auditors 
may also have access to it.

This process is to safeguard you from any misunderstanding or criticism.

Page 388



Part 5 - Code of Conduct for Employees April 2019

You should be aware of the Officers’ Code of Conduct  and the Gifts and Hospitality – 
Supplementary Notes of Guidance
Key guidance for the completion of the declaration form:
 All sections of the declaration form must be completed.
 To determine whether a gift or hospitality is acceptable, the ’PROVEIT’ test

below should be applied.
 Staff should only accept offers of hospitality if there is a genuine need to

represent the Council.
 Gifts should only be accepted by staff in exceptional circumstances.
 The Councils disciplinary procedures may be applied where it is found that

breaches in the Code have occurred.

The PROVEIT test: to help officers determine whether or not the offer is acceptable:

PURPOSE Token, thanks or seeking a favour?
(token or thanks: yes, gift could be accepted; favour: no, it 
cannot)

RULES What are they? Does this situation conform? (yes, complies with 
the rules, gift could be accepted).

OPENNESS Is the offer transparent? (yes, gift could be accepted)
VALUE  Expensive or inexpensive? (expensive items would always need to 

be declared)
ETHICS Does the offer fit with public-sector ethics? (yes – gift could be 

accepted)
IDENTITY Consider who has made the offer – is it appropriate?
TIMING Are you about to make a decision affecting the giver? (if so it is 

unlikely that any gift or offer of hospitality should be accepted)

In all cases, offers of gifts and/or hospitality must be declared on the 
appropriate form, whatever the outcome of the PROVEIT Test.

Page 389



Part 5 - Code of Conduct for Employees April 2019

Appendix C

Gifts and Hospitality – Supplementary Notes of Guidance

1. Generally

(1) This note supplements the Councils approved Code of Conduct relating to
the offer and/or acceptance by staff of gifts and hospitality of whatever
nature from outside individuals or organisations.

(2) Within the terms of the Code and this supplementary guidance, staff are
expected to exercise common sense.  If staff are in any doubt they must
consult their line manager/team leader and in every case declare the offer
and/or acceptance of a gift or hospitality in the register kept by their
Directorate, using the purpose designed ‘Declaration of Gifts and
Hospitality’ form.

(3) The process set out in this note is designed to safeguard employees from
any misunderstanding or criticism.

(4) The general principles which govern gifts and hospitality are:

(a) offers of hospitality should only be accepted if there is a genuine need
to represent the Council;

(b) gifts should only be accepted in exceptional circumstances.

(5) The Code of Conduct applies to all permanent employees, temporary
employees and consultants employed by the Council

(6) To determine whether a gift or hospitality is acceptable, the ‘PROVEIT’ test
should be applied by staff and referred to the Corporate Director if in doubt.

(7) If a member of staff suspects that the offer of a gift or hospitality is
intended to influence their actions then this must be reported immediately
to their line manager/team leader for appropriate action.

2. Hospitality

The following principles should be followed in deciding whether or not to
accept hospitality:-

(1) (a)  staff should ask themselves whether members of the public,
knowing the  facts of the situation, could reasonably think that staff 
might be influenced by the hospitality offered.  If the answer is yes, 
the hospitality should be declined.  In making judgements relevant 
facts to take into account include the person or organisation offering 
the hospitality, its scale and nature, and its timing in relation to 
decisions to be made by the Council.

(b) care should be taken to avoid situations in which an individual
member of  staff is the sole person invited to partake of hospitality

Page 390



Part 5 - Code of Conduct for Employees April 2019

or where it creates a pattern of receiving hospitality from that 
organisation.

(2) Examples of when it may be proper to accept hospitality (always depending
upon the particular circumstances) are as follows:-

(a) attendance at conferences, events and demonstrations of
equipment organised by outside bodies where other local authorities
or governmental organisations are represented and there is a
corporate or service interest;

(b) attendance at events or functions where there is a demonstrable
need for  the Council to be represented to either give or to receive
information or to   participate as part of West Suffolk’s corporate
image;

(c) attendance at events or functions which are part of the civic, cultural
or sporting life of the Council

(d) working lunches where this is an appropriate and effective way of
conducting business and the refreshments provided are on a
reasonable level.

(3) Overnight hospitality linked to any of the above should only be
accepted where it is essential in order to attend the event

3. Gifts

(1) All personal gifts should be refused or donated to charity unless
they come within the categories set out in 3(2) or 3(3) below.

(2) Gifts of the following type may be accepted:-

(a) modest gifts of a promotional character, eg calendars, diaries and
other similar articles. See also point 4; and

(b) gifts on the conclusion of any courtesy visit to an outside
organisation of a sort normally given by that organisation.

(3) Gifts which are intended for West Suffolk as a corporate body or intended
for a service area can be accepted but must not be retained by the
individual who receives them.  Such gifts should be deposited with the
service area concerned or the Chief Executive’s office as appropriate.

4. Registration of Gifts and Hospitality

(1) Staff must register the interest as soon as possible (the general
expectation would be that under normal circumstances this should be no
later than 28 days) of receiving any gift or hospitality or the offer of any
gift or hospitality, provide written notification to the Assistant Director of
Service/Director/Section 151 Officer using the ‘Declaration of Gifts and
Hospitality’ form, Appendix B.

Page 391



Part 5 - Code of Conduct for Employees April 2019

(2) The Declaration of Gifts and Hospitality forms must be completed in full,
setting out full details of the offer or the gift and or hospitality received as
well as:

(a) estimated or actual value;
(b) an indication from the officers’ line manager as to whether acceptance

of the offer is authorised or refused;
(c) the employee’s printed full name (not typed) and signature; and
(d) the Assistant Director of Service, Director or Section 151 Officer

printed full name (not typed or pasted) and signature.

(3) In respect of the Council’s Leadership Team, details of all offers that have
been received, whether accepted or declined, should be recorded in case
of any queries, in particular through FOI requests.

5. Monitoring

Each service area is responsible for ensuring that they have collated information
on gifts and hospitality for all staff in each of their divisions.

An annual briefing paper will be produced by the Chief Executive’s Office for
Leadership Team once registers have been reviewed by the service areas,
reporting upon outcomes arising from monitoring the registers.  The paper will
include information on the number of offers of gifts / hospitality, number of offers
that were declined, or that were offered to charity, types of gifts and hospitality,
along with identifying any concerns/issues that need to be taken up with
appropriate senior officers for action.

6. Penalties for breaching the Code

The Councils disciplinary procedures may be applied where it is found that
breaches of the Code have occurred.

7. Retention of Documentation

Documentation in the Register’s will be kept for six years. Service areas will be
responsible for destroying all returns that are over six years old.

Page 392



Part 5 - Code of Conduct for Employees April 2019

Appendix D
GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY REGISTER - OFFICERS

SERVICE AREA: PERIOD: * to *  

Date 
of 
Offer

Employee 
name

Details of gifts or 
hospitality
Offered, including 
estimated or actual 
value 

Person or 
Organisation
making offer

Accepted
or

Rejected
or Donated 
to Charity

Name of 
line 
manager 
offer 
discussed 
with

I confirm that all Officers in the above division have been asked to provide 
details of gifts and hospitality, or offers of such, during the above period

Name: ………………………………………………………..

Signed: ………………………………………………………   
Assistant Director of Service/Director/Section 151 Officer

Page 393



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 394



Part 5 – Member/Officer Protocol April 2019

West Suffolk Council

Member/Officer Protocol

Effective working between Councillors and Officers is critical to the effective running 
of a Council.  Together, they form an essential skills and knowledge base; their 
roles are very different, but need to work in a complementary way.

The purpose of this Protocol is to develop a clear understanding of the role of 
Councillors and Officers; clarify the relationship and provide avenues to resolve 
matters when things go wrong.

This Protocol is not intended to provide a comprehensive guide to all situations that 
Councillors and Officers may encounter.  Instead, it should be seen as a set of 
principles that should help provide guidance on how to deal with situations, and 
should be considered in conjunction with the respective Codes of Conduct that 
apply to both Members and Officers.

Roles
Members are elected to serve their public.  They are accountable to their electorate, 
and to the Council.  They are expected to comply with the Code of Conduct, and 
guidance provided to them.  Officers are responsible to, and employed by the 
Council.  They should act in accordance with their own Code of Conduct and 
relevant policies and procedures.  

The role of Councillor and Officers can overlap; in evaluating performance of the 
Council and ensuring services are effectively delivered to the public; in responding 
to queries and resolving community challenges, or in making decisions on how to 
deal with challenging issues.  A collaborative approach, based on a positive working 
relationship, is the most effective way to support each other.

In general, Councillors set the strategies and high level policies of the Council, 
including the Council’s overall strategic plan and budget requirement; they are not 
expected to be involved in the day-to-day running of the many services the Council 
provides. Once Councillors have set the strategic framework, the Council employs 
staff, known as officers, to run the Council’s activities and operations in the way 
that they consider appropriate.  The Council operates an executive-leader model of 
governance, whereby particular Councillors will operate as “portfolio holders” for 
services and will be accountable to their peers for how those services are being 
delivered by the Council’s Officers.

Both Officers and Councillors can be authorised (delegated) to make decisions on 
behalf of the Council.  However, there are limits placed on what decisions can be 

Agenda Item 5c

Page 395



Part 5 – Member/Officer Protocol April 2019

delegated through the Council’s constitution and Councillors and Officers should 
respect the authority of their own limits, and not make commitments that cannot 
be kept.   All decisions should be justified and subject to appropriate recording to 
ensure all decision making is transparent and legitimate.  Both Councillors and 
Officers must respect the need to ensure any personal conflicts they have in a 
decision that will be made are appropriately disclosed and resolved.

The Council actively encourages positive dialogue between Members and Officers to 
assist in developing relationships and sharing information on issues that affect the 
Council.

Basic Principles of Councillor – Officer Working
The following principles should be used as a basis for effective working 
relationships:

 Operate an atmosphere of mutual trust and respect
 Understand the role, knowledge and insight that each other has
 Challenge should be constructive
 Communication should be clear and unambiguous
 Both sides should avoid poor, negative, aggressive or obstructive behaviour

What can Councillors expect from Officers?
Officers are required to serve the whole Council.  They are expected to provide 
reasonable support and assistance to Councillors, but would not be expected to 
provide more general administrative support, unless they were specifically 
employed to do so.  

Officers are expected to be courteous towards Councillors, recognising that 
Councillors are elected representatives of their electors.  Officers should not force 
their own personal issues on to Councillors, nor to advance political causes.  They 
should acknowledge that Councillors are often busy people, and not put them under 
undue pressure to respond to issues; officers should raise relevant matters with 
councillors on a timely basis and proactively engage with them on appropriate 
matters.

What can officers expect from Councillors?
Councillors should respect the role of the officer, and not seek to put undue 
pressure on officers to take particular action against their professional opinion or 
Council policy / procedure.  Councillors should respect that officers often have 
demanding roles and competing priorities, and not put them under undue pressure 
to respond at short notice to complex issues, or address matters urgently that may 
not be of priority.  Officers should not be unfairly pushed to advocate political 
views, to overstep their delegated authority.

Page 396



Part 5 – Member/Officer Protocol April 2019

Councillors should actively seek the advice and opinion of officers on matters 
relevant to their role, but not use the opinions of officers for political or personal 
gain.  Councillors may make recommendations and suggestions to Officers, but 
should also seek to respect their professional opinion and may not require officers 
to amend reports or correspondence against the Officers’ professional judgement.   

New Councillors and Officers
Entering into a new Council can be a daunting environment.  Councils all have their 
own unique practices, which new Councillors and Officers may not be familiar with.  
It is particularly important that Councillors and Officers work to support each other 
as they learn about the practices that operate at the Council, and in their journey in 
the Council.  Councillors and Officers are both encouraged to be inquisitive, and to 
seek support and help to learn more about the Council.

Support to Executive Members and Committee Chairs
The Leaders, Cabinet Portfolio Holders and Committee Chairmen will necessarily 
need to maintain a close watching brief on matters that may fall within their 
domain.

As a result, Officers and postholders may seek to establish regular briefings and 
informal discussions to discuss emerging or sensitive matters.  Such discussions 
would usually be confidential, albeit when possible to do so, relevant subject matter 
information will be shared with other members who may have a need to be 
informed.

Any such briefings should not pre-empt or undermine the decision making 
processes of the Council, which should be respected.  Where officers and 
Councillors are delegated to make decisions, then they may find it useful to brief 
and consult with other Councillors before exercising their delegation.

Political Groups
Groups are a recognised part of Council working.  There are statutory requirements 
in respect of how they are formed, and it is common practice for groups to discuss 
matters before a Council decision is made.  

Political groups cannot make decisions, and Officers are not obliged to operate in 
line with the wishes of a group meeting.  Political groups can support the work of 
the Council through:
 Ensuring their Members are briefed on important issues.
 Raising collective concerns or development needs through appropriate officers to

resolve in a co-ordinated way.
 Supporting their Members, particularly new Members, in understanding the

requirements placed on them in their role in the Council and the protocols and
practices they are expected to comply with.

Page 397



Part 5 – Member/Officer Protocol April 2019

 Supporting the Council in ensuring high standards of conduct are upheld by the
members of their group.

Officers may request to attend political group meetings, or groups may request an 
officer to attend.  Wherever possible, all such requests will be complied with, 
however no officer is obliged to accept an invitation to a group meeting and 
similarly, no Officer is entitled to insist on attending a meeting.  

If in attendance at a group meeting, Officers may present information and provide 
their professional opinion.  However, they are entitled not to discuss or advise 
groups on other matters, and are not required to act on, or take into account the 
views and the decisions of the group.

Officers who attend more than one group meeting should not divulge any 
discussions to members of other groups.  It is expected they will discuss the views 
of any political group meeting they have attended with other officers working on 
relevant matters.  Should notes be taken of group meetings, it would be expected 
officers have the opportunity to verify any comments they make in that meeting 
(this does not entitle Officers to see all notes taken at group meetings).   

Independent Members
Some Members of the Council may decide not to form part of any political group.  
Many of the same working practices will operate with independent members as with 
political groups; so, for example, officers may request to meet with independent 
members to brief them on issues, and independent members may also request 
meetings with officers.  

Where the relationship goes wrong
Unless there is evidence of serious wrongdoing on the part of either an officer or 
councillor, it would usually be expected that councillors and officers will work 
together in an amicable way to resolve differences of opinion so that lasting 
working relationships can be re-formed.  Councillors and officers should seek to 
raise issues promptly, to ensure these can be quickly resolved and not escalate.

Councillors and officers should, as a principle, avoid personal attacks or abuse of 
each other, particularly at meetings or on social media.  All criticism and challenge 
should be constructive and well founded, with evidence to support challenge made.  

Where a Councillor is concerned about the action or behavior of a senior officer, 
they should seek to discuss this in the first instance with the officer to understand 
what has happened, and why.  If they remain dissatisfied, then they may raise this 
with the officers’ relevant Service Manager, Assistant Director, Director or Chief 
Executive to further investigate the matter.  In relation to junior officers, it may be 
more appropriate to refer the matter to the Service Manager in the first instance 
rather than seeking to raise this directly with the officer directly.

Page 398



Part 5 – Member/Officer Protocol April 2019

Where an Officer is concerned about the actions of a Member, then they should 
seek to raise this with their Service Manager.  Either the Officer (if they remain 
concerned), or the Manager, may seek to raise the matter with the Monitoring 
Officer and the Chief Executive.  It would usually be expected that discussion would 
take place with the Councillor to understand what has happened and why, which 
may also result in officers seeking to discuss any concerns with the relevant group 
leader.  In the most serious of offences, the Monitoring Officer may find it 
necessary to progress the matter as a breach of the Code of Conduct.  

Use of Resources
Council resources should be used for Council purposes only.  In particular, Council 
resources should not be used for personal or political gain.  Council resources may 
not be used for electoral purposes except where allowed by law.

Councillors have the right to visit and use the premises and facilities of the Council 
offices.  They should do so in a sensible manner are required to comply with any 
safety or security requirements, including training and induction of buildings where 
appropriate, and should not interfere in the delivery of services by other partners 
who may occupy the premises.

Local Member Protocol
Members should be informed about matters that affect their wards for example 
community events, activities with community groups, new developments.  Each 
member of staff, when dealing with a local issue, has the responsibility to keep the 
councillor informed on a timely basis, and ensure their views are taken into account 
when a decision is made.  

Members would not normally be informed regarding personal applications and 
entitlements of individuals that are considered to be in the normal course of 
business.  For example, local members would not be informed about new applicants 
for housing; individuals claiming council tax support, or day-to-day monitoring of 
food business. 

On occasions, the Council’s Executive may be considering a particularly sensitive 
matter or transaction within a local Members’ wards.  It would be expected that 
wherever it is feasible to do so, the local Members will be informed before a 
decision is made, and informed of the relative levels of confidentiality relating to the 
issue.    

When a public meeting is being arranged by the Council to consider a local issue, all 
Members representing that area should be invited to the meeting.  If they are 
unable to attend, Officers should ensure they are updated on a timely basis 
following the meeting.  Similarly, all local consultations should allow local Members 
to contribute.  

Page 399



Part 5 – Member/Officer Protocol April 2019

Where a Councillor or Officer is dealing with a matter related to an individual within 
a locality, they should ensure that the individual is aware if their personal details 
are likely to be shared with the Council or Councillor.  Any sharing of personal data 
should only be undertaken in line with the Data Protection Act; it must be fair to 
share the information and where possible anonymised as far as possible, for 
example through the use of phrases such as “a local resident” rather than the name 
of the resident.  

Members Access to Information
Members have an enhanced right to information when compared to members of the 
public.  This entitles them to have access to confidential papers being considered by 
committees, and to consider background material relating to decisions that have 
been made, as set out in the Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules. 
However, this does not entitle members to receive all information in the possession 
of the Council and in particular, it is normally expected that the Council’s Executive 
is afforded a “safe space” in which to develop policy and formative plans/policies 
would not be shared more widely with Councillors without the consent of the 
executive.  The Council may also hold information on behalf of other organisations 
that officers are not permitted to share with Councillors, or may have to confirm 
with the organisation whether they have permission to share.

As above, Councillors may need to access information regarding individuals in order 
to enable them to help resolve issues raised by local residents.  However, if it is not 
clear that the individual has consented to their data being shared with the 
Councillor, or there is no other legitimate reason for providing the data to the 
Councillor, it may be necessary to seek to obtain consent from the individual 
concerned.  Any queries regarding the sharing of personal data with Councillors 
should be referred to the Council’s Data Protection Officer.

If there is a query whether a Member should be provided with access to a particular 
document, then this should be referred to the Chief Executive or Monitoring Officer.

Correspondence
Councillors and Officers are entitled to handle correspondence in their own name 
and title.  However, they may only purport to be acting on behalf of the Council, or 
express the opinion of the Council, where they have appropriate authority to do so 
by virtue of the scheme of delegation, as a result of a decision made by the Council, 
or by legal authority.

Publicity and Press
Officers in the Council’s Communications Team will proactively issue press releases, 
or post on social media, as well as reacting to press and social media enquiries.  
Except in a pre-election period, any quotations included within Council statements 
will be issued in the name of an appropriate Member, usually the Leader of the 

Page 400



Part 5 – Member/Officer Protocol April 2019

Council or a Portfolio Holder in responding to a matter of Council policy, or local 
members in relation to a local issue.

Councillors are entitled to respond to press enquiries.  It is helpful to inform the 
Council’s Communications Team Officers of all such enquiries and requests for 
statements, who can assist in ensuring responses are factually accurate and provide 
general support to members in responding to enquiries.

During a pre-election period (commonly referred to as Purdah), the Council is 
obliged to be particularly sensitive in its communications.  The Council should not 
draw attention to any candidate, or take action that may sway public support 
towards a candidate or party in an election.  During this period, press statements 
may include quotations from a “Council spokesperson” but the Council would not 
normally seek to respond to requests for interviews or personal statements unless it 
is in the public interest to do so.

Page 401



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 402



Part 5 – West Suffolk 
Planning Code of Practice April 2019

West Suffolk Council

West Suffolk Planning Code of Practice

Purpose

This Code has been prepared to demonstrate the Council’s commitment to 
transparency and openness in the determination of planning applications, to 
ensure that in the planning process decisions are made in a way that is fair, 
impartial and well founded, with justifiable reasons.

Application

This Code of Good Practice applies to Members at all times when involving 
themselves in the planning process (including, where applicable, decision making 
meetings of the Council whenever they exercise the functions of the Planning 
Authority in determining applications and other issues, or when they are making 
representations as local members). It applies as equally to planning enforcement 
matters as it does to planning applications. If you have any doubts about the 
application of this code to your own circumstances you should seek advice from 
the Monitoring Officer as soon as possible.

Relationship to Members’ Code of Conduct

The Members’ Code of Conduct takes precedence over this Planning Code of 
Practice.  Where this Code may conflict with the Code of Conduct, it is the Code 
of Conduct requirements that should be adhered to.

Councillors should always seek to be open about interests they hold.  If 
Councillors do have an interest in an application, they should make this clear at 
the relevant Committee.

Development Proposals and Members’ Interests

Where Members have a pecuniary interest, by law, they should not take part in 
any committee discussions or decision making processes in relation to the 
application.  A pecuniary interest would include situations where it is their own, 
or their spouse’s planning application, a business they own is applying for 
planning permission, or an organisation they work for is applying for planning 
permission (reference should be made to the Member Code of Conduct and any 
declared pecuniary interests that the Member has). Members may find it helpful 
to appoint a third party or agent to act on their behalf in any of their own 
applications to avoid any impression that they are seeking to place undue 
pressure on decision makers.  Members should ensure they notify the Monitoring 
Officer and the Planning Department as soon as they know when a pecuniary 
interest they hold is likely to apply for planning permission

There are situations where Members may not have a pecuniary interest in the 
application itself, but they do have an interest that otherwise is so significant 
that a reasoned member of the public may believe that they are likely to be 
biased for or against the application.  In these situations, the Councillor should 

Agenda Item 5d

Page 403



Part 5 – West Suffolk 
Planning Code of Practice April 2019

consider whether they can be objective when considering  the application, and if 
they consider that is not possible, ensure that relevant Officers and Members are 
aware of their situation and not to involve the Member unnecessarily within it.  

In such situations, Members may still submit representations and attend 
Committee to support or oppose the application but they should ensure that 
whenever they do so, they make clear it is in a personal capacity and not refer 
to themselves as Councillors.

If any Member has concerns about their own personal situation and extent to 
which they should be involved in an application, then they must consult with the 
Monitoring Officer, preferably before any committee meeting to consider the 
application.

Where a Member has decided not to engage with a planning application due to 
their personal situation, they may appoint another local Member to act as local 
Member in relation to the application.  The Member should notify the relevant 
Case Officers, and any other parties who are contacting them about the 
application who is acting as local Member as soon as possible.

Predetermination

Members taking part in decision making on planning applications must have an 
open mind.  Members are entitled to have an opinion (be predisposed) or change 
their minds, but if a well-informed member of the public may think you are 
biased, or have a closed mind on the application because of anything you have 
said or done you should not take part in the decision.  If you do take part, you 
could put the Council’s decision at risk.

Members are not predetermined simply by virtue of having considered the 
application before, whether at a previous Development Control Committee, or by 
having made a decision on very similar applications.  Members do have a duty to 
consider each application at hand independently, and take into account all 
material factors at the time they make their decision.

Where the Council (or another Council the Member is elected to) is the 
landowner or the applicant, Members should be mindful of the position they have 
taken on previous decisions but again are not necessarily predetermined.  It is 
well established in law that the Council can determine its own application, but 
again Members should demonstrate that they have an open mind on the 
application and are considering the application based on material planning 
reasons.

Where you consider you may be predetermined, make clear that is the case and 
remove yourself to the public area of the Committee meeting when the 
application is considered.  You do have the right to speak as Ward Member, but 
again bear in mind that as a Ward Member you have a duty to represent your 
Ward and you may not be able to do so objectively if you are predetermined.

Page 404



Part 5 – West Suffolk 
Planning Code of Practice April 2019

Acting as a Member of the Development Control Committee where you 
are also the Ward Member

As above, Members of the Development Control Committee must seek to retain 
an open mind up to the point where a decision is made.  

This can be challenging when you are the local Ward Member.  Ahead of the 
meeting, it is important that you make clear your role on the Committee to local 
residents and the need to avoid predetermining yourself.  You can still inform 
individuals and groups as to how they can put forward their own views.

At the Committee, you are entitled to speak as local Member in the specified 
slot.  This is intended to allow you to articulate the views from across your 
communities and your local insight, whether that represents your own views or 
not.  As long as you remain open minded on the application, you may take part 
in the main Committee debating and voting on the application. 

Lobbying 

Lobbying is a normal part of the planning process and may be by both 
supporters and/or objectors of the application.  

Councillors need to make clear to lobbyists that whilst they can hear their 
arguments, you cannot express a firm view on the application as otherwise it 
may prejudice your ability to take part in the Development Control Committee.  

Local Members can play an important role in helping lobbyists understand those 
factors the Council can and cannot take into account, when determining planning 
applications, and how they may be able to more effectively express their views.  
This does not mean that the local Member supports or opposes the views of 
lobbyists.

The Code of Conduct requires Councillors to make declarations where they are in 
receipts of gifts or hospitality where its value is over £25 (or equivalent value).  
However, in general, Councillors should try to avoid receiving gifts and 
hospitality, especially from applicants or objectors to applications, due to the 
impression that this can give.  

Councillors sitting on the Development Control Committee should avoid leading 
or generally taking part in lobbying groups. Further, Development Control is a 
regulatory process; it is not political, not subject to “whipping” arrangements 
and Members should not encourage a political steer to be given or taken on an 
application.

Contact with Applicants/Developers

It is recognised that local Members can play an important part in the planning 
process, helping developers to understand local needs and demands, as well as 
local concerns about development and how these can be addressed.  As such, it 
is expected that local Councillors will discuss emerging applications with 
developers.

Page 405



Part 5 – West Suffolk 
Planning Code of Practice April 2019

However, close relationships between Councillors and developers can give a 
wrongful impression.  Any applicants who approach Councillors directly should 
be referred to the Planning Department to initiate discussions. Where Councillors 
do have one-to-one contact with developers, they should make clear their role 
as a Councillor and that they are primarily gathering information related to the 
application.

Councillors can, where invited, attend meetings organised by Officers, or attend 
where Officers are present with the applicant when it is appropriate.  Notes of 
such meetings should be retained to ensure there is a clear record of matters 
discussed and no party should over-commit the Council to supporting an 
application.  

Councillors have a duty to act with appropriate confidentiality.  Where 
Councillors are informed regarding pre-application discussions, they should seek 
to respect the confidentiality of such discussions and any information they are 
provided with.  Officers will not normally consult or liaise with local Members on 
pre-application discussions although they may inform the applicant of the need 
to discuss particularly sensitive/controversial issues which will have a significant 
impact on local communities with the local Members.

Local Councillors can attend local public meetings or developer exhibitions to 
gain greater understanding about applications and ask questions.  They may also 
take soundings from the public at such meetings but should avoid 
predetermining themselves.  

If a Councillor receives unwarranted and unreasonable contact from a Developer, 
they should immediately inform the Assistant Director (Planning and Regulatory 
Services) or the Service Manager (Planning Development).

Member/Officer Relations

Members should not put undue pressure on Officers to put forward a particular 
recommendation.  Councillors can put forward alternative views as part of a 
submission but again need to be mindful of predetermination.  

Officers are part of a management structure.  If Members have a concern about 
how an Officer is handling an application, they should seek to raise those 
concerns with their line manager.  Councillors should respect that as Officers, 
they are duty bound to put forward their professional opinion, in line with the 
relevant Officer and professional Codes of Conduct even if it is at odds with the 
views of the Committee or its Members.

Local Members may request that applications are referred for Committee 
decision, rather than being delegated to Officers.  If an application in the 
Members Ward is being considered by the Delegation Panel, Members should 
provide their views on a timely basis and attend the Panel meeting if they can. If 
Councillors believe a proposal should go to Committee, then reasons for this 
should be clearly recorded and relate to material planning matters, and not just 
personal opinions or weight of local feeling. 

Page 406



Part 5 – West Suffolk 
Planning Code of Practice April 2019

Knowledge and Training  

Members should ensure they familiarise themselves with the application ahead 
of the Committee meeting.  If Members have questions, they should take the 
opportunity to ask questions of Officers to understand the proposals.  It is 
helpful that if Members have concerns that have not been addressed within 
Committee reports they seek to raise this with Officers in advance of the 
Committee in order that responses can be provided to inform the decision.

If Members feel there is insufficient time to digest new information or they do 
not have the information at hand to make a decision, they may propose to defer 
the application but the expectation should be that otherwise, Members would 
seek to support or refuse an application at Committee.

Members of the Committee should be proactive in keeping up-to-date with 
developments in the planning framework, including government guidance and 
the local plan and supplementary documents.  Planning is a regulatory function 
and poor decision making can be of detriment to the Council and local residents 
as it risks applications being dealt with through the appeals route rather than 
within the Local Authority’s control.

To demonstrate their commitment to ensuring sound decision making, 
Committee Members and named substitutes will undertake compulsory training, 
to consist of at least one session in each six month period that meets one of the 
following criteria:

 A training or briefing session organised by Council Officers, which Officers*
indicate is accredited training.

 A training session organised by a relevant organisation (normally RTPI, PAS,
LGA or another Council), attendance having been approved by Officers*.

 Online learning approved by Officers*.

Above, Officers shall mean the Chief Executive or a Director; the Monitoring 
Officer; the Assistant Director (Planning and Regulatory Services) or the Service 
Manager (Planning Development).

If a Councillor has not received the requisite training, and is thus not considered 
accredited to sit on the Development Control Committee, they should seek a 
substitute Member for all Committees until they have received training.  In 
exceptional cases where the Committee would not otherwise be quorate, the 
Monitoring Officer or Legal Officer present at a Development Control Committee 
may waive the compulsory training requirement for any individual Member.

In addition to Committee Members, all Members will be called upon to act as 
local Members on applications, and to be at their most effective should ensure 
they take steps to keep themselves informed and up-to-date.  It is therefore 
expected that all Councillors should undertake training at least once a year in 
line with the approach outlined above for Committee Members.

Page 407



Part 5 – West Suffolk 
Planning Code of Practice April 2019

Site Visits

Members of the Development Control Committee should try to attend all site 
visits organised by the Council.  The site inspection should be treated simply as 
an inspection; Councillors may seek further information from Officers and 
observe the site but should not engage with, or seek information about the 
application from the applicant, objectors or any other third parties.

Councillors should avoid expressing clear opinions or views at site inspections 
and reserve judgement until the Committee.  

Councillors on the Development Control Committee should avoid lone site visits, 
even if they were unable to attend the organised site inspection. If a Councillor 
considers it necessary to conduct a site visit and cannot attend the organised 
event, they should seek to contact the Case Officer to understand whether any 
existing additional visits are anticipated (Officers are not expected to organise 
additional visits for Councillors).  Councillors may also seek to review sites 
themselves, but should safely remain on publicly accessible roads and paths and 
should not enter onto the physical application site themselves to avoid any 
impression of unfairness.

Page 408



Part 5 - West Suffolk Licensing
Code of Practice April 2019

West Suffolk Council
West Suffolk Licensing Code of Practice

Objective

This Code has been prepared to demonstrate the Council’s commitment to 
transparency and openness in the determination of licensing applications, to 
ensure that decisions are made in a way that is fair, impartial and well founded, 
with justifiable reasons.

Application

This Code of Good Practice applies to Members at all times when involving 
themselves in the licensing process (including, where applicable, decision 
making meetings of the Council when exercising licensing functions, or when 
they are making representations as local members). It applies as equally to 
licensing enforcement matters as it does to licensing applications. If you have 
any doubts about the application of this Code to your own circumstances you 
should seek advice from the Monitoring Officer as soon as possible.

Relationship to Members’ Code of Conduct

The members Code of Conduct takes precedence over this licensing Code of 
Practice.  Where this Code may conflict with the Code of Conduct, it is the Code 
of Conduct requirements that should be adhered to.

Councillors should always seek to be open about interests they hold.  If 
Councillors do have an interest in an application, they should make this clear at 
the relevant Committee or to Officers at the appropriate time and act 
accordingly.

Licensing and Members’ Interests

Where Members have a pecuniary interest, by law, they should not take part in 
any Committee discussions or decision making processes in relation to the 
application.  This would usually apply where a Member applies for a license 
personally, or the Council is the licensing authority in relation to a premises they 
have a financial interest in.   Members may find it helpful to appoint a third party 
or agent to act on their behalf in any of their own applications to avoid any 
impression that they are seeking to place undue pressure on decision makers.  
Further, if the decision making is delegated to Officers, the Councillor should 
take no part in how the licence is considered.

The Member should ensure they notify the Monitoring Officer and the Licensing 
Team as soon as they know when a pecuniary interest of theirs is likely to be 
applying for a licence or is having enforcement action taken against it.

There are situations where Members may not have a pecuniary interest in the 
application itself, but they do have an interest that otherwise is so significant 

Agenda Item 5e

Page 409



Part 5 - West Suffolk Licensing
Code of Practice April 2019

that a well-informed member of the public may believe that they are likely to be 
biased for or against the application.  In these situations, the Councillor should 
consider whether they can be objective in acting with relation to the application, 
and if they consider that is not possible, ensure that relevant Officers and 
Members are aware of their situation and not to involve the Member 
unnecessarily within it.  

In such situations, Members may still submit representations and attend 
Committee to support or oppose, but they should ensure that whenever they do 
so, they make clear it is in a personal capacity and not refer to themselves as 
Councillors.

If any Member has concerns about their own personal situation and extent to 
which they should be involved in an application, then they must consult with the 
Monitoring Officer, preferably before any Committee or hearing to consider the 
application.

Where a Member has decided not to engage with a licence application due to 
their personal situation, Members may appoint another local Member to act in 
this case.  Members should inform the relevant Officers as soon as feasible 
where this is the case. This might apply where, for example, residents are 
concerned about a licenced premises which the Councillor regularly frequents.

Predetermination

Members taking part in licensing decision making must have an open mind.  
Members are entitled to have an opinion (be predisposed) or change their minds, 
but if a reasonable member of the public may think you are biased, or have a 
closed mind on the application because of anything you have said or done you 
should not take part in the decision.  If you do take part, you could put the 
Council’s decision at risk.

Members are not predetermined simply by virtue of having previously considered 
the application before, or by having made a decision on very similar applications.  
Members do have a duty to consider each application at hand independently, 
and take into account the relevant factors and licensing considerations at the 
time they make their decision.

Where the Council (or another Council the Member is elected to) is the applicant 
Members should be mindful of the position they have taken on previous 
decisions but again are not necessarily predetermined.  It is well established in 
law that the Council can determine its own applications, but again Members 
should demonstrate that they have an open mind on the application and are 
considering the application based on licensing considerations

Where you consider you may be predetermined, make clear that is the case and 
do not offer to be part of any sub-committees hearing the application.  You do 
have the right to speak as Ward Member, but again bear in mind that as a Ward 
Member you have a duty to represent your ward and you may not be able to do 
so objectively if you are predetermined.

Page 410



Part 5 - West Suffolk Licensing
Code of Practice April 2019

Lobbying 

Lobbying may be undertaken by those for, and against a particular licensing 
issue.  

Councillors need to make clear to lobbyists that whilst they can hear their 
arguments, you cannot express a firm view on the application as otherwise it 
may prejudice your ability to take part in a hearing.  Members should report any 
persistent or unreasonable lobbying to the Licensing Officer and the Monitoring 
Officer.

Local Members can play an important role in helping lobbyists understand those 
factors the Council can, and cannot take into account when making a decision, 
and how they may be able to more effectively express their views.  This does not 
mean that the local Member supports or opposes the views of lobbyists.

The Code of Conduct requires Councillors to make declarations where they are in 
receipts of gifts or hospitality where its value is over £25 (or equivalent value).  
However, in general Councillors should try to avoid receiving gifts and 
hospitality, especially from licensees or objectors, due to the impression that this 
can give.  

Councillors sitting on the Licensing and Regulatory Committee should avoid 
memberships of organisations whose purpose includes lobbying in relation to 
licensing regulation and objectives.  Licensing is a regulatory process; it is not 
political, not subject to “whipping” arrangements and members should not 
encourage a political steer to be given or taken on an application.

Contact with Applicants/Licensees/Businesses

It is recognised that local Members can play an important part in the licensing 
process, understanding local concerns, helping individuals understand the 
licensing objectives, and engaging with licensed premises to encourage good 
practice.  It is also accepted that local Councillors have a private life, which may 
result in them using licensed facilities, or interaction with licensees (e.g. using 
local taxi firms or visiting pubs)

However, close relationships between Councillors and 
applicants/licensees/businesses can give a wrongful impression.  Any applicants 
who approach Councillors directly to discuss an application or enforcement issue 
should be referred to the licensing department to initiate discussions and 
Councillors should make clear that their role is to gather information.

Councillors can, where invited, attend meetings organised by Officers, or attend 
where Officers are present with the licensee when it is appropriate.  Notes of 
such meetings should be retained to ensure there is a clear record of matters 
discussed, and no party should over-commit the Council to supporting a position.  

Councillors have a duty to act with appropriate confidentiality.  Where 
Councillors are informed regarding potential issues regarding a licensee, they 
should seek to respect the confidentiality of such discussions and any 
information they are provided with.  Officers may be in a position where they 

Page 411



Part 5 - West Suffolk Licensing
Code of Practice April 2019

cannot engage with local Members regarding a licensing matter, particularly 
where it may result in a prosecution, although will endeavour to inform local 
Members in relation to issues which may have local controversy or have a 
significant impact on the local area.

Local Councillors may take soundings from the public but should avoid 
predetermining themselves.  Members who may sit on a licensing hearing should 
avoid meeting applicants or visiting premises unless it relates to their local Ward 
as it could lead to inappropriate lobbying or an impression of unfairness being 
given.

If a Councillor receives unwarranted and unreasonable contact from a licensee, 
they should immediately inform the Assistant Director (Planning and Regulatory 
Services) or the Service Manager (Environmental Health)

Member/Officer Relations

Members should not put undue pressure on Officers to put forward a particular 
recommendation.  Councillors can put forward alternative views as part of a 
submission but again need to be mindful of predetermination if they are 
ultimately part of a decision-making process.  

Officers are part of a management structure.  If Members have a concern about 
how an Officer is handling a licensing matter, they should seek to raise those 
concerns with their line manager.  Councillors should respect that as Officers, 
they are duty bound to put forward their professional opinion, in line with the 
relevant Officer and professional Codes of Conduct even if it is at odds with the 
views of the Committee or its Members.

There are legal and constitutional restrictions on who may make licensing 
decisions, and how they should be determined.  Councillors and Officers should 
seek to respect these established practices to ensure that Council decisions are 
not compromised.

Consultations

Licensing and associated policies are subject to regular review, which will include 
periodic consultation.  The Licensing and Regulatory Committee acts as a 
consultee in the development of policies in assessing the potential merits, and 
dis-merits of changes in policies across the Council as a whole.  

Members will also play an important role during any consultation in ensuring that 
local communities are aware of proposed changes and how they can input to the 
consultation.  Members will help to articulate community views and may also 
respond to such consultations from their perspective.  It is helpful, in doing so, 
for Members to ensure they are familiar with the relevant licensing law and 
requirements, and to raise any queries with Officers to ensure they are clear 
about what is feasible within the law.

Page 412



Part 5 - West Suffolk Licensing
Code of Practice April 2019

Committee Hearings

Members are required to familiarise themselves with the application and its 
relation to the licensing objectives ahead of any decision making meeting.  If 
Members have questions, they should take the opportunity to seek clarification 
with officers.  It is helpful that if Members have concerns that have not been 
addressed within Committee reports they seek to raise this with Officers in 
advance of the Committee in order that responses can be provided to inform the 
decision.

If Members feel there is insufficient time to digest new information or they do 
not have the information at hand to make a decision, they may propose to defer 
the application but the expectation should be that otherwise, Members would 
seek to support or refuse an application at Committee.  It is important that all 
questioning at Committee relates to the relevant matters and licensing 
objectives, and does not drift into immaterial points.  By convention, local 
Members are not asked to sit on hearings to ensure impartiality in consideration.

The Committee would usually seek to adjourn and confer before reaching a 
decision.  Only the Committee, its Legal Advisor and Clerk may be present at 
this time, to ensure there is no perception of inappropriate influencing at the 
time the decision is made.

Knowledge and Training

Members of the Committee should be proactive in keeping up-to-date with 
licensing developments, including government guidance, changes in council 
policy and changes in legislation.  Licensing is a regulatory function and poor 
decision making can be of detriment to the Council, local businesses and local 
residents.

To demonstrate their commitment to ensuring sound decision making, 
Committee Members and named substitutes will undertake at least one training 
event in each six month period. Any Members sitting on a hearing must have 
attended a specific training session on hearings within the past 12 months.  
Training must meet one of the following criteria:

 A training or briefing session organised by Council Officers, which officers
indicate is accredited training.

 A training session organised by a relevant organisation, attendance having
been approved by Officers.

 Online learning approved by Officers.

Above, Officers shall mean the Chief Executive or a Director; the Monitoring 
Officer; the Assistant Director (Planning and Regulatory Services), the Service 
Manager (Environmental Health) or the Licensing Team Leader.

If a Councillor has not received requisite training in the previous 12 months in 
relation to the application in question, they cannot be selected to sit on a 
licensing hearing.  For example, a Councillor must have received training in 
premises licensing in the previous 12 months to sit on a premises hearing.  In 
exceptional cases where the Committee would not otherwise be quorate, the 

Page 413



Part 5 - West Suffolk Licensing
Code of Practice April 2019

Monitoring Officer or Legal Officer present at the hearing may waive the 
compulsory training requirement for any individual Member.

In addition to Committee Members, all Members will be called upon to act as 
local Members on applications, and to be at their most effective should ensure 
they take steps to keep themselves informed and up-to-date.  It is therefore 
expected that all Councillors should endeavour to undertake at least one 
licensing training event a year.
Site Visits

Site visits for licensing are exceptional and should not be considered normal 
practice.

If a site visit is organised, then Members of the Hearing should make every 
effort to attend.  The site inspection should be treated simply as an inspection; 
Councillors may seek further information from Officers and observe the site but 
should not engage with, or seek information about the application from the 
licensee, objectors or any other third parties.

Councillors should avoid expressing clear opinions or views at site inspections 
and reserve judgement until the hearing.  

Councillors who are notified they may be part of a hearing in relation to an 
application should avoid attending premises or using services of licensees, 
especially once the hearing has been formally called.    

Page 414



APPENDIX 2

Suggested Changes to the Constitution

Part of the 
Constitution

Suggested Change Proposed Response

Part 3, Section 2 – 
responsibility for 
Council functions

Remove references to West Suffolk in the name 
of the Standards Committee, Health and Safety 
Panel, and Staff Consultative Committee – these 
were previously stated to reflect the committees 
spanned both Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury

AGREED in respect the Health and Safety 
Committee and Staff Consultative Committee

NOT AGREED in respect of the Standards 
Committee, as this Committee also considers 
complaints against Parish / Town Councils and 
the title “West Suffolk” reflects it has a wider 
role

Part 3, Section 2 – 
responsibility for 
Council functions

The Financial Resilience Sub-Committee should 
be called the “Treasury Management Sub-
Committee”

NOT AGREED.  The role of the financial 
resilience sub-committee is wider than 
monitoring the Council’s treasury management, 
and the name has been changed to reflect this 
is a wider role than the previous St 
Edmundsbury Treasury Management Sub-
Committee  

Part 2, Article 11 – 
Decision Making

In 11.3.2.1(f)(i), remove the words “(more than 
5 years)”.  This will mean that any decisions that 
have a long term, lasting impact on a 
community will be treated as being key, and 
must be subject to local member consultation, 
not just those that are likely to have a more 
than 5 year impact

AGREED.  The 5 year suggestion was added to 
try to define what a long term, lasting impact 
may constitute; however it is accepted that it 
will be fairly evident if a decision will have a 
lasting impact and the 5 year suggestion is 
unnecessary.

Part 2, Article 11 – 
Decision Making

The definition of a key decision includes: 
“Comprises or includes the making, approval or 
publication of a draft or final scheme which may 
require, either directly or in the event of 
objections, the approval of a Minister of the 
Crown.”

AGREED.  Key decisions should be important 
decisions that have an impact on our Council or 
its community, not routine day-to-day 
decisions. 

“Comprises or includes the making, approval or 
publication of a draft or final scheme which is 

P
age 415



APPENDIX 2

Routine, minor repairs and maintenance work on 
historical sites such as Abbey Gardens require 
approval from the Departure of Culture, Media 
and Sport – the definition should be clarified to 
accommodate for this 

not a routine business decision and may 
require, either directly or in the event of 
objections, the approval of a Minister of the 
Crown.” 

Although there may be some area of judgement 
on what is a routine business decision, in 
practice such cases tend to be reasonably self-
evident – for example, it would have covered 
the referral of the Single Council business case 
to the Secretary of State.

Part 2, Article 11 –
Decision Making

The proposed definition of a key decision 
includes a change in service provision that 
results in compulsory redundancies being made.

It is proposed to remove this aspect

AGREED. The original rationale for this was that 
any such change would likely arise as a result of 
a significant change in the way that services are 
delivered.  However, such changes are already 
covered elsewhere in the key decision definition 
– for example, the definition includes where we 
make additional expenditure / savings of more 
than £100k, and where we make changes to the 
way services are delivered in local communities.  

Part 4b, Committee 
Procedure Rules

10.3 states that a member may be invited to 
speak at committee by the Chair where the 
business affects their ward.  Further, 10.4 allows 
for members who are not on the committee to 
speak at the committee if they indicate in 
advance to their Chair that they wish to do so.  

It is suggested this is amended so that local 
members should have a right, by default, to 
speak at a Committee.

PARTLY AGREED.  It is recognised local member 
speaking is important, but there are some 
concerns regarding practical arrangements on 
this point, so it suggested that 10.3 is amended 
so that instead of:

“A Member may be invited by the Chair to 
attend the meeting specifically to comment on 
an item of business or because the item of 
business affects their Ward”

It now reads:

P
age 416



APPENDIX 2

“Local members have the right to speak at a 
committee meeting which is discussing matters 
that affect or relate to their ward, however 
must comply with any requirements that are set 
out in these procedure rules or as may be 
agreed by the Committee in question”

This gives local members the right to speak, but 
also gives committees the right to set any 
requirements on registration or notification by 
the local member.

Part 4b, Committee 
procedure rules

Only those members who have participated in 
the previous meeting may vote on the minutes 
of the meeting

Part 4b, Committee 
procedure rules

Minutes should not need to be proposed and 
seconded; they can simply be agreed where no-
one raises objection

PARTLY AGREED.  After much debate, the 
Constitution Review Group accepted both 
suggestions in principle but recognised there 
are some practical implications – for example, 
being able to cross-reference who can, and 
cannot vote on minutes.  As such, section 17.1 
of the Committee Procedure Rules, has been 
amended to allow a more informal process for 
agreeing the minutes, and sets an expectation 
that members should have been present at the 
previous meeting without placing absolute 
requirements.  

GENERAL All Committee meetings must be recorded ACCEPTED IN PRINCIPLE, BUT NOT AMENDED.  
We accept that this may be helpful, and not 
only is there the potential for recording 
meetings, but also broadcasting them.  At the 
moment, there are some practical implications 
as the equipment to do so is not available in all 
Council meeting rooms, and so we have 
requested the Service Manager – Democratic 
Services investigate this matter further.

P
age 417



APPENDIX 2

GENERAL Those putting forward views at Development 
Control Committee should be able to play video 
clips and other material to support their 
statements

REFERRED TO THE DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 
COMMITTEE TO CONSIDER
The Development Control Committee consider 
their own arrangements for public speaking, 
which will need to be reconsidered at their first 
meeting in the new Council.  

P
age 418



COU/SA/19/009

Shadow 
Council
Title of Report: Council Arrangements for 1 

April to 6 May 2019
Report No: COU/SA/19/009
Report to and date: Shadow Council 19 February 2019
Shadow Executive  
(Cabinet) 
Members:

James Waters
Leader of the Shadow 
Council
Tel: 07771 621038
Email: james.waters@forest-
heath.gov.uk

John Griffiths
Deputy Leader of the 
Shadow Council
Tel: 07958 700434
Email: 
john.griffiths@stedsbc.gov.uk

Lead officer: Leah Mickleborough
Service Manager (Democratic Services) and Monitoring 
Officer 
Tel: 01284 757162
Email: leah.mickleborough@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Purpose of report: On 1 April 2019, the new West Suffolk Council will 
come into being, with the new Constitution, as agreed 
by Council (subject to approval at this meeting), 
having effect.  

This paper proposes arrangements to ensure there is 
minimum disruption to the Council’s decision making 
arrangements in the short period of time between the 
new Council coming into being, and the May elections.

Recommendations: It is RECOMMENDED that Shadow Council:

(1) approves the allocation of seats to 
committees, as listed in Appendix 1 to 
Report No: COU/SA/19/009;

(2) agrees that during the period 1 April to 6 
May 2019, any references in the West 
Suffolk Council Constitution to the Chair of 
Overview and Scrutiny should be the 
“Chairs of the former Forest Heath and St 
Edmundsbury Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees”;

Continued over….

Page 419

Agenda Item 11

mailto:leah.mickleborough@westsuffolk.gov.uk


COU/SA/19/009

(3)    agrees that during the period 1 April to 6 
May 2019, any references to the 
constitution of the Delegation Panel in the 
West Suffolk Council Constitution should be 
the “Chairs and Vice-Chairs of the former 
Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury 
Development Control Committees”.  One 
Member of each former Council must be 
present for the Delegation Panel to be 
quorate;

(4)    agrees that Councillor Margaret Marks and 
Councillor Brian Harvey should act as civic 
representatives of West Suffolk Council 
during the period 1 April to 22 May 2019; 
and

(5)    agrees the approach to representation on 
outside bodies, as set out in paragraphs 5.5 
and 5.6 of Report No: COU/SA/19/009, 
during the period 1 April to 22 May 2019.

Key Decision:

(Check the appropriate 
box and delete all those 
that do not apply.)

Is this a Key Decision and, if so, under which 
definition?
Yes, it is a Key Decision - ☐
No, it is not a Key Decision - ☒

Consultation:  None
Alternative option(s):  None proposed
Implications: 
Are there any financial implications? 
If yes, please give details

Yes ☐    No ☒
  

Are there any staffing implications? 
If yes, please give details

Yes ☐    No ☒


Are there any ICT implications? If 
yes, please give details

Yes ☐    No ☒


Are there any legal and/or policy 
implications? If yes, please give 
details

Yes ☒    No ☐
 This paper has been developed in 

line with relevant legislation, most 
notably the Local Government Act 
1972 and the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989

Are there any equality implications? 
If yes, please give details

Yes ☐    No ☒


Page 420



COU/SA/19/009

Risk/opportunity assessment: (potential hazards or opportunities affecting 
corporate, service or project objectives)

Risk area Inherent level of 
risk (before 
controls)

Controls Residual risk (after 
controls)

Failure to agree the 
proposals in this 
report could lead to 
potential confusion 
regarding committee 
appointments, and 
reputational damage 
to the Council as a 
result

Low The proposals in the 
report ensure that 
there is clarity on 
appointments and 
roles during the 
period from 1 April 
until 6 May.

Low/Medium/ High*

Ward(s) affected: All Wards
Background papers:
(all background papers are to be 
published on the website and a link 
included)

None

Documents attached: Appendix 1 - Allocation of seats to 
Committees

Page 421



COU/SA/19/009

1. Appointments to Committees 

1.1 The period 1 April to 6 May 2019 potentially creates a confusing time for 
Committee appointments.  The new West Suffolk Council Constitution will 
come into effect, meaning that there will only be one Development Control 
Committee, one Overview and Scrutiny Committee and so on.  All existing 
committee appointments effectively cease (albeit the roles of Chair, Deputy 
Chair, Leader, Deputy Leader and Executive posts continue).

1.2 We have planned on the basis that there will be limited demand for 
Committees during this period of time.  We will be entering the pre-election 
period, where we should not undertake activities that are potentially 
controversial unless there is a need to do so, and have also brought forward 
the Development Control Committees from the first week of April to the last 
week of March 2019.

1.3

1.4

1.5

2.

2.1

2.2

We have adopted the approach of ensuring that there are arrangements in 
place in case we need to hold a meeting, and recommend some specific 
appointments that are required in order to support decision making, in the 
simplest way possible to avoid any confusion during this time.

In that regard, at Appendix 1, there is a proposed list of appointments to 
Committees which has been subject to consultation with group leaders.  This 
list is compiled based on those committees that should be, by law, politically 
balanced, and where possible, has also tried to balance these requirements 
whilst respecting previous places on committees held by members.  The 
rules for calculating the appointments are established in the Committees and 
Political Group Regulations 1990 and as Monitoring Officer, I am satisfied 
that the proposals meet the terms of the Regulations as far as it is 
practicable to do so.

Should it be necessary to call a meeting of any of these Committees, then 
group leaders will be approached to nominate Members to sit on the relevant 
committee meeting.

Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Constitution requires that that Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is consulted with regards to certain decisions that the Council 
may make; it is possible that such decisions arise during the period 1 April to 
6 May 2019 and so we need to make arrangements for this period. These are 
executive decisions, and as the Cabinets already work together, both current 
Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny Committees are consulted on such 
decisions.

It is therefore proposed that during the period of 1 April to 6 May 2019, any 
references in the Constitution to the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee should refer to the “Chairs of the former Forest Heath and St 
Edmundsbury Overview and Scrutiny Committees” and any reference to an 
item that requires the consent of, or consultation with the Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee should require consent of, or consultation 
with both Chairs.

Page 422



COU/SA/19/009

2.4

3.

3.1

3.2

4.

4.1

4.2

4.3

5.

5.1

5.2

There is no need to put in similar arrangements with respect the 
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee Chairs, as they are not subject to 
the same consultation requirements.

Delegation Panel

In a similar manner, the Delegation Panel is consulted on certain planning 
applications to determine whether they should be referred to Committee, or 
determined by officers.  It is important arrangements are made for this panel 
to continue to meet during April 2019, to avoid applicants having to wait 
longer than necessary to understand how their application will be 
determined.

The Delegation Panel currently comprises the Chair, and Vice-Chair(s) of the 
Development Control Committee.  It is suggested that during the period 1 
April to 6 May 2019, the Delegation Panel should instead comprise the 
former Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury Chairs and Vice-Chairs of 
Development Control, and that at least one Member from each former 
Council must be present for the Panel to be quorate.

Civic Representation

The Shadow Council Constitution makes clear that the role of Chair of the 
Shadow Council is a non-ceremonial role.  Although April is historically a 
quieter time in the civic calendar, it is important that the Council has a civic 
representative role during this time to support its communities.

With this in mind, it is proposed that Councillor Margaret Marks, and 
Councillor Brian Harvey, the current Mayor and Chairman of St Edmundsbury 
and Forest Heath respectively, are appointed as the Civic Representatives of 
West Suffolk, undertaking the community, civic role that the Chair would 
otherwise undertake.  They will continue to be supported by the civic office 
during this time.

In law, unlike other posts, the role of Chair or Mayor of the Council concludes 
at the Council’s Annual General Meeting (AGM), regardless of the outcome of 
the election.  Whilst Councillor Stamp will remain as the Chair until that 
point, it is suggested that the Civic Representatives are therefore appointed 
to act in the role until the AGM.

Outside Body Representation

The Local Government (Boundary Changes) Regulations 2018 provide that 
any Councillors appointed to outside bodies by Forest Heath and St 
Edmundsbury will continue to represent West Suffolk after 1 April 2019.  As 
usual, at its AGM on 22 May 2019, West Suffolk Council will then appoint 
new representatives to outside bodies.

We have been working with county-wide and local level outside organisations 
to request that existing representation levels will continue until 1 June 2019, 
meaning that all current Council representatives will continue to sit on those 
organisations until the AGM.  

Page 423



COU/SA/19/009

5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

However, there are a small number of national level bodies where, as we will 
be one Council from 1 April 2019, we will need to change our representation 
on a temporary basis.  We understand it is unlikely these organisations will 
meet in the period concern, but it is sensible to make arrangements in the 
event that they do.

Further, we also know of a small number of organisations where, because of 
changes they are making to their structure, may be seeking to modify how 
many Councillors they have on their organisations between now and the 
AGM.  It is again sensible to make arrangements to address this.

As a result, the following is proposed:

Organisation Representative
Local Government Association The Leader of the Council or the 

Deputy Leader of the Council, to be 
agreed between them;

District Council’s Network The Leader of the Council or the 
Deputy Leader of the Council, to be 
agreed between them;

East of England Local Government 
Association

The Leader of the Council or the 
Deputy Leader of the Council, to be 
agreed between them;

Rural Services Network Councillor Peter Stevens (Councillor 
Stevens sits on the Rural Services 
Network Executive)

For any other organisation that seeks to change its governance structure, 
then it is suggested that the Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury 
representatives agree between them to alternate representation at meetings, 
and the organisation is requested to allow the other representative to be “in 
attendance” at the meeting.

Page 424



APPENDIX 1

Committee

No of seats

N
o
 o

f 
m

e
m

b
e
rs

% E
n

ti
tl

e
d

 P
la

c
e
s
 (

e
x
a
c
t)

E
n

ti
tl

e
d

 P
la

c
e
s
 (

r
o

u
n

d
e
d

)

A
ll
o

c
a
te

d
 P

la
c
e
s

E
n

ti
tl

e
d

 P
la

c
e
s
 (

e
x
a
c
t)

E
n

ti
tl

e
d

 P
la

c
e
s
 (

r
o

u
n

d
e
d

)

A
ll
o

c
a
te

d
 P

la
c
e
s

E
n

ti
tl

e
d

 P
la

c
e
s
 (

e
x
a
c
t)

E
n

ti
tl

e
d

 P
la

c
e
s
 (

r
o

u
n

d
e
d

)

A
ll
o

c
a
te

d
 P

la
c
e
s

E
n

ti
tl

e
d

 P
la

c
e
s
 (

e
x
a
c
t)

E
n

ti
tl

e
d

 P
la

c
e
s
 (

r
o

u
n

d
e
d

)

A
ll
o

c
a
te

d
 P

la
c
e
s

E
n

ti
tl

e
d

 P
la

c
e
s
 (

e
x
a
c
t)

E
n

ti
tl

e
d

 P
la

c
e
s
 (

r
o

u
n

d
e
d

)

A
ll
o

c
a
te

d
 P

la
c
e
s

E
n

ti
tl

e
d

 P
la

c
e
s
 (

e
x
a
c
t)

E
n

ti
tl

e
d

 P
la

c
e
s
 (

r
o

u
n

d
e
d

)

A
ll
o

c
a
te

d
 P

la
c
e
s

E
n

ti
tl

e
d

 P
la

c
e
s
 (

e
x
a
c
t)

E
n

ti
tl

e
d

 P
la

c
e
s
 (

r
o

u
n

d
e
d

)

A
ll
o

c
a
te

d
 P

la
c
e
s

E
n

ti
tl

e
d

 P
la

c
e
s
 (

e
x
a
c
t)

E
n

ti
tl

e
d

 P
la

c
e
s
 (

r
o

u
n

d
e
d

)

A
ll
o

c
a
te

d
 P

la
c
e
s

Conservative 

Group
54 75.00% 12.00 12 12 11.25 11 11 12.00 12 12 9.00 9 9 4.50 5 5 4.50 5 5 4.50 5 4 57.75 58 58

UKIP Group 2 2.78% 0.44 1 1 0.42 0 0 0.44 0 1 0.33 0 1 0.17 0 0 0.17 0 0 0.17 0 0 2.14 2 3

Charter Group 4 5.56% 0.89 1 1 0.83 1 1 0.89 1 1 0.67 1 1 0.33 0 0 0.33 0 0 0.33 0 1 4.28 4 5

WSI 4 5.56% 0.89 1 1 0.83 1 1 0.89 1 1 0.67 1 0 0.33 0 1 0.33 0 1 0.33 0 0 4.28 4 5

Haverhill Indy's 2 2.78% 0.44 0 1 0.42 0 0 0.44 0 1 0.33 0 0 0.17 0 0 0.17 0 0 0.17 0 1 2.14 2 3

Ungrouped 

individual 

Councillors

5 6.94% 0.00 0 0 0.00 0 0 0.00 0 0 0.00 0 0 0.00 0 0 0.00 0 0 0.00 0 0 0.00 0 0

VACANCY 1 1.39% 0.22 0 0 0.21 0 0 0.22 0 0 0.17 0 0 0.08 0 0 0.08 0 0 0.08 0 0 1.07 1 0

TOTAL 72 100.00% 14.9 15 16 14 13 13 14.9 14 16 11.2 11 11 5.58 5 6 5.58 5 6 5.58 5 6 71.7 71 74

Development 

Control Committee

16

Licensing & 

Regulatory 

Committee

15

Officer Appeals

Performance & 

Audit Scrutiny 

Committee

Overview & 

Scrutiny 

Committee

61216

OVERALL

77

Officer 

Appointments

6

Standards

6

P
age 425



T
his page is intentionally left blank



COU/SA/19/010

Shadow 
Council
Title of Report: West Suffolk Council Calendar 

of Meetings 2019/2020
Report No: COU/SA/19/010
Report to and date: Shadow Council 19 February 2019
Shadow Executive  
(Cabinet) 
Members:

Ruth Bowman
FHDC: Future Governance
Tel: 01638 510896
Email: ruth.bowman@forest-
heath.gov.uk

Carol Bull
SEBC: Future Governance
Tel: 01953 681513
Email: 
carol.bull@stedsbc.gov.uk

Lead officer: Leah Mickleborough
Service Manager (Democratic Services) and Monitoring 
Officer 
Tel: 01284 757162
Email: leah.mickleborough@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Purpose of report: To approve the forthcoming Calendar of Meetings for 
2019/2020.

Recommendation: It is RECOMMENDED that the West Suffolk 
Council’s Calendar of Meetings for 2019/2020, 
attached as Appendix A to Report No: 
COU/SA/19/010, be approved.

Key Decision:

(Check the appropriate 
box and delete all those 
that do not apply.)

Is this a Key Decision and, if so, under which 
definition?
No, it is not a Key Decision - ☒

Consultation: The Leadership Team and both the West Suffolk 
councils’ Cabinets were informally consulted on the 
content of the draft calendar.

Alternative 
options:

Not applicable.

Implications: 
Are there any financial implications? 
If yes, please give details

Yes ☐    No ☒

Are there any staffing implications? 
If yes, please give details

Yes ☐    No ☒

Are there any ICT implications? If 
yes, please give details

Yes ☐    No ☒

Page 427

Agenda Item 12



COU/SA/19/010

Are there any legal and/or policy 
implications? If yes, please give 
details

Yes ☒    No ☐
The Council has a statutory 
responsibility for the provision of a 
range of services and has to ensure 
that the procedures which are followed 
to make relevant decisions are 
efficient, transparent, and accountable 
to local people. The publication of a 
calendar of meetings supports this 
decision making process.

Are there any equality implications? 
If yes, please give details

Yes ☐    No ☒

Risk/opportunity 
assessment:

(potential hazards or opportunities affecting corporate, service or 
project objectives)

Risk area Inherent level of 
risk (before 
controls)

Controls Residual risk (after 
controls)

Not publishing a 
calendar of meetings 
could mean that local 

people were not 
aware of when the 
Council was due to 

conduct business and 
could restrict their 

opportunity for their 
rightful participation

Medium Publication of the 
calendar of meetings 
on the Council’s 
website

Low

Wards affected: Not applicable
Documents attached: Appendix A – Calendar of Meetings for 

2019/2020

Page 428



COU/SA/19/010

1. Key issues and reasons for recommendation

1.1 The Shadow Council is invited to approve the Calendar of Meetings for 
the new West Suffolk Council for 2019/2020 as at Appendix A. 

1.2 Other meetings not listed in the new Council’s Constitution will also be 
scheduled for the 2019/2020 year and Members will be advised of 
these accordingly.

1.3 Those meetings which are arranged on an ‘as required’ basis, will 
continue to be scheduled and publicised as normal and Members will 
receive notification of these as per the current process. 

2. Particular Issues of Note 

2.1 Contained elsewhere on this Shadow Council agenda, is the draft West 
Suffolk Council Constitution, which is required to be adopted for the 
new Council.  

2.2 The meetings that have been arranged, as contained in Appendix A, are 
in accordance with the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-
Committee structure proposed within the new Constitution.

2.3 All committees, sub-committees and other panels/groups constituted 
by Forest Heath District Council and St Edmundsbury Borough Council 
will no longer exist following the dissolution of these two councils and 
the creation of West Suffolk Council on 1 April 2019. This has therefore 
been reflected in the meetings calendar for 2019/2020 at  Appendix A.

Page 429



This page is intentionally left blank



                                               West Suffolk Council Meeting Timetable May 2019 to May 2020                       APPENDIX A

Normal 2019 2020

Day Time May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May

Cabinet Tues 6.00pm 28(v) 25(iv) 23(v) 10(iv) 8(v) 26(iv) 14(v) 11(iv) 24(v) 28(iv) 26(v)

Council (all meetings held at WSH unless stated 

otherwise) Tues 6.30pm 22(i) 4 16 17 5 17 25(ii) 31 19(i)

Overview & Scrutiny Committee Thur 5.00pm 13(v) 11(iv) 5(v) 14(iv) 9(v) 12(iv)

Performance & Audit Scrutiny Committee Thur 5.00pm 30(iv) 25(v) 26(iv) 28(v) 30(iv) 28(v)

Development Control Committee (iii) Wed 10.00am 5 3 7 4 2 6 4 8 5 4 1, 29

DC Committee Site Inspections Mon

Various 

(am) 3 1 5 2, 30 4 2 6 3 2, 30 27

Licensing & Regulatory Committee Mon 5.30pm 1(iv) 21(v) 27(iv) 20(v)

Standards Committee Mon 3.00pm 15(v) 2(iv)

Officer Appointments Committee (vi) Various Various  

Officer Appeals Committee (vi) Various Various

Notes

(i) Annual Meeting of the WS Council - Time & Venue TBC

(ii) Budget and council tax setting meeting

(iii) Meetings' venue will be WSH or District Offices, venue will be confirmed prior to agenda despatch // no meeting in May due to elections, two scheduled in April instead

(iv) Meeting at District Offices

(v) Meeting at West Suffolk House

(vi) Meetings arranged as & when required 

Cont/d

Council, Cabinet & Committees

1

P
age 431



                                               West Suffolk Council Meeting Timetable May 2019 to May 2020                       APPENDIX A

Normal 2019 2020

Day Time May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May

Sub-Committee of Licensing & Regulatory Committee

Licensing & Regulatory Sub-Cttee (vii) Various Various

Sub-Committees of Performance & Audit Committee

Financial Resilience Sub-Committee Mon 10.30am 15(viii) 18(ix) 20(viii)

Health & Safety Sub-Committee Mon 4.00pm 24(viii) 14(ix) 10(viii)

Formal Panels and Groups

Staff Consultative Panel Mon 3.00pm 17(ix) 4(viii)

Constitution Review Group Wed 4.00pm 12(viii) 11(ix) 11(viii) 11(ix)

Independent Renumeration Panel (vii) Various Various

Member Development Group (vii) Various 2.00pm

Joint Committee between West Suffolk Council, East Suffolk Council, Breckland Council, East Cambs DC & Fenland DC

Anglia Rev & Ben Partnership Joint Cttee 

(hosted & administered by Breckland Council) Tues 10.00am 11 17 10 24

Notes

(vii) Meetings arranged as and when required 

(viii) Meeting at District Offices

(ix) Meeting at WSH

 

2

P
age 432


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Leader's Statement
	7 Referrals Report of Recommendations from the Shadow Executive (Cabinet)
	8 The Report of the West Suffolk Independent Remuneration Panel
	COU.SA.19.006 Annex A_ Report of the West Suffolk Independent Remuneration Panel
	COU.SA.19.006 Annex A_ Appendix 1 - Scheme of Allowances
	COU.SA.19.006 Annex A_ Appendix 2 - Evidence Review
	COU.SA.19.006 Annex A_ Appendix 3 - Questionnaire Summary
	COU.SA.19.006 Annex A_ Appendix 4 - Comparative Charts

	9 Budget and Council Tax Setting 2019/2020 and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-2023
	COU.SA.19.007 Attachment A - Revenue Budget Summary
	COU.SA.19.007 Attachment B - Major Budget Changes
	COU.SA.19.007 Attachment C - CFO report
	COU.SA.19.007 Attachment D Appendix 1 - MTFS
	COU.SA.19.007 Attachment D Appendix 2 - Capital Programme
	COU.SA.19.007 Attachment D Appendix 2a - 2018-19 Capital Programme Carry Fwd
	COU.SA.19.007 Attachment D Appendix 3 - Earmarked Revenue Reserves
	COU.SA.19.007 Attachment D Appendix 4 - Prudential Indicators
	COU.SA.19.007 Attachment D Appendix 5 - Sensitivity Analysis
	COU.SA.19.007 Attachment E - Strategic Priorities & MTFS Reserve
	COU.SA.19.007 Attachment F - Capital Strategy
	COU.SA.19.007 Attachment G - Flexible Capital Receipts Strategy
	COU.SA.19.007 Attachment H - Council tax discount for care leavers
	COU.SA.19.007 Attachment I Schedule A - Parish precepts
	COU.SA.19.007 Attachment I Schedule B - Council tax re special items
	COU.SA.19.007 Attachment I Schedule C - Council tax by council
	COU.SA.19.007 Attachment I Schedule D - Aggregate council tax
	COU.SA.19.007 Attachment J - Council Tax Resolutions

	10 The West Suffolk Council Constitution
	COU.SA.19.008 Appendix 1 - The West Suffolk Council Constitution
	Agenda
	1 Cover Page (April 2019)
	1a Index (April 2019)
	1b Summary and Explanation (April 2019)
	2a Article 1 - The Constitution (April 2019)
	2b Article 2 - Members of the Council (April 2019)
	2c Article 3 - The Public and the Council (April 2019)
	2d Article 4 - The Council (April 2019)
	2e Article 5 - Chairing the Council (April 2019)
	2f Article 6 - The Cabinet (April 2019)
	2g Article 7 - Scrutiny Committees (April 2019)
	2h Article 8 - Regulatory and Standards Committees (April 2019)
	2i Article 9 - Joint Arrangements and Working Groups (April 2019)
	2j Article 10 - Officers (April 2019)
	2k Article 11 - Decision Making (April 2019)
	2l Article 12 - Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters (April 2019)
	2m Article 13 - Review and Revision of the Constitution (April 2019)
	2n Article 14 - Suspension, Interpretation, Maintenance and Publication of the Constitution (April 2019)
	2o Schedule 1 - Description of Executive Arrangements (April 2019)
	3a Section 1 - Responsibility for Local Choice Functions (April 2019)
	3b Section 2 - Responsibility for Council (Non Executive) Functions (April 2019)
	3c Section 3 - Responsibility for Executive Functions (April 2019)
	3d Section 4 - Budget Setting and Medium Term Planning, Budget Monitoring and Control and Resources Allocations (April 2019)
	3e Section 5 - Scheme of Delegation to Officers (April 2019)
	3f Section 6 - Member Role Descriptions (April 2019)
	4a Council Procedure Rules and Petition Scheme (April 2019)
	Part 4 - Appendix A - Petition Scheme (April 2019)

	4b Committee Procedure Rules (April 2019)
	4c Cabinet Procedure Rules (April 2019)
	4d Scrutiny Committees Procedure Rules (April 2019)
	4e Access to Information Procedure Rules (April 2019)
	4f Officer Employment Procedure Rules (April 2019)
	4g Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules (April 2019)
	4h West Suffolk Financial Procedure Rules (April 2019)
	4i West Suffolk Contract Procedure Rules (April 2019)
	5a Suffolk Local Code of Conduct for Members (April 2019)
	5b Code of Conduct for Employees (April 2019)
	5c Member and Officer Protocol (April 2019)
	5d West Suffolk Planning Code of Practice (April 2019)
	5e West Suffolk Licensing Code of Practice (April 2019)

	COU.SA.19.008 Appendix 2 - The West Suffolk Council Constitution_ Changes from Draft

	11 Council Arrangements for 1 April to 6 May 2019
	COU.SA.19.009 Appendix 1 - Council Arrangements for 1 April to 6 May 2019

	12 West Suffolk Council Calendar of Meetings 2019/2020
	COU.SA.19.010 Appendix A - WSC Calendar of Meetings 2019- 2020




